

Cardiovascular and metabolic comorbidities in pituitary disorders

Edited by

Pawel Krzesinski, Corin Badiu, Marek Bolanowski and Przemyslaw Witek

Published in Frontiers in Endocrinology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5034-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5034-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Cardiovascular and metabolic comorbidities in pituitary disorders

Topic editors

Pawel Krzesinski — Department of Cardiology and Internal Diseases, Military Institute of Medicine, Poland Corin Badiu — Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Romania Marek Bolanowski — Wroclaw Medical University, Poland Przemysław Witek — Warsaw Medical University, Poland

Citation

Krzesinski, P., Badiu, C., Bolanowski, M., Witek, P., eds. (2024). *Cardiovascular and metabolic comorbidities in pituitary disorders*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5034-2



Table of contents

- 04 Pituitary carcinoma case series and review of the literature Stephanie Du Four, Jorn Van Der Veken, Johnny Duerinck, Elle Vermeulen, Corina E. Andreescu, Michael Bruneau, Bart Neyns, Van Velthoven and Brigitte Velkeniers
- 16 Cushing's syndrome is associated with altered adipokine profile

Daniela Dadej, Ewelina Szczepanek-Parulska, Elżbieta Wrotkowska and Marek Ruchała

24 Pituitary adenomas and cerebrovascular disease: A review on pathophysiology, prevalence, and treatment Robert C. Osorio, Jun Y. Oh, Nikita Choudhary, Meeki Lad, Luis Savastano and Manish K. Aghi

38 Positive association between nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and growth hormone deficiency in patients with nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma

Yoon-a Hwang, Hye Won Lee, Sang Hoon Ahn, Eun Jig Lee, Cheol Ryong Ku and Seung Up Kim

46 Sheehan syndrome: Cardiovascular and metabolic comorbidities

Bashir Ahmad Laway and Mohammad Salem Baba

- 51 Ectopic lipid metabolism in anterior pituitary dysfunction Clemens Baumgartner, Martin Krššák, Greisa Vila, Michael Krebs and Peter Wolf
- 60 Medical treatment of Cushing's disease with concurrent diabetes mellitus

Anna Mehlich, Marek Bolanowski, Dawid Mehlich and Przemysław Witek

72 Effects of acromegaly treatment on left ventricular systolic function assessed by speckle tracking echocardiography in relation to sex differences: results from a prospective single center study

> Agata Popielarz-Grygalewicz, Maria Stelmachowska-Banaś, Dorota Raczkiewicz, Izabella Czajka-Oraniec, Grzegorz Zieliński, Wacław Kochman, Marek Dąbrowski and Wojciech Zgliczyński

85 Use of speckle tracking echocardiography in evaluating cardiac dysfunction in patients with acromegaly: an update Rong Huang, Jiewen Jin, Pengyuan Zhang, Kemin Yan, Hanrong Zhang, Xin Chen, Wei He, Hongyu Guan, Zhihong Liao, Haipeng Xiao, Yanbing Li and Hai Li

95 Predictive factors and the management of hyperglycemia in patients with acromegaly and Cushing's disease receiving pasireotide treatment: *post hoc* analyses from the SOM230B2219 study

> Ulla Feldt-Rasmussen, Marek Bolanowski, Shao-Ling Zhang, Yerong Yu, Przemysław Witek, Pramila Kalra, Noppadol Kietsiriroje, Andrea Piacentini, Alberto M. Pedroncelli and Susan L. Samson

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Przemysław Witek, Warsaw Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY Michael P. Catalino, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States Ning-Ai Liu, Cedars Sinai Medical Center, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Stephanie Du Four stephanie.dufour@uzbrussel.be

[†]PRESENT ADDRESSES Jorn Van Der Veken, Flinders Medical Centre, Adelaide, SA, Australia Stephanie Du Four, AZ Delta, Roeselare, Belgium

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Pituitary Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 14 June 2022 ACCEPTED 15 August 2022 PUBLISHED 08 September 2022

CITATION

Du Four S, Van Der Veken J, Duerinck J, Vermeulen E, Andreescu CE, Bruneau M, Neyns B, Velthoven V and Velkeniers B (2022) Pituitary carcinoma - case series and review of the literature. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:968692. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.968692

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Du Four, Van Der Veken, Duerinck, Vermeulen, Andreescu, Bruneau, Nevns, Velthoven and Velkeniers. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pituitary carcinoma - case series and review of the literature

Stephanie Du Four^{1,2*†}, Jorn Van Der Veken^{3†}, Johnny Duerinck², Elle Vermeulen², Corina E. Andreescu⁴, Michael Bruneau², Bart Neyns⁵, Van Velthoven² and Brigitte Velkeniers⁶

¹Department of Neurosurgery, Universitair Ziekenhuis Brussel (UZ Brussel), Vrije Universiteit Brussel (VUB), Brussels, Belgium, ²Department of Neurosurgery, AZ Delta, Roeselare, Belgium, ³Department of Neurosurgery, Flinders Medical Centre, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ⁴Department of Endocrinology, Universitair Ziekenhuis Brussel (UZ Brussel), Vrije Universiteit Brussel (VUB), Brussels, Belgium, ⁵Department of Medical Oncology, Universitair Ziekenhuis Brussel (UZ Brussel), Vrije Universiteit Brussel (VUB), Brussels, Belgium, ⁶Department of Internal Medicine, Universitair Ziekenhuis Brussel (UZ Brussel), Vrije Universiteit Brussel (VUB), Brussels, Belgium

Although pituitary adenomas (PAs) account for 15% of intracranial tumors, pituitary carcinomas (PCs) are a rare entity. Most commonly, PCs evolve from aggressive PAs invading the surrounding structures and eventually leading to metastatic lesions. Due to the low incidence, the diagnosis and treatment remains challenging. We report a case series of five patients with pituitary carcinoma (PC) treated in our center. At first diagnosis 3 patients had an ACTH-producing adenoma, 1 a prolactinoma and 1 a double secreting adenoma (GH and prolactin). The mean time interval from initial diagnosis to diagnosis of PC was 10.7 years (range 5-20 years). All patients underwent multiple surgical resections and radiotherapy. Four patients were treated with temozolomide for metastatic disease. One patient with concomitant radiochemotherapy for local recurrence. Temozolomide led to a stable disease in 2 patients. One patient had a progressive disease after 9 cycles of temozolomide. In absence of standard treatment, immunotherapy was initiated, resulting in a stable disease.

We report five cases of PCs. Three patients obtained a stable disease after tailored multidisciplinary treatment. Additionally, one patient was treated with immunotherapy, opening a new treatment option in PCs. Overall, PCs are rare intracranial neoplasms occurring several years after the initial diagnosis of aggressive PAs. Currently, the absence of predictive factors for an aggressive clinical course, provokes a challenging management.

KEYWORDS

pituitary adenoma, surgery, immunotherapy, radiotherapy, PitNET, pituitary carcinoma, temozolomide

Introduction

Pituitary adenomas are a commonly encountered pathology, with an overall estimated incidence of 16.7% (1).

Most often, pituitary adenomas (PAs) are slow growing tumors that do not invade into the surrounding tissues. However, 20 to 25% of PAs invade and infiltrate the surrounding structures including bone, cavernous sinuses and sphenoid sinus (2).

In the 2004 WHO classification three types of PAs were described: typical adenoma with low Ki-67 proliferative index, atypical adenoma characterized by Ki-67>3% and overexpression of p53, and carcinoma which demonstrate metastatic spread by craniospinal or systemic metastases (3). However, in the 2017 WHO classification the term atypical adenoma was abandoned due to the low predictive value of invasive behavior, based on the mitotic index and p53 (4, 5).

Pituitary carcinomas (PC) are very rare clinical entities with an incidence of 0.1 to 0.2% of pituitary tumors (6). The majority of PCs originate from functional PAs, most commonly from prolactin-secreting, followed by ACTH-secreting adenomas. Fifteen to twenty percent of PCs are non-functional, which comprises gonadotroph, silent corticotroph and rarely null cell carcinomas. The clinical presentation of patients with PCs is highly variable and depends on the functioning or nonfunctioning state, as well as the location and size of the metastatic lesions (7).

In the absence of prognostic criteria or pathological markers that reliably predict the behavior of PAs and due to the unpredictable clinical course, early identification of PCs is challenging but important to reduce morbidity and mortality in these patients (8, 9).

Currently, there are no prognostic criteria or pathological markers that reliably predict the behavior of PAs. The difficulty of early recognition of aggressive PAs, in combination with the absence of prognostic tools and low incidence of PC makes it difficult to adequately treat patients with PC. The aim of this study is to give an overview of the clinical evolution of different PAs that evolved over several years into PCs and set our clinical practice against the recently published data.

Methods

Informed consent has been obtained from the patients still in follow-up for publication of the case reports and accompanying images. Since it concerns a case study and patients provided informed consent for publication an approval from the institution's ethical commission is not required.

Results

Case 1

In 1994, a 34-year-old man developed a bitemporal hemianopsia due to a voluminous, cystic pituitary tumor. Biochemically the patient had no clinical signs or symptoms of Cushing disease and the ACTH and cortisol tests were within the normal range (ACTH 83pg/ml; cortisol 2,17 μ g/100ml). A transcranial resection was performed with recuperation of the visual field defect and preservation of the pituitary function.

Histological analysis showed an ACTH-secreting adenoma, with a Ki-67 less than 3%. As the postoperative MRI showed a millimetric remnant, the patient was treated with adjuvant radiotherapy.

In 2002, he suddenly developed a left fourth-nerve palsy due to compression of the cavernous sinus by a multilobulated cyst. A transsphenoidal endoscopic drainage of the cyst was performed, which resulted in a complete recovery of the fourth-nerve palsy but induced a panhypopituitarism.

In 2014, he developed an asymptomatic retroclival extraaxial mass encasing both vertebral arteries and compressing the medulla oblongata. In absence of other malignancies this lesion was most likely a metastasis. Because of the challenging location, the absence of clinical symptoms or biochemical abnormalities the decision for watchful waiting was made.

In 2015, this lesion caused a mass-effect on the medulla oblongata (Figure 3B) and a second lesion in the left cerebellar tonsil was diagnosed. Therefore, a surgical resection of the two lesions was performed. The histopathological analysis confirmed the metastasis of an ACTH-expressing adenoma. Neither obvious nuclear atypia nor mitotic activity was observed. The Ki-67 was less than 3% and p53 was negative.

A follow-up cerebral MRI 6 months postoperatively showed multiple new tumoral lesions at different intracranial locations. Due to the disseminated disease a treatment with temozolomide was initiated. After 12 cycles there was a slight decrease in size of the cerebellar and supratentorial lesions, the other lesions remained stable. Treatment was halted and at last follow-up in September 2021 there was no further clinical, biochemical or radiological progression.

Case 2

In 2008, a 28-year-old male patient was diagnosed with a macroadenoma invading the right cavernous sinus and compressing the optic chiasm causing visual loss (Figure 2A). Biochemically there was an elevated IGF-1 (1167µg/l) and a discrete hyperprolactinaemia (25,19 ng/mL). The visual loss in absence of relevant hyperprolactinemia, indicated a staged surgical resection (transsphenoidal followed by transcranial resection).



FIGURE 1

Cerebral MRI T1 weighted images with gadolinium at diagnosis of case 2 and case 5. (A) Knosp grade 4 classification of the second patient. (B) Knosp grade 3B classification of the 5th patient.

The immunohistochemistry staining showed expression of growth hormone (GH) and prolactin (PRL) (Ki-67>10% and p53 20%).

Postoperatively, the increased IGF-1 ($1053\mu g/L$) persisted, however there was a loss of the corticotrophic, gonadotrophic and thyrotrophic function. Apart from hormonal substitution, a treatment with lanreotide and cabergoline was initiated. In the absence of a biochemical response, pegvisomant was added, without normalization of IGF1-levels.

Poor biochemical response and increasing neurological symptoms due to compression of the optic chiasm and invasion in the cavernous sinus, led to a third surgical resection. Postoperatively, a partial recovery of the vision was achieved, lanreotide, cabergoline and pegvisomant treatment was continued, followed by radiotherapy. After 6 weeks, a reduction of tumor volume and mass effect were observed. A normalization of IGF-1 and prolactin was reached at 6 months.

In 2012, an epileptic seizure and an isolated IGF-1 increase, led to the diagnosis of a left frontobasal lesion (Figure 3A). A surgical resection confirmed a metastatic lesion of a PRL and GH-secreting adenoma with high mitotic activity (5-6 mitoses per 10 HPF, p53 20%, Ki-67>3%).

In 2013, an asymptomatic left frontal metastasis was diagnosed on a cerebral MRI. A treatment with temozolomide was initiated (5 per 28 days, 150mg/m2) but due to persisting side-effects it had to be interrupted after three cycles. Subsequently, radiotherapy was performed (30 fractions of 1.8Gy) with complete resolution of the lesion and normalization of IGF-1.

In 2017, a left temporal metastasis was diagnosed due to recurrent epileptic seizures and increasing IGF-1. A surgical resection was performed with histological confirmation of a metastasis of a PC (p53 positive, Ki-67 25-35%, GH and PRL positive).

In 2019 there was an increase of PRL and IGF-1 due to a metastatic lesion in the petrous bone. A treatment with cabergoline and lanreotide was initiated resulting in a clinical and biochemical regression (Figure 2A: hormonal changes according to treatment).

In January 2020, an increasing IGF-1 and PRL led to the diagnosis of a new metastatic lesion in the clivus and sphenoid bone. Despite increasing doses of cabergoline and lanreotide there was a persistent increased IGF-1 and PRL. Thereupon fractionated radiotherapy was initiated in April 2021. At latest follow-up in July 2022 the patient had a normalization of the IGF-1 levels and a stabilization of the PRL levels.

Case 3

In 1999, a 41-year-old patient was diagnosed with a macroprolactinoma causing visual field defects. A treatment with bromocriptine resulted in recovery of the visual field defects and biochemical normalization.

In 2008, the dosage of bromocriptine was increased for increasing PRL levels.

In 2011, the treatment with bromocriptine was interrupted and cabergoline was initiated for a persistent increase of PRL, however without success.

In 2012, he deteriorated clinically developing diplopia due to invasion of the cavernous sinus. Sequentially, a gross total resection was performed resulting in normalization of PRL levels and panhypopituitarism. Six months later, a quinagolide treatment was initiated for a recurrence with an increased PRL





Representation of the different locations of the metastatic lesions of all patients. (A) Patient 2; (B) Patient 1; (C) Patient 3; (D) Patient 5; (E) Patient 4.

without radiological progression. Nonetheless, a persistent hyperprolactemia led to the initiation of fractionated radiotherapy (50Gy, 25 fractions of 2Gy) resulting in an involution of the remaining adenoma and a significant decrease of prolactin levels ($422,48\mu$ g/L to $219,6\mu$ g/L).

In 2014, he had a biochemical and radiological recurrence. Besides a local recurrence, he also developed a retroclival mass at the level of the medulla oblongata, suggestive for a drop metastasis (Figure 3C). Temozolomide treatment was initiated and continued for 12 cycles resulting in a normalization of PRL levels and a slight tumor volume decrease.

In 2017, one year after the last dose of temozolomide, there was a progressive disease with increasing PRL levels. Temozolomide was restarted, but without success. Therefore, a transcranial surgical resection was performed. However, a total resection could not be obtained due to adherence to the optic chiasm and invasion of the cavernous sinus. Histological analysis confirmed a prolactinoma with a very high Ki-67 (>50%) and slightly increased p53 (5%).

In 2018, the patient had increasing visual field defects due to an increasing volume of the remnant adenoma. In absence of other treatment options, a contralateral transcranial resection was performed, and a gross total resection was achieved. The histological analysis confirmed a prolactinoma, however with a higher p53 expression (50%). The patient died in unclear circumstances in June 2018.

Case 4

In 2014, a 58-year-old man, was diagnosed with Cushing's disease due to a macroadenoma. A transsphenoidal resection confirmed the diagnosis of an ACTH-producing adenoma (Ki-67 <5% and p53 negative) and resulted in a hypocortisolemia necessitating a hydrocortisone treatment.

In 2015, increasing ACTH and cortisol led to the diagnosis of a recurrent macroadenoma.

Since he was under dual platelet therapy and anticoagulation therapy in the context of recent coronary artery stenting, a treatment with pasireotide was initiated awaiting surgery.

After 3 months, ketoconazole was added for persistently increased cortisol values, with obvious Cushing symptoms.

In 2016, a second transsphenoidal resection led to an initial decrease in cortisol levels. However, a bilateral adrenalectomy was performed 4 months after the surgery for a hypercortisolemia resistant to ketoconazole (Figure 2B: hormonal changes according to treatment).

In 2018, a recurrent invasive macroadenoma was detected on a routine cerebral MRI. A third transsphenoidal surgery was performed leaving tumor remnant in the cavernous sinus. There was a distinct change in histopathological analysis with the presence of a Ki-67 and p53 of more than 50%. Two months after the surgery the patient developed a complete right sided visual loss due to compression of the right optic nerve. Concomitant fractionated radiotherapy and chemotherapy was started in combination with a high-dose corticosteroid treatment. Due to a renal insufficiency the treatment with temozolomide was interrupted. This treatment resulted in a volume reduction of the adenoma with a partial recovery of this vision.

In 2020, a routine check-up for osteoporosis diagnosed the presence of multiple bone metastases. An FDG-PET-CT scan and a biopsy of a skeletal metastasis confirmed the multiple metastases (Figure 3E). Given the frail general condition of the patient, it was decided, in agreement with the patient and his family, not to initiate any further treatment.

Case 5

Our last case concerns a 33-year-old male patient with a Cushing's disease and a bitemporal hemianopsia treated with surgical resection (transsphenoidal and transcranial resection) follow by a treatment with gamma knife radiotherapy and ketoconazole. Despite the patient developed cerebellar and drop metastases at the cervical spine (Figure 3D). Since surgical resection was considered unsafe, a treatment with temozolomide was initiated. After 9 cycles of temozolomide the patient had a progressive disease. A treatment with ipilimumab and nivolumab was initiated. The patient received four cycles of ipilimumab (3 mg/kg) and nivolumab (1 mg/kg) every 3 weeks, for 4 cycles in a compassionate use setting. The ACTH levels declined and the patient is currently still being treated with a maintenance of nivolumab every 4 weeks. This case was described and has been published (10).

Discussion

We describe five cases of PC. In most cases, disease control was obtained after multimodal consisting of surgery, hormonal treatment, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, and immunotherapy (Tables 1, 2, overview of local and systemic treatments). However, in two patients these treatments could not control the disease. Early diagnosis of aggressive PAs through predictive parameters of possible evolution into carcinoma are eagerly wanted in order to propose adequate treatment.

Assessment of aggressiveness

The initial diagnosis of PAs is always confirmed with a full endocrinological work up and a cerebral MRI. A more detailed MRI of the sella turcica can show the presence of invasion of the

	Case 1	Case 2	Case 3	Case 4	Case 5
ts	transcranial surgery (1994)	transsphenoidal surgery (2008)	transsphenoidal surgery (2012)	transsphenoidal surgery (2014)	transsphenoidal surgery (2011)
treatments	Radiotherapy (1994)	transcranial surgery (2009)	radiotherapy (2013)	transsphenoidal surgery (2016)	transcranial surgery (2012)
local tr	transsphenoidal surgery (2002)	transsphenoidal surgery (2009)	transcranial surgery (2017)	bilateral adrenalectomy (2016)	radiotherapy (2013)
of	resection of metastatic lesions (2015)	radiotherapy (2009)	transcranial surgery (2018)	transsphenoidal surgery (2018)	radiotherapy
Sequence		transcranial surgery (2012)		radiotherapy (2018)	bilateral adrenalectomy
		transcranial surgery (2017)			

TABLE 1 Overview of the different local treatments including, surgery, radiotherapy and adrenalectomy.

TABLE 2 Overview of systemic treatment per case.

	Case 1	Case 2	Case 3	Case 4	Case 5
nents	Temozolomide (2015)	Lanreotide (2008)	Bromocriptine (1999)	Pasireotide (2016)	Ketoconazole (2015)
c treatments		Pegvisomant + lanreotide (2009)	Cabergoline (2008)	Ketoconazole (2016)	Temozolomide (2018)
systemic		Temozolomide (2013)	Quinagolide (2012)	Temozolomide (2018)	Ipilimumab + Nivolumab (2019)
of		Cabergoline + lanreotide (2019)	Temozolomide (2013)		Nivolumab (2019)
Sequence			Temozolomide (2014)		

surrounding structures. Some authors suggest this is indicative for an aggressive behavior (11).

The extensively used Knosp classification, which determines the extent of cavernous sinus invasion as compared to the internal carotid artery, helps in predicting the degree of resection, and hence the risk for recurrence. Based on this classification only grade 3 or grade 4 lesions are considered truly invasive (12, 13). The radiological classification guides the surgical management, and indication for adjuvant radiotherapy, but has inherent limitations. However, preoperative imaging is not fully reliable as invasion of the sellar floor or dura can be observed intraoperatively while it remained undetected on preoperative imaging (2, 11).

Recently, a clinicopathological classification combined radiological findings with immunocytological features (immunosubtype, Ki-67 index, mitotic count, and p53 positivity). The PAs were divided into 5 grades: grade 1a: noninvasive; grade 1b: non-invasive and proliferative; grade 2a: invasive; grade 2b: invasive and proliferative; grade 3: metastatic. At 8-years of follow-up they found that patients with grade 2b PAs at diagnosis, had a 12-to 25-fold probability of having tumor recurrence or progression as compared to those with grade 1a PAs. Moreover 6 of the 8 patients who developed a PC had a grade 2b PA at diagnosis (14). In our case series 3 of the 5 patients were grade 4 in the Knosp classification at diagnosis (Figure 1).

Unfortunately, the Ki-67, mitotic count and p53 positivity was not systematically determined at the time of diagnosis. The second case can be classified as a grade 2b in the Trouillas classification. According to this classification and new guidelines a more aggressive treatment with an adjuvant radiotherapy after the first surgery would have been indicated.

A more unpredictable clinical course was present in the fifth patient. At initial diagnosis, there was a grade 1 Knosp classification and grade 1a according to Trouillas. Moreover, at recurrence the proliferative markers were also negative. However, a restaging of the 3rd recurrence classified it as grade 4 (Knosp) and grade 2b (Trouillas) indicating a transformation towards an aggressive adenoma.

Potential predictors of aggressiveness

In the European Society of Endocrinology (ESE) guidelines histopathological analysis with immunodetection of pituitary hormones and Ki-67 proliferative index are recommended. In case the Ki-67 is >3% an evaluation of the p53 immunodetection and mitotic count is indicated (15). Additionally, the 2017 WHO classification encourages the use of transcription factors to detect a plurihormonal Pit-1-positive adenoma (a newly introduced high-risk PA) (5, 16, 17). This is emphasized in the new 2022 WHO classification were IHC plays an important role in the classification. In this classification the mammosomatotroph tumors are reported as a separate entity. Although we don't have IHC confirmation, patient 2 could be considered as a mammasomatotroph adenoma (GH and PRL secreting adenoma) (18).

However, the use of p53 immunodetection and the mitotic count determination as prognostic tools are controversial, as illustrated in the present case series (17, 19-21).

The 2004 WHO classification established a 3% or higher cut off for Ki-67 labelling. This cut off was based on measurements in a single laboratory, without confirming their reproducibility (22). Several, but not all studies have shown an association between Ki-67 and invasiveness. These conflicting results are probably the result of different immunohistochemically techniques detecting Ki-67 (23). p53 is encoded by the tumor suppressor TP53 gene, which is almost never mutated in PAs. However, some studies found a significant increased p53 expression in recurrent tumors (24). Similar to Ki-67 the quantification of p53 varies by lab, however a common definition of >10 strongly positive nuclei per 10HPF was defined.

A recent study validated the clinicopathological classification of Trouillas et al. and thereby demonstrated the prognostic value of p53 (14, 25). When applying a Ki-67>3% and a positive p53 staining a strong prognostic value was reflected in a recent ESE survey where at least one pathology marker was available for 34 carcinomas: Ki-67 \geq 3% was the most frequent positive marker in 85%, p53 positivity in 78%

and a mitotic count in 90% (15).

In our patients the p53 and Ki-67 were determined in only 2 cases at initial diagnosis (Table 3). In the second patient they were already positive at initial diagnosis. When determined at recurrence, both markers were positive on the latest histological analysis in 3 cases.

Genetic mutations

In three of the five patients (case 2, 3 and 4) a comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) genetic analysis of the tumor tissue was performed. All patients had chromosomal abnormalities that are related to a more invasive and aggressive tumor behavior. Allelic deletions at 4 different loci have been previously described (26).

In the second patient, an allelic deletion was present in two of these four loci: deletion on chr10q26 and chr13q12-14. This patient was also screened for the presence of *MEN-1* (*multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1*) or *AIP* (aryl hydrocarbon receptorinteracting protein) mutations. However, the sequencing of both genes showed no abnormalities.

In the third case, deletion of chr1q and chr11q was combined with a gain of chr1q. Since it concerns a prolactinoma, these results correspond with the recent observations where the combination of a deletion of chr11q and gain of chr1q was found in aggressive prolactinoma (27).

In the fourth case, a gain of chr1q was found. That is also associated with a more aggressive evolution (28).

So, besides multiple chromosomal alterations all three patients have abnormalities that have been associated with aggressive evolution and malignancy in PAs.

TABLE 3 Overview of the evolution of p53 and Ki-67 in the different patients.

		p53	Ki-67
	1994	not determined	<3%
Case 1	2002	not determined	not determined
Car	2015	negative	<3%
	2008	not determined	>10% (positive)
	2009	not determined	not determined
Case 2	2012	20%	30%
Can	2017	20%	25-35%
	2012	not determined	not determined
Case 3	2017	5%	>50%
Ğ	2018	>50%	>50%
4	2014	positive (light)	<5%
Case 4	2016	negative	<1%
22 2	2018	positive (>50%)	>50%
Case	2011	not determined	not determined
Ü	2012	not determined	not determined

Pituitary carcinoma

When aggressive PAs develop metastases and become PCs the clinical symptoms are often site-related, with variable biochemical findings. The majority of PCs have endocrine activity and aggressive transformation most often occurs in ACTH and PRL-secreting PAs. The reported latency period for ACTH-secreting and PRL-secreting PCs was respectively 9.5 and 4.7 years (16). This is similar to our patients in which the mean latency to malignant transformation was 10.7 years (resp. 20, 3, 1, 7 and 6 years respectively) without a difference between the ACTH- and PRL-secreting PCs (resp. 10.5 and 11 years). This is longer than reported in a case series by the university of MD Anderson Texas. They report 17 cases with a median time to PC conversion of 6 years. Similar to our cases the majority of PCs were hormone-secreting (29).

The diagnosis of metastases is most often preceded by the development of new symptoms or hormonal changes. However, in some cases the metastases are asymptomatic and discovered accidently on surveillance imaging or post mortem (30). This was the case in 2 of the 5 patients. In Figure 2, we show the time evolution of the hormonal changes (respectively IGF-1 and ACTH) measurements in relation to the treatment and the development of metastases are shown for the second and fifth case.

Currently, it is unclear what proportion of aggressive PAs progress into carcinoma. Resistance to medical therapies, however, can be associated with de-differentiation and malignant transformation (31). The mechanism of invasion and metastatic spread is similar to other malignancies, eventually leading to dissemination of tumor cells *via* lymphatic, hematogenous or CSF spread (22).

From an anatomical perspective, it seems likely that anatomical variation plays an important role in the dissemination of tumor cells. The pituitary gland lies in the hypophyseal fossa laterally delineated by the cavernous sinuses. It is unclear whether there is an extra layer between the thin fibrous capsule surrounding the pituitary gland and the cavernous sinuses. Most likely there are variations in thickness, which likely contribute to the variety of invasion in the setting of macroadenomas (32, 33). Similar anatomical variations have been described for the thickness of the diaphragma sellae (34). Thus, at these levels the borders of the hypophyseal fossa are thinner. Additionally, macroadenomas weaken the dura which is supported by the finding that dural invasion increases with tumor size (2).

Moreover, during transsphenoidal surgery, these boundaries are easily disrupted and may contribute to the spread of tumor cells in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). Similarly, CSF spreading has been reported during transcranial surgery. Taken together, these findings support the hypothesis that surgery could facilitate the development of metastases (35, 36). In our series all cases were diagnosed with a macroadenoma at initial diagnosis, and all had multiple transsphenoidal and/or transcranial resections. Three of the 5 patients developed drop metastases at the craniocervical junction or in the spinal canal. One patient had multiple intraparenchymal lesions and the fourth case developed bone metastases (Figure 3).

Therapeutic options

Surgery

In secreting non-prolactinoma macroadenoma and microadenoma unresponsive to medical treatment, transsphenoidal surgical resection is considered the first line treatment. In the presence of important intracranial extension, a transcranial approach may offer advantages. In some cases, both approaches are necessary to obtain a near-total tumor resection. Overall, the endoscopic approach is considered to allow more extensive resections of tumors invading the cavernous sinus and parasellar structures (37). In our series all patients had repeat surgery and 4 out of 5 patients had both surgical approaches (Table 1).

Radiotherapy

Since the invasive character of PCs, radiotherapy can be used as an adjuvant treatment to obtain a better disease controle.

In general, a radiotherapeutic treatment has a variable longterm tumor control of 80 to 97% and normalizes hormone levels in 40-70% of functioning PAs (38). Both stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) as fractionated stereotactic radiotherapy (FSRT) are being used. It has been shown that a good disease control can be obtained. In clinical practice, SRS is used for small tumors (<2.5-3cm) in a single-fraction dose of 16 to 25Gy (depending on size and position of the PA), while FSRT is preferred for PAs that are larger and/or nearby the optic tract. The endocrinological outcomes are poor, Hypopituitarisme is the most common complication with an incidence of 30-60% five to ten years after irradiation (39, 40). Far less frequently reported toxicities such as radiation induced optic neuropathy, cerebrovascular accidents and secondary tumors have an incidence of 0-3% (38, 41, 42).

All patients in our series received FSRT after incomplete resection (patient 1 and 5) and/or persistent disease (Table 1).

Medical treatment

Standard therapies

In our case series all patients were initially diagnosed with functioning PAs (PRL, PRL/GH and ACTH secreting PAs). As recommended, they were all treated with maximally tolerated doses of antihormonal therapy to control tumor growth (Table 2).

In most prolactinomas a reduction of tumor volume and normoprolactinemia can be achieved. Complete resistance only occurs in 10%. Male gender, large tumors and invasive growth are associated with lower response rates (43).

In acromegaly, treatment with somatostatin analogues and the GH receptor antagonist pegvisomant also lead to adequate reduction of tumor volume. Similar to prolactinoma a resistance is seen in 10% of patients (44, 45).

The medical treatment of corticotroph PAs is limited. Therefore, these patients are regularly treated with bilateral adrenalectomy, which often leads to a Nelson's syndrome. This was also the case in our patients treated with bilateral adrenalectomy. Nelson's syndrome is also associated with increased tumor growth and progression to metastases (46).

Temozolomide

For patients with aggressive PAs resistant to standard therapy, a treatment with the alkylating agent temozolomide (TMZ) is recommended. The first use of TMZ treatment for aggressive PAs was described in 2004. Between 2010 and 2016 eleven studies reported the use of TMZ in the management of PA, refractory to standard treatment. An efficacy of about 37% was reported in a recent ESE survey (47). In all studies, TMZ not only reduced tumor volume but also hormonal levels. Functioning tumors responded better than non-functioning adenomas. MGMT methylation and DNA mismatch repair (MMR) proteins are known predictors of a response to TMZ. A low MGMT and/or an intact MSH6 is associated with a good response to TMZ. Therefore it is recommended have an evaluation of MGMT status by an expert pathologist (15, 47, 48).

Four of the 5 cases were treated with a TMZ treatment (Table 2). Two patients had a stable disease, 1 had a partial response and in 2 patients the treatment had to be interrupted due to side effects. In the first case the patient still has a stable disease 4 years after the cessation of TMZ treatment. In our cases the duration of the treatment with TMZ was set at 12 months or until progressive disease, however this remains a point of discussion in literature. In the case series of Santos Pinheiro et al. 82% of patients received TMZ. Moreover all patients treated with a survival that exceeded 5 years were treated with TMZ (29).

Moreover, since TMZ is a known radiosensitizer it is often combined with radiotherapy. An ESE survey indicated that patients treated with concomitant chemoradiotherapy had a better tumor response (47). Additionally, high rates of local tumor control were reported with concomitant chemoradiotherapy as salvage treatment for patients with aggressive PA or PC, especially in patients with MGMT promotor methylation (49). To date the combination of TMZ with other treatments such as capecitabine, pasireotide or octreotide has not been demonstrated (37, 50).

Alternative treatments for TMZ resistant pituitary tumors

The ESE recommend evaluating the effect after 3 cycles of TMZ. In patients with rapid progression a trial with other systemic cytotoxic or other therapy should be started. In the pre-TMZ era, some antitumoral effect (14%) with limited toxicity was obtained with lomustine/5-fluorouracil.

The use of targeted therapies is emerging in the therapy of PAs. Two cases with therapy-resistant macroprolactinoma were successfully treated with lapatinib, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor against EGFR/HER2. Lapatinib in pituitary tumors is currently being investigated in a phase II clinical trial (NCT00939523) (51). Treatment with other targeted therapies (sunitinib, erlotinib) has not been successful in case reports. An unpublished ESE survey reports good antitumoral responses in a limited number of cases with the anti-VEGF antibody bevacizumab as rescue treatment of in combination with TMZ (15).

Immunotherapy

Currently, a variety of malignancies is being treated with great success with immune-checkpoint inhibitors, i.e. inhibition of programmed death 1 (PD-1) and/or cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4). Intratumoral expression of PD-L1 and the presence of CD8⁺ tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) are predictive markers for anti-PD-1 treatment. Recently, investigation of the expression of PD-1 and the presence of CD8⁺TILs in 191 patients with PAs showed that 36.6% had positive PD-L1 expression and 86.9% had CD8⁺ TILs. Functioning PAs had a higher expression of PD-L1(58.8%). Moreover, the PD-L1 expression was significantly associated with higher blood levels of PRL, GH, ACTH and cortisol. PD-L1 expression also correlated with a higher p53 expression (52).

Based on these results and the absence of second line therapy, a treatment with immunotherapy was initiated in the patient 5. Four cycles of ipilimumab (anti-CTLA4 antibody) in combination with nivolumab (antiPD-1 antibody), followed by a maintenance with nivolumab treatment was given with a good clinical result. Unfortunately, there was no new surgical indication, and the PDL-1 expression has not been determined.

A case report recorded a spectacular response to combined treatment with ipilimumab and nivolumab. Furthermore, they performed genomic sequencing on tumors before (pituitary) and after temozolomide treatment (liver) and found a MSH6 mutation in the TMZ-treated liver metastasis (53). MSH6 mutations have been described as a mechanism of tumor resistance to TMZ treatment in glioblastoma (54). Two additional case reports confirmed tumor responses combining ipilimumab and nivolumab (55). Currently, two clinical trials (NCT04042753, NCT02834013) investigate the efficacy and safety of nivolumab and ipilimumab in PAs.

12

Conclusion

The diagnosis and treatment of PCs is challenging. Despite the recent update of the WHO classification and the addition of transcription factors, no histological or molecular predictors of aggressiveness have been identified. Moreover, there is a dissociation between the radiological and/or perioperative invasiveness and the immunohistological characteristics of aggressive behavior. This complicates the prediction of the clinical course and decision making towards aggressive treatment. Hence, a multidisciplinary evaluation is fundamental in the follow-up and treatment of these patients.

In this case series we describe 5 cases of PC. Initially 4 of the 5 patients had a good hormonal and radiological tumor control. In the second patient there were more difficulties to obtain tumor control, despite multiple medical and surgical treatments. Since this patient had a high Ki-67 and positive p53 expression, a more aggressive treatment with immediate adjuvant radiotherapy was retrospectively indicated. Although the role of Ki-67 and p53 is controversial, a determination of the Ki-67, mitotic count and p53 at diagnosis should be performed in macroadenoma invading the surrounding structures (on preoperative MRI or perioperative findings). A classification as made by Trouillas et al. combining anatomical and molecular characteristics can be a helpful tool for decision making in these patients.

Corresponding to the literature, treatment with TMZ led to good tumor control in the 3 patients who tolerated the treatment, which supports the treatment of TMZ as first line therapy in PCs. The duration of treatment and indication for concomitant radiotherapy must be further investigated in clinical trials. A rechallenge with TMZ in the fourth patient had no therapeutic effect, which confirms the previously published results. In our 5th patient this led to the initiation of a treatment with check-point inhibition obtaining a stable hormonal and radiological disease for 1 year encouraging the use of immunotherapy in these tumors.

Overall, we can state that further research for predictors of aggressiveness, adequate first and second-line treatments to adequately treat these PCs, is warranted. We recommend the use of the classification of Trouillas for registration and decision making as well as the determination of the transcription factors used in the new WHO classification. Since these are rare tumors, a European registry could capture more insights on the clinical and pathological characteristics and treatments. This data could lead to better diagnosis and individually tailored therapies.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

SDF, JV, DJ and EV reviewed the patient files and documentation and describe the cases. CA and BV overviewed the endocrinological literature, BN the oncological literature and VV and MB the surgical literature. SDF wrote the main text of the manuscript. BV and VV overviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Ezzat S, Asa SL, Couldwell WT, Barr CE, Dodge WE, Vance ML, et al. The prevalence of pituitary adenomas: A systematic review. *Cancer* (2004) 101(3):613–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.20412

3. De Lillis R, Lloyd RV, Heitz P. 'World health organization classification of tumours: pathology and genetics of tumours of endocrine organs.'. IARC Press (2004) p. p-9-47.

4. Louis DN, et al. International society of neuropathology-haarlem consensus guidelines, for nervous system tumor classification and grading. *Brain Pathol* (2014) 24:1–17. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12171

^{2.} Meij BP, et al. The long-term significance of microscopic dural invasion in 354 patients with pituitary adenomas treated with transsphenoidal surgery. *J Neurosurg* (2002) 96(2):195–208. doi: 10.3171/jns.2002.96.2.0195

5. Mete O, Lopes MB. Overview of the 2017 WHO classification of pituitary tumors. *Endocrine Pathol* (2017) 28(3):228-43. doi: 10.1007/s12022-017-9498-z

6. Faehndrich J, et al. Neuroradiological viewpoint on the diagnostics of spaceoccupying brain lesions. *Clin Neuroradiol* (2011) 21(3):123–39. doi: 10.1007/ s00062-011-0073-6

7. Lopes M, Scheithauer BW, Schiff D. Pituitary carcinoma diagnosis and treatment. *Endocrine* (2005) 28(1):115–21. doi: 10.1385/ENDO:28:1115

8. Gürlek A, Karavitaki N, Ansorge O, Wass JAH, et al. What are the markers of aggressiveness in prolactinomas? changes in cell biology, extracellular matrix components, angiogenesis and genetics. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2007) 156(2):143–53. doi: 10.1530/eje.1.02339

9. Dworakowska D, Grossman AB. Aggressive and malignant pituitary tumours: state-of-the-art. *Endocrine-related Cancer* (2018) 25(11):R559–R575. doi: 10.1530/ERC-18-0228

10. Sol B, de Filette JMK, Awada G, Raeymaeckers S, Aspeslagh S, Andreescu CE, et al. Immune checkpoint inhibitor therapy for ACTH-secreting pituitary carcinoma: A new emerging treatment? *Eur J Endocrinol* (2021) 184(1):K1–5. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-0151

11. Priola SM, Esposito F, Cannavò S, Conti A, Abbritti R V., Barresi V, et al. Aggressive pituitary adenomas: The dark side of the moon. *World Neurosurg* (2017) 97:140. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2016.09.092

12. Knosp E, Steiner E, Kitz K, Matula C. Pituitary adenomas with invasion of the cavernous sinus space: A magnetic resonance imaging classification compared with surgical findings. *Neurosurgery* (1993) 33(4):610–7; discussion 617-8.

13. Wolfsberger S, Knosp E. Comments on the WHO 2004 classification of pituitary tumors. *Acta Neuropathologica* (2006) 111(1):66–7. doi: 10.1007/s00401-005-1097-2

14. Trouillas J, Roy P, Sturm N, Dantony E, Cortet-Rudelli C, Viennet G, et al. A new prognostic clinicopathological classification of pituitary adenomas: A multicentric case-control study of 410 patients with 8 years post-operative follow-up. *Acta Neuropathologica* (2013) 126(1):123–35. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1084-y

15. Raverot G, Burman P, Mccormack A, Heaney A, Petersenn S, Popovic V, et al. European Society of endocrinology clinical practice guidelines for the management of aggressive pituitary tumours and carcinomas clinical practice guideline 178:1 G2 clinical practice guideline G raverot and others aggressive pituitary tumour guidelines. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2018) 178:1–24. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-0796

16. Yang Z, Zhang T, Gao H. Genetic aspects of pituitary carcinoma: A systematic review. *Medicine* (2016) 95(47):1–9. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000005268

17. Lopes MBS. The 2017 world health organization classification of tumors of the pituitary gland: A summary. *Acta Neuropathologica Springer Berlin Heidelberg* (2017) 134(4):521–35. doi: 10.1007/s00401-017-1769-8

18. Asa SL, Mete O, Perry A, Osamura RY. Overview of the 2022 WHO classification of pituitary tumors. *Endocrine Pathol* (2022) 33(1):6–26. doi: 10.1007/s12022-022-09703-7

19. Burger P, Shibata T, Kleihues P. The use of the monoclonal antibody ki-67 in the identification of proliferating cells: Application to surgical neuropathology. *Am J Surg Pathol* (1986) 10(9). doi: 10.1097/00000478-198609000-00003

20. Thapar K, Kovacs K, Ph D, Scheithauer BW, Stefaneanu L, Ph D, et al. Proliferative activity and invasiveness among pituitary adenomas and Carcinomas : An analysis using the MIB-1 antibody. (1996) 38(1):99–106 discussion 106-7. doi: 10.1097/00006123-199601000-00024

21. Paek K, Kim S, Song S, Choi S, Koh H, Youm J, et al. Clinical significance of ki-67 labeling index in pituitary macroadenoma. (2005) 20(3):489–94.

22. Asa SL, Ezzat S. Aggressive pituitary tumors or localized pituitary carcinomas: Defining pituitary tumors. *Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 11 (2):149–62. doi: 10.1586/17446651.2016.1153422

23. Salehi F, Agur A, Scheithauer BW, Kovacs K, Lloyd RV, et al. KI-67 IN PITUITARY NEOPLASMS. *Neurosurgery* (2009) 65(3):429-37. doi: 10.1227/ 01.NEU.0000349930.66434.82

24. Ozer E, Canda MS, Ulukus C, Guray M, Erbayraktar S, et al. Expression of BCL-2, BAX and P53 proteins in pituitary adenomas an immunohistochemical study. *Tumori J* (2003) 89(1):54–9. doi: 10.1177/030089160308900112

Raverot G, Dantony E, Beauvy J, Vasiljevic A, Mikolasek S, Borson-Chazot F, et al. Risk of recurrence in pituitary neuroendocrine tumors: A prospective study using a five-tiered classification. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2017) 102(9):3368–74. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-00773

26. Bates AS, Farrell WE, Bicknell EJ, McNicol AM, Talbot AJ, Broome JC, et al. Allelic deletion in pituitary adenomas reflects aggressive biological activity and has potential value as a prognostic marker. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1997) 82(3):818–24. doi: 10.1210/jc.82.3.818

27. Wierinckx A, Roche M, Raverot G, Legras-Lachuer C, Croze S, Nazaret N, et al. Integrated genomic profiling identifies loss of chromosome 11p impacting transcriptomic activity in aggressive pituitary PRL tumors. *Brain Pathol* (2011) 21 (5):533–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2011.00476.x

28. Raverot G, Jouanneau E, Trouillas J. Management of endocrine disease: Clinicopathological classification and molecular markers of pituitary tumours for personalized therapeutic strategies. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2014) 170(4):121–32. doi: 10.1530/EJE-13-1031

29. Santos Pinheiro F, Penas-Prado M, McCutcheon IE, Mahajan A, Brown PD, Kamiya-Matsuoka C, et al. 'Pituitary carcinoma: The university of Texas MD Anderson cancer center experience. *J Clin Oncol* (2017) 35(15_suppl):2068. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.35.15_suppl.2068

30. Kaltsas GA, Nomikos P, Kontogeorgos G, Buchfelder M, Grossman AB, et al. Clinical review: Diagnosis and management of pituitary carcinomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90(5):3089–99. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-2231

31. Sbardella E, Farah G, Fathelrahman A, Cudlip S, Ansorge O, Karavitaki N, et al. A macroprolactinoma becoming resistant to cabergoline and developing atypical pathology. *Endocrinol Diabetes Metab Case Rep* (2016) 2016:7–11. doi: 10.1530/edm-16-0038

32. Destrieux C, Kakou MK, Velut S, Lefrancq T, Jan M, et al. Microanatomy of the hypophyseal fossa boundaries. *J Neurosurg* (1998) 88:743–52. doi: 10.3171/jns.1998.88.4.0743

33. Peker S, Kurtkaya-Yapicier O, Kiliç T, Pamir MN, et al. Microsurgical anatomy of the lateral walls of the pituitary fossa. *Acta Neurochirurgica* (2005) 147 (6):641–8. doi: 10.1007/s00701-005-0513-7

34. Rhoton AL. The sellar region. Neurosurgery (2002) 51:335-374. doi: 10.1016/B978-1-4160-0292-5.00010-3

35. Imboden PNE, Borruat F-X, De Tribolet N, Meagher-Villemure K, Pica A, Gomez F, et al. Non-functioning pituitary carcinoma. *Pituitary* (2004) 7(3):149–56. doi: 10.1007/s11102-005-3411-3

36. Krueger EM, Seibly J. Seeding of a pituitary adenoma or atypical pituitary carcinoma? *Cureus* (2017) 9(5):1–5. doi: 10.7759/cureus.1211

37. Ng S, Messerer M, Engelhardt J, Bruneau M, Cornelius JF, Cavallo LM, et al. Aggressive pituitary neuroendocrine tumors: current practices, controversies, and perspectives, on behalf of the EANS skull base section. *Acta Neurochirurgica* (2021) 163(11):3131–42. doi: 10.1007/s00701-021-04953-6

38. Minniti G, Clarke E, Scaringi C, Enrici RM, et al. Stereotactic radiotherapy and radiosurgery for non-functioning and secreting pituitary adenomas', reports of practical oncology and radiotherapy. *Wielkopolskie Centrum Onkologii* (2016) 21 (4):370–8. doi: 10.1016/j.rpor.2014.09.004

39. Sheehan JP, Starke RM, Mathieu D, Young B, Sneed PK, Chiang VL, et al. Gamma knife radiosurgery for the management of nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas: a multicenter study. *J Neurosurg* (2013) 119(2):446–56. doi: 10.3171/2013.3.JNS12766

40. Deng W-C, Yan J-L, Chuang C-C, Wei K-C, Chang C-N, Wu C-T, et al. 'Adjuvant radiation therapy compared with observation alone for postoperative residual nonfunctional pituitary adenomas.', world neurosurgery. *United States* (2019) 128:e1024–33. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2019.05.066

41. Ding D, Starke RM, Sheehan JP. Treatment paradigms for pituitary adenomas: Defining the roles of radiosurgery and radiation therapy. *J Neuro-Oncol* (2014) 117(3):445–57. doi: 10.1007/s11060-013-1262-8

42. Minniti G, Flickinger J, Tolu B, Paolini S, et al. Management of nonfunctioning pituitary tumors: Radiotherapy. *Pituitary* (2018) 21(2):154-61. doi: 10.1007/s11102-018-0868-4

43. Delgrange E, Daems T, Verhelst J, Abs R, Maiter D, et al. Characterization of resistance to the prolactin-lowering effects of cabergoline in macroprolactinomas: A study in 122 patients. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2009) 160(5):747–52. doi: 10.1530/EJE-09-0012

44. Trainer PJ, Drake W, Katznelson L, Freda P, Herman-Bonert V, Van Der Lely AJ, et al. Treatment of acromegaly with the growth hormone receptor antagonist pegvisomant. *New Engl J Med* (2000) 342(16):1171–7.

45. Colao A, Bronstein MD, Freda P, Gu F, Shen CC, Gadelha M, et al. Pasireotide versus octreotide in acromegaly: A head-to-head superiority study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2014) 99(3):791–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2480

46. Heaney A. Management of aggressive pituitary adenomas and pituitary carcinomas. J Neuro-Oncol (2014) 117(3):459-68. doi: 10.1007/s11060-014-1413-6

47. Mccormack A, Dekkers OM, Petersenn S, Popovic V, Trouillas J, Raverot G, et al. Treatment of aggressive pituitary tumours and carcinomas: Results of a European society of endocrinology (ESE) survey 2016. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2018) 178 (3):265–76. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-0933

48. Syro LV, Rotondo F, Ortiz LD, Kovacs K, et al. Treatment of pituitary tumors with temozolomide: An update. *Endocrine-Related Cancer* (2018) 25(8): T159–69. doi: 10.1530/ERC-18-0015

49. Minniti G, Paolini S, Rea MLJ, Isidori A, Scaringi C, Russo I, et al. Stereotactic reirradiation with temozolomide in patients with recurrent aggressive pituitary tumors and pituitary carcinomas. *J Neuro-Oncol* (2020) 149 (1):123–30. doi: 10.1007/s11060-020-03579-5

50. Ceccato F, Lombardi G, Manara R, Emanuelli E, Denaro L, Milanese L, et al. Temozolomide and pasireotide treatment for aggressive pituitary adenoma: expertise at a tertiary care center. *J Neuro-Oncol* (2015) 122(1):189–96. doi: 10.1007/s11060-014-1702-0

51. Varlamov EV, McCartney S, Fleseriu M. Functioning pituitary adenomas current treatment options and emerging medical therapies. *Eur Endocrinol* (2019) 15(1):30–40. doi: 10.17925/EE.2019.15.1.30 52. Wang PF, Wang TJ, Yang YK, Yao K, Li Z, LI YM, et al. The expression profile of PD-L1 and CD8+ lymphocyte in pituitary adenomas indicating for immunotherapy. *J Neuro-Oncol* (2018) 139(1):89–95. doi: 10.1007/s11060-018-2844-2

53. Lin AL, Jonsson P, Tabar V, Yang TJ, Cuaron J, Beal K, et al. Marked response of a hypermutated ACTH-secreting pituitary carcinoma to ipilimumab and nivolumab. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2018) 103(10):3925–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-01347

54. Sun Q, Pei C, Li Q, Dong T, Dong Y, Xing W, et al. Up-regulation of MSH6 is associated with temozolomide resistance in human glioblastoma. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2018) 496(4):1040–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.01.093

55. Duhamel C, Ilie MD, Salle H, Nassouri AS, Gaillard S, Deluche E, et al. Immunotherapy in corticotroph and lactotroph aggressive tumors and carcinomas: Two case reports and a review of the literature. *J Personalized Med* (2020) 10(3):1– 12. doi: 10.3390/jpm10030088

TYPE Original Research PUBLISHED 06 December 2022 DOI 10.3389/fendo.2022.1032329

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Pawel Krzesinski, Military Institute of Medicine, Poland

REVIEWED BY Aleksandra Klisic, Primary Health Care Center Podgorica, Montenegro Przemysław Witek, Warsaw Medical University, Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE Daniela Dadej daniela.dadej@student.ump.edu.pl

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Pituitary Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 30 August 2022 ACCEPTED 22 November 2022 PUBLISHED 06 December 2022

CITATION

Dadej D, Szczepanek-Parulska E, Wrotkowska E and Ruchała M (2022) Cushing's syndrome is associated with altered adipokine profile. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1032329. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1032329

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Dadej, Szczepanek-Parulska, Wrotkowska and Ruchała. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cushing's syndrome is associated with altered adipokine profile

Daniela Dadej^{1,2*}, Ewelina Szczepanek-Parulska¹, Elżbieta Wrotkowska¹ and Marek Ruchała¹

¹Department of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Internal Medicine, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland, ²Doctoral School, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland

Introduction: Adipokines are signaling molecules involved in the integration of metabolism. Changes in their concentrations were observed in obesity, metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular diseases, as well as endocrine disorders. Cushing's syndrome is associated with metabolic dysregulation, but the significance of adipokines in this entity and related complications is largely unknown. The aim of our study was to determine the concentrations of adipokines: fetuin A, fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4) and retinol binding protein 4 (RBP4) in Cushing's syndrome and to assess their relation to established cardiovascular and diabetes risk markers.

Methods: We examined 21 subjects with Cushing's syndrome and 24 healthy controls in a cross-sectional manner. Venous blood samples were analysed for adipokines, cortisol, adrenocorticotrophin, glucose, insulin, glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c), triglycerides, cholesterol fractions, thyrotropin and free thyroid hormones concentrations. Patients' body mass index (BMI) was evaluated, homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance and Systematic Coronary Risk Evaluation (SCORE) were calculated.

Results: We found that the concentration of fetuin A was lower, while FABP4 and RBP4 concentrations were higher in Cushing's syndrome compared to controls [156.4 \pm 60.0 µg/ml vs 260.7 \pm 49.6 µg/ml; 79.8 (35.2-156.1) ng/ml vs 27.9 (17.1-36.7) ng/ml and 34 (30-37.7) mg/l vs 25.8 (23.6-27.7) mg/l, respectively]. Fetuin A correlated inversely, while FABP4 and RBP4 positively, with the concentrations of urinary free cortisol and adrenocorticotrophin. Fetuin A was positively related to LDL-cholesterol, and negatively to SCORE and HbA1c. FABP4 was associated positively with BMI, HbA1c and triglycerides, while RBP4 correlated positively with triglycerides and systolic blood pressure.

Conclusions: Adipokines' concentrations change in hypercortisolism. Further research is needed to ascertain whether adipokines are involved in the

development of metabolic complications accompanying Cushing's syndrome or secondarily reflect metabolic dysregulation.

KEYWORDS

adipose endocrine, fetuin A, fatty acid-binding protein 4, retinol binding protein 4, cushing's syndrome, integrative endocrine

Introduction

Adipokines are the cytokines secreted from adipocytes, that participate in signalling between tissues involved in the regulation of body metabolism. Altered adipokine production reflects adipose tissue dysfunction, that has been linked to obesity and associated complications (1). Recently, fetuin A, fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4) and retinol binding protein 4 (RBP4) were identified as biomarkers of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease and diabetes (2-5). Several works demonstrated an association between these adipokines and endocrine disorders related to metabolic diseases (6, 7). Cushing's syndrome (CS) has a well-established association with central adiposity, insulin resistance, hyperglycaemia and diabetes, as well as cardiovascular complications, that account for commonest causes of death (8–12). The risk of complications increases with disease duration and often persists despite biochemical control is attained. The early recognition of comorbidities and treatment optimisation are essential to achieve favourable outcome. Limited research regarding FABP4 in CS exists (13), while fetuin A and RBP4 have not been evaluated yet.

The aim of this study was to determine whether hypercortisolism affects the concentrations of fetuin A, FABP4 and RBP4 and to assess their association with established biomarkers of cardiovascular disease and diabetes, including lipid profile, glycated haemoglobin, homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) and Systematic Coronary Risk Evaluation (SCORE and SCORE2).

Materials and methods

Group characteristics:

The study participants were recruited between October 2019 and June 2022 at the Department of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Internal Medicine, Poznan University of Medical Sciences. The study group comprised 21 subjects newly diagnosed with endogenous CS in the course of Cushing's disease (CD) (10 patients), ectopic ACTH production due to neuroendocrine tumours (5 patients) and small cell lung cancer (2 patients) or cortisol-secreting adrenal tumours (4 patients). The diagnosis of CS was made based on clinical features and laboratory findings according to clinical practice guidelines (14). The control group involved 24 individuals without severe chronic diseases, matched for age, gender, and BMI. The exclusion criteria for both groups were as follows: chronic liver or kidney disease, major cardiovascular events (myocardial infarction, stroke), diabetes, other uncontrolled endocrine disorders. Patients with subclinical CS were also excluded. Medication use was limited to antihypertensive agents (12 participants in the CS group and 2 in the control group), statins (2 CS subjects and 1 healthy control), metformin (3 subjects in the CS group), levothyroxine (6 participants in the control group and 4 in CS group), protonpump inhibitors (3 individuals in the CS group and 2 in the control group), potassium and vitamin D supplementation.

Study protocol:

All enrolled subjects underwent a full clinical examination. Blood samples were taken after an overnight fast. The following biochemical measurements were performed: creatinine, uric acid, fasting glucose, insulin, total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), free triiodothyronine (fT3), free thyroxine (fT4), dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate (DHEA-S), sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG), serum and urinary free cortisol (UFC) using Cobas 8000 modular analyser (Roche Diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland), glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) using high performance liquid chromatography -D10 system (Bio-Rad Laboratories, California, USA). For statistical analyses, we used average UFC calculated from three consecutive measurements. The samples for determination of serum fetuin A, FABP4 and RBP4 were frozen in minus 80 degrees Celsius and stored. After recruitment completion, the analyses were performed using commercially available enzyme linked immunosorbent assay kits: Human fetuin A ELISA kit (BioVendor Laboratory Medicine Cat# RD191037100), Human adipocyte FABP ELISA kit (BioVendor Laboratory Medicine Cat# RD191036200R, RRID : AB_2813774), Human RBP4 ELISA kit (Immundiagnostik AG Cat# K 6110).

Cardiovascular risk was estimated using the SCORE system for Polish population (15), as well as recently updated model -SCORE2 (16). SCORE and SCORE2 were estimated using charts with the inclusion of following factors: sex, age, smoking status, systolic blood pressure and total cholesterol for SCORE and sex, smoking status, age, systolic blood pressure and non-HDL cholesterol for SCORE2. The charts allow the assessment of individuals aged between 40 and 70 years old. Younger participants were not involved in SCORE/SCORE2 estimation and associated analyses. HOMA-IR was calculated using the following formula (17):

HOMA – IR = fasting concentration of insulin (mIU/ml) * fasting concentration of glucose (mmol/l) 22,5

Bioethical statement

Bioethics Committee of the Poznan University of Medical Sciences approved the project (Resolution no. 118/21). All participants gave written, informed consent to participate in the study. The project was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation or median [quartiles] as appropriate. Normality was verified with Shapiro-Wilk test, while equality of variances was analysed using Fisher-Snedecor test. For comparisons between groups either Student's *t* test or Mann-Whitney *U* (exact) test were applied. For correlations Pearson product-moment correlation or Spearman's rank-order correlation tests were used. A *P*value<0.05 was considered statistically significant. The acquired data were analysed using PQStat Software (2022). PQStat v.1.8.4.136.

Results

Clinical characteristics and laboratory results of the study groups are presented in the Table 1. Analysed groups did not differ in terms of age and BMI. Although hypertension was diagnosed in 57% of CS subjects and only 8% of healthy controls, SBP did not differ significantly between the groups. 38% of individuals with CS and 29% of the controls had prediabetes, while the remaining 62% of CS group and 71% of the control group had normal glucose tolerance. We identified no significant differences in fasting plasma glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR between the groups. Mean HbA1c was about 10% higher in CS subjects, but remained below diabetes cut-off value in all subjects. Considering the lipid panel, groups differed significantly in terms of triglycerides only (higher concentrations were observed in CS subjects). Apart from adrenal hormones, thyroid function was evaluated. TSH and fT3 concentrations were significantly higher in the control group. Median SHBG concentration was almost half lower in CS individuals compared with controls.

The comparison of the analysed adipokines' serum concentrations between the study groups is shown in the Figure 1. Patients with CS presented significantly lower fetuin-A concentration and higher circulating FABP4 and RBP4 compared with healthy controls [156.4 \pm 60.0 µg/ml vs 260.7 \pm 49.6 µg/ml; 79.8 (35.2-156.1) ng/ml vs 27.9 (17.1-36.7) ng/ml and 34 (30-37.7) mg/l vs 25.8 (23.6-27.7) mg/l, respectively]. The adipokines' concentrations correlated with 24-hour UFC: fetuin A negatively (*r*=-0.810, *p*=<0.001), while FABP4 (*r*=0.560, *p*=0.001) and RBP4 (*r*=0.489, *p*=0.002) positively, as shown in the Figure 2. We observed an inverse correlation between fetuin A and ACTH and a positive correlation of FABP4 and RBP4 with ACTH, after exclusion of subjects with adrenal CS; data presented in the Table 2.

Associations between fetuin A, FABP4, RBP4, metabolic and hormonal parameters are summarised in the Table 3. Only RBP4 was associated with SBP. On the other hand, the comparison between normotensive and hypertensive CS subjects revealed significant differences solely in fetuin A concentrations, which were significantly lower in hypertensive compared to normotensive CS patients (126.558 ± 54.556 µg/ml vs $196.278 \pm 42.247 \ \mu g/ml$, respectively; p = 0.005). We found no correlations between adipokines and fasting glucose or HOMA-IR. Moreover, adipokines' concentrations did not differ significantly between CS subjects with normal glucose tolerance and prediabetes. Fetuin A correlated negatively with HbA1c, while FABP4 - positively. The lipid panel measurements were not related to adipokines' concentrations, with the exception of LDL cholesterol, which correlated positively with fetuin A and triglycerides, which were positively related to FABP4 and RBP4. Only fetuin A correlated with SCORE. Fetuin A correlated positively with TSH, fT3, fT4 and SHBG. Conversely, FABP4 and RBP4 correlated negatively with TSH, thyroid hormones and SHBG.

Adipokines were also related to each other (Figure 3). We found an inverse correlation between fetuin A and FAB4 (r=0.387, p=0.009), fetuin A and RBP4 (r=-0.421, p=0.004), while FABP4 and RBP4 (r=0.416; p=0.004) were positively related.

Discussion

In this study, we found that fetuin A concentration is significantly lower, while FABP4 and RBP4 concentrations are significantly higher in CS compared to healthy controls. Adipokines correlated with 24-hour UFC and ACTH.

	Cushing's syndrome (n=21)	Controls (n=24)	P value
Gender (% M/F)	14/86	17/83	
Age [years]	42.8 ± 17.2	42.7 ± 12.3	ns
BMI [kg/m ²]	26.7 ± 5.2	25.3 ± 3.9	ns
SBP [mmHg]	135 [128-150]	128.5 [123.8-136.3]	ns
Fasting glucose [mg/dl]	100 [86-115]	94.5 [87.8-100.3]	ns
Fasting glucose [mmol/l]	5.6 [4.8-6.4]	5.3 [4.9-5.6]	ns
Insulin [µU/ml]	13.4 [8.9-21.6]	12.2 [9.2-17.4]	ns
HOMA-IR	4.2 [1.9-5.1]	3.1 [2.1-4.3]	ns
HbA1c [%]	5.9 ± 0.4	5.3 ± 0.3	< 0.001*
Total cholesterol [mg/dl]	196.3 ± 61.7	192.7 ± 34.0	ns
LDL cholesterol [mg/dl]	104.4 ± 47.8	115.5 ± 34.4	ns
HDL cholesterol [mg/dl]	51 [42-70]	66 [56.8-74.3]	ns
Non-HDL cholesterol [mg/dl]	132.7 ± 66.1	124.9 ± 35.6	ns
SCORE	1.5 [1-6.25]	1 [0.5-1.5]	ns
SCORE2	5 [2-9]	3 [2-5.5]	ns
Triglycerides [mg/dl]	157 [111-205]	110.5 [88-131.5]	0.008**
Creatinine [mg/dl]	0.73 [0.6-0.81]	0.76 [0.7-0.9]	ns
Uric acid [mg/dl]	4.9 [4.0-5.8]	4.1 [3.8-5.2]	ns
UFC [nmol/24h]	1370 [635.5-4567.7]	62.8 [55.3-88.3]	<0.001**
DHEA-S [µg/dl]	416.5 [183.8-582.5]	157 [109.5-223.3]	0.003**
SHBG [nmol/l]	27.8 [20.5-47.5]	53.7 [44.4-94.7]	0.001**
TSH [µU/ml]	0.8 [0.3-1.4]	1.5 [0.9-2.3]	0.011**
fT3 [pmol/l]	3.6 [2.5-4.1]	4.7 [4.4-5.4]	<0.001**
fT4 [pmol/l]	14.2 [13.2-17.3]	15.5 [14.2-16.9]	ns

TABLE 1 Clinical characteristics and metabolic profile of patients with Cushing's syndrome and controls.

Data are expressed as mean ± standard deviation when normally distributed and median [quartiles] when non-normally distributed.

*Student's t test; **Mann-Whitney U test.

BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; HOMA-IR, Homeostatic Model Assessment – Insulin Resistance; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein; SCORE, Systematic Coronary Risk Estimation; UFC, urinary free cortisol; DHEA-S, dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate; SHBG, sex hormone binding globulin; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone; fT3, free triiodothyronine; fT4, free thyroxine; ns, non-significant.

This is the first study to evaluate fetuin A and RBP4 concentrations in CS, which makes comparisons with the literature data challenging. Previously, Lewandowski et al. investigated the influence of two-day oral administration of dexamethasone on circulating RBP4 in healthy subjects and observed no change in RBP4 during the trial (18). Their results suggest, that RBP4 is not involved in short-term regulation of



with Cushing's syndrome and controls. (A) Fetuin A; Student's t test p<0.000001. (B) FABP4; Mann-Whitney U test p between 0.0001 and 0.001. (C) RBP4; Mann-Whitney U test p between 0.0001 and 0.001. FABP4, fatty acid binding protein 4; RBP4, retinol binding protein 4; UFC, urinary free cortisol.

glucocorticoid-promoted effects. However, prolonged exposure to hypercortisolaemia, as observed in our study, may induce an increase in RBP4 either as a direct effect of cortisol excess or secondary to CS associated complications. With regard to FABP4, previous studies demonstrated its increased concentrations in patients with CS compared with lean, but not obese subjects (13), as well as a decline in FABP4 upon UFC normalisation with twelve months of pharmacological treatment (19). These studies identified no correlations between FABP4 and either plasma cortisol (13), or UFC (19). However, FABP4 was positively related to ACTH (19). Guarnotta et al. investigated patients with mild CD, with UFC about three times lower compared to our cohort (19). We suppose that the differences in magnitude of glucocorticoid excess and sample size contributed to the dissimilarities in obtained results.

Atherosclerotic cardiovascular complications and thromboembolic events are the commonest causes of death in patients with CS, accounting for almost 45% of mortality (9). Underlying mechanisms involve hypercoagulability and endothelial dysfunction due to hypercortisolaemia and associated comorbidities including hypertension, diabetes,



dyslipidaemia etc., still, they are only partially understood (20). Fetuin A is involved in the regulation of calcium homeostasis as it binds surplus calcium, increases its clearance and prevents accumulation in vascular smooth muscle cells, thereby preventing promotion of coronary artery calcification and atherosclerosis (21, 22). Inverse relation between fetuin A and arterial calcification (23), as well as coronary artery disease (24), and cardiovascular mortality (4, 25), was reported. Increased Agatson score, a measure of coronary calcification, was observed in subjects with active CS or a history of CS (26), as well as a relation between increased cortisol reactivity to stress and greater extent of coronary artery calcification in short-time and prolonged observation - in healthy subjects (27, 28). Patients with CS have also increased concentrations of osteoprotegerin (29), a glycoprotein associated with coronary artery calcification (30). Whether low fetuin A in the course of CS, as observed in our study, contributes to increased coronary artery calcification and consequently cardiovascular mortality remains to be clarified. In line with this hypothesis, we observed an inverse correlation between fetuin A and SCORE, a surrogate for risk of fatal cardiovascular events.

Both FABP4 and RBP4 promote atherosclerosis *via* inducing endothelial dysfunction and foam cell formation (31, 32), and correlate with cardiovascular events (2, 33), though conflicting evidence exists (34). In obese non-diabetic patients RBP4 was associated with main features of atherogenic dyslipidaemia – low HDL cholesterol and high triglycerides (35, 36). We found a positive relation between RBP4 and triglycerides, that were significantly higher in CS group, and no correlation with HDL or other lipid panel measurements. We identified a positive correlation of RBP4 with systolic blood pressure, which

TABLE 2 Correlation between adipokines and ACTH (n=41).

	Fetuin A		FA	FABP4		RBP4	
	r	p	r	p	r	p	
ACTH	-0.646	< 0.001	0.483	0.001	0.382	0.014	

r, Spearman's rank order correlation coefficient; ACTH, adrenocorticotropic hormone; FABP4, fatty acid binding protein 4; RBP4, retinol binding protein 4. predisposes to endothelial dysfunction as well. Data on dyslipidaemia in CS is limited. Usually raised triglycerides, total and LDL cholesterol, and reduced HDL cholesterol are observed (8, 37). However, abnormal lipid panel might result from obesity alone (38). Previous studies in subjects with CS have shown a positive correlation between FABP4 and triglycerides, and BMI (13, 19), as observed in our cohort, while correlations with cholesterol fractions were inconclusive. Whether adipokines may induce lipid profile abnormalities in CS, must be further investigated.

Glucose intolerance and diabetes are further conditions that commonly complicate CS (8). Glucocorticoids impair insulin sensitivity in muscles, adipose tissue and liver (39). At the same time they increase glucagon secretion, which stimulates gluconeogenesis and inhibits glycolysis. Analysed adipokines also contribute to the development of insulin resistance and diabetes. They disrupt insulin signalling in peripheral tissues, supressing glucose uptake and utilization (31, 40-42), and promote adipose tissue inflammation, and lipid induced insulin resistance (43-45). Recent study indicates, that FABP4 targets pancreatic β -cells directly and impairs glucosestimulated insulin secretion (46). Similarly to previous studies in subjects with CS, we identified a positive correlation between FABP4 and HbA1c (13, 19). We detected no correlations between FABP4 and fasting plasma glucose, insulin or HOMA-IR. Previous results regarding HOMA-IR, insulin and fasting glucose were as well inconclusive (13, 19). Conversely to studies in normocortisolaemic individuals, we did not observe associations between fetuin A and HOMA-IR and found an inverse correlation with HbA1c. We can only speculate on the cause, as no study assessing interactions between glucocorticoids and fetuin A exists. Perhaps fetuin A, derived predominantly from the liver, is downregulated in CS due to increased protein oxidation and reduced protein synthesis (47). We identified no associations between RBP4 and carbohydrate homeostasis parameters in CS, opposed to most studies in normocortisolaemic subjects (6). Previous research indicates that RBP4 may be involved in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and diabetes, however conflicting results have also been published. Several studies either failed to identify relations between glucose stimulated insulin secretion and RBP4 in diabetic and obese subjects or indicated that increase in RBP4 observed in glucose intolerant subjects is rather secondary and has no causal relationship (48, 49). High circulating RBP4 in CS may reflect patients' metabolic state, but is unlikely to have a causative association.

Glucocorticoids have a well-known suppressive effect on TSH and thyroid hormones. Indeed, we observed significantly lower TSH and fT3 in CS group compared with controls. Recent studies indicate that adipokines are associated with thyroid status and may reflect or contribute to metabolic dysregulation accompanying thyroid dysfunction. Fetuin A was found to increase in hyperthyroidism, while results in hypothyroidism

	Fetuin A		FA	FABP4		RBP4	
	r ^{a or b}	p	r ^b	p	r ^b	p	
Age	-0.277 ^a	ns	0.204	ns	0.096	ns	
BMI	0.009 ^a	ns	0.460	0.002	0.095	ns	
SBP	-0.205 ^b	ns	0.266	ns	0.373	0.012	
Fasting glucose	-0.009 ^b	ns	0.261	ns	0.170	ns	
HOMA-IR	0.139 ^b	ns	0.114	ns	0.009	ns	
HbA1c	-0.449 ^a	0.006	0.622	< 0.001	0.297	ns	
Total cholesterol	0.083 ^a	ns	-0.136	ns	0.062	ns	
LDL cholesterol	0.333 ^a	0.038	-0.314	ns	-0.062	ns	
Non-HDL cholesterol	-0.004 ^a	ns	-0.143	ns	0.108	ns	
HDL cholesterol	0.184 ^b	ns	-0.208	ns	-0.209	ns	
Triglycerides	-0.143 ^b	ns	0.339	0.030	0.470	0.002	
Uric acid	-0.036 ^b	ns	0.226	ns	0.384	ns	
SCORE	-0.535 ^b	0.009	0.162	ns	0.253	ns	
SCORE2	-0.302 ^b	ns	0.216	ns	0.322	ns	
DHEA-S	-0.405 ^b	0.008	0.251	ns	0.335	0.030	
SHBG	0.550 ^b	< 0.001	-0.387	0.014	-0.357	0.024	
TSH	0.472 ^b	0.001	-0.90	0.008	-0.333	0.025	
fT3	0.708 ^b	< 0.001	-0.484	0.001	-0.433	0.003	
fT4	0.306 ^b	0.041	-0.158	ns	0.022	ns	

TABLE 3 Correlation between adipokines and clinical variables (n=45).

r^a, Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient; r^b, Spearman's rank order correlation coefficient; FABP4, fatty acid binding protein 4; RBP4, retinol binding protein 4; BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; HOMA-IR, Homeostatic Model Assessment – Insulin Resistance; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin; LDL, low density lipoprotein; HDL, high density lipoprotein; SCORE, Systematic Coronary Risk Estimation; DHEA-S, dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate; SHBG, sex hormone binding globulin; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone; fT3, free triiodothyronine; fT4, free thyroxine; ns, non-significant.

are inconclusive. Increased FABP4 concentrations were observed in both hypothyroid and hyperthyroid individuals as well as in autoimmune thyroiditis. RBP4 tends to increase in hypothyroidism. Adipokines' concentrations were found to correlate mostly with TSH, but several studies revealed also associations with free thyroid hormones (6, 50). In line with previous study in CS subjects, we found a negative correlation between FABP4 and fT3 (13). The significance of this finding is unclear.

This study has some limitations. Firstly, the observational, cross-sectional study design precludes causal inferences. Secondly, the sample size is relatively small, which limited the application of statistical methods, including regression analyses



and resulted in poor control of confounding factors, such as age, BMI, lipid profile or glucose. Thirdly, the influence of CS type on the obtained results cannot be excluded. Endogenous CS is a heterogeneous condition, with different course of the disease and prognosis depending on its aetiology and severity. Therefore, adipokines' profile may as well differ between CS subpopulations. Insufficient number of participants in each CS type prevented us from analysing this issue. Finally, lack of prior research in the topic is both study strength and downside as it restricted the comparisons of results. Nonetheless, given the rarity of endogenous CS our results offer new observations in this population.

Conclusions

We found significant alterations in adipokines' concentrations in subjects with Cushing's syndrome, that correlated with UFC and ACTH concentrations and selected metabolic parameters. Whether fetuin A, FABP4 and RBP4 participate in the development of metabolic complications accompanying CS or reflect metabolic dysregulation requires further investigation. Although UFC concentration and successful treatment determine the patient's outcome, cortisol level alone is not sufficient to assess the risk of complications.

Adipokines which mark the risk of metabolic complications might add novel information to prediction models. Defining the role of adipokines presents as a promising direction for further improvement of prevention and treatment of cardiovascular disease and diabetes in patients with CS.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

This study was reviewed and approved by Bioethics Committee of the Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland (Resolution no. 118/21). The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

DD, ES-P and MR contributed to conception and design of the study. DD acquired, analyzed and interpreted the patient data and was a major contributor in writing the manuscript. EW

References

1. Zorena K, Jachimowicz-Duda O, Ślęzak D, Robakowska M, Mrugacz M. Adipokines and obesity. potential link to metabolic disorders and chronic complications. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(10):E3570. doi: 10.3390/ijms21103570

2. Egbuche O, Biggs ML, Ix JH, Kizer JR, Lyles MF, Siscovick DS, et al. Fatty acid binding protein-4 and risk of cardiovascular disease: The cardiovascular health study. J Am Heart Assoc (2020) 9(7):e014070. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.014070

3. Sun HX, Ji HH, Chen XL, Wang L, Wang Y, Shen XY, et al. Serum retinolbinding protein 4 is associated with the presence and severity of coronary artery disease in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism. *Aging* (2019) 11(13):4510–20. doi: 10.18632/aging.102065

4. Chen X, Zhang Y, Chen Q, Li Q, Li Y, Ling W. Lower plasma fetuin-a levels are associated with a higher mortality risk in patients with coronary artery disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2017) 37(11):2213–9. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309700

5. Kaess BM, Enserro DM, McManus DD, Xanthakis V, Chen MH, Sullivan LM, et al. Cardiometabolic correlates and heritability of fetuin-a, retinol-binding protein 4, and fatty-acid binding protein 4 in the framingham heart study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 97(10):E1943–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-1458

6. Dadej D, Szczepanek-Parulska E, Ruchała M. Interplay between fatty acid binding protein 4, fetuin-a, retinol binding protein 4 and thyroid function in metabolic dysregulation. *Metabolites* (2022) 12(4):300. doi: 10.3390/metabol2040300

7. Hepşen S, Akhanli P, Düğer H, Çalapkulu M, Uçan B, Sencar ME, et al. Fatty acid-binding protein-4 may be a biomarker predicting acromegaly-associated diabetes mellitus. *Turk J Med Sci* (2021). 51(5):2592–9. doi: 10.3906/sag-2011-317

8. Pivonello R, Isidori AM, De Martino MC, Newell-Price J, Biller BMK, Colao A. Complications of cushing's syndrome: state of the art. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2016) 4(7):611–29. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)00086-3

performed the ELISA determinations of analyzed adipokines. ES-P and MR revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

Research was financed from the large research grant from statutory funding for young researchers - doctoral students for 2021 No 502-14-12213550-45005.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Limumpornpetch P, Morgan AW, Tiganescu A, Baxter PD, Nyawira Nyaga V, Pujades-Rodriguez M, et al. The effect of endogenous cushing syndrome on allcause and cause-specific mortality. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2022) 107(8):2377–88. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgac265

10. Szczepanek-Parulska E, Adamska M, Korda O, Kosicka W, Skowrońska D, Świejkowska A, et al. Changes in complete blood count parameters influenced by endocrine disorders. *Endokrynol Pol* (2021) 72(3):261–70. doi: 10.5603/EP.a2021.0059

11. Uziębło-Życzkowska B, Krzesinński P, Witek P, Zielinński G, Jurek A, Gielerak G, et al. Cushing's disease: Subclinical left ventricular systolic and diastolic dysfunction revealed by speckle tracking echocardiography and tissue Doppler imaging. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8:222. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00222

12. Jurek A, Krzesiński P, Gielerak G, Witek P, Zieliński G, Kazimierczak A, et al. Cushing's disease: Assessment of early cardiovascular hemodynamic dysfunction with impedance cardiography. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12:751743. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.751743

13. Ďurovcová V, Marek J, Hána V, Matoulek M, Zikán V, Haluzíková D, et al. Plasma concentrations of adipocyte fatty acid binding protein in patients with cushing's syndrome. *Physiol Res* (2010) 59(6):963–71. doi: 10.33549/ physiolres.931842

14. Nieman LK, Biller BMK, Findling JW, Newell-Price J, Savage MO, Stewart PM, et al. The diagnosis of cushing's syndrome: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93(5):1526–40. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0125

15. Mach F, Baigent C, Catapano AL, Koskinas KC, Casula M, Badimon L, et al. 2019 ESC/EAS guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias: lipid modification to reduce cardiovascular risk: The task force for the management of dyslipidaemias of the European society of cardiology (ESC) and European atherosclerosis society (EAS). *Eur Heart J* (2020). 41(1):111–88. doi: 10.1093/eurheatt/jehz455

16. SCORE2 working group and ESC Cardiovascular risk collaboration. SCORE2 risk prediction algorithms: new models to estimate 10-year risk of cardiovascular disease in Europe. *Eur Heart J* (2021) 42(25):2439-54. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab309

17. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia* (1985) 28 (7):412–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00280883

18. Lewandowski KC, Basinska-Lewandowska M, Bieńkiewicz M, Randeva HS, Lewiński A. Retinol-binding protein 4 (RBP-4) levels do not change after oral glucose tolerance test and after dexamethasone, but correlate with some indices of insulin resistance in humans. *Endokrynol Pol* (2008) 59(4):305–11.

19. Guarnotta V, Pizzolanti G, Ciresi A, Giordano C. Insulin sensitivity and secretion and adipokine profile in patients with cushing's disease treated with pasireotide. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2018) 41(10):1137–47. doi: 10.1007/s40618-018-0839-7

20. Capatina C, Hinojosa-Amaya JM, Poiana C, Fleseriu M. Management of patients with persistent or recurrent cushing's disease after initial pituitary surgery. *Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 15(5):321-39. doi: 10.1080/17446651.2020.1802243

21. Holt SG, Smith ER. Fetuin-a-containing calciprotein particles in mineral trafficking and vascular disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant Off Publ Eur Dial Transpl Assoc - Eur Ren Assoc* (2016) 31(10):1583–7. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfw048

22. Reynolds JL, Skepper JN, McNair R, Kasama T, Gupta K, Weissberg PL, et al. Multifunctional roles for serum protein fetuin-a in inhibition of human vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2005) 16(10):2920–30. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2004100895

23. Ix JH, Katz R, de Boer IH, Kestenbaum BR, Peralta CA, Jenny NS, et al. Fetuin-a is inversely associated with coronary artery calcification in communityliving persons: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Clin Chem* (2012) 58 (5):887–95. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2011.177725

24. Göçer K, Aykan AÇ, Kılınç M, Göçer NS. Association of serum FGF-23, klotho, fetuin-a, osteopontin, osteoprotegerin and hs-CRP levels with coronary artery disease. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* (2020) 80(4):277–81. doi: 10.1080/00365513.2020.1728786

25. Lim P, Moutereau S, Simon T, Gallet R, Probst V, Ferrieres J, et al. Usefulness of fetuin-a and c-reactive protein concentrations for prediction of outcome in acute coronary syndromes (from the French registry of acute ST-elevation mon-ST-Elevation myocardial infarction [FAST-MI]). Am J Cardiol (2013) 111(1):31-7. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.08.042

26. Neary NM, Booker OJ, Abel BS, Matta JR, Muldoon N, Sinaii N, et al. Hypercortisolism is associated with increased coronary arterial atherosclerosis: analysis of noninvasive coronary angiography using multidetector computerized tomography. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(5):2045–52. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3754

27. Hamer M, O'Donnell K, Lahiri A, Steptoe A. Salivary cortisol responses to mental stress are associated with coronary artery calcification in healthy men and women. *Eur Heart J* (2010) 31(4):424–9. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp386

28. Hamer M, Endrighi R, Venuraju SM, Lahiri A, Steptoe A. Cortisol responses to mental stress and the progression of coronary artery calcification in healthy men and women. *PloS One* (2012) 7(2):e31356. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031356

29. Camozzi V, Sanguin F, Albigier N, Scaroni C, Mantero F, Zaninotto M, et al. Persistent increase of osteoprotegerin levels after cortisol normalization in patients with cushing's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2010) 162(1):85–90. doi: 10.1530/EJE-09-0800

30. Dekker M, Waissi F, Silvis MJM, Bennekom JV, Schoneveld AH, de Winter RJ, et al. High levels of osteoprotegerin are associated with coronary artery calcification in patients suspected of a chronic coronary syndrome. *Sci Rep* (2021) 11(1):18946. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-98177-4

31. Trojnar M, Patro-Małysza J, Kimber-Trojnar Ż, Leszczyńska-Gorzelak B, Mosiewicz J. Associations between fatty acid-binding protein 4–a proinflammatory adipokine and insulin resistance, gestational and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Cells* (2019) 8(3):227. doi: 10.3390/cells8030227

32. Liu Y, Zhong Y, Chen H, Wang D, Wang M, Ou JS, et al. Retinol-binding protein-dependent cholesterol uptake regulates macrophage foam cell formation and promotes atherosclerosis. *Circulation* (2017) 135(14):1339–54. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.024503

33. Sun Q, Kiernan UA, Shi L, Phillips DA, Kahn BB, Hu FB, et al. Plasma retinol-binding protein 4 (RBP4) levels and risk of coronary heart disease: a prospective analysis among women in the nurses' health study. *Circulation* (2013) 127(19):1938–47. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.002073

34. Liu G, Ding M, Chiuve SE, Rimm EB, Franks PW, Meigs JB, et al. Plasma levels of fatty acid-binding protein 4, retinol-binding protein 4, high-Molecular-Weight adiponectin, and cardiovascular mortality among men with type 2 diabetes: A 22-year prospective study. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2016) 36(11):2259–67. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.308320

35. Majerczyk M, Kocełak P, Choręza P, Arabzada H, Owczarek AJ, Bożentowicz-Wikarek M, et al. Components of metabolic syndrome in relation to plasma levels of retinol binding protein 4 (RBP4) in a cohort of people aged 65 years and older. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2018) 41(10):1211–9. doi: 10.1007/s40618-018-0856-6

36. Rocha M, Bañuls C, Bellod L, Rovira-Llopis S, Morillas C, Solá E, et al. Association of serum retinol binding protein 4 with atherogenic dyslipidemia in morbid obese patients. *PloS One* (2013) 8(11):e78670. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0078670

37. Szczepanek-Parulska E, Sokolowski J, Dmowska D, Klimek J, Stasikowski T, Zdebski P, et al. Lipid profile abnormalities associated with endocrine disorders. *Endokrynol Pol* (2022).doi: 10.5603/EP.a2022.0059

38. Milewska EM, Szczepanek-Parulska E, Marciniak M, Krygier A, Dobrowolska A, Ruchala M. Selected organ and endocrine complications according to BMI and the metabolic category of obesity: A single endocrine center study. *Nutrients* (2022) 14(6):1307. doi: 10.3390/nu14061307

39. Sharma A, Vella A. Glucose metabolism in cushing's syndrome. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes (2020) 27(3):140-5. doi: 10.1097/ MED.00000000000537

40. Goustin AS, Derar N, Abou-Samra AB. Ahsg-fetuin blocks the metabolic arm of insulin action through its interaction with the 95-kD β -subunit of the insulin receptor. *Cell Signal* (2013) 25(4):981–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2012.12.011

41. Yang Q, Graham TE, Mody N, Preitner F, Peroni OD, Zabolotny JM, et al. Serum retinol binding protein 4 contributes to insulin resistance in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Nature* (2005) 436(7049):356–62. doi: 10.1038/nature03711

42. Berry DC, Jacobs H, Marwarha G, Gely-Pernot A, O'Byrne SM, DeSantis D, et al. The STRA6 receptor is essential for retinol-binding protein-induced insulin resistance but not for maintaining vitamin a homeostasis in tissues other than the eye. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288(34):24528–39. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.484014

43. Pal D, Dasgupta S, Kundu R, Maitra S, Das G, Mukhopadhyay S, et al. Fetuin-a acts as an endogenous ligand of TLR4 to promote lipid-induced insulin resistance. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(8):1279–85. doi: 10.1038/nm.2851

44. Norseen J, Hosooka T, Hammarstedt A, Yore MM, Kant S, Aryal P, et al. Retinol-binding protein 4 inhibits insulin signaling in adipocytes by inducing proinflammatory cytokines in macrophages through a c-jun n-terminal kinaseand toll-like receptor 4-dependent and retinol-independent mechanism. *Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 32(10):2010–9. doi: 10.1128/MCB.06193-11

45. Moraes-Vieira PM, Yore MM, Sontheimer-Phelps A, Castoldi A, Norseen J, Aryal P, et al. Retinol binding protein 4 primes the NLRP3 inflammasome by signaling through toll-like receptors 2 and 4. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2020) 117 (49):31309–18. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2013877117

46. Prentice KJ, Saksi J, Robertson LT, Lee GY, Inouye KE, Eguchi K, et al. A hormone complex of FABP4 and nucleoside kinases regulates islet function. *Nature* (2021) 600(7890):720–6. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-04137-3

47. Ferraù F, Korbonits M. Metabolic comorbidities in cushing's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2015) 173(4):M133–157. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0354

48. Ribel-Madsen R, Friedrichsen M, Vaag A, Poulsen P. Retinol-binding protein 4 in twins: regulatory mechanisms and impact of circulating and tissue expression levels on insulin secretion and action. *Diabetes* (2009) 58(1):54–60. doi: 10.2337/db08-1019

49. Li L, Wang C, Bao Y, Wu H, Lu J, Xiang K, et al. Serum retinol-binding protein 4 is associated with insulin secretion in Chinese people with normal glucose tolerance. *J Diabetes* (2009) 1(2):125–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-0407.2009.00024.x

50. Sawicka-Gutaj N, Zybek-Kocik A, Klimowicz A, Kloska M, Mańkowska-Wierzbicka D, Sowiński J, et al. Circulating visfatin in hypothyroidism is associated with free thyroid hormones and antithyroperoxidase antibodies. *Int J Endocrinol* (2016) 2016:7402469. doi: 10.1155/2016/7402469

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Przemysław Witek, Warsaw Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY

Marcin Kałużny, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland Pawel Krzesinski, Military Institute of Medicine, Poland Renata Świątkowska-Stodulska, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE Manish K. Aghi Manish.Aghi@ucsf.edu

[†]These authors share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Pituitary Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 08 October 2022 ACCEPTED 28 November 2022 PUBLISHED 13 December 2022

CITATION

Osorio RC, Oh JY, Choudhary N, Lad M, Savastano L and Aghi MK (2022) Pituitary adenomas and cerebrovascular disease: A review on pathophysiology, prevalence, and treatment. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1064216. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1064216

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Osorio, Oh, Choudhary, Lad, Savastano and Aghi. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pituitary adenomas and cerebrovascular disease: A review on pathophysiology, prevalence, and treatment

Robert C. Osorio[†], Jun Y. Oh[†], Nikita Choudhary, Meeki Lad, Luis Savastano and Manish K. Aghi^{*}

Department of Neurological Surgery, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

Pituitary adenomas (PAs) have been shown to cause excess cardiovascular disease comorbidity and mortality. Cerebrovascular disease (CeVD) is a small subset of cardiovascular disease with high morbidity, and its risk in patients with pituitary adenomas has been sparingly explored. In this review, we examine what is known about the prevalence of cerebrovascular disease in patients with PAs, from its initial discovery in 1970 to present. An abundance of literature describes increased cerebrovascular mortality in patients with acromegaly, while research on other PA subtypes is less frequent but shows a similarly elevated CeVD mortality relative to healthy populations. We also review how cerebrovascular risk changes after PAs are treated, with PA treatment appearing to prevent further accumulation of cerebrovascular risk without reversing prior elevations. While acromegaly-associated CeVD appears to be caused by elevated growth hormone (GH) levels and Cushing disease's elevated glucocorticoids similarly cause durable alterations in cerebrovascular structure and function, less is known about the mechanisms behind CeVD in other PA subpopulations. Proposed pathophysiologies include growth hormone deficiency inducing vessel wall damage or other hormone deficits causing increased atherosclerotic disease. Early diagnosis and treatment of PAs may be the key to minimizing lifetime CeVD risk elevations. More research is needed to better understand the mechanisms behind the increased CeVD seen in patients with PAs. Physicians caring for PA patients must remain vigilant for signs and symptoms of cerebrovascular disease in this patient population.

KEYWORDS

pituitary adenoma (PA), cerebrovascular disease (CVD), cerebral infarct, stroke, pituitary neuroendocrine tumor (PitNET)

Introduction

Pituitary adenomas (PAs) are benign tumors arising within the anterior lobe of the pituitary gland. After glioma and meningioma, they are the third most common primary brain tumor and compose roughly 15% of all intracranial tumors (1–3). They are subclassified by their ability to secrete hormones of the anterior hypothalamic-pituitary axis. Functional adenomas cause hormonal hypersecretion, leading to significant symptoms such as acromegaly, galactorrhea, hypogonadism, or Cushing disease. In contrast, nonfunctional adenomas (NFPAs) are considered "silent" and do not secrete hormones at clinical levels. NFPAs comprise 15-35% of all PAs (4–7) and may cause mass effects such as headache, hypopituitarism, or visual deficit (6, 8–10). Meanwhile, other NFPAs cause no symptoms and instead are discovered incidentally on neuroimaging studies (11).

While much attention is given to the common presentations of PAs, they have also been associated with other systemic comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease. Cardiovascular disease is a diagnostic term encompassing disease processes related to compromised heart structure and function, uncontrolled hypertension, and atherosclerosis, including heart failure, myocardial ischemia, arrhythmias, valvopathies, and sequelae of peripheral arterial disease, including limb ischemia and stroke (12). This is not unique to PA patients, as cardiovascular disease and its sequelae are the leading cause of noncancer death in all brain tumor patients (13). Due to the benign nature of PAs, however, cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death in PA patients, accounting for 40% of all deaths (14). While most notable in cases of acromegaly and Cushing disease, both patients with functional and nonfunctional pituitary adenomas have been shown to carry an increased risk for cardiovascular disease comorbidity and mortality (15-17).

This review article examines one common and particularly dangerous subset of cardiovascular disease in PA patients, cerebrovascular disease (CeVD). CeVD is defined as the set of diseases causing cerebral ischemia or hemorrhage, and includes stroke, carotid vertebral or intracranial stenosis, aneurysms, and vascular malformations (18). Among the abundance of literature reporting the cardiovascular morbidity and mortality associated with PAs, only a small subset examines CeVD separately, with fewer still comparing the disease's incidence and mortality between PA subtypes. This paper summarizes what is currently known regarding the pathophysiology, risk factors, epidemiology, mortality, treatment, and prevention of CeVD in patients with PAs. We also examine what is known about how these factors vary depending on both the type of adenoma as well as the sex of the patient, which may affect both the hypothalamic-pituitary (HP) axis and cardiovascular/cerebrovascular risk.

Methods

A comprehensive literature review was conducted using PubMed's online repository of published articles. Searches were conducted using the keywords "pituitary adenoma", "pituitary neuroendocrine tumor", "acromegaly", and "Cushing disease", with each keyword paired with combinations of "cerebrovascular disease", "cerebrovascular outcomes", "stroke", "cardiovascular disease", "atherosclerosis", and "vascular disease". Resulting articles from these queries underwent abstract review. Studies that reported data on cerebrovascular disease incidence, prevalence, risk factors, pathophysiology, or treatment in patients with pituitary adenomas were subsequently reviewed in their entirety. Exclusion criteria included non-English studies, and studies that primarily focused on the effects of radiation therapy on cerebrovascular disease.

Prevalence of CeVD morbidity and mortality in PA patients

Previous studies have shown the elevated risk of CeVD in a broader cohort of all PA patients. A 1999 UK cohort study examined 331 patients with PAs and found a significant increase in ischemic stroke incidence relative to the general population (19), a finding corroborated by a more recent nationwide analysis as well (20). In contrast, most studies focus on specific cohorts of PA patients, with each study often examining a different subpopulation. Because of this variety, it is difficult to compare CeVD morbidity and mortality between PA subtypes. Nevertheless, increased CeVD morbidity and mortality has been shown in a number of differing PA populations, and are subsequently reported below by the group examined.

CeVD in PA patients with acromegaly

The most common subpopulation examined in PA patients is acromegaly, a disease that carries an incidence of 2-11 cases per million person-years and a prevalence of 28-137 per million patients (21, 22). Cohort studies have found that CeVD is responsible for 3.2-15.4% of deaths among these patients (Table 1) (23–30). Excess mortality relative to the general population is often reported as standardized mortality ratio (SMR), defined as deaths observed in a patient cohort relative to expected number of deaths in an age and sex-matched healthy population. In examining how these numbers vary in PA patients there are eight reported studies that estimate CeVD SMRs for patients with Acromegaly.

The first study to examine the incidence of CeVD mortality in acromegaly patients was published by Wright et al. in 1970, which found an elevated risk of CeVD mortality in women but not men (23). Ten years later, Alexander et al. examined 164 patients with acromegaly and found CeVD mortality to be significantly elevated in all patients regardless of sex (male SMR 10, female SMR 7.7) (24). Although less prominent, Rajasoorya et al. confirmed these findings in 1994 in 151

Authors and Year	No. of Patients	Population Examined	Main Findings
Wright et al., 1970 (23)	194	Acromegaly	 Eight patients (4.1%) died from CeVD. CeVD mortality was significantly elevated in women but not in men.
Alexander et al., 1980 (<mark>24</mark>)	164	Acromegaly	 14 patients (8.5%) died from CeVD. CeVD SMR in men: 10 CeVD SMR in women: 7.7
Bengtsson et al., 1988 (25)	166	Acromegaly	 11 patients (6.6%) died from CeVD. Vascular disease was a significant cause of excess death in all patients (CeVD was not separately assessed).
Rajasoorya et al., 1994 (<mark>26</mark>)	151	Acromegaly	 5 patients (3.3%) died from CeVD. * Overall CeVD SMR: 3.3
Orme et al., 1998 (27)	1,362	Acromegaly	 44 patients (3.2%) died from CeVD. Overall CeVD SMR: 2.06 CeVD mortality was significantly elevated in patients under 35 years old. CeVD mortality increased with longer duration of acromegaly, while cardiovascular disease mortality did not. CeVD mortality was not affected by post-treatment GH levels, while cardiovascular disease mortality was. CeVD mortality was higher in younger populations, while cardiovascular disease mortality was not.
Ayuk et al., 2004 (28)	419	Acromegaly	 20 patients (4.8%) died from CeVD. Overall CeVD SMR: 2.68 Tumor size and extension did not affect all-cause mortality (CeVD not separately assessed).
Kauppinen- Mäkelin et al., 2005 (29)	334	Acromegaly	 8 patients (2.4%) died from CeVD. * CeVD SMR was not assessed.
Sherlock et al., 2009 (30)	501	Acromegaly	77 patients (15.4%) died from CeVD.Overall CeVD SMR: 2.7
Esposito et al., 2018 (<mark>31</mark>)	1,089	Acromegaly	• Overall CeVD SMR: 3.99
Oh et al., 2021 (20)	31,983; 19,416 NFPAs (4,077 with hypopituitarism); 8,871 prolactinomas; 2,613 GH-secreting adenomas; 1,083 ACTH/TSH- secreting adenomas.	All PAs	 Ischemic stroke SIR in patients with GH adenomas: 1.83 Hemorrhagic SIR in patients with GH adenomas: 2.16 Ischemic stroke mortality HR in patients with GH adenomas: 1.38 Hemorrhagic stroke mortality HR in patients with GH adenomas: 1.37

TABLE 1 Cerebrovascular outcomes related to PA patients with acromegaly.

CeVD, cerebrovascular disease; SMR, standardized mortality ratio; GH, growth hormone; SIR, standardized incidence ratio; HR, hazard ratio.

acromegalic patients (overall SMR 3.3) (26). Orme et al. was the first study to examine the rates of CeVD mortality in a larger acromegaly analysis (27). Among 1,362 acromegaly patients, 44 (3.2%) died from CeVD, corresponding to a standardized mortality ratio of 2.06. This study was followed by Ayuk et al. in 2004, Sherlock et al. in 2009, and Esposito et al. in 2018, all of which also reported increased CeVD mortality in acromegaly (SMR 2.68, 2.70, and 3.99 relative to healthy non-acromegalic populations, respectively).

The most recent study on cerebrovascular mortality also happens to be the largest. In 2021, Oh et al. conducted a nationwide study in Korea, examining 31,983 patients with PAs over ten years by examining health insurance databases and the country's Rare Intractable Disease database, where all patients with PAs are registered upon diagnosis. They examined the standardized incidence ratios for both ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke, as well as analyzed how these ratios varied among tumor and phenotypic subtypes. In their sub-analysis of 2,613 patients with GH-secreting adenomas, incidence was elevated for both ischemic stroke (standardized incidence ratio = SIR = 1.83) and hemorrhagic stroke (SIR 2.16). When analyzing by ensuing mortality instead of incidence, ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke again occurred at increased frequency compared to the healthy population (hazard ratio = HR = 1.38 and 1.37, respectively).

CeVD in PA patients with Cushing disease

While less commonly studied than acromegaly, elevated CeVD risk has also been found in patients with Cushing disease (CD). In addition to multiple case studies reporting strokes in patients with CD (32-34), there have been five population-based studies examining the risk of CeVD in patients with some form of Cushing syndrome (CS) (Table 2). In 2011, Bolland et al. studied 253 patients with CS, of whom 74.3% were confirmed to have CD (35). While all-cause SMRs were elevated for patients with CD (3.5 for macroadenomas, 3.2 for microadenomas), mortality and incidence ratios were not computed for CeVD. However, they did find that stroke was tied with sepsis as the #2 cause of death in their cohort at 17% of all deaths, behind ischemic heart disease at 19%. Two years later, Dekkers et al. published a nationwide study from Denmark utilizing national datasets to uncover 343 CS patients (211 with CD) (36). By comparing these cases to 34,300 control patients from the same patient registries, they adjusted for age, sex, calendar time, cancer, diabetes, hypertension, COPD, liver disease, and alcohol-related disease, then calculated patient risk for stroke across multiple timepoints. Their study revealed a

stroke hazard ratio of 4.5 for patients 3 years before a diagnosis was made, and 4.3 for the first year after diagnosis. On long term follow-up, they found that this risk decreased but did not disappear up to 30 years after diagnosis (HR = 2.1). Dekkers et al. also computed a CD-specific stroke hazard ratio of 2.1 across the same 30 years, but did not find this to be significantly different from the hazard ratio of CS.

Following Dekkers et al, two more studies were released that briefly examined CeVD: in 2016, Clayton et al. reviewed 320 patients with confirmed CD across four countries and obtained 10 years of monitoring data after their subsequent cure (37). They found an all-cause SMR of 1.61 for these patients, and while SMR for circulatory disease was found to be 2.17, they did not distinguish between cardiovascular and cerebrovascular deaths. In 2020, Papakokkinou et al. conducted a larger Swedish study of 502 patients with CD and did examine CeVD, finding a stroke SMR of 3.0 (38). This was a follow-up study from a publication one year prior on the same database, where cardiovascular disease was found to be the #1 cause of death in patients with CD (39).

While Oh et al. is again the most recent and largest study of CeVD in patients with CD, its CD analysis suffers from the fact that the study combined 1,083 ACTH and TSH-secreting adenomas into one cohort

TABLE 2 Cerebrovascular outcomes related to PA patients with cushing disease.

Authors and Year	No. of Patients	Population Exam- ined	Main Findings
Bolland et al., 2011 (35)	253	Cushing syndrome; 188 (74.3%) with Cushing disease	• 17% of patient deaths were due to stroke (#2 cause of death)
Dekkers et al., 2013 (36)	343	Cushing syndrome; 211 (61.5%) with Cushing disease	 Stroke HR 3 years before diagnosis: 4.5 Stroke HR in first year after diagnosis: 4.3 Stroke HR 1-30 years after diagnosis: 1.5 Stroke HR for CD 0-30 years after diagnosis: 2.1 Stroke HR for CD was not significantly different from those with adrenal Cushing syndrome
Clayton et al., 2016 (37)	320	Cushing disease	 1.9% of patients died from stroke Overall SMR for circulatory disease (CVD and CeVD): 2.17
Papakokkinou et al., 2020 (38)	502	Cushing disease	 Overall stroke SMR: 3.0 Stroke SIR for patients in remission: 2.6 Stroke SIR for patients not in remission: 8.2 Stroke SIR from diagnosis to 1 year after remission: 4.9 Stroke SIR > 1 year after remission: 3.1
Oh et al., 2021 (20)	31,983; 19,416 NFPAs (4,077 with hypopituitarism); 8,871 prolactinomas; 2,613 GH-secreting adenomas; 1,083 ACTH/TSH-secreting adenomas.	All PAs	 Ischemic stroke SIR in ACTH and TSH-secreting adenomas: 3.75 Ischemic stroke HR in ACTH/TSH adenomas: 1.9 Hemorrhagic stroke SIR in ACTH/TSH adenomas: 6.9 Hemorrhagic stroke HR in ACTH/TSH adenomas: 1.9

HR, hazard ratio; CeVD, cerebrovascular disease; SMR, standardized mortality ratio; CD, Cushing disease; SIR, standardized incidence ratio.

(20). In this combined population, they found an SIR of 3.75 for ischemic stroke, an SIR of 6.9 for hemorrhagic stroke, and HRs of 1.9 for both. In spite of the limitation of combining these cohorts together, Oh et al. also notably reports that this group had the highest rates and risk for stroke among all adenoma groups examined.

CeVD in other PA subpopulations

Studies examining CeVD in non-acromegalic non-Cushingoid PA patients are less common and utilize differing patient subpopulations for analysis (Table 3). In a general study of all PA patients, Brada et al. examined a cohort of all PAs in 1999, and found an elevated risk for CVAs compared to the healthy population (RR 4.1) (19). Two other studies examined CeVD in patients with hypopituitarism, which largely consisted of patients with PAs. Bülow et al. examined 344 patients who had at least one deficient pituitary axis, regardless of which hormone(s) was/were deficient (40). While their cohort included patients with other causes of hypopituitarism, PAs were responsible in 88% of the patients. Patients with acromegaly and Cushing disease were excluded, as were patients on GH replacement therapy and those who died within 1 month of pituitary surgery. Among the remaining patients, CeVD mortality was significantly elevated (SMR 3.39), and CeVD was found to be the top cause of death among patients who died from cardiovascular disease. In a similar study with a larger population, Tomlinson et al. also examined patients with at least one degree of hypopituitarism in 2001 (41). In their cohort of 1,014 patients, 57% had NFPAs and 9% had prolactinomas, while the most common non-PA cause was craniopharyngioma at 12%. Acromegalic and Cushing disease patients were again excluded, as were patients with metastases to the pituitary. They reported a standardized mortality ratio for CeVD of 2.44, a finding that persisted when narrowing analysis to NFPAs. When comparing adenoma subtypes, however, SMR did not vary by a specific hormone deficiency or by the number of deficient endocrine axes.

While two studies narrowed their inclusion criteria to only study nonfunctional adenomas, they were based on the same cohort. Olsson et al. published studies in 2015 and 2016 on 2,795 PAs. In 2015 their study found an SMR of 1.73 for CeVD, while their 2016 study found a standardized incidence ratio of 1.66 for cerebral infarct. Hypopituitarism was present in 54% of these patients, but due to the nature of using a national registry for data collection, degree of hypopituitarism, specific hormone deficits, and the role of hormone replacement therapy could not be analyzed.

Similar to acromegaly and Cushing disease, the most comprehensive study on other PAs is Oh et al. from 2021 (20). Their cohort of 31,983 patients included 19,416 NFPAs, 8,871 prolactinomas, 2,613 GH-secreting adenomas, and 1,083 ACTH or TSH-secreting adenomas. Among their NFPAs, 4,077 patients had documented hypopituitarism. The authors examined the SIR for both ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke, as well as analyzed how these ratios varied among tumor and phenotypic subtypes.

For ischemic stroke, Oh et al. found an overall SIR of 3.0 and hazard ratio of 2.2. When examining by tumor type, the highest SIR was uncovered among patients with ACTH and TSH-secreting adenomas (SIR 3.75), followed by NFPAs without hypopituitarism (3.12), NFPAs with hypopituitarism (3.1), prolactinomas (2.9), and lastly GH subtypes (1.8). Hazard ratios for ischemic stroke were similarly highest for ACTH/TSH adenomas (1.9). Following these, NFPAs with (1.9) and without (1.6) hypopituitarism followed, with GH subtypes after them (1.38). Prolactinomas carried a hazard ratio of 1 for ischemic stroke.

When examining hemorrhagic stroke, Oh et al. found an SIR of 4.2 and hazard ratio of 2.8. The highest SIR was again found for ACTH/TSH adenomas (6.9), followed by NFPAs with (5.4) and without (4.0) hypopituitarism. Prolactinomas were fourth with a SIR of 3.9, and GH subtypes carried the lowest SIR of 2.2. For hazard ratios, ACTH/TSH subtypes and NFPAs with hypopituitarism again carried the highest risk (1.9), with non-hypopituitarism NFPAs following (HR 1.7), and GH adenomas last (1.37). Again, prolactinomas carried a hazard ratio of 1.

CeVD in PA patients by patient sex

Due to the sex-dependent function of the hypothalamicpituitary axis, many of the studies examining CeVD among PA patients report sex-based morbidity and mortality (Table 4). Wright et al's study on acromegaly found that CeVD mortality was significantly elevated in women but not men (23). In 2016, Olsson et al's second study on 2,795 NFPAs found a greater increase in cerebral infarction incidence in women (SIR 2.28) compared to men (SIR 1.32; P < 0.0001) (43). But while many other studies also report CeVD outcomes by patient sex, direct comparisons between sexes are either omitted from analysis or yield nonsignificant results. While Bülow et al's 1997 study of patients with hypopituitarism reports a higher SMR for CeVD mortality in women (4.91) compared to men (2.64), no statistical test is reported, and 95% confidence intervals of SMR overlap (women: 2.62-8.40; men: 1.44-4.42) (40). Olsson et al's prior NFPA study in 2015 reports higher overall SMR for women than men, but differences in cerebrovascular mortality were nonsignificant (42). Brada et al's 1999 study on all PAs found a higher risk of CVAs among women (RR 6.1) compared to men (1.68), but this sex-based difference was rendered nonsignificant on multivariable analysis (19). And lastly, in Oh et al's national study on almost 32,000 PAs, sex differences in stroke incidence were not examined, and 95% confidence intervals of sex-based SIRs overlap (20).

Authors and Year	No. of Patients	Population Examined	Main Findings
Bülow et al., 1997 (40)	344	Patients with ≥1 degree of hypopituitarism from treatment for prior tumor (PA 88%, CP 12%). Patients with acromegaly or Cushing disease and those on GH replacement therapy were excluded. Deaths within 1 month of surgery were excluded.	 Overall CeVD SMR: 3.39. CeVD was the top cause of death among cardiovascular deaths. CeVD mortality was independent of duration of pituitary insufficiency CeVD mortality was greater in patients younger than 55 at time of diagnosis (SMR 6.67). Age-related SMR differences were not found for cardiovascular mortality.
Brada et al., 1999 (19)	331	PAs (63% NFPA) after undergoing any form of treatment.	 64 patients (19.3%) suffered a CVA. Risk of CVA was higher in patients with PAs (RR 4.1). Tumor type did not affect CVA risk (except acromegaly).
Tomlinson et al., 2001 (41)	1,014	Patients with ≥1 degree of hypopituitarism, regardless of hormone (57% NFPA, 12% CP, 9% prolactinoma, 9% idiopathic hypopituitarism). Patients with acromegaly, Cushing disease, or metastases to the pituitary were excluded.	 23 patients (2.3%) died from CeVD. Overall CeVD SMR 2.44. NFPA diagnosis carried a CeVD SMR of 2.44. Overall SMR was not correlated with specific hormone deficiencies, or number of deficient endocrine axes.
Olsson et al., 2015 (42)	2,795	NFPAs (54% with hypopituitarism)	 Overall CeVD SMR: 1.73. Ischemic heart disease mortality was not elevated relative to healthy populations.
Olsson et al., 2016 (43)	2,795	NFPAs (54% with hypopituitarism)	 Cerebral infarct SIR 1.66. SIR in young adults with NFPAs: 5.75. Hypopituitarism significantly increased stroke incidence in women, but not in men.
Oh et al., 2021 (20)	31,983; 19,416 NFPAs (4,077 with hypopituitarism); 8,871 prolactinomas; 2,613 GH-secreting adenomas; 1,083 ACTH/TSH-secreting adenomas.	All PAs	 Ischemic stroke SIR in ACTH and TSH-secreting adenomas: 3.75 SIR in NFPAs without hypopituitarism: 3.12 SIR NFPAs with hypopituitarism: 3.1 SIR in prolactinomas: 2.9 SIR in GH adenomas: 1.8 Ischemic stroke HR in ACTH/TSH adenomas: 1.9 HR in NFPAs with hypopituitarism: 1.9 HR in NFPAs with hypopituitarism: 1.9 HR in GH adenomas: 1.38 HR in GH adenomas: 1.38 HR in Prolactinomas: 1 Hemorrhagic stroke SIR in ACTH/TSH adenomas: 6.9 SIR in NFPAs with hypopituitarism: 5.4 SIR in NFPAs with hypopituitarism: 5.4 SIR in NFPAs with hypopituitarism: 1.9 HR in GH adenomas: 2.2 HR in GH adenomas: 2.2 HR in GH adenomas: 1.9 HR in NFPAs with hypopituitarism: 1.9

TABLE 3 Cerebrovascular outcomes related to PA patients without acromegaly or cushing disease.

(Continued)

TABLE 3 Continued

Authors and Year	No. of Patients	Population Examined	Main Findings
			 HR in prolactinomas: 1 Among NFPAs, the effects of hypopituitarism were not statistically compared. 95% CIs show hypopituitarism increased SIR for hemorrhagic stroke but not for ischemic stroke.

CP, Craniopharyngioma; CeVD, cerebrovascular disease; SMR, standardized mortality ratio; GH, growth hormone; SIR, standardized incidence ratio; HR, hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval.

Proposed mechanisms of CeVD in PA patients and effect of PA treatment on CeVD

Cerebrovascular disease poses an excess risk of morbidity and mortality among patients with PAs. Epidemiological studies on this risk select differing cohorts for analysis, either examining all PAs, patients with acromegaly, those with Cushing disease, NFPAs only, or patients with some degree of hypopituitarism. Each study confirms the elevated rate of stroke or death from overall cerebrovascular disease but the mechanisms behind the elevated risk remain debated. The greatest amount of evidence exists in the fields of acromegaly and Cushing disease, while the pathophysiology behind elevated CeVD risk in other PAs remains less well understood.

Patients with acromegaly: Proposed mechanisms of CeVD and impact of treatment on CeVD

Clinical studies have shown that patients with acromegaly suffer from increased rates of cerebrovascular disease and death (Table 1). The high rate of CeVD leads to increased incidence of ischemic (SIR 1.83) and hemorrhagic (SIR: 2.16) strokes (20), and among the literature CeVD is responsible for 2.4-15.4% of deaths in acromegalic patients. This evidence highlights the need for continued CeVD monitoring among these patients, and a high index of suspicion for CeVD should be maintained for patients with uncontrolled or recently diagnosed acromegaly.

Elevated CeVD risk in acromegalic patients may stem from excess GH secretions. Elevated GH has been shown to enhance atherosclerotic disease by causing cardiomyopathy, insulin resistance, hypertension, and lipid alterations (44). It is likely that this effect stems from increased downstream IGF-1 levels, which causes smooth muscle hyperplasia in early atherosclerosis (45). One study found that increased GH elevates plasma triglycerides and decreases HDL, and that normalization of GH and IGF-1 will restore triglycerides and HDL to a normal level (46). These findings of GH and IGF-1 induced insulin resistance, triglyceride and lipid alterations are sure to influence a patient's risk of vasoocclusion through the effects of cumulative atherosclerotic disease. However, elevated GH and IGF-1 may also cause structural changes and degradation of blood vessels in a more direct manner as well. Andersson et al. found that relative to controls, transgenic mice overexpressing bovine GH displayed impairment in carotid artery relaxation and poor vascular endothelial cell function (47). These findings underscore the complex and multi-faceted impact that excess GH may have on acromegalic patients' cerebrovasculature.

While these molecular and animal studies show how GH and IGF-1 may influence the entire circulatory system, the clinical research above shows how its effect on CeVD risk is quite different from that of cardiovascular disease. Orme et al's 1998 UK study on 1,362 acromegalic patients examined how GH levels, duration of acromegaly, and age at diagnosis affected mortality (27), and found near opposite effects on cardiovascular and cerebrovascular risk profiles; while duration of GH excess positively correlated with CeVD mortality, cardiovascular mortality was not affected. While low post-treatment serum GH levels reduced cardiovascular mortality, it did not affect CeVD mortality. And while cardiovascular mortality was not age-dependent, a younger diagnosis of acromegaly further elevated CeVD Mortality. Together, the findings of Orme et al. suggest that the cerebrovascular network may be more fragile and less dynamic than the cardiovascular system, and as a result, long durations of even slightly elevated GH can cause irreversible damage. These findings are supported by Andersson et al's transgenic mouse experiment reported above, where endothelial cell deterioration in mice overexpressing GH was found to be vessel location-specific (47). The fact that Orme's younger patients displayed higher elevations of CeVD mortality further suggests that this damage leads to structural changes within the cerebrovascular network that continue to accumulate CeVD risk in the years following acromegaly treatment.

While successful treatment of acromegaly will normalize GH and IGF-1 levels, it remains unclear if CeVD risk normalizes after achieving biochemical remission in these patients. The initial treatment for patients with PAs causing acromegaly is surgery, followed by radiation therapy and/or medical management for patients failing to achieve biochemical remission, and long-term management of serum triglyceride,

Authors and Year	No. of Patients	Population Examined	Main Findings
Wright et al., 1970 (23)	194	Acromegaly	CeVD mortality was significantly elevated in women but not in men.
Bülow et al., 1997 (40)	344	Patients with hypopituitarism from treatment for prior tumor (PA 88%, CP 12%). Patients with acromegaly or Cushing disease and those on GH replacement therapy were excluded. Deaths within 1 month of surgery were excluded.	4.91
Brada et al., 1999 (19)	331	PAs (63% NFPA) after undergoing any form of treatment.	 CVA RR in women with PAs: 6.1 CVA RR in men with PAs: 2.9 Sex-based differences in RR are nonsignificant on multivariate analysis.
Olsson et al., 2015 (42)	2,795	NFPAs	 CeVD SMR in women: 1.79 CeVD SMR in men: 1.68 Sex-based differences in SMR are nonsignificant
Olsson et al., 2016 (43)	2,795	NFPAs	 Cerebral infarction SIR in women: 2.28 Cerebral infarction SIR in men: 1.32 Sex-based difference is significant Presence of hypopituitarism significantly increased SIR in women, but not in men.
Oh et al., 2021 (20)	31,983; 19,416 NFPAs (4,077 with hypopituitarism); 8,871 prolactinomas; 2,613 GH-secreting adenomas; 1,083 ACTH/TSH- secreting adenomas.	All PAs	 Overall ischemic stroke SIR: 3.03 Overall hemorrhagic stroke SIR: 4.15 95% Cis show sex- based differences in SIR are nonsignificant. Ischemic stroke mortality HR in women: 0.63. Hemorrhagic stroke mortality HR in women: 0.62.

TABLE 4 Cerebrovascular outcomes related to PA patient sex.

CeVD, cerebrovascular disease; CP, Craniopharyngioma; SMR, standardized mortality ratio; RR, risk ratio; GH, growth hormone; SIR, standardized incidence ratio; HR, hazard ratio.

lipid, and glucose concentrations. Recently Ayuk and Sheppard found that low levels of serum GH after treatment have been correlated with reduced overall cardiovascular disease mortality, reporting that achieving a post-treatment GH level of less than 2.5 ug/L can restore overall SMR to a normal level (48). These findings have been corroborated by other studies that found the 2.5 ug/L threshold to be somewhat arbitrary, as drawing lower and lower thresholds further reduced overall SMR (28, 49).

Indeed, as treatment strategies for acromegaly have been refined over the decades, overall long-term mortality has declined as a result (31). However despite these advances in overall care and outcomes, cerebrovascular disease may remain an exception to this trend. Orme et al's 1998 study found that CeVD mortality remained elevated in treated patients, and standardized mortality ratio was not affected by post-treatment GH levels (27). While early intervention will likely help lower

cumulative CeVD risk, a delay in diagnosis and management may lead to irreversible CeVD risk increase. Thus, successful reduction of lifetime CeVD risk in patients with acromegaly currently depends on prompt treatment after diagnosis, composed of both tumor control and medical therapy to normalize the many metabolic factors altered by abnormal GH and IFG-1 levels. Without addressing both the tumor and its metabolic sequelae, patients may accumulate risk for future atherosclerotic disease and ensuing CeVD.

Patients with CD: Proposed mechanisms of CeVD and impact of treatment on CeVD

Similar to acromegaly, clinical studies have shown the increased rate of stroke among patients with CD (Table 2). While each study does include CD patients, several publications are limited by the inclusion of patients with any form of Cushing syndrome or by combining CD patients with other adenoma types (20, 35, 36). However, while this means the uncovered mortality rates may not be exact representations of patients with ACTH-secreting pituitary adenomas, they nevertheless demonstrate a stark reality that those with CD experience elevated levels of cerebrovascular morbidity and mortality.

CeVD in patients with Cushing disease is most likely a result of the wide variety of metabolic derangements caused by Cushing syndrome. Excess glucocorticoids lead to induction of gluconeogenesis and disruption of insulin receptor signaling, while also increasing expression of adipose triglyceride lipase and hormone sensitive lipase, which control lipid breakdown in adipocytes and increase circulating free fatty acid levels (50, 51). Cortisol is also known to affect the coagulation system, arterial wall stiffness, and heart function as well, and altogether these metabolic changes manifest in many Cushingoid symptoms that affect cerebrovascular disease risk: central fat redistribution, hypertension, impairment of glucose tolerance, hyperlipidemia, and hypercoagulability (36, 38, 50, 52, 53). These changes are found in more specific studies of CD as well, where patients have been demonstrated to have higher BMI, waist:hip ratio, systolic and diastolic blood pressures, fasting glucose and insulin levels, total cholesterol, low density lipoprotein, fibrinogen, and lipoprotein A (52).

Metabolic changes in CD also impact cerebrovascular disease risk by directly altering patient vasculature. On ultrasound studies of patients with CD, atherosclerotic plaques were found in 26.7% of patients, while zero were found in age and sex-matched controls (52). Patient vessels also demonstrated increased intima-media thickness and higher vessel peak flow velocities, while lumen diameters and distensibilities both decreased (52). Another study found that the cross-sectional area of tunica media within small-resistance arteries is significantly greater in CS patients compared to hypertensive patients and controls (54). These vascular changes are likely multi-mechanistic; glucocorticoid excess can lead to activation of mineralocorticoid receptors and cause small-vessel fibrosis (55), and animal and human studies have shown accelerated atherosclerosis after prolonged corticosteroid exposure (56, 57). However, it has also been suggested that this vascular change is caused by an increased level of oxidative damage, as CS patients have been found to have increased oxidative stress markers and lower antioxidant markers (58). Thirdly, studies in untreated CD and CS patients have found elevated endothelin-1 levels relative to controls (59). These levels were similar between patients with CD and CS, were even further elevated in the three patients who died, and were correlated with total cholesterol levels in patients as well. The combined effect on vessels from these multiple sources results in increased damage and remodeling in CS patients, even when comparing to controls with similar levels of hypertension (60).

Increased glucocorticoid levels are also responsible for hypertension in Cushing syndrome and disease, which is seen in 55-85% of all adults and half of all children with CS (50, 61). Glucocorticoids inhibit vasodilatory actions by nitric oxide synthase, prostacyclin, and kinin-kallikrein, activate the renin-angiotensin system, increase vascular reactivity to vasoconstricting catecholamines, and inhibit peripheral catabolism of norepinephrine (53). Increased levels of cortisol may also exceed the catabolism capabilities of 11-betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2, allowing the remaining molecules to bind to mineralocorticoid receptors and behave like aldosterone as well (53). In this multi-mechanistic setting of Cushing induced hypertension, already-present atherosclerosis is likely exacerbated, and treatment with antihypertensive medications may not help until normal glucocorticoid levels are restored in patients.

In summary, glucocorticoid excess affects CeVD risk in CD patients by negatively impacting metabolic factor homeostasis, and directly affects patient vasculature by increasing rates of atherosclerosis and hypertension. The role of glucocorticoids, rather than ACTH, as the main causative factor of CeVD risk, is further supported by the fact that studies examining CD and CS found similar risk levels, and that risk is significantly elevated in pre-diagnostic cohorts where disease is uncontrolled (Table 2). But in addition to these patients with severe or uncontrolled disease, cohorts that examine pre-diagnosis timelines also include patients with subclinical CD and CS as well. These patients are also likely at risk for increased rates of CeVD, as one study found that adrenal adenoma patients with subclinical levels of excess cortisol experienced higher rates of metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus, and previous cerebrovascular events than patients with nonfunctional adrenal adenomas (62). These metabolic and vascular changes associated with CD significantly increase risk for CeVD, even in mild cases.

Similar to acromegaly, the mainstay of treatment in CD is a multifaceted approach of transsphenoidal tumor resection and

radiation for tumor control followed by medical management of residual hormonal and metabolic sequelae. Unfortunately, also similar to acromegaly, it appears that while successful tumor and metabolite management may prevent further accumulation of cerebrovascular risk, it may not reverse damage already sustained by cerebral vasculature. Dekkers et al's 2013 study on CS patients found persistently elevated stroke rates even when specifically analyzing follow-up data after diagnosis and intervention (CD Stroke HR for 30 years of follow-up = 2.1). Risk levels were similar to what was seen in CS patients (30 year HR = 1.5). While not all treatments are effective, and hypertension can often persist after treatment for CS (61, 63), Dekkers et al. found this elevated morbidity and mortality was present in patients with and without persistent disease after surgical intervention. These findings were further confirmed by Papakokkinou et al. in 2020, which analyzed 10 years of follow up data for CD patients in remission (38). In addition to uncovering an overall stroke SIR of 8.2 for patients not in CD remission, they also found increased stroke incidence in patients who had been in remission for over one year (SIR 3.1). While future studies may uncover new ways to reverse the damage incurred by years of untreated CD, the best method of reducing CeVD risk in CD patients is early intervention, tumor control, and restoration of metabolic and vascular homeostasis.

Other PA patients: Proposed mechanisms of CeVD and impact of treatment on CeVD

Similar to acromegaly and Cushing disease, sufficient clinical evidence has shown that patients with other PA subtypes also suffer from an increased risk of cerebrovascular disease (Table 3). But while the causes of CeVD in acromegaly and Cushing disease are well-understood, less is known about the mechanisms behind CeVD risk in other PAs. For example, while Oh et al. found the highest risk of CeVD incidence and mortality in TSH and ACTH-secreting adenomas (20), their study appears to be the first of its kind in examining the cerebrovascular morbidity and mortality in TSH-secreting adenomas. While a likely explanation for this elevated risk includes uncontrolled hypertension secondary to hyperthyroidism, and while treatment via tumor removal plus thyroid hormone and blood pressure control may help ameliorate this risk, further research is essential in better defining the underlying mechanisms as well as the long-term effect of treatment on CeVD risk in these patients.

One likely cause of increased CeVD mortality stems from PAs that cause growth hormone deficiency (GHD); like GH excess, GH and IGF-1 deficiency have been shown to enhance atherosclerotic processes and facilitate cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, causing growth hormone homeostasis to resemble a "goldilocks effect" where balance is critical (44, 45, 64, 65). Lewis dwarf rat studies have shown that GHD increases vascular oxidative stress, promoting adverse vessel structure that manifests as late-life stroke and reduction of rat lifespan (66). This hypothesis is supported by clinical evidence as well, where it has been shown that GHD can cause abnormal body composition, reduced lean body mass/increased fat mass, high waist:hip ratio, insulin resistance, lipid abnormalities, and vascular endothelial dysfunction (67-70). Velhelst et al. found that GHD duration was tied to metabolic syndrome, which they found to be associated with higher CeVD morbidity (prevalence ratio of 1.77 relative to patients without metabolic syndrome) (71). In another cohort study, the increased intima-media thickness caused by low GH was seen in children, providing further support that GHD increases cardiovascular risk even in the absence of traditional atherosclerotic risk factors (72). Physicians should remain vigilant for signs of CeVD in GHD patients in all ages, especially so in those without access to GH therapy. Due to the high cost of medical treatment as well as the perception by some insurers that GH is not needed in older populations, uninsured patients or the elderly may be at increased risk for lack of sufficient therapy.

In addition to GHD enhancing atherosclerosis, it may also influence post-stroke outcomes. Adequate GH and IGF-1 is needed to facilitate extracellular matrix remodeling and angiogenesis, and both hormones have been shown to exhibit neuroprotective effects on ischemic cells of the central nervous system (45, 73–76). It is believed this neuroprotection stems from vascular endothelium acting as an autocrine and paracrine gland in ischemic conditions, releasing factors and hormones including GH that prevent cell necrosis and stimulate nearby arteriogenesis (76). Recent animal studies have supported this hypothesis and demonstrated how GH administration in mice exposed to cerebral infarct improves motor function and recovery by 50-60% (77). If GH and IGF-1 are indeed such critical hormones for cerebral vessel recovery after cerebrovascular infarct, it would come as no surprise that GHD patients who suffer from stroke might also experience poorer outcomes.

While this quantity of evidence means GHD and ensuing IGF-1 deficiency is likely a risk factor for CeVD mortality in patients with PAs, it is just as likely that other factors in PA patients are at work as well. Most research has been devoted to growth hormone's effects on vessel structure and function, but patients with isolated prolactinomas, Cushing disease, or hypothyroidism have also been shown to experience increases in total cholesterol and LDL, independent from the function of other pituitary axes (46). These nonspecific molecular findings are supported by clinical data as well; Tomlinson et al's 2001 study on 1,014 patients with hypopituitarism (66% of which were due to PAs) found a SMR for CeVD mortality of 2.44 in all patients, but did not find a variation based on specific hormone deficiencies, or on the number of deficient hormone axes (41).

While this may be explained by the fact that 70% of hypopituitary patients exhibit some degree of GHD (95% if patients have two or more hormone deficiencies) (78), it has also been shown that hypopituitarism is not the only cause of CeVD risk in PA patients; Olsson et al's 2016 study on NFPAs found that among the males in their cohort, the elevated stroke incidence seen was the same between patients with and without hypopituitarism (overall SIR 1.66) (43). Oh et al's study found the highest rate of stroke to be in ACTH and TSH-secreting adenomas, and showed how among NFPA patients with and without hypopituitarism, ischemic stroke incidence did not vary (SIR 3.1) (20). While this means that hormone function and tumor type likely does play a role in CeVD risk, it also shows that the mere presence of PAs increases risk of CeVD and ensuing mortality. The mechanisms behind this risk are likely multifactorial and remain to be fully uncovered, but one such mechanism is likely related to the risk of pituitary apoplexy, which occurs in 0.6-10% of PA cases (79, 80). Select case series have reported cases of stroke caused by apoplexy-induced PA enlargement and compression of the internal carotid arteries, with near-complete resolution of symptoms after emergent tumor debulking (81-84).

Similar to acromegaly and Cushing disease, it is unclear how much effect treatment may or may not have on CeVD risk reduction. After tumors are resected, hormone deficits are treated with restoration of hormone homeostasis via supplementation of corticosteroids, thyroid hormones, sex hormones, or GH (44, 85). GH treatment in GHD patients has shown to have beneficial effects on insulin sensitivity, LDL levels, total cholesterol and triglycerides, fat and lean body mass, and diastolic blood pressure (86, 87). In cases where metabolic factors do not return to normal levels, medical management is essential to prevent further accumulation of atherosclerosis and CeVD risk, similar to the treatment of patients with acromegaly. However, also alike those patients with acromegaly, studies have shown that hormone therapy may not help in returning cerebrovascular mortality to normal levels in patients with GHD or hypopituitarism. In two cohort studies on patients with GHD, CeVD mortality remained elevated in GH-treated patients (88, 89). While these studies examined all causes of GHD and not just PAs, Hammarstrand et al. studied 426 NFPA patients in 2018 and found similar results: standardized incidence of cerebral infarct was elevated in the total patient population, and did not appear to vary by who received GH replacement therapy (65). More research is needed to better define the relationship or lack thereof between hormone replacement and variance of CeVD mortality.

While hormone therapy may not lower CeVD risk in this population, other treatments directly targeting the cereberovasculature may show promise. Holmer et al. studied nonfatal CVAs in GHD patients and found that while GHD patients had a significantly higher rate of nonfatal stroke compared to the overall population, stroke incidence declines over the years following diagnosis (90). While the authors conclude that this reduced risk may have been due to GH therapy, most patients in their cohort were on a host of other cardiovascular drugs as well. Their study is not without its shortcomings for root cause analysis: it makes no direct comparisons between specific drug therapies and CVA risk, roughly 40% of study participants had non-PA causes of GHD, and the study excluded all cases of fatal stroke in their analysis. Nevertheless, their findings show promise for potential avenues to reduce CeVD risk in patients with hormone deficits secondary to PAs.

Sex-based CeVD differences in PA patients: Proposed mechanisms

While nearly every study that stratified by sex found higher CeVD incidence and mortality in women, these differences may in fact be less significant than they appear. Some clinical studies have indeed shown that women with PAs tend to experience higher rates of CeVD morbidity and mortality (20, 23, 43), but in other studies the risk difference between women and men is unexamined or nonsignificant (19, 40, 42). It has been argued that if an increased risk exists, it is likely from the fact that women often have prior exposure history to sex hormones (44), as hormone therapy may be prescribed for contraception, infertility, oligo- or amenorrhea, or for symptoms of menopause. Estrogens were also once thought to lower the cardiovascular risk profile, and were broadly prescribed in the past to most postmenopausal women. This theory has since been disproven (91), but it has been shown that patients who were given conjugated equine estrogen for heart disease prevention have increased risk for stroke in the following years (92).

Regardless of the role of hormones in CeVD risk for women with PAs, the fact remains that women with PAs also experience tumor-specific CeVD risk. One 2013 review article by Erfurth et al. examined patients with GHD and found that in the years since physicians stopped estrogen therapy to prevent heart disease, all-cause mortality rates in women have declined but not returned to normal (93). They found that for patients with GHD caused by tumors, CeVD was the main cause of increased mortality, and among female patients this mortality persisted after GH replacement. Erfurth's findings suggest that while prior hormone therapy may be a contributing factor to CeVD mortality among women with PAs, it is likely not the sole cause. Like other studies on patients with PAs, it appears that women experience CeVD risk regardless of hormone levels. More studies are needed that directly analyze CeVD mortality between women and men to determine if a significant difference truly exists and what the underlying mechanisms may be.

Conclusions

The risk of cerebrovascular morbidity and mortality is significantly elevated in patients with pituitary adenomas. Whether affected by GH-excess, GH-deficiency, or endocrinenormal state, this population experiences permanent compromise to the delicate network of blood vessels throughout the central nervous system. While the mechanisms behind this risk and the effects of treatment remain debated, and more work is needed to better elucidate post-treatment risk estimation, for now the best way to prevent CeVD in patients with pituitary adenomas is to diagnose and intervene early, resecting tumors and treating hormone imbalances where indicated. Until more is known about the effects of treatment on reducing risk or halting its further accumulation, physicians should remain vigilant for early signs of cerebrovascular disease in patients with pituitary adenomas, and keep CeVD high on their differential when PA patients present with neurologic symptoms.

Author contributions

Manuscript Design: RO, MA; Literature Review: RO, JO, NC, ML; Drafting of manuscript: RO; Critical Revision of Manuscript: RO, JO, NC, ML, LS, MA; Final Approval of Manuscript: RO, JO, NC, ML, LS, MA; RO and JO Share first authorship. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Gittleman H, Ostrom QT, Farah PD, Ondracek A, Chen Y, Wolinsky Y, et al. Descriptive epidemiology of pituitary tumors in the United States 2004–2009: Clinical article. *J Neurosurg* (2014) 121(3):527–35. doi: 10.3171/2014.5.JNS131819

2. Melmed S. Pituitary-tumor endocrinopathies. N Engl J Med (2020) 382 (10):937–50. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1810772

3. Ostrom QT, Gittleman H, Fulop J, Liu M, Blanda R, Kromer C, et al. CBTRUS statistical report: Primary brain and central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the United States in 2008-2012. *Neuro Oncol* (2015) 17(Suppl 4):iv1–62. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nov189

4. Klibanski A. Nonsecreting pituitary tumors. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am (1987) 16(3):793–804. doi: 10.1016/S0889-8529(18)30474-2

5. Raappana A, Koivukangas J, Ebeling T, Pirilä T. Incidence of pituitary adenomas in northern Finland in 1992–2007. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 95 (9):4268–75. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-0537

6. Fernandez A, Karavitaki N, Wass JAH. Prevalence of pituitary adenomas: A community-based, cross-sectional study in Banbury (Oxfordshire, UK). *Clin Endocrinol* (2010) 72(3):377–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2009.03667.x

7. Daly AF, Rixhon M, Adam C, Dempegioti A, Tichomirowa MA, Beckers A. High prevalence of pituitary adenomas: A cross-sectional study in the province of liège, Belgium. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 91(12):4769–75. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2006-1668

8. Snyder PJ. Clinically nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas. *Endocrinol Metab* Clin North Am (1993) 22(1):163–75. doi: 10.1016/S0889-8529(18)30185-3

 Chaidarun SS, Klibanski A. Gonadotropinomas. Semin Reprod Med (2002) 20 (4):339–48. doi: 10.1055/s-2002-36708

10. Molitch ME. Gonadotroph-cell pituitary adenomas. N Engl J Med (1991) 324(9):626–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199102283240909

11. Lake MG, Krook LS, Cruz SV. Pituitary adenomas: An overview. *afp* (2013) 88(5):319–27.

12. What is cardiovascular disease?. Available at: https://www.heart.org/en/ health-topics/consumer-healthcare/what-is-cardiovascular-disease.

13. Jin K, Brennan PM, Poon MTC, Sudlow CLM, Figueroa JD. Raised cardiovascular disease mortality after central nervous system tumor diagnosis: Analysis of 171,926 patients from UK and USA. *Neurooncol Adv* (2021) 3(1): vdab136. doi: 10.1093/noajnl/vdab136

14. Nilsson B, Gustavasson-Kadaka E, Bengtsson BA, Jonsson B. Pituitary adenomas in Sweden between 1958 and 1991: Incidence, survival, and mortality. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2000) 85(4):1420–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.85.4.1420

15. Baba N, Kameda H, Nakamura A, Cho KY, Nomoto H, Mitsuhashi T, et al. Silent pituitary adenoma and metabolic disorders: Obesity, abnormal glucose tolerance, hypertension and dyslipidemia. *Endocrine J* (2021) 68(2):195–200. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ20-0185

16. Castinetti F, Morange I, Conte-Devolx B, Brue T. Cushing's disease. Orphanet J Rare Dis (2012) 7:41. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-7-41

17. Çağır Y, Altay M, Çağır BB, Çakal E, Akkan T, Yıldız C, et al. Evaluation of cardiovascular risk with arterial stiffness in patients with nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma. *Endocrine Practice* (2018) 24(9):815–22. doi: 10.4158/EP-2018-0122

18. Cerebrovascular disease – classifications, symptoms, diagnosis and treatments . Available at: https://www.aans.org/.

19. Brada M, Burchell L, Ashley S, Traish D. The incidence of cerebrovascular accidents in patients with pituitary adenoma. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (1999) 45 (3):693–8. doi: 10.1016/S0360-3016(99)00159-5

20. Oh JS, Kim HJ, Hann HJ, Kang TU, Kim DS, Kang MJ, et al. Incidence, mortality, and cardiovascular diseases in pituitary adenoma in Korea: A nationwide population-based study. *Pituitary.* (2021) 24(1):38–47. doi: 10.1007/s11102-020-01084-6

21. Lavrentaki A, Paluzzi A, Wass JAH, Karavitaki N. Epidemiology of acromegaly: Review of population studies. *Pituitary* (2017) 20(1):4-9. doi: 10.1007/s11102-016-0754-x
22. Yun SJ, Lee JK, Park SY, Chin SO. Descriptive epidemiology and survival analysis of acromegaly in Korea. *J Korean Med Sci* (2021) 36(23):e159. doi: 10.3346/ jkms.2021.36.e159

23. Wright AD, Hill DM, Lowy C, Fraser TR. Mortality in acromegaly. *Q J Med* (1970) 39(153):1–16.

24. Alexander L, Appleton D, Hall R, Ross WM, Wilkinson R. Epidemiology of acromegaly in the Newcastle region. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (1980) 12(1):71–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1980.tb03135.x

25. Bengtsson BÅ, Edén S, Ernest I, Odén A, Sjögren B. Epidemiology and long-term survival in acromegaly: A study of 166 cases diagnosed between 1955 and 1984. Acta Med Scandinavica (1988) 223(4):327–35. doi: 10.1111/j.0954-6820.1988.tb15881.x

26. Rajasoorya C, Holdaway IM, Wrightson P, Scott DJ, Ibbertson HK. Determinants of clinical outcome and survival in acromegaly. *Clin Endocrinol* (1994) 41(1):95–102. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1994.tb03789.x

27. Orme SM, McNally RJ, Cartwright RA, Belchetz PE. Mortality and cancer incidence in acromegaly: A retrospective cohort study. United Kingdom acromegaly study group. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1998) 83(8):2730–4. doi: 10.1210/jc.83.8.2730

28. Ayuk J, Clayton RN, Holder G, Sheppard MC, Stewart PM, Bates AS. Growth hormone and pituitary radiotherapy, but not serum insulin-like growth factor-I concentrations, predict excess mortality in patients with acromegaly. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89(4):1613–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031584

29. Kauppinen-Mäkelin R, Sane T, Reunanen A, Välimäki MJ, Niskanen L, Markkanen H, et al. A nationwide survey of mortality in acromegaly. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90(7):4081-6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-1381

30. Sherlock M, Reulen RC, Alonso AA, Ayuk J, Clayton RN, Sheppard MC, et al. ACTH deficiency, higher doses of hydrocortisone replacement, and radiotherapy are independent predictors of mortality in patients with acromegaly. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94(11):4216–23. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-1097

31. Esposito D, Ragnarsson O, Granfeldt D, Marlow T, Johannsson G, Olsson DS. Decreasing mortality and changes in treatment patterns in patients with acromegaly from a nationwide study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2018) 178(5):459–69. doi: 10.1530/EJE-18-0015

32. Chauveau H, Berhoune N, Cl S, Jouanneau E, Nighoghossian N. Intracerebral hemorrhage revealing a cushing's disease. *Am J Cardiovasc Dis* (2015) 5(4):153-4.

33. Nguyen JH, Lodish MB, Patronas NJ, Ugrasbul F, Keil MF, Roberts MD, et al. Extensive and largely reversible ischemic cerebral infarctions in a prepubertal child with hypertension and cushing disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94 (1):1–2. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1346

34. Mizokami T, Okamura K, Sato K, Kuroda T, Sadoshima S, Fujishima M. Risk factors for brain infarction in patients with cushing's disease. *Case Rep Angiology* (1996) 47(10):1011-7. doi: 10.1177/000331979604701010

35. Bolland MJ, Holdaway IM, Berkeley JE, Lim S, Dransfield WJ, Conaglen JV, et al. Mortality and morbidity in cushing's syndrome in New Zealand. *Clin Endocrinol* (2011) 75(4):436-42. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04124.x

36. Dekkers OM, Horváth-Puhó E, Jørgensen JOL, Cannegieter SC, Ehrenstein V, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. Multisystem morbidity and mortality in cushing's syndrome: a cohort study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98(6):2277–84. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3582

37. Clayton RN, Jones PW, Reulen RC, Stewart PM, Hassan-Smith ZK, Ntali G, et al. Mortality in patients with cushing's disease more than 10 years after remission: a multicentre, multinational, retrospective cohort study. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2016) 4(7):569–76. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30005-5

38. Papakokkinou E, Olsson DS, Chantzichristos D, Dahlqvist P, Segerstedt E, Olsson T, et al. Excess morbidity persists in patients with cushing's disease during long-term remission: A Swedish nationwide study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 105(8):dgaa291. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa291

39. Ragnarsson O, Olsson DS, Papakokkinou E, Chantzichristos D, Dahlqvist P, Segerstedt E, et al. Overall and disease-specific mortality in patients with cushing disease: A Swedish nationwide study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2019) 104(6):2375–84. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-02524

40. Bülow B, Hagmar L, Mikoczy Z, Nordström CH, Erfurth EM. Increased cerebrovascular mortality in patients with hypopituitarism. *Clin Endocrinol* (1997) 46(1):75–81. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.1997.d01-1749.x

41. Tomlinson JW, Holden N, Hills RK, Wheatley K, Clayton RN, Bates AS, et al. Association between premature mortality and hypopituitarism. West Midlands prospective hypopituitary study group. *Lancet* (2001) 357(9254):425–31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04006-X

42. Olsson DS, Nilsson AG, Bryngelsson IL, Trimpou P, Johannsson G, Andersson E. Excess mortality in women and young adults with nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma: A Swedish nationwide study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100(7):2651–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-1475

43. Olsson DS, Bryngelsson IL, Ragnarsson O. Higher incidence of morbidity in women than men with non-functioning pituitary adenoma: A Swedish nationwide study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2016) 175(1):55–61. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0173

44. Erfurth EM, Hagmar L. Cerebrovascular disease in patients with pituitary tumors. Trends Endocrinol Metab (2005) 16(7):334-42. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2005.07.004

45. Higashi Y, Gautam S, Delafontaine P, Sukhanov S. IGF-1 and cardiovascular disease. Growth Horm IGF Res (2019) 45:6–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2019.01.002

46. Feingold KR, Brinton EA, Grunfeld C. The effect of endocrine disorders on lipids and lipoproteins. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, Chrousos G, de Herder WW, Dhatariya K, et al, editors. *Endotext*. (2000) South Dartmouth (MA: MDText.com, Inc. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK409608/.

47. Andersson IJ, Johansson ME, Wickman A, Klintland N, Caidahl K, Gustafsson M, et al. Endothelial dysfunction in growth hormone transgenic mice. *Clin Sci (Lond)* (2006) 110(2):217–25. doi: 10.1042/CS20050281

48. Ayuk J, Sheppard MC. Does acromegaly enhance mortality? *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2008) 9(1):33–9. doi: 10.1007/s11154-007-9067-8

49. Holdaway IM, Rajasoorya RC, Gamble GD. Factors influencing mortality in acromegaly. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89(2):667–74. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031199

50. Ferraù F, Korbonits M. Metabolic comorbidities in cushing's syndrome. Eur J Endocrinol (2015) 173(4):M133-57. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0354

51. Xu C, He J, Jiang H, Zu L, Zhai W, Pu S, et al. Direct effect of glucocorticoids on lipolysis in adipocytes. *Mol Endocrinol* (2009) 23(8):1161–70. doi: 10.1210/me.2008-0464

52. Colao A, Pivonello R, Spiezia S, Faggiano A, Ferone D, Filippella M, et al. Persistence of increased cardiovascular risk in patients with cushing's disease after five years of successful cure. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1999) 84(8):2664–72. doi: 10.1210/jcem.84.8.5896

53. Leo MD, Pivonello R, Auriemma RS, Cozzolino A, Vitale P, Simeoli C, et al. Cardiovascular disease in cushing's syndrome: Heart versus vasculature. *NEN* (2010) 92(Suppl. 1):50–4. doi: 10.1159/000318566

54. Rizzoni D, Porteri E, De Ciuceis C, Rodella LF, Paiardi S, Rizzardi N, et al. Hypertrophic remodeling of subcutaneous small resistance arteries in patients with cushing's syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94(12):5010–8. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2009-1588

55. Duprez DA. Role of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in vascular remodeling and inflammation: a clinical review. *J Hypertension* (2006) 24(6):983–91. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000226182.60321.69

56. Stamler J, Pick R, Katz LN. Effects of cortisone, hydrocortisone and corticotropin on lipemia, glycemia and atherogenesis in cholesterol-fed chicks. *Circulation* (1954) 10(2):237–46. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.10.2.237

57. Bayram NA, Ersoy R, Sen DO, Inancli SS, Durmaz T, Keles T, et al. The relationship between aortic stiffness and left ventricular function in patients with cushing's disease: aortic stiffness in cushing's disease. *Endocrine* (2010) 37(2):280–5. doi: 10.1007/s12020-009-9295-7

58. Karamouzis I, Berardelli R, D'Angelo V, Fussotto B, Zichi C, Giordano R, et al. Enhanced oxidative stress and platelet activation in patients with cushing's syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol* (2015) 82(4):517–24. doi: 10.1111/cen.12524

 Kirilov G, Tomova A, Dakovska L, Kumanov P, Shinkov A, Alexandrov AS. Elevated plasma endothelin as an additional cardiovascular risk factor in patients with cushing's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2003) 149(6):549–53. doi: 10.1530/ eje.0.1490549

60. Jurek A, Krzesiński P, Gielerak G, Witek P, Zieliński G, Kazimierczak A, et al. Cushing's disease: Assessment of early cardiovascular hemodynamic dysfunction with impedance cardiography. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:751743. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.751743

61. Magiakou MA, Smyrnaki P, Chrousos GP. Hypertension in cushing's syndrome. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 20(3):467-82. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2006.07.006

62. Petramala L, Olmati F, Concistrè A, Russo R, Mezzadri M, Soldini M, et al. Cardiovascular and metabolic risk factors in patients with subclinical cushing. *Endocrine* (2020) 70(1):150–63. doi: 10.1007/s12020-020-02297-2

63. Pecori Giraldi F, Toja PM, De Martin M, Maronati A, Scacchi M, Omboni S, et al. Circadian blood pressure profile in patients with active cushing's disease and after long-term cure. *Horm Metab Res* (2007) 39(12):908–14. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-992813

64. Kopchick JJ, Basu R, Berryman DE, Jorgensen JOL, Johannsson G, Puri V. Covert actions of growth hormone: Fibrosis, cardiovascular diseases and cancer. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2022) 18(9):558–73. doi: 10.1038/s41574-022-00702-6

65. Hammarstrand C, Ragnarsson O, Bengtsson O, Bryngelsson IL, Johannsson G, Olsson DS. Comorbidities in patients with non-functioning pituitary adenoma: Influence of long-term growth hormone replacement. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2018) 179 (4):229–37. doi: 10.1530/EJE-18-0370

66. Ungvari Z, Gautam T, Koncz P, Henthorn JC, Pinto JT, Ballabh P, et al. Vasoprotective effects of life span-extending peripubertal GH replacement in Lewis dwarf rats. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* (2010) 65(11):1145–56. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glq147

67. Carroll PVChrist the members of Growth Hormone Research Society Scientific Committee: ER, , Bengtsson BÅ, Carlsson L, Christiansen JS, Clemmons D, et al. Growth hormone deficiency in adulthood and the effects of growth hormone replacement: A review. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1998) 83 (2):382–95. doi: 10.1210/jcem.83.2.4594

68. Johansson JO, Fowelin J, Landin K, Lager I, Bengtsson BÅ. Growth hormone-deficient adults are insulin-resistant. *Metab - Clin Experimental* (1995) 44(9):1126–9. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(95)90004-7

69. Pfeifer M, Verhovec R, Zizek B, Prezelj J, Poredos P, Clayton RN. Growth hormone (GH) treatment reverses early atherosclerotic changes in GH-deficient Adults1. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1999) 84(2):453-7. doi: 10.1210/jcem.84.2.5456

70. Bülow B, Hagmar L, Eskilsson J, Erfurth EM. Hypopituitary females have a high incidence of cardiovascular morbidity and an increased prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2000) 85(2):574-84. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.2.6346

71. Verhelst J, Mattsson AF, Luger A, Thunander M, Góth MI, Koltowska-Häggström M, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of the metabolic syndrome in 2479 hypopituitary patients with adult-onset GH deficiency before GH replacement: a KIMS analysis. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2011) 165(6):881–9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-11-0599

72. Capaldo B, Patti L, Oliviero U, Longobardi S, Pardo F, Vitale F, et al. Increased arterial intima-media thickness in childhood-onset growth hormone deficiency. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1997) 82(5):1378-81. doi: 10.1210/jcem.82.5.3951

73. Liu Y, Yang J, Che X, Huang J, Zhang X, Fu X, et al. Agonistic analog of growth hormone-releasing hormone promotes neurofunctional recovery and neural regeneration in ischemic stroke. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2021) 118(47): e2109600118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2109600118

74. Baltazar-Lara R, Ávila-Mendoza J, Martínez-Moreno CG, Carranza M, Pech-Pool S, Vázquez-Martínez O, et al. Neuroprotective effects of growth hormone (GH) and insulin-like growth factor type 1 (IGF-1) after hypoxicischemic injury in chicken cerebellar cell cultures. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 22(1): E256. doi: 10.3390/iims22010256

75. Olivares-Hernández JD, Carranza M, Balderas-Márquez JE, Epardo D, Baltazar-Lara R, Ávila-Mendoza J, et al. Neuroprotective and regenerative effects of growth hormone (GH) in the embryonic chicken cerebral pallium exposed to hypoxic-ischemic (HI) injury. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23(16):9054. doi: 10.3390/ijms23169054

76. Caicedo D, Devesa P, Alvarez CV, Devesa J. Why should growth hormone (GH) be considered a promising therapeutic agent for arteriogenesis? Insights from the GHAS trial. *Cells.* (2020) 9(4):E807. doi: 10.3390/cells9040807

77. Sanchez-Bezanilla S, Åberg ND, Crock P, Walker FR, Nilsson M, Isgaard J, et al. Growth hormone promotes motor function after experimental stroke and enhances recovery-promoting mechanisms within the peri-infarct area. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(2):E606. doi: 10.3390/ijms21020606

78. Toogood AA, Beardwell CG, Shalet SM. The severity of growth hormone deficiency in adults with pituitary disease is related to the degree of hypopituitarism. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (1994) 41(4):511-6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1994.tb02583.x

79. Bonicki W, kasperlik-załuska a, koszewski W, zgliczyński W, wisławski j. pituitary apoplexy: endocrine, surgical and oncological emergency. incidence, clinical course and treatment with reference to 799 cases of pituitary adenomas. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)* (1993) 120(3–4):118–22. doi: 10.1007/BF02112028

80. Murad-Kejbou S, Eggenberger E. Pituitary apoplexy: Evaluation, management, and prognosis. *Curr Opin Ophthalmol* (2009) 20(6):456-61. doi: 10.1097/ICU.0b013e3283319061

81. Pasha SA, Ranganthan LN, Setty VK, Reddy R, Ponnuru DA. Acute ischaemic stroke as a manifestation of pituitary apoplexy in a young lady. *J Clin Diagn Res* (2017) 11(5):OD03–5. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2017/25046.9782

82. Yang SH, Lee KS, Lee KY, Lee SW, Hong YK. Pituitary apoplexy producing internal carotid artery compression: a case report. *J Korean Med Sci* (2008) 23 (6):1113–7. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2008.23.6.1113

83. Lath R, Rajshekhar V. Massive cerebral infarction as a feature of pituitary apoplexy. *Neurol India* (2001) 49(2):191–3.

84. Ahn JM, Oh HJ, Oh JS, Yoon SM. Pituitary apoplexy causing acute ischemic stroke: Which treatment should be given priority. *Surg Neurol Int* (2020) 11:113. doi: 10.25259/SNI_82_2020

85. Ho KKY. 2007 GH deficiency consensus workshop participants. consensus guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of adults with GH deficiency II: A statement of the GH research society in association with the European society for pediatric endocrinology, Lawson Wilkins society, European society of endocrinology, Japan endocrine society, and endocrine society of Australia. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2007) 157(6):695–700. doi: 10.1530/EJE-07-0631

86. Maison P, Griffin S, Nicoue-Beglah M, Haddad N, Balkau B, Chanson P, et al. Impact of growth hormone (GH) treatment on cardiovascular risk factors in GH-deficient adults: a metaanalysis of blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled trials. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89(5):2192–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030840

87. Boschetti M, Goglia U, Teti C, Esposito D, Giusti M, Minuto F, et al. Replacement therapy and cardiovascular diseases. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2008) 31(9 Suppl):85–90.

88. van Bunderen CC, van Nieuwpoort IC, Arwert LI, Heymans MW, Franken AAM, Koppeschaar HPF, et al. Does growth hormone replacement therapy reduce mortality in adults with growth hormone deficiency? Data from the Dutch national registry of growth hormone treatment in adults. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96 (10):3151–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1215

89. Gaillard RC, Mattsson AF, Åkerblad AC, Bengtsson BÅ, Cara J, Feldt-Rasmussen U, et al. Overall and cause-specific mortality in GH-deficient adults on GH replacement. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2012) 166(6):1069–77. doi: 10.1530/EJE-11-1028

90. Holmer H, Svensson J, Rylander L, Johannsson G, Rosén T, Bengtsson BÅ, et al. Nonfatal stroke, cardiac disease, and diabetes mellitus in hypopituitary patients on hormone replacement including growth hormone. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2007) 92(9):3560–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-0458

91. Barrett-Connor E. An epidemiologist looks at hormones and heart disease in women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2003) 88(9):4031–42. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030876

92. Anderson GL, Limacher M, Assaf AR, Bassford T, Beresford SAA, Black H, et al. Effects of conjugated equine estrogen in postmenopausal women with hysterectomy: The women's health initiative randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. (2004) 291(14):1701–12. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.14.1701

93. Erfurth EM. Update in mortality in GH-treated patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(11):4219–26. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2415

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Przemysław Witek, Warsaw Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY

Malgorzata Karbownik-Lewinska, Medical University of Lodz, Poland Aleksandra Jawiarczyk-Przybyłowska, Wroclaw Medical University, Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE

Cheol Ryong Ku Cr079@yuhs.ac Seung Up Kim ksukorea@yuhs.ac

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Pituitary Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 30 September 2022 ACCEPTED 01 December 2022 PUBLISHED 09 January 2023

CITATION

Hwang Y-a, Lee HW, Ahn SH, Lee EJ, Ku CR and Kim SU (2023) Positive association between nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and growth hormone deficiency in patients with nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1057769. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1057769

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Hwang, Lee, Ahn, Lee, Ku and Kim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Positive association between nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and growth hormone deficiency in patients with nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma

Yoon-a Hwang^{1,2,3†}, Hye Won Lee^{1,4†}, Sang Hoon Ahn^{1,4}, Eun Jig Lee^{1,2,3}, Cheol Ryong Ku^{1,2,3*} and Seung Up Kim^{1,4*}

¹Department of Internal Medicine, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, Republic of Korea, ²Institute of Endocrine Research, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, Republic of Korea, ³Pituitary Tumor Center, Severance Hospital, Seoul, Republic of Korea, ⁴Yonsei Liver Center, Severance Hospital, Seoul, Republic of Korea

Objective: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is characterized by growth hormone deficiency (GHd). We investigated the association between NAFLD and GHd in patients with nonfunctioning pituitary adenomas (NFPA).

Design and methods: We recruited patients with NFPA who underwent transsphenoidal adenectomy between January 2005 and December 2018. Pituitary function was determined by the insulin tolerance test, thyroid hormone assay, and gonadal hormone levels. NAFLD was defined as a hepatic steatosis index greater than 36.

Results: Among 278 patients (mean age, 44.2 years; 58.6% [n=163] female), 103 (37.0%) had GHd, 139 (50.0%) had hypogonadism, and 75 (27.0%) had NAFLD. The prevalence of NAFLD was significantly higher in patients with GHd than in those without (36.9% vs. 21.1%, p=0.01). Even after adjusting for age, total cholesterol level, gonadal function, and prolactin level, patients with GHd had approximately two-fold higher prevalence of NALFD than those without GHd (adjusted odds ratio [OR]=1.85, 95% confidence interval [CI]=1.05–3.28, p=0.03). Among female patients, the prevalence of NALFD was significantly higher in those with GHd than in those without (adjusted OR=2.39, 95% CI=1.03–5.55, p=0.04); whereas, among male patients, the prevalence of NAFLD was statistically similar between those with and without GHd (p>0.05). In addition, gonadal function did not affect the prevalence of NAFLD in patients with NFPA (29.3% with eugonadism vs. 47.8% with hypogonadism, p=0.14).

Conclusion: Among patients with NFPA, the prevalence of NAFLD was two-fold higher in patients with GHd than that in those without GHd. Thus, screening for NAFLD might be required in NFPA patients with GHd.

KEYWORDS

nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, growth hormone, growth hormone deficiency, nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma, hepatic steatosis index

1 Introduction

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is the most common cause of chronic liver disease worldwide (1). As lifestyle and dietary habits have changed, the prevalence of NAFLD has nearly doubled over the past 20 year (2). In South Korea, the prevalence of NAFLD is approximately 30% and the annual incidence of NAFLD is approximately 45 cases per 1,000 individuals (3). NAFLD is strongly associated with obesity, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and metabolic syndrome (4–6). Furthermore, hypothyroidism, which causes metabolic impairment, is an independent risk factor for NAFLD (7, 8). In addition to hypothyroidism, several studies suggested that NAFLD is associated with hypogonadism or senescence-related hormonal insufficiency (9–13). Moreover, the association between prolactin and NAFLD has recently been suggested (14, 15).

Growth hormone (GH) is essential for maintenance of metabolic homeostasis in liver, muscle, and adipose tissues. GH regulates carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in hepatocytes. This action is mainly mediated through lipid mobilization in white adipose tissue and insulin production (16). Patients with Laron syndrome, caused by loss-of-function mutations in the GH receptor gene in humans, develop NAFLD and chronic replacement of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) does not alleviate NAFLD status (17). In addition, liver-specific GH receptor deletion in mice results in increased hepatic insulin resistance and severe hepatic steatosis and impaired regeneration of hepatocytes, which might suggest the direct effect of GH on hepatocytes *via* the GH receptor (18).

GH deficiency (GHd) in adults clinically manifests as decreased lean body mass, muscle strength, bone mineral density, increased visceral adipose tissue, and dyslipidemia (19, 20). Several studies have investigated the association between hepatic steatosis and GHd (20–23). Steatosis severity associated with GH levels in patients with hypopituitarism (10). Liver enzymes and fatty liver improve after GH replacment in patients with GHd (22, 24). These results suggest that NAFLD may be partly attributable to GHd. However, it is not clear whether GHd is independently associated with NAFLD, because previous studies have been based on relative GHd in overweight or obese patients without the pituitary disorder (25, 26) or have small sample sizes (10, 22–24, 27–29).

In this study, we explored the associations between NAFLD and GHd in patients with nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma (NFPA) and investigated the influence of sex and gonadal function on NAFLD.

2 Methods

2.1 Study population

Patients with NFPA who underwent transsphenoidal adenectomy between January 2005 and December 2018 were recruited. The pituitary function and NAFLD were assessed before transsphenoidal adenectomy. Patients were excluded if they had any of the following (1): any diseases or were taking any drugs that can affect hormones (e.g., levothyroxine, selective estrogen receptor antagonist, glucocorticoids, etc.); (2) adrenal insufficiency or thyroid dysfunction newly diagnosed in preoperative pituitary function assessment; (3) undergone hysterectomy or unknown menstrual cycle in female patients; (4) hepatic steatosis with excessive alcohol consumption (\geq 210 g/week in men; \geq 140 g/week in women); (5) concomitant liver diseases including viral hepatitis, autoimmune hepatitis, other causes of fatty liver disease except NAFLD; or (6) missing information. None of the patients with hypogonadism had received hormonal therapy in this study.

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Yonsei University Health System, Seoul, Korea (4-2022-0520) and the requirement for informed consent was waived, as this was a retrospective study.

2.2 Assessment of pituitary function

An insulin tolerance test was performed preoperatively to evaluate GHd and adrenal insufficiency. Regular insulin (Humulin[®] R, Eli Lilly and Company, Indiana, USA) was injected into patients to achieve blood glucose levels of <40 mg/dL or a \geq 50% decrease in glucose blood glucose level. Blood specimens were collected at 0, 30, 60, 90, and 120 min to measure GH and cortisol (30).

Blood specimens were drawn at 8 am from patients who had fasted for >8 hours. Patients on medications affecting pituitary hormones were excluded, as previously noted. Levels of free T4, thyroid-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, and folliclestimulating hormone were measured. For gonadal hormones, testosterone levels in male patients and estradiol levels in women were measured.

2.3 Definition of pituitary dysfunction

Patients were considered to have GHd (GHd group) if the peak GH level was below 3 ng/mL. Otherwise, they were regarded having intact GH function (GHi group) (31). Adrenal insufficiency was defined if a peak cortisol level was neither above 18mg/dL nor increased by 8 mg/dL from the baseline cortisol level (31). Central hypothyroidism was defined as (1) a thyroid-stimulating hormone level lower than or within the reference range despite low free T4 level or (2) a thyroidstimulating hormone level lower than the reference range, free T4 level within the reference range, and thyroid-stimulating antibody titer below the cut-off value (150%) (31). In male patients, hypogonadism was considered if the testosterone level was below 250 ng/mL. Female patients were considered to have hypogonadism if they had irregular menstruation cycles or amenorrhea. Among female patients with hypogonadism, they were regarded having hypogonadotropic hypogonadism if the follicle-stimulating hormone level was less than 40 IU/L; otherwise, those were considered to be postmenopausal (32).

2.4 Definition of NAFLD

NAFLD was defined using a validated hepatic steatosis index (HSI) calculated as follows: HSI = $8 \times \text{alanine aminotransferase}$ (ALT)/aspartate aminotransferase (AST) + BMI (+ 2 if diabetes yes, + 2 if female) (33). The HSI was proposed in a Korean cohort study of 10,724 subjects (5.462 subjects with NAFLD diagnosed by ultrasonography). The HSI was less than 30, and then NAFLD was excluded (negative likelihood ratio 0.2, sensitivity 93.1%). Patients were regarded as having NAFLD if HSI was greater than 36 (positive likelihood ratio 6.1, specificity 92.4%) (33). The AUC of the HSI was 0.81 and an acceptable accuracy among a Korean population (33, 34). The primary outcome was the association between NAFLD and GH status.

2.5 Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are expressed as means and standard deviations and categorical variables are presented as numbers

and percentages. Mean values between groups were compared using the Mann-Whitney test. The proportions between the groups were compared using the chi-square test. Multivariable logistic regression analysis was applied to determine the independent association between GHd and NAFLD after adjusting for age in model 1, age and cholesterol level in model 2, and age, cholesterol level, hypogonadism, and prolactin level in model 3. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 26.0 for Windows (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). For all calculations, a p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3 Results

3.1 Baseline characteristics of the study population

After excluding 548 patients according to our exclusion criteria, 278 patients (mean 44.2 years; 58.6% [n=163] female) were selected for the statistical analysis (Figure 1) The mean BMI and total cholesterol level were 23.8 kg/m² and 190 mg/dL, respectively. Eighteen (6.5%) patients had diabetes. 103 (37.0%) patients had GHd and 139 (50.0%) patients had hypogonadism. 46 (16.5%) patients had isolated GHd and 82 (29.5%) patients



Flow diagram of subject inclusion and exclusion. NFPA, nonfunctioning pituitary adenoma; TSA, transsphenoidal adenomectomy; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. had only hypogonadism. 57 (20.5%) patients had both. The mean prolactin level was 29.4 ng/mL. 75 (27.0%) patients had NAFLD.

3.2 Comparison between patients with and without GHd

The GHd group had a significantly older age (mean 46.5 vs. 42.9 years, p=0.01), higher BMI (mean 24.8 vs. 23.4 kg/m², p=0.001), and higher total cholesterol level (mean 203 vs. 189 mg/dL, p=0.001) than the GHi group (Table 1). The prevalence of NAFLD was significantly higher in the GHd group than that in the GHi group (36.9% vs. 21.1%, p=0.01).

3.3 Comparison between patients with and without GHd according to sex

The baseline characteristics of the patients with and without GHd were compared according to sex (Table 1). In 115 (41.4%) male patients, the mean age and BMI were 50.2 years and 24.9 kg/m², respectively. Thirteen (11.3%) patients had diabetes. 57 (49.6%) patients had GHd, and 23 (20.0%) patients had hypogonadism. The number of patients with NALFD was 38 (33.0%). Total cholesterol levels were significantly higher in the GHd group than in the GHi group (203 mg/dL vs. 185 mg/ dL, p=0.002).

In 163 (58.6%) female patients, the mean age and BMI were 40.0 years and 23.1 kg/m², respectively. Five (3.1%) female

patients had diabetes. The number of patients with GHd or patients with hypogonadism was 46 (28.3%) and 116 (71.2%), respectively. 16 (34.8%) female patients had NALFD. Female patients with hypogonadism were further subdivided into postmenopausal and hypogonadotropic hypogonadism groups. Among female patients with hypogonadism, 99 (85.3%) had hypogonadotropic hypogonadism and 17 (14.7%) were postmenopausal. Similar to the male group, the total cholesterol level was significantly higher in the GHd group than in the GHi group (204 vs. 192 mg/dL, p=0.04).

3.4 Association between growth hormone status and NAFLD

The association between growth hormone status and NALFD was assessed (Figure 2 and Table 2). The prevalence of NAFLD was significantly higher in the GHd group than in the GHi group (36.9% vs. 21.1%, p=0.01). GHd was significantly associated with NAFLD (unadjusted odds ratio [OR]=2.19, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.27-3.74, p=0.01). In a fully adjusted model (Model 3), the GHd group had a 1.85-fold increased risk of NAFLD compared with the GHi group (adjusted OR=1.85, 95% CI 1.05-3.28, p=0.03).

3.5 Association between sex and NAFLD

The association between sex and NALFD was also assessed (Figure 2 and Table 2). The prevalence of NFALD was

	Tc	Total (n=278)			Male (n=115)			Female (n=163)		
Variables	GHi	GHd	p- value	GHi	GHd	p- value	GHi	GHd	p- value	
	(n=175, 63%)	(n=103, 37%)		(n=58, 50%)	(n=57, 50%)		(n=117, 72%)	(n=46, 28%)		
Age (yrs)	42.9 ± 12.5	46.5 ± 12.1	0.01	50.1 ± 12.1	50.3 ± 11.5	0.91	39.3 ± 11.2	41.7 ± 11.1	0.13	
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	23.4 ± 3.3	24.8 ± 3.3	0.001	24.6 ± 2.4	25.3 ± 2.7	0.15	22.8 ± 3.5	24.1 ± 3.9	0.04	
Diabetes	10 (5.7)	8 (7.8)	0.62	7 (12.1)	6 (10.5)	0.99	3 (2.6)	2 (4.3)	0.62	
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	190 ± 34	204 ± 40	0.001	185 ± 34	203 ± 42	0.01	192 ± 33	204 ± 39	0.04	
Hypogonadism	82 (46.9)	57 (55.3)	0.21	5 (8.6)	18 (31.6)	0.002	77 (65.8)	39 (84.8)	0.02	
Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism	_	-	-	_	-	-	64 (54.7)	35 (76.1)	0.01	
Prolactin (ng/ml)	31.3 ± 29.2	26.1 ± 25.6	0.124	11.2 ± 8.2	14.0 ± 9.8	0.09	41.1 ± 30.7	41.7 ± 31.0	0.91	
NAFLD	37 (21.1)	38 (36.9)	0.01	16 (27.6)	22 (38.6)	0.24	21 (17.9)	16 (34.8)	0.04	

TABLE 1 Basic characteristics of population.

Variables are expressed as mean ± SD or n (%).

GHi, intact growth hormone function; GHd, growth hormone deficiency; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.

GHd was defined as peak growth hormone < 3 ng/mL in insulin tolerance test and NAFLD was defined as hepatic steatosis index greater than or equal to 36.



statistically similar between the GHd and GHi groups among the male patients (38.6% vs. 27.6%, p=0.24). In contrast, among the female patients, the GHd group had a significantly higher prevalence of NAFLD than the GHi group (34.8% vs. 17.9%, p=0.04). In a fully adjusted model (Model 3), the GHd group had the increased risk of NAFLD compared with the GHi group (adjusted OR=2.39, 95% CI 1.03-5.55, p=0.04).

3.6 Association between gonadal dysfunction and NAFLD

The prevalence of NAFLD did not differ according to gonadal function (28.1% in eugonadism vs. 25.9% in hypogonadism; p=0.79). When divided according to sex, similar results were maintained (29.3% in eugonadism vs. 47.8% in hypogonadism in male patients, p=0.14; 25.5% in eugonadism, vs. 29.4% in

postmenopausal, vs. 20.2% in hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, p=0.57) (Supplement Table 1).

4 Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to analyze the association between GHd and NAFLD, excluding the effects of other hormones, including thyroid hormones. We demonstrated that NFPA patients with GHd showed a 2.18 times increased risk of NAFLD compared with GHi patients. The risk of NAFLD remained higher in the GHd group after adjusting for age, total cholesterol level, hypogonadism, and the prolactin level (OR=1.85). No statistically significant difference was observed in the prevalence of NFALD between the GHd and GHi groups among male patients, whereas the risk of NAFLD was 2.5 times higher in the GHd group than in the GHi group among female patients. The increased risk of NFALD persists after adjusting for age, total cholesterol level, hypogonadism, and the prolactin level (OR=2.39) in female patients. Hypogonadism was not significantly associated with NAFLD in this study.

Our study has several implications. First, we demonstrated an independent association between GHd and NAFLD. Although the causal relationship between the two factors could not be assessed in a retrospective cross-sectional study, our main finding is supported by previous basic and clinical research (10, 17, 21–23, 35–39). GH indirectly affects hepatic steatosis by changing body composition. GHd in adulthood increases fat mass, predominantly in the abdominal compartment (40) and visceral fat is significantly associated with hepatic steatosis (41, 42). In *in vivo* experiments using hepatocyte-specific GHR knockdown (aHepGHRkd) mice, hepatic steatosis rapidly developed independently of systemic insulin sensitivity and lipolysis (37, 43). In addition, in *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments, GHd prevented the activation of signal

TABLE 2 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratio of NAFLD in regard to growth hormone status in patients with NFPA.

	Total		Female	Female		
	Odds ratio (95% CI)	p-value	Odds ratio (95% CI)	p-value		
Unadjusted	2.18 (1.27, 3.74)	0.01	2.50 (1.18, 5.31)	0.02		
Model 1	2.04 (1.18, 3.53)	0.01	2.27 (1.02, 5.03)	0.04		
Model 2	2.01 (1.16, 3.50)	0.01	2.11 (0.94, 4.74)	0.07		
Model 3	1.85 (1.05, 3.28)	0.03	2.39 (1.03, 5.55)	0.04		
Model 1: adjusted by age. Model 2: adjusted by age,	tty liver disease; CI, confidence interval; NFPA, r , , preoperative total cholesterol. , preoperative total cholesterol, hypogonadism, a		a.			

transducer and activator of transcription-5 (STAT5), causing an increase in liver lipid uptake and promoting the development of NAFLD (21, 44).

Second, although, to date, few studies have explored the association between GHd and NAFLD, the results have been conflicting. Hong et al. reported that the severity of hepatic steatosis in 34 male patients with hypopituitarism was associated with GHd after adjusting for the BMI effect (10). Nishizawa et al. also demonstrated a higher rate of NAFLD in GHd subjects when diagnosed with ultrasonography (22). On the other hand, Meienberg et al. reported that there was no difference in intrahepatocellular lipid components measured using MRI in 22 adults with GHd compared with healthy controls after adjusting for age, race, height, weight, and sex (29). Another study conducted by Gardner et al. showed no difference in the prevalence of NAFLD between adult patients with GHd and controls (36). The average BMI of the study by Gardner et al. was higher than those of the studies by Hong et al. or Nishizawa at el (27.8 kg/m² vs. 25.2 kg/m² and 25.0 kg/m²). The discrepant results regarding the association between GHd and NAFLD prevalence might suggest that the effects of GHd on liver fat may vary according to ethnicity (29). In addition, this discrepancy may be because the effect on hypothyroidism, which has recently been shown to be related to NAFLD (38, 45, 46), was not excluded in other studies. In contrast, we proved an association between GHd and NAFLD after excluding the confounding effect of other hormones on NAFLD. Patients with hypothyroidism or adrenal insufficiency were excluded as previously stated. Additionally, gonadal function and the prolactin level were incorporated into multiple logistic regression model to minimize the effect of hypogonadism on NAFLD.

Third, in our study, an increased risk of NAFLD in the GHd group was maintained only in female patients, not in male. Although previous studies reported that baseline GH levels were not different between sexes (47), it is known that estrogen stimulates GH secretion while inhibiting insulin-like growth factor 1 production in the liver, which enhances GH secretion (48, 49). However, in our study, the risk of NAFLD in female patients was still increased in the GHd group after adjusting for hypogonadism. Although no study has compared metabolic complication between male and female patients with GHd, it is known that female patients with GHd require a higher dose of recombinant GH than their male counterparts (50). In addition, Franco et al., showed that the change in visceral fat mass in postmenopausal women after GH treatment were less than that in age- and BMI-matched men (51). The observed difference in the risk of NAFLD in this study, along with previous studies, might suggest the sex dimorphism of GH action in the liver that was not solely caused by estrogen.

Fourth, in epidemiological studies, the prevalence of NAFLD in women of reproductive age is lower than that in their male counterparts; however, postmenopausal women have a comparable prevalence of NAFLD with men (52). The prevalence of NAFLD increases not only in postmenopausal women (53) but also in those with iatrogenic menopause (54), suggesting a protective effect of estrogen. In men, low testosterone levels are known to be associated with NAFLD (11-13). In contrast, our results showed no association between hypogonadism and NAFLD prevalence. Rather than hypogonadism having no effect on NAFLD, it is possible that most female patients in this study were in premenopausal age and the duration of exposure to hypogonadism might not have been long enough to induce fatty liver. In the case of male patients, the inconsistent results may be due to the different cutoff values of testosterone for male hypogonadism were set for each study (11-13).

Despite its several strengths and clinical implications, our study has several limitations. First, although we used wellvalidated surrogate for the diagnosis of NAFLD (3, 33, 34), liver imaging and histological information for assessing fatty liver were not available. Second, due to the cross-sectional nature of our study design, we could not assess the longitudinal dynamic association between the development of hepatic steatosis and GHd. Third, the duration of exposure to GHd was unclear. The relation between the exposure period, severity of GHd, and the risk of NAFLD may have been biased. Lastly, we could not examine the effects of anthropic or muscle mass, which are significant risk factors for NAFLD.

In conclusion, among patients with NFPA, the prevalence of NAFLD was two-fold higher in patients with GHd than in those without GHd. Thus, screening for NAFLD might be required in patients with NFPA, if GHd is present. However, further studies are needed to evaluate the dynamic association between GHd levels and NAFLD incidence.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board of Yonsei University Health System. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

Conceptualization and design: CK and SK; writing original draft: Y-AH and HL; writing review, and/or revision of the manuscript: Y-AH, HL, SA, EL, CK, and SK; funding acquisition: CK and SK. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was supported by a grant from the Korea Health Technology R&D Project through the Korea Health Industry Development Institute (KHIDI), funded by the Ministry of Health & Welfare, the Republic of Korea (grant number: HR18C0012).

Acknowledgments

We thank Youjung Lee for the data collection. We also thank the Editage (www.editage.co.kr) for English language editing.

References

1. Younossi Z, Tacke F, Arrese M, Chander Sharma B, Mostafa I, Bugianesi E, et al. Global perspectives on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Hepatology* (2019) 69(6):2672–82. doi: 10.1002/hep.30251

2. Loomba R, Sanyal AJ. The global NAFLD epidemic. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol (2013) 10(11):686–90. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2013.171

3. Kang SH, Lee HW, Yoo JJ, Cho Y, Kim SU, Lee TH, et al. KASL clinical practice guidelines: Management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Mol Hepatol* (2021) 27(3):363–401. doi: 10.3350/cmh.2021.0178

4. Haentjens P, Massaad D, Reynaert H, Peeters E, Van Meerhaeghe A, Vinken S, et al. Identifying non-alcoholic fatty liver disease among asymptomatic overweight and obese individuals by clinical and biochemical characteristics. *Acta Clin Belg* (2009) 64(6):483–93. doi: 10.1179/acb.2009.084

5. Wijarnpreecha K, Aby ES, Ahmed A, Kim D. Evaluation and management of extrahepatic manifestations of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Mol Hepatol* (2021) 27(2):221–35. doi: 10.3350/cmh.2020.0239

6. Hydes TJ, Ravi S, Loomba R, Gray ME. Evidence-based clinical advice for nutrition and dietary weight loss strategies for the management of NAFLD and NASH. *Clin Mol Hepatol* (2020) 26(4):383–400:2532. doi: 10.3350/cmh.2020.0067

7. He W, An X, Li L, Shao X, Li Q, Yao Q, et al. Relationship between hypothyroidism and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. (2017) 8:335. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00335

8. Lee KW, Bang KB, Rhee EJ, Kwon HJ, Lee MY, Cho YK. Impact of hypothyroidism on the development of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A 4-year retrospective cohort study. *Clin Mol Hepatol* (2015) 21(4):372–8. doi: 10.3350/ cmh.2015.21.4.372

9. Lazo M, Zeb I, Nasir K, Tracy RP, Budoff MJ, Ouyang P, et al. Association between endogenous sex hormones and liver fat in a multiethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2015) 13(9):1686-93 e2. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.12.033

10. Hong JW, Kim JY, Kim YE, Lee EJ. Metabolic parameters and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in hypopituitary men. *Horm Metab Res* (2011) 43(1):48–54. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1265217

11. Yassin AA, Alwani M, Talib R, Almehmadi Y, Nettleship JE, Alrumaihi K, et al. Long-term testosterone therapy improves liver parameters and steatosis in

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.1057769/full#supplementary-material

hypogonadal men: A prospective controlled registry study. *Aging Male.* (2020) 23 (5):1553-63. doi: 10.1080/13685538.2020.1867094

12. Kim S, Kwon H, Park JH, Cho B, Kim D, Oh SW, et al. A low level of serum total testosterone is independently associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *BMC Gastroenterol* (2012) 12:69. doi: 10.1186/1471-230X-12-69

13. Jaruvongvanich V, Sanguankeo A, Riangwiwat T, Upala S. Testosterone, sex hormone-binding globulin and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Hepatol* (2017) 16(3):382–94. doi: 10.5604/16652681.1235481

14. Zhang P, Ge Z, Wang H, Feng W, Sun X, Chu X, et al. Prolactin improves hepatic steatosis via CD36 pathway. J Hepatol (2018) 68(6):1247–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.01.035

15. Zhu C, Ma H, Huang D, Li G, Gao J, Cai M, et al. J-Shaped relationship between serum prolactin and metabolic-associated fatty liver disease in female patients with type 2 diabetes. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:815995. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.815995

16. Vazquez-Borrego MC, Del Rio-Moreno M, Kineman RD. Towards understanding the direct and indirect actions of growth hormone in controlling hepatocyte carbohydrate and lipid metabolism. *Cells* (2021) 10(10):2532. doi: 10.3390/cells10102532

17. Laron Z, Ginsberg S, Webb M. Nonalcoholic fatty liver in patients with laron syndrome and GH gene deletion - preliminary report. *Growth Horm IGF Res* (2008) 18(5):434–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2008.03.003

18. Takahashi Y. The role of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-I in the liver. Int J Mol Sci (2017) 18(7):1447. doi: 10.3390/ijms18071447

19. Kargi AY, Merriam GR. Diagnosis and treatment of growth hormone deficiency in adults. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2013) 9(6):335-45. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2013.77

20. Takahashi Y, Iida K, Takahashi K, Yoshioka S, Fukuoka H, Takeno R, et al. Growth hormone reverses nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in a patient with adult growth hormone deficiency. *Gastroenterology* (2007) 132(3):938–43. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.12.024

21. Ichikawa T, Hamasaki K, Ishikawa H, Ejima E, Eguchi K, Nakao K. Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and hepatic steatosis in patients with adult onset growth hormone deficiency. *Gut* (2003) 52(6):914. doi: 10.1136/gut.52.6.914 22. Nishizawa H, Iguchi G, Murawaki A, Fukuoka H, Hayashi Y, Kaji H, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in adult hypopituitary patients with GH deficiency and the impact of GH replacement therapy. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2012) 167(1):67–74. doi: 10.1530/EJE-12-0252

23. Yuan XX, Zhu HJ, Pan H, Chen S, Liu ZY, Li Y, et al. Clinical characteristics of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in Chinese adult hypopituitary patients. *World J Gastroenterol* (2019) 25(14):1741–52. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i14.1741

24. Matsumoto R, Fukuoka H, Iguchi G, Nishizawa H, Bando H, Suda K, et al. Long-term effects of growth hormone replacement therapy on liver function in adult patients with growth hormone deficiency. *Growth Horm IGF Res* (2014) 24 (5):174–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2014.07.002

25. Liang S, Yu Z, Song X, Wang Y, Li M, Xue J. Reduced growth hormone secretion is associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in obese children. *Horm Metab Res* (2018) 50(3):250–6. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-124970

26. Fusco A, Miele L, D'Uonnolo A, Forgione A, Riccardi L, Cefalo C, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with increased GHBP and reduced GH/IGF-I levels. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2012) 77(4):531–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04291.x

27. Kodama K, Ichihara A, Seki Y, Ikarashi Y, Sagawa T, Kogiso T, et al. Characteristics of NAFLD based on hypopituitarism. *Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2020) 2020:8814435. doi: 10.1155/2020/8814435

28. Adams LA, Feldstein A, Lindor KD, Angulo P. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease among patients with hypothalamic and pituitary dysfunction. *Hepatology* (2004) 39(4):909–14. doi: 10.1002/hep.20140

29. Meienberg F, Yee M, Johnston D, Cox J, Robinson S, Bell JD, et al. Liver fat in adults with GH deficiency: comparison to matched controls and the effect of GH replacement. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2016) 85(1):76–84. doi: 10.1111/cen.13042

30. Schmidt IL, Lahner H, Mann K, Petersenn S. Diagnosis of adrenal insufficiency: Evaluation of the corticotropin-releasing hormone test and basal serum cortisol in comparison to the insulin tolerance test in patients with hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2003) 88 (9):4193–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-021897

31. Fleseriu M, Hashim IA, Karavitaki N, Melmed S, Murad MH, Salvatori R, et al. Hormonal replacement in hypopituitarism in adults: An endocrine society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 101(11):3888–921. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2016-2118

32. Bulun SE, Shlomo Melmed RK. Clifford Rosen, Richard Auchus, Allison goldfine. In: *Williams textbook of endocrinology*, 14 ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier (2020). p. 574–642.

33. Lee JH, Kim D, Kim HJ, Lee CH, Yang JI, Kim W, et al. Hepatic steatosis index: a simple screening tool reflecting nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Dig Liver Dis* (2010) 42(7):503–8. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2009.08.002

34. Chang JW, Lee HW, Kim BK, Park JY, Kim DY, Ahn SH, et al. Hepatic steatosis index in the detection of fatty liver in patients with chronic hepatitis b receiving antiviral therapy. *Gut Liver*. (2021) 15(1):117–27. doi: 10.5009/gnl19301

35. Barclay JL, Nelson CN, Ishikawa M, Murray LA, Kerr LM, McPhee TR, et al. GH-dependent STAT5 signaling plays an important role in hepatic lipid metabolism. *Endocrinology* (2011) 152(1):181–92. doi: 10.1210/en.2010-0537

36. Gardner CJ, Irwin AJ, Daousi C, McFarlane IA, Joseph F, Bell JD, et al. Hepatic steatosis, GH deficiency and the effects of GH replacement: A Liverpool magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2012) 166(6):993–1002. doi: 10.1530/EJE-12-0002

37. Cordoba-Chacon J, Majumdar N, List EO, Diaz-Ruiz A, Frank SJ, Manzano A, et al. Growth hormone inhibits hepatic *De novo* lipogenesis in adult mice. *Diabetes* (2015) 64(9):3093–103. doi: 10.2337/db15-0370

38. Lonardo A, Ballestri S, Mantovani A, Nascimbeni F, Lugari S, Targher G. Pathogenesis of hypothyroidism-induced NAFLD: Evidence for a distinct disease entity? *Dig Liver Dis* (2019) 51(4):462–70. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2018.12.014

39. Connerney J, Lau-Corona D, Rampersaud A, Waxman DJ. Activation of Male liver chromatin accessibility and STAT5-dependent gene transcription by plasma growth hormone pulses. *Endocrinology* (2017) 158(5):1386–405. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-00060

40. Rossini A, Lanzi R, Galeone C, Pelucchi C, Pennacchioni M, Perticone F, et al. Bone and body composition analyses by DXA in adults with GH deficiency: effects of long-term replacement therapy. *Endocrine* (2021) 74(3):666–75. doi: 10.1007/s12020-021-02835-6

41. Jung SH, Ha KH, Kim DJ. Visceral fat mass has stronger associations with diabetes and prediabetes than other anthropometric obesity indicators among Korean adults. *Yonsei Med J* (2016) 57(3):674–80. doi: 10.3349/ ymj.2016.57.3.674

42. Lee HW, Kim KJ, Jung KS, Chon YE, Huh JH, Park KH, et al. The relationship between visceral obesity and hepatic steatosis measured by controlled attenuation parameter. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(10):e0187066. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187066

43. Wolf Greenstein A, Majumdar N, Yang P, Subbaiah PV, Kineman RD, Cordoba-Chacon J. Hepatocyte-specific, PPARgamma-regulated mechanisms to promote steatosis in adult mice. *J Endocrinol* (2017) 232(1):107–21. doi: 10.1530/JOE-16-0447

44. Grohmann M, Wiede F, Dodd GT, Gurzov EN, Ooi GJ, Butt T, et al. Obesity drives STAT-1-Dependent NASH and STAT-3-Dependent HCC. *Cell* (2018) 175 (5):1289–306 e20. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.09.053

45. Chung GE, Kim D, Kim W, Yim JY, Park MJ, Kim YJ, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease across the spectrum of hypothyroidism. J Hepatol (2012) 57 (1):150–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.02.027

46. Eshraghian A, Hamidian Jahromi A. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and thyroid dysfunction: a systematic review. *World J Gastroenterol* (2014) 20 (25):8102–9. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i25.8102

47. Park SH, Ku CR, Moon JH, Kim EH, Kim SH, Lee EJ. Age- and sex-specific differences as predictors of surgical remission among patients with acromegaly. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2018) 103(3):909–16. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-01844

48. Meinhardt UJ, Ho KK. Modulation of growth hormone action by sex steroids. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf).* (2006) 65(4):413–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2006.02676.x

49. Birzniece V, Ho KKY. Sex steroids and the GH axis: Implications for the management of hypopituitarism. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 31 (1):59–69. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2017.03.003

50. Boguszewski CL. Individual sensitivity to growth hormone replacement in adults. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2021) 22(1):117–24. doi: 10.1007/s11154-020-09605-1

51. Franco C, Koranyi J, Brandberg J, Lonn L, Bengtsson BK, Svensson J, et al. The reduction in visceral fat mass in response to growth hormone is more marked in men than in oestrogen-deficient women. *Growth Horm IGF Res* (2009) 19 (2):112–20. doi: 10.1016/j.gbir.2008.07.001

52. Perumpail BJ, Khan MA, Yoo ER, Cholankeril G, Kim D, Ahmed A. Clinical epidemiology and disease burden of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *World J Gastroenterol* (2017) 23(47):8263–76. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i47.8263

53. Volzke H, Schwarz S, Baumeister SE, Wallaschofski H, Schwahn C, Grabe HJ, et al. Menopausal status and hepatic steatosis in a general female population. *Gut* (2007) 56(4):594–5. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.115345

54. Venetsanaki V, Polyzos SA. Menopause and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: A review focusing on therapeutic perspectives. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol* (2019) 17(6):546–55. doi: 10.2174/1570161116666180711121949

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Przemysław Witek, Warsaw Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY Kursad Unluhizarci, Erciyes University, Turkey Himanshu Jindal, G.S.V.M. Medical College, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Bashir Ahmad Laway Malaway@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Pituitary Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 01 November 2022 ACCEPTED 09 January 2023 PUBLISHED 20 January 2023

CITATION

Laway BA and Baba MS (2023) Sheehan syndrome: Cardiovascular and metabolic comorbidities. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1086731. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1086731

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Laway and Baba. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Sheehan syndrome: Cardiovascular and metabolic comorbidities

Bashir Ahmad Laway* and Mohammad Salem Baba

Department of Endocrinology, Sher-I-Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences, Srinagar, Kashmir, India

Sheehan syndrome (SS) caused by postpartum hemorrhage leads to partial or complete pituitary hormone deficiency. In addition to lipid and glucose abnormalities, patients with SS have increased body fat, insulin resistance (IR), coagulation abnormalities, increased leptin concentration, low-grade inflammation, and endothelial dysfunction that predispose them to cardiovascular diseases. Untreated growth hormone (GH) deficiency, hypogonadism, and excess glucocorticoid use are considered risk factors for these abnormalities. Compared to other hypopituitary subjects, patients with SS are younger and have a longer duration of disease and severe GH deficiency. Replacement with GH in addition to standard hormone replacement improves their cardiometabolic profile.

KEYWORDS

Sheehan syndrome, cardiovascular disease, obesity, metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance

Introduction

Sheehan syndrome (SS) also known as postpartum pituitary necrosis, though rare in developed countries, is one of the common causes of hypopituitarism in developing nations (1). It is primarily caused by vasospasm of hypothalamic portal vessels following massive postpartum hemorrhage (PPH), resulting in complete or partial loss of anterior pituitary gland cells. In addition, small sella turcica size, coagulation abnormalities and the presence of anti-pituitary antibodies contribute to ischemic damage to pituitary gland. Somatotroph and thyrotroph cell loss occurs in almost all patients, with preservation or recovery of gonadotroph, lactotroph, and corticotroph cell function in few (2-4). The duration from the onset of disease to diagnosis usually ranges from 7-19 years (2, 3). SS presents with longstanding non-specific symptoms of fatigue and generalized body aches. The major clinical features of typical and complete SS include lactation failure, failure of resumption of menstrual cycles after the puerperium, loss of pubic and axillary hair, symptoms of hypothyroidism, and hypocortisolism (1, 5). Less common manifestations of SS include hematological abnormalities (like anemia and pancytopenia), cardiac abnormalities (like cardiomyopathy and ventricular arrhythmias), and neuropsychiatric abnormalities (like psychosis) (6-9).

Metabolic abnormalities in patients with SS are a recent focus of attention. Patients with SS have increased body fat, insulin resistance (IR), dyslipidemia, coagulation abnormalities, increased leptin, low-grade inflammation, endothelial dysfunction (ED), and non-alcoholic

fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (6, 10–14). Many of these effects are attributed to low insulin-like growth factor-1(IGF-1), hypogonadism, untreated secondary hypothyroidism, and glucocorticoid (GC) overuse (11). These conventional (age and dyslipidemia) and nonconventional (increased inflammatory markers and leptin) risk factors promote cardiovascular (CV) diseases in the general population as well as in hypopituitary patients like those with SS (15–19). Studies published in late 1900, which also recruited patients with SS, suggested that hypopituitary patients have increased mortality than the general population and predominantly died of CV diseases with an overall standardized mortality ratio (SMR) of 1.99 (15, 20, 21). Onset of hypopituitarism at a younger age and female gender were associated with higher SMR (20).

Epidemiology of SS

The prevalence of SS is variable. In a population based study from Iceland, SS was diagnosed in 5.1 individuals per 100,000 population (22), whereas the prevalence of SS among 11,700 women >20 years of age was around 3% in northern India (23). In developed nations, up to 6% of hypopituitary subjects are diagnosed with SS (15, 24) while in countries like Turkey and Pakistan, up to one out of three cases of hypopituitarism is attributed to SS (25, 26). The lower prevalence of SS in developed countries is a result of better obstetric care facilities in these countries and possibly disease unawareness and missed diagnosis.

Risk factors of CV diseases in hypopituitarism and SS

Hypopituitary patients, including persons with SS have higher mortality rates than the general population, which is attributed to increased CV disease, strokes and malignancy (15, 20, 27). The risk factors for increased mortality include younger age at diagnosis, female gender, diagnosis of craniopharyngioma, radiation therapy, transcranial surgery, diabetes insipidus, and hypogonadism. Dyslipidemia, ED and radiation induced vascular damage predispose these patients to higher risk of CV diseases (17, 28). Untreated GH deficiency (GHD) leading to IR, dyslipidemia and ED is the primary driver of increased CV mortality in hypopituitary subjects, who are adequately replaced with GC, thyroid and sex hormones (15, 28). In addition over-replacement with GC (29, 30) and sex steroid deficiency contribute to impaired metabolic parameters and atherogenesis in such patients (15). In a large study, atherosclerotic plaques in carotid arteries were present in half of the patients with hypopituitarism (31). Coronary flow reserve (CFR), as measured by transthoracic color echocardiography is a simple measurement of blood flow in coronary arteries, is impaired in subjects with GH deficiency, and corelates with serum IGF-1 concentration (32). Coronary artery calcification (CAC), a surrogate of coronary atherosclerosis was documented in around 50% of hypopituitary patients (33).

Compared to other hypopituitary subjects, patients with SS are younger in age, have longer duration of hypopituitarism, have severe GH/IGF-1 deficiency and decreased lean body mass (34). Though no long term data is available on CV mortality in SS, a large series of hypopituitary patients (which also enrolled few patients of SS) observed an increased mortality and morbidity primarily related to CV diseases in such patients (20, 35, 36). Two recent studies have demonstrated high frequency of coronary calcium deposits in women with SS. In one study enrolling 30 patients and an equal number of age and BMI matched controls, CAC score of >10 was documented in 32% of women compared with age/BMI matched controls (37), while in another study enrolling 60 patients of SS and 35, age and BMI matched controls, CAC score of >10 was documented in 27% of patients against 1.6% in controls (38).

Obesity and dyslipidemia

As is true with hypopituitarism of other etiologies, patients with SS in comparison to age and gender matched population have increased body mass index (BMI) and total body fat with predominant abdominal fat deposition. Obesity and increased fat mass persisted after replacement with thyroxine and GC (10, 11). GH/ IGF-1 deficiency appears to be the predominant contributor for abdominal obesity in such patients. GH impairs generation of active cortisol from inactive cortisone by inhibiting 11βhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 (11B-HSD1). In presence of GHD, up regulation of 11β-HSD1 enzyme contributes to increased conversion of inactive cortisol to active cortisol. This phenomenon results in marked weight gain in hypopituitary patients with GHD even on small doses of GC (39). In one study, patients with SS had higher fat mass compared to other hypopituitary patients despite similar BMI, and waist circumference (WC) (34). Inspite of thyroxine and GC replacement, patients with SS have adverse lipid parameters like increased serum total cholesterol (TC), low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and triglycerides (TG) and low high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C). These lipid abnormalities are attributed to persistent GHD (10, 13) and replacement with GH improves these lipid abnormalities (11, 40).

Metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance

In a large population of hypopituitary patients (not on GH replacement), half had BMI \geq 30 kg/m² and 86% had central obesity (defined as WC \geq 94 cms in men and \geq 90 cms in women). Around one-third were treated for hypertension and dyslipidemia (16). Similarly, a high prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MS) (50%) was observed in KIMS (Pfizer International Metabolic) database of 2479 patients with severe adult-onset GHD, naïve to GH replacement (41).

The prevalence of MS in SS is around 50% with major constituents being increased WC, decreased HDL-C and increased TG. Most of these abnormalities are a consequence of GHD, GC therapy and hypogonadism, all these factors favour abdominal fat deposition and atherogenic dyslipidemia. Around one fourth of patients with SS had diabetes mellitus and fasting and post-meal glucose values were high. Homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), an index of IR was high in large group of women with SS compared to healthy controls (10). Contrary to beneficial effects of GH replacement on lipids and body fat, glucose tolerance may worsen transiently after GH replacement and is attributed to insulin antagonistic effect of GH. The glucose increasing tendency of GH usually is greater in females and those receiving higher doses (11, 40, 42). The effect of GH replacement for 24 months on lipid profile, carotid intimal medial thickness (CIMT), glucose metabolism and visceral fat was studied in ten patients of SS and an equal number of controls matched for age and BMI. GH treatment had a favourable effect on CIMT, lipids and visceral fat. Despite change in body composition there was a tendency towards development of abnormal glucose tolerance (40). In a study recruiting 91 patients with SS, and were treated with GH for 24 months, blood glucose increased after 1 year but returned to normal levels at 2 years of treatment (40). These studies are limited by relatively short duration of follow-up and long-term consequences are not known. In addition to GH deficiency, excess GC replacement worsens metabolic profile of hypopituitary subjects which increases their risk for CV diseases (43).

Chronic inflammation and endothelial dysfunction

Chronic low-grade inflammation, documented by increased high sensitive C-reactive protein (hsCRP), considered as coronary artery disease (CAD) risk enhancer is a better predictor of risk of CV events than LDL-C (44). In a cross-sectional study that enrolled 53 women with hypopituitarism and 111 healthy control women, interleukin-6 (IL-6) and CRP concentration were significantly higher in women with hypopituitarism than in healthy controls and were attributed to GH and estrogen deficiency (45). In another study enrolling 47 hypopituitary patients and 37 age, gender and BMI matched controls had higher hs-CRP levels despite lower levels of blood glucose and insulin resistance (46).

Likewise, in a study enrolling 30 patients with SS, on thyroxine and GC replacement but GH naïve, had higher hsCRP concentration compared to the healthy controls which correlated to insulin, HOMA-IR, HDL-C and IGF-1 (10). This inflammation in hypopituitary states like SS is attributed to GHD, hypogonadism, obesity and excess GC use (45). It is hypothesised that GH directly stimulates anti-inflammatory cells by cytokine receptors and indirectly through central redistribution of fat as visceral adipocytes which in turn release pro inflammatory markers like interleukin-6 in circulation (47). Replacement of GH in women with SS decreases hsCRP independent of improvement in serum lipids and lean body mass (48).

Endothelial dysfunction defined as change in vascular endothelium from antithrombotic to pro thrombotic state is considered an early marker for atherosclerosis which is detected before structural changes in the vessel wall are apparent on angiography or ultrasound (49). ED can be quantified by measuring flow mediated dilation (FMD) of brachial artery, CIMT or by quantifying serum adhesion molecules like Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) and fibrinogen (50). Smith et al. studied 32 patients with hypopituitarism and observed that FMD of brachial artery was decreased compared to healthy subjects and GH replacement for six months improved the FMD along with other parameters of arterial stiffness (51). Also serum ICAM-1 and E-selectin were higher in GH deficient hypopituitary subjects (n=52) than healthy controls (n=54) which negatively correlated with IGF-1 concentrations (52). In another study enrolling GH naïve 30 patients with SS and equal number of matched healthy controls, serum ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 were increased in SS patients compared to age and BMI matched controls (10).

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease

Overall recent trends suggest that hypopituitary patients have higher prevalence of NAFLD owing to GHD, low thyroid hormones and low sex steroids (53). The prevalence of NAFLD varies from 54-70% on ultrasonography (54, 55). Similarly, patients with SS have higher prevalence of NAFLD compared with age and BMI matched controls. In a recent case control study, Das et al. studied 60 patients with SS for steatosis and liver stiffness, as measured by transient elastography. Hepatic steatosis of different grades was seen in 63% (with 50% having severe steatosis compared to 30% of controls). The mean-controlled attenuation parameter (CAP) score, a measure of hepatic steatosis, was significantly higher in patients with SS compared with age and BMI-matched controls. BMI and GH deficiency were two strong predictors of steatosis. In two such patients with biopsy-proven severe hepatic steatosis, the GH replacement resulted in complete resolution of steatosis (14).

Effect of treatment on CV risk factors

Like other patients with hypopituitarism, treatment of SS patients with GH results in significant improvement in lipid parameters, lean body mass, endothelial function, arterial stiffness and exercise capacity (18, 50, 56-58) resulting in improved mortality benefits (20). In one study, 14 patients of SS treated with GH for 18 months, resulted in improvement in body composition (like decrease WC and waist to hip ratio) and lipid abnormalities (like decrease in TC, LDL-C, TG and increase in HDL-C) (11). Similarly in another study enrolling 10 patients with SS, replacement with GH for 24 months lead to reduction in the relation ApoB/ApoA ratio, increase in HDL-C, decrease in CIMT and visceral fat (40). In another large study enrolling 91 patients with SS, GH replacement for 24 months (after adequate thyroxine/GC replacement), improved lean body mass, TC and LDL-C but no improvement in WC and waist hip ratio was detected (34). Duration of treatment for less than 12 months in patients with hypopituitarism suggest that GH replacement has significant benefits on lean body mass and lipid parameters, at the cost of modestly decreased insulin sensitivity, predominantly in men (42). However, studies with longer duration of GH replacement suggest that insulin sensitivity does not decrease after GH replacement (34, 59) and the acute worsening of IR may be related to higher dose of GH prescribed (60). Likewise, it was observed that GH replacement for 24 months improved liver enzymes and markers of fibrosis in patients with hypopituitarism and NAFLD (61). It has also been observed that sympathetic tone is decreased in patients with SS and GH replacement in these patients improves sympathetic tone

TABLE 1 Summary of metabolic abnormalities in patients with SS.

Author	Study subjects	Parameter	Results		
Bhat et al. (10)	30 patients with SS and 30 controls	Assessed BMI, lipids, glucose, ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and hsCRP	Patients with SS have higher prevalence of metabolic syndrome and glucose intolerance, increased TC, TG, LDL-C hsCRP		
Mir et al. (13)	30 patients with SS and 30 controls	Compared lipids and serum leptin	SS patients had higher TC, TG. LDL-C, Leptin and lower HDL-C		
Singh et al. (37)	30 patients with SS and 19 controls	Coronary artery calcification score	Increased coronary artery calcification in patients with SS		
Soares et al. (40)	10 patients with SS and 10 controls	Assessed lipids, blood glucose, insulin resistance, CIMT	Increased TG, decreased HDL-C, increased insulin levels in patients with SS than controls		
Tanriverdi et al. (11)	10 patients with SS	Effect of GH on BMI, lipids, CIMT	After 18 months, GH decreased BMI, WC, TC, LDL-C and increased HDL-C		
Das et al. (14)	60 patients with SS	Controlled attenuation parameter (for steatosis) and liver stiffness measurement (for fibrosis)	NAFLD was present in 63% of patients, with 51% having severe steatosis		

and normalizes sympathovagal balance after 6 and 12 months of treatment (62). Table 1 summarises the studies on metabolic abnormalities in SS.

Conclusion

In addition to presence of conventional risk factors for CV diseases, SS patients have increased body fat, higher inflammatory and ED markers, which are directly correlated to GH/IGF-1 deficiency. Replacement of GH may ameliorate some of these risks, though at the cost of increased glucose tolerance. However, GH replacement may not be easily affordable in developing nations. But efforts should be made by government with the help of other non-governmental organizations, to provide GH at reasonable cost.

Author contributions

BL and MB designed the study and contributed to the manuscript. BL and MB wrote the manuscript and reviewed the pertinent

References

1. Karaca Z, Laway BA, Dokmetas HS, Atmaca H, Kelestimur F. Sheehan syndrome. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2016) 2(1):16092. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.92

2. Laway BA, Misgar RA, Mir SA, Wani AI. Clinical, hormonal and radiological features of partial sheehan's syndrome: An Indian experience. *Arch Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 60(2):125–9. doi: 10.1590/2359-3997000000137

3. Laway BA, Mir SA, Gojwari TA, Shah TR, Zargar AH. Selective preservation of anterior pituitary functions in patients with sheehan's syndrome. *Ind J Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 15(3):238–41. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.84874

4. Gei-Guardia O, Soto-Herrera E, Gei-Brealey A, Chen-Ku CH. Sheehan syndrome in Costa Rica: clinical experience with 60 cases. *Endocr Pract* (2011) 17(3):337–44. doi: 10.4158/EP10145.OR

5. Du GL, Liu ZH, Chen M, Ma R, Jiang S, Shayiti M, et al. Sheehan's syndrome in xinjiang: Clinical characteristics and laboratory evaluation of 97 patients. *Hormones* (2015) 14(4):660–7. doi: 10.14310/horm.2002.1624

6. Laway BA, Mir SA, Bhat JR, Lone MI, Samoon J, Zargar AH. Hematological response of pancytopenia to glucocorticoids in patients with sheehan's syndrome. *Pituitary* (2012) 15(2):184-7. doi: 10.1007/s11102-011-0304-5

7. Laway BA, Ramzan M, Allai MS, Wani AI, Misgar RA. Cardiac structural and functional abnormalities in females with untreated hypopituitarism due to sheehan syndrome: response to hormone replacement therapy. *Endocr Pract* (2016) 22(9):1096–103. doi: 10.4158/EP161262.OR

literature. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. Laway BA, Alai MS, Gojwari T, Ganie MA, Zargar AH. Sheehan syndrome with reversible dilated cardiomyopathy. *Ann Saudi Med* (2010) 30(4):321-4. doi: 10.4103/0256-4947.65269

9. Laway BA, Shah TR, Bashir MI, Hussain A, Zargar AH. Acute onset psychosis following steroid replacement in sheehan syndrome. *Acta Endo (Buc)* (2010) 6(4):533–8. doi: 10.4183/aeb.2010.533

10. Bhat MA, Laway BA, Shah ZA, Wani AI, Mubarik I. Insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome and chronic low grade inflammation in sheehan's syndrome on standard replacement therapy: A case control study. *Pituitary* (2015) 18(3):312–28. doi: 10.1007/s11102-014-0575-8

11. Tanriverdi F, Unluhizarci K, Kula M, Guven M, Bayram F, Kelestimur F. Effects of 18-month of growth hormone (GH) replacement therapy in patients with sheehan's syndrome. *Growth Horm IGF Res* (2005) 15(3):231–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2005. 03.005

12. Pasa S, Altintas A, Tumer C, Demircin M, Cil T, Bayan K, et al. Prothrombin time, activated thromboplastin time, fibrinogen and d-dimer levels and von-willebrand activity of patients with sheehan's syndrome and the effect of hormone replacement therapy on these factors. *Int J Hematol Oncol* (2010) 20:212–9.

13. Mir SA, Shah T, Singh H, Shabir I, Laway BA. Serum lipid and leptin concentrations in patients with sheehan syndrome. *Ind J Endocrinol Metab* (2018) 22 (4):466-8. doi: 10.4103/ijem.JJEM_23_18

14. Das L, Sahoo J, Dahiya N, Taneja S, Bhadada SK, Bhat MH, et al. Long-term hepatic and cardiac health in patients diagnosed with sheehan's syndrome. *Pituitary* (2022) 25(6):971-81. doi: 10.1007/s11102-022-01282-4

15. Tomlinson JW, Holden N, Hills RK, Wheatley K, Clayton RN, Bates AS, et al. Association between premature mortality and hypopituitarism. West Midlands prospective hypopituitary study group. *Lancet* (2001) 357(9254):425–31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04006-X

16. Deepak D, Furlong NJ, Wilding JPH, MacFarlane IA. Cardiovascular disease, hypertension, dyslipidemia and obesity in patients with hypothalamic-pituitary disease. *Postgrad Med J* (2007) 83(978):277–80. doi: 10.1136/pgmj.2006.052241

17. Verhelst J, Abs R. Cardiovascular risk factors in hypopituitary GH-deficient adults. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2009) 161(1):41–9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-09-0291

18. Ratku B, Sebestyén V, Erdei A, Nagy EV, Szabó Z, Somodi S. Effects of adult growth hormone deficiency and replacement therapy on the cardiometabolic risk profile. *Pituitary* (2022) 25(2):211–28. doi: 10.1007/s11102-022-01207-1

19. Abdu TAM, Neary R, Elhadd TA, Akber M, Clayton RN. Coronary risk in growth hormone deficient hypopituitary adults: increased predicted risk is due largely to lipid profile abnormalities. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2001) 55(2):209–16. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2001.01320.x

20. Pappachan JM, Raskauskiene D, Kutty VR, Clayton RN. Excess mortality associated with hypopituitarism in adults: a meta-analysis of observational studies. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(4):1405–11. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-3787

21. McCallum RW, Petrie JR, Dominiczak AF, Connell JMC. Growth hormone deficiency and vascular risk. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2002) 57(1):11–24. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2002.01559.x

22. Kristjansdottir HL, Bodvarsdottir SP, Sigurjonsdottir HA. Sheehan's syndrome in modern times: a nationwide retrospective study in Iceland. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2011) 164 (3):349–54. doi: 10.1530/EJE-10-1004

23. Zargar AH, Singh B, Laway BA, Masoodi SR, Wani AI, Bashir MI. Epidemiologic aspects of postpartum pituitary hypofunction (Sheehan's syndrome). *Fertil Steril* (2005) 84(2):523–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2005.02.022

24. Regal M, Páramo C, Sierra JM, García-Mayor RV. Prevalence and incidence of hypopituitarism in an adult Caucasian population in northwestern Spain. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (2001) 55(6):735–40. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2001.01406.x

25. Tanriverdi F, Dokmetas HS, Kebapcı N, Kilicli F, Atmaca H, Yarman S, et al. Etiology of hypopituitarism in tertiary care institutions in Turkish population: Analysis of 773 patients from pituitary study group database. *Endocrine* (2014) 47(1):198–205. doi: 10.1007/s12020-013-0127-4

26. Malik S, Kiran Z, Rashid MO, Mawani M, Gulab A, Masood MQ, et al. Hypopituitarism other than sellar and parasellar tumors or traumatic brain injury assessed in a tertiary hospital. *Pak J Med Sci* (2019) 35(4):1149–54. doi: 10.12669/pjms.35.4.174

27. Rosen T, Bengtsson BA. Premature mortality due to cardiovascular disease in hypopituitarism. *Lancet* (1990) 336(8710):285-8. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(90)91812-O

28. Jasim S, Alahdab F, Ahmed AT, Tamhane S, Prokop LJ, Nippoldt TB, et al. Mortality in adults with hypopituitarism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Endocrine* (2017) 56(1):33-42. doi: 10.1007/s12020-016-1159-3

29. Peacey SR, Guo CY, Robinson AM, Price A, Giles MA, Eastell R, et al. Glucocorticoid replacement therapy: Are patients over treated and does it matter? *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (1997) 46(3):255–61. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.1997.780907.x

30. Behan LA, Carmody D, Rogers B, Hannon MJ, Davenport C, Tormey W, et al. Low-dose hydrocortisone replacement is associated with improved arterial stiffness index and blood pressure dynamics in severely adrenocorticotrophin-deficient hypopituitary male patients. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2016) 174(6):791–9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-1187

31. Kim JY, Hong JW, Rhee SY, Kim CS, Kim DJ, Lee EJ. Carotid atheromatic plaque is commonly associated with hypopituitary men. *Pituitary* (2011) 14(2):105–11. doi: 10.1007/s11102-010-0265-0

32. Oflaz H, Sen F, Elitok A, Cimen AO, Onur I, Kasikcioglu E, et al. Coronary flow reserve is impaired in patients with adult growth hormone deficiency. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (2007) 66(4):524–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.02767.x

33. Cannavo S, Marini F, Curto L, Torre ML, de Gregorio C, Salamone I, et al. High prevalence of coronary calcifications and increased risk for coronary heart disease in adults with growth hormone deficiency. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2011) 34(1):32–7. doi: 10.1007/BF03346692

34. Kelestimur F, Jonsson P, Molvalilar S, Gomez JM, Auernhammer CJ, Colak R, et al. Sheehan's syndrome: Baseline characteristics and effect of 2 years of growth hormone replacement therapy in 91 patients in KIMS - pfizer international metabolic database. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2005) 152(4):581–7. doi: 10.1530/eje.1.01881

35. Bülow B, Hagmar L, Eskilsson J, Erfurth EM. Hypopituitary females have a high incidence of cardiovascular morbidity and an increased prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2000) 85(2):574–84. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.2.6346

36. Colao A, Di Somma C, Savanelli MC, De Leo M, Lombardi G. Beginning to end: cardiovascular implications of growth hormone (GH) deficiency and GH therapy. *Growth Horm IGF Res* (2006) 16:41–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2006.03.006

37. Singh H, Afroze M, Shafi N, Bhat JA, Kawa IA, Laway BA, et al. Prevalence of coronary calcium deposits in sheehan's syndrome patients on long term replacement treatment. *Pituitary* (2022) 25(1):92–9. doi: 10.1007/s11102-021-01174-z

38. Laway BA, Rasool A, Baba MS, Misgar RA, Bashir MI, Wani AI, et al. High prevalence of coronary artery calcification and increased risk for coronary artery disease in patients with sheehan syndrome- a case control study. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2022) 25. doi: 10.1111/cen.14871

39. Toogood AA, Taylor NF, Shalet SM, Monson JP. Modulation of cortisol metabolism by low-dose growth hormone replacement in elderly hypopituitary patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2000) 85(4):1727–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.85.4.1727

40. Soares DV, Spina LD, de Lima Oliveira Brasil RR, Lobo PM, Salles E, Coeli CM, et al. Two years of growth hormone replacement therapy in a group of patients with sheehan's syndrome. *Pituitary* (2006) 9(2):127–35. doi: 10.1007/s11102-006-9990-9

41. Verhelst J, Mattsson AF, Luger A, Thunander M, Góth MI, Koltowska-Häggström M, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of the metabolic syndrome in 2479 hypopituitary patients with adult-onset GH deficiency before GH replacement: A KIMS analysis. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2011) 165(6):881–9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-11-0599

42. Maison P, Griffin S, Nicoue-Beglah M, Haddad N, Balkau B, Chanson P, et al. Impact of growth hormone (GH) treatment on cardiovascular risk factors in GH-deficient adults: A metaanalysis of blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled trials. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89(5):2192–219. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030840

43. Filipsson H, Monson JP, Koltowska-Häggström M, Mattsson A, Johannsson G. The impact of glucocorticoid replacement regimens on metabolic outcome and comorbidity in hypopituitary patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 91(10):3954–61. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0524

44. Ridker PM, Koenig W, Kastelein JJ, Mach F, Lüscher TF. Has the time finally come to measure hsCRP universally in primary and secondary cardiovascular prevention? *Eur Heart J* (2018) 39(46):4109–11. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy723

45. Sesmilo G, Miller KK, Hayden D, Klibanski A. Inflammatory cardiovascular risk markers in women with hypopituitarism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2001) 86(12):5774–81. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.12.8087

46. Castillo AR, Zantut-Wittmann DE, Neto AM, Jales RM, Garmes HM. Panhypopituitarism without GH replacement: About insulin sensitivity, CRP levels, and metabolic syndrome. *Horm Metab Res* (2018) 50(9):690–5. doi: 10.1055/a-0649-8010

47. Auernhammer CJ, Strasburger CJ. Effects of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor I on the immune system. *Eur J Endocrinol* (1995) 133(6):635–45. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1330635

48. Bollerslev J, Ueland T, Jørgensen AP, Fougner KJ, Wergeland R, Schreiner T, et al. Positive effects of a physiological dose of GH on markers of atherogenesis: A placebocontrolled study in patients with adult-onset GH deficiency. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2006) 154 (4):537–43. doi: 10.1530/eje.1.02125

49. Davignon J, Ganz P. Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. *Circulation* (2004) 109(23):111–27. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000131515.03336.f8

50. Carrero JJ, Kyriazis J, Sonmez A, Tzanakis I, Qureshi AR, Stenvinkel P, et al. Prolactin levels, endothelial dysfunction, and the risk of cardiovascular events and mortality in patients with CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2012) 7(2):207–15. doi: 10.2215/CJN.06840711

51. Smith JC, Evans LM, Wilkinson I, Goodfellow J, Cockcroft JR, Scanlon MF, et al. Effects of GH replacement on endothelial function and large-artery stiffness in GH-deficient adults: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Clin Endocrinol* (*Oxf*) (2002) 56(4):493–501. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2002.01514.x

52. Elhadd TA, Abdu TA, Oxtoby J, Kennedy G, McLaren M, Neary R, et al. Biochemical and biophysical markers of endothelial dysfunction in adults with hypopituitarism and severe GH deficiency. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2001) 86(9):4223– 32. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.9.7813

53. Zhang X, Tian H, Li Y. The pathophysiological mechanism between hypopituitarism and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *iLIVER* (2022) 1(1):65-71. doi: 10.1016/j.iliver.2022.02.004

54. Yuan XX, Zhu HJ, Pan H, Chen S, Liu ZY, Li Y, et al. Clinical characteristics of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in Chinese adult hypopituitary patients. *World J Gastroenterol* (2019) 25(14):1741–52. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v25.i14.1741

55. Hong JW, Kim JY, Kim YE, Lee EJ. Metabolic parameters and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in hypopituitary men. *Horm Metab Res* (2011) 43(1):48–54. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1265217

56. Gonzalez S, Sathyapalan T, Javed Z, Atkin SL. Effects of growth hormone replacement on peripheral muscle and exercise capacity in severe growth hormone deficiency. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2018) 9:56. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00056

57. Beauregard C, Utz AL, Schaub AE, Nachtigall L, Biller BMK, Miller KK, et al. Growth hormone decreases visceral fat and improves cardiovascular risk markers in women with hypopituitarism: A randomized, placebo-controlled study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93(6):2063–71. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2371

58. Scarano E, Riccio E, Somma T, Arianna R, Romano F, Di Benedetto E, et al. Impact of long-term growth hormone replacement therapy on metabolic and cardiovascular parameters in adult growth hormone deficiency: Comparison between adult and elderly patients. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:635983. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.635983

59. Zhou H, Sun L, Zhang S, Wang Y, Wang G. Effect of long-term growth hormone replacement on glucose metabolism in adults with growth hormone deficiency: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pituitary* (2021) 24(1):130–42. doi: 10.1007/s11102-020-01079-3

60. Yuen K, Cook D, Ong K, Chatelain P, Fryklund L, Gluckman P, et al. The metabolic effects of short-term administration of physiological versus high doses of GH therapy in GH deficient adults. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2002) 57(3):333–41. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2002.01601.x

61. Matsumoto R, Fukuoka H, Iguchi G, Nishizawa H, Bando H, Suda K, et al. Long-term effects of growth hormone replacement therapy on liver function in adult patients with growth hormone deficiency. *Growth Horm IGF Res* (2014) 24(5):174–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2014.07.002

62. Tanriverdi F, Eryol NK, Atmaca H, Unluhizarci K, Ozdogru I, Sarikaya I, et al. The effects of 12 months of growth hormone replacement therapy on cardiac autonomic tone in adults with growth hormone deficiency. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2005) 62(6):706–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2005.02283.x

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Przemysław Witek, Warsaw Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY Zhu Huijuan, Peking Union Medical College Hospital (CAMS), China Pawel Krzesinski, Military Institute of Medicine, Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE Peter Wolf peter.wolf@meduniwien.ac.at

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Pituitary Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 20 October 2022 ACCEPTED 02 February 2023 PUBLISHED 13 February 2023

CITATION

Baumgartner C, Krššák M, Vila G, Krebs M and Wolf P (2023) Ectopic lipid metabolism in anterior pituitary dysfunction. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1075776. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1075776

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Baumgartner, Krššák, Vila, Krebs and Wolf. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Ectopic lipid metabolism in anterior pituitary dysfunction

Clemens Baumgartner, Martin Krššák, Greisa Vila, Michael Krebs and Peter Wolf*

Department of Internal Medicine III, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Over the past decades, adapted lifestyle and dietary habits in industrialized countries have led to a progress of obesity and associated metabolic disorders. Concomitant insulin resistance and derangements in lipid metabolism foster the deposition of excess lipids in organs and tissues with limited capacity of physiologic lipid storage. In organs pivotal for systemic metabolic homeostasis, this ectopic lipid content disturbs metabolic action, thereby promotes the progression of metabolic disease, and inherits a risk for cardiometabolic complications. Pituitary hormone syndromes are commonly associated with metabolic diseases. However, the impact on subcutaneous, visceral, and ectopic fat stores between disorders and their underlying hormonal axes is rather different, and the underlying pathophysiological pathways remain largely unknown. Pituitary disorders might influence ectopic lipid deposition indirectly by modulating lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity, but also directly by organ specific hormonal effects on energy metabolism. In this review, we aim to I) provide information about the impact of pituitary disorders on ectopic fat stores, II) and to present upto-date knowledge on potential pathophysiological mechanisms of hormone action in ectopic lipid metabolism.

KEYWORDS

ectopic fat, HPA - hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal, growth hormone, hypogonadism, thyroid hormone, NAFLD, cardiac steatosis

Abbreviations: 11β-HSD1, 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase I; AMPK, AMP-activated protein kinase; DNL, *de-novo* lipogenesis; FFA, free fatty acids; GH, growth hormone; GHD, growth hormone deficiency; GnRH, gonadotropin releasing hormone; HCL, hepatic lipid content; IGF1, insulin-like growth factor 1; IR, insulin resistance; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus; T3, triiodothyronine; T4, thyroxine; TG, triglyceride; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone; VLDL, very-low density lipoprotein; WAT, white adipose tissue.

Introduction

Under physiologic conditions, white adipose tissue (WAT) inherits an essential role as a repository of energy. Uptake and processing of excessive nutrients and suppression of lipolysis enable energy-storage *via* accumulation of triglycerides (TG), ready for mobilization if needed. In state of overnutrition, WAT meets its protective purpose as metabolic sink for potentially harmful nutrient oversupply by continuous uptake and, concomitantly, progressive WAT expansion (1). However, the individual storage capacity is limited, wherefore WAT subsequently fails to expand in a state of chronically positive energy balance (1). By exceeding the individual fat threshold (2), TG further accumulate at ectopic sites other than WAT, resulting in an unfavorable increase of visceral fat, as well as ectopic lipid accumulation in insulin dependent organs (3).

Accumulation of visceral and ectopic fat is commonly related to impaired metabolic and cardiovascular health (4, 5). Organs affected by lipid accumulation include liver, myocardium, skeletal muscle, and pancreas, in which ectopic steatosis provokes function-impairing effects and parenchymal damage. When ectopic fat mass exceeds the organ specific oxidative capacity, this results in lipotoxicity and promotes local insulin resistance (IR), but also local organ damage and parenchymal dysfunction (6). Considered lipotoxic mechanisms are generation of reactive oxygen species, inflammation, and lipidinduced apoptosis, determined by lipotoxic metabolites of free fatty acids (FFA), such as diacylglycerols and ceramides (7).

Ectopic lipid content in organs important for whole body energy metabolism is crucial for cardiometabolic risk and its systemic complications (8). Of note, ectopic TG stores appear to be rather flexible and largely depend on circulating concentrations of substrates, including glucose, insulin and FFA (9, 10).

Beside metabolic conditions that favor an increase in ectopic lipids, such as obesity and diabetes mellitus, hormones controlled by the anterior pituitary gland are also frequently reported to modulate lipid storage (Figure 1). The anterior pituitary sets the pulse for peripheral secretion of cortisol, thyroid hormones, and sex hormones, and also releases growth hormone (GH) and prolactin into circulation. Alongside other well-known properties, these effectors are tightly related to alterations in lipid metabolism (11–15).

The underlying pathophysiological mechanisms for ectopic TG deposition and its clinical relevance is best described for the insulin resistant state. As pituitary disorders are commonly associated with metabolic diseases, TG accumulation in non-adipose tissue organs might play a relevant role in these conditions (16). Of note, ectopic lipid metabolism is tightly connected to glucose homeostasis and changes in ectopic fat mass are usually related to changes in insulin resistance (17). Previous reviews have extensively summarized the impact of anterior pituitary hormones on glucose metabolism and dyslipidemia (18-22). A detailed discussion of those topics therefore is beyond the scope of this review. Nevertheless, the relationship between hormonal excess or deficiency, circulating substrate concentrations and the impact on ectopic TG storage is complex, due to direct, organ specific effects of pituitary hormones. Here we give an overview on the current knowledge of ectopic lipid metabolism in pituitary hormone syndromes categorized by their main metabolically active hormones.

Cortisol

The hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis is a major player in the regulation of energy metabolism. In Cushing's disease, the metabolic syndrome is highly prevalent (23, 24). Cortisol exerts insulinantagonistic effects by inhibiting insulin secretion, stimulating glucagon secretion, and disrupting insulin signaling. In addition, enhanced hepatic gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis in combination with increased FFA concentrations following adipose tissue lipolysis contributes to IR (16).

The glucocorticoid receptor is known to stimulate and accelerate adipogenesis (25, 26). Cortisol stimulates lipolysis in adipose tissue directly and indirectly by enhancing the sensitivity to catecholamines (27). However, the lipolytic activity in abdominal visceral fat might be lower compared to other tissues due to local differences in glucocorticoid receptor expression (28, 29). Moreover, cortisol both stimulates and inhibits lipogenesis, which depends on the extent of hypercortisolism, the duration of glucocorticoid exposure and the presence of insulin (11, 30). Crucial factors regulating these effects include the enzyme 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase I (11β-HSD1), which locally activates cortisol by conversion from cortisone, and whose activity might change following the prolonged exposure to high doses of glucocorticoids in Cushing's syndrome (31). Furthermore, an important role of the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) has been discussed, which is a key metabolic regulator of cellular energy status. A downregulation of AMPK in visceral adipose tissue was observed in patients with Cushing's syndrome, which inversely correlated with the degree of hypercortisolism (32). These cortisol mediated changes in lipid metabolism might explain the typical phenotype of adipose tissue distribution in patients with Cushing's disease, characterized by an increase in visceral obesity and a loss of peripheral subcutaneous fat depots (33).

Interestingly, despite the huge amount of evidence on the effects of cortisol on impaired glucose homeostasis, only limited knowledge exists on ectopic TG accumulation in non-adipose tissue organs in a state of chronic hypercortisolism. On the background of IR and increased concentrations of FFA in patients with Cushing's disease, one might assume that ectopic TG mass in skeletal muscle is higher. However, studies in humans confirming these effects are rare. Moderate exogenous hypercortisolemia by substitution with hydrocortisone in combination with strict physical inactivity almost doubled the intramuscular lipid content in healthy volunteers (34). Moreover, higher diurnal salivary cortisol levels were associated with higher intramuscular fat mass in healthy volunteers (35). In patients with biochemically cured Cushing's syndrome, intramuscular fat was higher compared to a matched control group and was negatively associated with the performance on functional tests (36).

In the liver, a relation between hypercortisolism and of ectopic intrahepatic TG accumulation, also termed non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), was suggested (37). Most metabolic pathways modulating hepatic lipid content (HCL) are influenced by cortisol directly or indirectly by its effects on IR. Glucocorticoids regulate several genes involved in *de-novo* lipogenesis (DNL). In addition, elevated concentrations of glucose and insulin together with increased FFA flux from adipose tissue into the liver stimulate TG synthesis (38). Moreover, cortisol modulates beta oxidation and secretion of



FIGURE 1

Effects of pituitary hormone axes on white adipose tissue and ectopic lipid content. Depicted pituitary axes include the thyroid-axis (*light pink*), growth hormone-axis (*green*), hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (*blue*), and the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis (*yellow*). Modulations of ectopic lipid content are summarized in tables for each effector (GH, TH, Cortisol, Androgens, and Estrogens) in skeletal muscle, liver, and heart. Reference numbers are attached as superscript. Background colors correspond to the depicted hormonal axes. Hypothalamic hormones, negative feedback loops, and, due to scarcity of data, prolactin are not shown. ACTH, adrenocorticotropic hormone; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; GH, growth hormone; HCL, hepatic lipid content; LH, luteinizing hormone; SAT, subcutaneous adipose tissue; TG, triglycerides; TH, thyroid hormones; TSH, thyroid-stimulating hormone; t4, thyroxine, t3, triiodothyronine; VAT, visceral adipose tissue; VLDL, very-low density lipoprotein.

very-low density lipoprotein (VLDL) (18), suggesting a net retention of fat within the liver.

Elevated intrahepatic fat content is associated with inadequate suppression of cortisol following the overnight administration of dexamethasone (39). Furthermore, an increased prevalence of NAFLD in patients with Cushing's syndrome was reported (40). However, up to now no studies using proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy, which is the gold standard method to non-invasively investigate hepatic fat *in-vivo* (41), have been published in patients with active Cushing's disease.

With regards to the heart, studies using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging reported an increase in left ventricular mass and a modest reduction in systolic function in patients with active Cushing's disease, although the prevalence of overt cardiomyopathy was lower than previously reported in ultrasound based investigations (42, 43). The observed changes in cardiac function and morphology are both potentially reversible after successful treatment of hypercortisolism (43). The increase in ventricular mass surprisingly contrasts with general skeletal muscle atrophy related to protein wasting, which is typically present in patients with Cushing's disease. On the background of visceral obesity, IR, and dyslipidemia, it could be assumed that cardiac steatosis might play an important role in the development of myocardial hypertrophy. However, no differences in intramyocardial TG content were found neither in patients with Cushing's syndrome compared to controls, nor in patients with Cushing's syndrome before and after normalization of hypercortisolism. This is probably explained by higher rates of beta oxidation within the myocardium stimulated by cortisol excess, which might prevent the heart from the development of cardiac steatosis (44). On the other hand, an important increase in epicardial fat mass was observed compared to controls, which decreased following biochemical disease remission (44, 45). Epicardial fat is a well-known mediator of inflammation, microvascular dysfunction, and fibrosis (46). By directly surrounding the myocardium, it might exert paracrine effects by adipocytokine secretion (46). Epicardial fat might therefore play an important role in the development of heart disease in hypercortisolism. Biochemical disease remission decreased epicardial fat after a median follow up of 9 months, which highlights the important impact of cortisol.

On the contrary, in patients suffering from adrenal insufficiency even a small oversupply of daily glucocorticoid substitution therapy was associated with an adverse cardiometabolic risk profile, characterized by an increase in visceral adipose tissue, higher fasting glucose values and hypertension (47). However, in a cohort of patients with state-ofthe-art hormone replacement therapy, no differences in visceral WAT mass could be found compared to a healthy control group in a cross sectional study (48). Ectopic fat accumulation in the liver and myocardium was similar in patients with adrenal insufficiency compared to a control cohort with physiological hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis signaling (49). In addition, no difference in visceral and ectopic lipid distribution was observed, when patients with a daily dose of > 20 mg and \leq 20 mg were compared (49).

Thyroid hormone

Thyroxine (T4), a prohormone, which is converted to triiodothyronine (T3) to acquire full biological activity, is the major secretory product of the thyroid gland and is controlled by the thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) secreted from the anterior pituitary gland (50). Primary hypothyroidism constitutes one of the most common endocrine diseases and is linked to a variety of changes in lipid metabolism.

Hypothyroidism has been associated with visceral and ectopic fat accumulation. In WAT, thyroid hormones regulate adipogenesis and the proliferation and differentiation of adipocytes. Furthermore, T3 regulates thermogenesis and increases resting energy expenditure, probably by stimulating a trans-differentiation from white to beige adipocytes (12, 51). Similar effects have also been described in skeletal muscle, in which T3 promoted thermogenesis by mitochondrial energy uncoupling (52). Furthermore, thyroid hormones regulate gene expression for lipogenesis and lipolysis in white adipose tissue, and thermogenesis in brown adipose tissue (53).

Regarding ectopic fat stores, hypothyroidism has been linked with TG accumulation in the liver and the myocardium, but not in skeletal muscle. In the general population, there is an inverse association between T4 and intrahepatic fat accumulation (54). This association can be observed in both subclinical and overt hypothyroidism and is independent of differences in the BMI (55). Organ specific activation of the thyroid hormone receptor in the liver prevents the development of hepatic steatosis in animal studies (56) and is currently evaluated as therapeutic agent in the context of NAFLD (57). However, we previously failed to demonstrate a reduction in HCL following the treatment of overt hypothyroidism (58, 59), which might be explained by the short period of hypothyroidism before study inclusion. The effects of thyroid hormones on hepatic lipid metabolism are complex. De-novo intrahepatic lipogenesis is stimulated by thyroid hormones because of increased FFA uptake, but also lipogenic gene expression. However, there are also catabolic effects of thyroid hormones, including lipolysis, TG autophagy and mitochondrial beta oxidation (60). Therefore, FFA metabolism occurs at a higher rate than fatty acid synthesis.

In the myocardium, ectopic lipid stores decrease following the initiation of a treatment by levothyroxine independent of changes in body weight in patients with severe primary hypothyroidism (58). This might be explained by changes in myocardial mitochondrial lipid oxidation (61), or by alterations in FFA uptake within the heart (62). The reduction in intramyocardial fat mass following treatment of hypothyroidism was associated with significant improvements in systolic left ventricular heart function (58).

Growth hormone

In the context of ectopic fat disposal, GH and its exceptional properties on lipid metabolism are of particular interest. Redistribution and enhanced utilization of lipids are frequently reported in acromegaly, a state of increased GH activity (13). On the other hand, overall and visceral adiposity are characteristics of GH deficiency (GHD) (63). The investigation of these endogenous models of GH excess and insufficiency might therefore help to determine the clinical relevance of antisteatotic GH action and its benefits on lipid profile.

Human GH is a 22kDa hormone produced and secreted by somatotropic cells of the anterior pituitary gland. Underlying a pulsed secretion with higher peaks at night-time, circulating GH stimulates the production of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1), predominantly in the liver, which in turn executes various effects in diverse organs and tissues. With IGF1 inhibiting GH secretion, the hormonal axis underlies a self-controlling feedback mechanism (13, 64, 65).

Under physiologic conditions, GH is a main regulator of energy metabolism during stress and famine, where it is considered to preserve proteins and sugars by shifting catabolism to the exploitation of lipids. In this regard, GH induces lipolysis in WAT, promoting the release of FFA into circulation, and increases lipid oxidation (13). Therefore, GH is considered to improve body composition by degradation of fat stores, while concomitantly increasing lean body mass (66). On the other hand, GH indirectly stimulates adipogenesis by IGF1, which impacts adipocyte proliferation and differentiation (67). IGF1 is of major significance in the differentiation of pre-adipocytes into adipocytes and stimulates the proliferation of adipocyte precursor cells (68).

Acromegaly states a condition in which patients suffer from constantly high GH concentrations, originating from a somatotropic adenoma of the pituitary gland in almost all cases. Patients with acromegaly show a disease specific phenotype of lipid distribution (69). Visceral and subcutaneous WAT are about 70% and 80% lower in patients with active acromegaly compared to controls and adipose tissue distribution is significantly associated with disease severity (70, 71). Following pituitary surgery and disease remission, WAT increases substantially and trends to normalize compared to studied cohorts of healthy controls (71, 72). However, following insulin-antagonizing effects of GH, acromegalic patients exhibit a unique form of IR despite a low body fat content (73), which is pathophysiologically connected to the increase in WAT lipolysis (13). Both IR and the reduction in fat mass decline after treatment (72). Furthermore, acromegaly also represents a unique condition of very low ectopic fat mass despite severe IR. In active acromegaly, a low amount of ectopic fat mass has been reported in the liver and in skeletal muscle, concomitantly with increased mitochondrial activity (9, 74). However, hepatic ATP-turnover indicating mitochondrial activity showed to be rather modest and might not fully explain the very low amounts of HCL, wherefore it is likely that GH mediates additional antisteatotic effects within the liver. In addition to the increase in mitochondrial activity, other potential GH-induced mechanisms on hepatic lipid storage might include the inhibition of DNL and increased hepatic VLDL export (75-79). To date, GHmediated effects on hepatic DNL have been studied in mouse models, in which liver specific GH-receptor knockdown led to an increase in DNL favoring hepatic steatosis (75). Suppressive effects of GH on DNL by down-regulation of carbohydrate responsive elementbinding protein and fatty acid synthase were also reported in cultured human HepG2 hepatocytes of an in-vitro steatosis model (80). However, in-vivo studies confirming these effects in human subjects are missing. On the other hand, first investigations of GH

influencing hepatic VLDL secretion in human subjects have already been made: Hepatic lipid oversupply is compensated by an increase in TG export *via* VLDL particles. However, as HCL rises above 10%, VLDL secretion cannot be further intensified, wherefore a net retention of lipids leads to a progression of NAFLD (81). A hormone-mediated activation of VLDL secretion is not unlikely: Recently, our study group proposed a Leptin-mediated increase of VLDL secretion *via* a brain-vagus-liver axis to protect against elevated HCL (82). Studies investigating the impact of GH on VLDL secretion are rather conflicting, although their methodological approaches differed substantially. Following a 3-month period of GH replacement therapy, a significant increase of VLDL secretion was observed in patients with GHD (77). On the contrary, 8 days of GH administration did not show any changes in VLDL kinetics (78).

Regarding skeletal muscle, not intra-, but intermuscular fat was elevated in acromegalic subjects observed by Freda et al., which hypothesized a connection to muscular IR present in acromegaly (70). This lipid redistribution was lately proposed to be termed an acromegaly-specific lipodystrophy (83). Considering cardiac fat depots, no differences in intramyocardial lipid content between an acromegaly cohort and healthy controls could be observed. However, pericardial fat mass increased after treatment of acromegaly by transsphenoidal pituitary surgery (9).

Contrary to acromegalic fat distribution, GHD-patients inherit IR alongside an elevated visceral and ectopic fat mass in combination with a concomitantly reduced lean body mass (84). Compared to healthy controls, the predominant increase of ectopic fat in GHdeficient individuals was seen in the liver, whereas differences in ectopic lipid deposition in skeletal muscle did not reach statistical significance (85). In GH-deficient patients, as well as in abdominally obese volunteers with IGF1 levels in the lower normal range, low-dose substitution of GH resulted in an improvement of body composition and in a reduction of HCL (63, 66). Moreover, insulin sensitivity tended to rise in GHD patients after low-dose GH substitution (86), indicating the diverse entities of IR in acromegaly and GHD. In another study, GH replacement was followed by an increase in lipid oxidation (87).

Sex hormones

The hypothalamus-pituitary-gonadal axis is well-known for its impact on body composition, glucose and lipid metabolism (14). Adipose tissue is a crucial target for sex hormones in humans. Especially androgens are characterized by a sexual dimorphism, with a tendency towards an increased accumulation of visceral fat in men and a higher proportion of subcutaneous and peripheral fat in women (88, 89). Sex hormones have a well-known impact on adipocytes in a sex specific manner. The physiological and pathophysiological role of androgens and estrogens on adipose tissue function, adipocyte proliferation and differentiation has been extensively reviewed previously (90, 91). However, evidence on the direct impact of sex hormones on ectopic fat is relatively scarce.

In men, a reduction in concentrations of circulating testosterone is associated with obesity, IR, and hypertension. Moreover, hypogonadism in men suffering from prostate cancer treated with GnRH agonists is associated with a rise in fat mass (92). Considering ectopic fat stores, retrospective studies reported an increased prevalence of hypogonadism in patients with NAFLD (93). Replacement of testosterone improved insulin sensitivity and reduced fat mass in hypogonadal men with type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (94), but did not have any effects on endogenous glucose production or glucose disposal rates following medically induced short-term hypogonadism (95). Furthermore, lipid oxidation is lower in an early hypogonadal state and high, but physiological doses of testosterone increased VLDL secretion (96). Androgen treatment also lowered DNL in patients with AIDS-wasting-syndrome and borderline low serum testosterone (97). However, until now, no effects on HCL were observed following the initiation of testosterone replacement therapy in patients with T2DM, as well as in elderly, hypogonadal men with abdominal obesity (98, 99). Furthermore, short term hypogonadism by biochemical castration had no effects on intramyocellular lipids in healthy volunteers (100). Of note, the effects of testosterone replacement on changes in body composition and ectopic fat accumulation might correlate with circulating estrogen concentrations and aromatase activity in men (101, 102).

In women, the risk for the development of NAFLD increases with age and premenopausal women appear to be protected from ectopic fat accumulation (103). Despite a lower skeletal muscle mass compared to men, premenopausal women show a higher energystorage capacity in subcutaneous WAT (104). These changes in regional WAT distribution might be explained by effects of estrogen, which attenuates lipolysis in subcutaneous, but not in visceral adipose tissue (105). Regarding different regions of ectopic fat, the absolute amount of intramyocellular fat in the skeletal muscle appears to be higher in women compared to men. However, the relative amount of potentially toxic intermediates of lipid metabolism, i.e. diacylglycerol and ceramide, was lower in females (106). Furthermore, animal models show an increase in ectopic lipid content in skeletal muscle following ovariectomy in rodents (107).

Within the liver, pre-menopausal women might be protected against hepatic steatosis, since NAFLD prevalence increases with age (108). Moreover, women treated with the estrogen receptor antagonist tamoxifen have a higher risk to develop NAFLD (109). In ovariectomized female mice estrogen replacement attenuates hepatic fat accumulation following high fat diet (110). Possible mechanisms might include an acceleration of hepatic VLDL secretion, inhibition of DNL and increased beta oxidation (111). Of note, when matched for HCL, FFA oxidation and DNL is higher in men compared to pre-menopausal women, which might explain the pro-atherogenic risk profile (112). In addition to sex hormones, the sex dependent pattern of GH secretion pulsatility is a major regulator of intrahepatic lipid metabolism (113).

Prolactin

Hyperprolactinemia is associated with weight gain and insulin resistance and an increased prevalence of obesity has been reported in prolactinoma patients (15). Normalization of prolactin levels after treatment resulted in weight reduction in some studies (114), but not in others (115). Furthermore, treatment with dopamine agonists might have beneficial effects on body weight (116) and other metabolic parameters (117). In this regard, it is presumed that bromocriptine action resets an abnormally elevated hypothalamic drive for increased plasma glucose and lipids in IR by modulating circadian neuronal activities (118). Underlying pathophysiological mechanisms are unclear but might include changes in the dopaminergic tone (119), but also the presence of concomitant hypogonadisms might be of importance.

Studies investigating ectopic fat depots in prolactinoma patients are missing. In a report of a single patient NAFLD improvement following treatment with a dopamine agonist (120). On the contrary, cross-sectional retrospective studies in patients without pituitary disorders showed that low prolactin concentrations are associated with an increased risk for hepatic steatosis (121). Additionally, prolactin levels were lower in men and women with severe hepatic steatosis compared to patients with only mild hepatic steatosis (122).

Future perspectives

In conclusion, our review presents current knowledge regarding the importance of anterior pituitary hormonal axes on ectopic lipid content. Disturbances of glucose and lipid homeostasis are frequently observed in pituitary hormone syndromes. Treatment of hormonal excess or deficiency has a profound impact on whole body energy metabolism and therefore also on changes in ectopic fat stores.

Additionally, since metabolic disorders are closely associated with ectopic lipid deposition, treatments reducing ectopic fat in organs pivotal for whole body metabolism might be of particular interest. Elucidating various hormonal effects on organ specific lipid metabolism might improve our understanding on the pathophysiological background of ectopic fat accumulation. This could be relevant to identify potential future drug targets for the development of novel, local antisteatotic therapies.

References

1. Neeland IJ, Ross R, Després JP, Matsuzawa Y, Yamashita S, Shai I. Visceral and ectopic fat, atherosclerosis, and cardiometabolic disease: A position statement. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2019) 7(9):715–25. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(19)30084-1

2. Cuthbertson DJ, Steele T, Wilding JP, Halford JC, Harrold JA, Hamer M. What have human experimental overfeeding studies taught us about adipose tissue expansion and susceptibility to obesity and metabolic complications? *Int J Obes (Lond)* (2017) 41(6):853–65. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2017.4

3. Wolf P, Winhofer Y, Krššák M, Krebs M. Heart, lipids and hormones. Endocrine Connections (2017) 6(4):R59-69. doi: 10.1530/EC-17-0031

4. Fujioka S, Matsuzawa Y, Tokunaga K, Tarui S. Contribution of intra-abdominal fat accumulation to the impairment of glucose and lipid metabolism in human obesity. *Metabolism* (1987) 36(1):54–9. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(87)90063-1

5. Després JP. Body fat distribution and risk of cardiovascular disease: An update. *Circulation* (2012) 126(10):1301–13. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.067264

6. Petersen MC, Shulman GI. Mechanisms of insulin action and insulin resistance. *Physiol Rev* (2018) 98(4):2133–223. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00063.2017

7. Guebre-Egziabher F, Alix PM, Koppe L, Pelletier CC, Kalbacher E, Fouque D. Ectopic lipid accumulation: A potential cause for metabolic disturbances and a contributor to the alteration of kidney function. *Biochimie* (2013) 95(11):1971–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2013.07.017

8. Arsenault BJ, Beaumont EP, Després JP, Larose E. Mapping body fat distribution: A key step towards the identification of the vulnerable patient? *Ann Med* (2012) 44(8):758–72. doi: 10.3109/07853890.2011.605387

9. Winhofer Y, Wolf P, Krššák M, Wolfsberger S, Tura A, Pacini G. No evidence of ectopic lipid accumulation in the pathophysiology of the acromegalic cardiomyopathy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2014) 99(11):4299–306. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2242

Author contributions

All authors substantially contributed to the writing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was funded by a grant (KLI 1015-B) from the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) attributed to PW.

Acknowledgments

We thank Clara Baumgartner for her beautiful illustrations of organs and for her support in figure design.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10. Wolf P, Winhofer Y, Smajis S, Jankovic D, Anderwald CH, Trattnig S. Pericardialrather than intramyocardial fat is independently associated with left ventricular systolic heart function in metabolically healthy humans. eckel J, herausgeber. *PloS One* (2016) 11 (3):e0151301. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151301

11. Ferraù F, Korbonits M. Metabolic comorbidities in cushing's syndrome. Eur J Endocrinol (2015) 173(4):M133–57. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0354

12. Obregon MJ. Adipose tissues and thyroid hormones. Front Physiol (2014) 5:479. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2014.00479

13. Møller N, Jørgensen JOL. Effects of growth hormone on glucose, lipid, and protein metabolism in human subjects. *Endocrine Rev* (2009) 30(2):152–77. doi: 10.1210/er.2008-0027

14. Dandona P, Dhindsa S, Ghanim H, Saad F. Mechanisms underlying the metabolic actions of testosterone in humans: A narrative review. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2021) 23 (1):18–28. doi: 10.1111/dom.14206

15. Athanasoulia-Kaspar AP, Popp KH, Stalla GK. Neuropsychiatric and metabolic aspects of dopaminergic therapy: perspectives from an endocrinologist and a psychiatrist. *Endocrine Connections* (2018) 7(2):R88–94. doi: 10.1530/EC-18-0030

16. Schernthaner-Reiter MH, Wolf P, Vila G, Luger A. The interaction of insulin and pituitary hormone syndromes. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12:626427. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2021.626427

17. Roden M, Shulman GI. The integrative biology of type 2 diabetes. *Nature* (2019) 576(7785):51–60. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1797-8

18. Salehidoost R, Korbonits M. Glucose and lipid metabolism abnormalities in C ushing's syndrome. J Neuroendocrinol (2022) 34(8). doi: 10.1111/jne.13143

19. Fleseriu M, Langlois F, Lim DST, Varlamov EV, Melmed S. Acromegaly: Pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2022) 10 (11):804–26. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(22)00244-3

20. Frara S, Maffezzoni F, Mazziotti G, Giustina A. Current and emerging aspects of diabetes mellitus in acromegaly. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 27(7):470–83. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.04.014

21. Biondi B, Kahaly GJ, Robertson RP. Thyroid dysfunction and diabetes mellitus: Two closely associated disorders. *Endocrine Rev* (2019) 40(3):789-824. doi: 10.1210/ er.2018-00163

22. Sydney GI, Michalakis K, Nikas IP, Spartalis E, Paschou SA. The effect of pituitary gland disorders on glucose metabolism: From pathophysiology to management. *Horm Metab Res* (2021) 53(01):16–23. doi: 10.1055/a-1258-8625

23. Chanson P, Salenave S. Metabolic syndrome in cushing's syndrome. Neuroendocrinology (2010) 92(Suppl. 1):96-101. doi: 10.1159/000314272

24. Schernthaner-Reiter MH, Siess C, Gessl A, Scheuba C, Wolfsberger S, Riss P. Factors predicting long-term comorbidities in patients with cushing's syndrome in remission. *Endocrine* (2019) 64(1):157–68. doi: 10.1007/s12020-018-1819-6

25. Audano M, Pedretti S, Caruso D, Crestani M, De Fabiani E, Mitro N. Regulatory mechanisms of the early phase of white adipocyte differentiation: An overview. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2022) 79(3):139. doi: 10.1007/s00018-022-04169-6

26. Rosen ED, MacDougald OA. Adipocyte differentiation from the inside out. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2006) 7(12):885–96. doi: 10.1038/nrm2066

27. Mueller KM, Hartmann K, Kaltenecker D, Vettorazzi S, Bauer M, Mauser L. Adipocyte glucocorticoid receptor deficiency attenuates aging- and HFD-induced obesity and impairs the feeding-fasting transition. *Diabetes* (2017) 66(2):272–86. doi: 10.2337/db16-0381

28. Lee MJ, Fried SK, Mundt SS, Wang Y, Sullivan S, Stefanni A. Depot-specific regulation of the conversion of cortisone to cortisol in human adipose tissue. *Obesity* (2008) 16(6):1178–85. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.207

29. Veilleux A, Rhéaume C, Daris M, Luu-The V, Tchernof A. Omental adipose tissue type 1 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase oxoreductase activity, body fat distribution, and metabolic alterations in women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94(9):3550–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-2011

30. Geisler CE, Renquist BJ. Hepatic lipid accumulation: cause and consequence of dysregulated glucoregulatory hormones. *J Endocrinol* (2017) 234(1):R1–21. doi: 10.1530/JOE-16-0513

31. Mariniello B, Ronconi V, Rilli S, Bernante P, Boscaro M, Mantero F. Adipose tissue 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 1 expression in obesity and cushing's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2006) 155(3):435–41. doi: 10.1530/eje.1.02228

32. Kola B, Christ-Crain M, Lolli F, Arnaldi G, Giacchetti G, Boscaro M. Changes in adenosine 5'-monophosphate-activated protein kinase as a mechanism of visceral obesity in cushing's syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93(12):4969–73. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1297

33. Geer EB, Islam J, Buettner C. Mechanisms of glucocorticoid-induced insulin resistance: focus on adipose tissue function and lipid metabolism. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2014) 43(1):75–102. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2013.10.005

34. Cree MG, Paddon-Jones D, Newcomer BR, Ronsen O, Aarsland A, Wolfe RR. Twenty-eight-day bed rest with hypercortisolemia induces peripheral insulin resistance and increases intramuscular triglycerides. *Metabolism* (2010) 59(5):703–10. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2009.09.014

35. Cvijetic S, Keser I, Jurasović J, Orct T, Babić Ž, Boschiero D. Diurnal salivary cortisol in relation to body composition and heart rate variability in young adults. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:831831. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.831831

36. Martel-Duguech L, Alonso-Jiménez A, Bascuñana H, Díaz-Manera J, Llauger J, Nuñez-Peralta C. Thigh muscle fat infiltration is associated with impaired physical performance despite remission in cushing's syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 105(5):dgz329. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgz329

37. Pivonello R, Isidori AM, De Martino MC, Newell-Price J, Biller BMK, Colao A. Complications of cushing's syndrome: State of the art. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2016) 4(7):611–29. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)00086-3

38. Rahimi L, Rajpal A, Ismail-Beigi F. Glucocorticoid-induced fatty liver disease. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* (2020) 13:1133–45. doi: 10.2147/DMSO.S247379

39. Zoppini G, Targher G, Venturi C, Zamboni C, Muggeo M. Relationship of nonalcoholic hepatic steatosis to overnight low-dose dexamethasone suppression test in obese individuals. *Clin Endocrinol* (2004) 61(6):711–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2004.02154.x

40. Rockall AG, Sohaib SA, Evans D, Kaltsas G, Isidori AM, Monson JP. Hepatic steatosis in cushing's syndrome: a radiological assessment using computed tomography. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2003) 149(6):543–8. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1490543

41. van Werven JR, Marsman HA, Nederveen AJ, Smits NJ, ten Kate FJ, van Gulik TM. Assessment of hepatic steatosis in patients undergoing liver resection: Comparison of US, CT, T1-weighted dual-echo MR imaging, and point-resolved ¹ h MR spectroscopy. *Radiology* (2010) 256(1):159–68. doi: 10.1148/radiol.10091790

42. Muiesan ML, Lupia M, Salvetti M, Grigoletto C, Sonino N, Boscaro M. Left ventricular structural and functional characteristics in cushing's syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol (2003) 41(12):2275–9. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(03)00493-5

43. Kamenický P, Redheuil A, Roux C, Salenave S, Kachenoura N, Raissouni Z. Cardiac structure and function in cushing's syndrome: A cardiac magnetic resonance imaging study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99(11):E2144–53. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1783

44. Wolf P, Marty B, Bouazizi B, Kachenoura N, Piedvache C, Blanchard A. Epicardial and pericardial adiposity without myocardial steatosis in cushing's syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2021). 106(2):3505–3514. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab556

45. Maurice F, Gaborit B, Vincentelli C, Abdesselam I, Bernard M, Graillon T. Cushing syndrome is associated with subclinical LV dysfunction and increased epicardial adipose tissue. J Am Coll Cardiol (2018) 72(18):2276–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.07.096

46. Packer M. Epicardial adipose tissue may mediate deleterious effects of obesity and inflammation on the myocardium. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2018) 71(20):2360–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.03.509

47. Filipsson H, Monson JP, Koltowska-Häggström M, Mattsson A, Johannsson G. The impact of glucocorticoid replacement regimens on metabolic outcome and comorbidity in hypopituitary patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 91(10):3954–61. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0524

48. Bergthorsdottir R, Ragnarsson O, Skrtic S, Glad CAM, Nilsson S, Ross IL. Visceral fat and novel biomarkers of cardiovascular disease in patients with addison's disease: A case-control study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 102(11):4264–72. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-01324

49. Wolf P, Beiglböck H, Fellinger P, Pfleger L, Aschauer S, Gessl A. Plasma renin levels are associated with cardiac function in primary adrenal insufficiency. *Endocrine* (2019) 65:399–407. doi: 10.1007/s12020-019-01974-1

50. Braverman LE, Ingbar SH, Sterling K. Conversion of thyroxine (T4) to triiodothyronine (T3) in athyreotic human subjects. *J Clin Invest* (1970) 49(5):855–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI106304

51. Lahesmaa M, Orava J, Schalin-Jäntti C, Soinio M, Hannukainen JC, Noponen T. Hyperthyroidism increases brown fat metabolism in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99(1):E28–35. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2312

52. Lebon V, Dufour S, Petersen KF, Ren J, Jucker BM, Slezak LA. Effect of triiodothyronine on mitochondrial energy coupling in human skeletal muscle. J Clin Invest (2001) 108(5):733-7. doi: 10.1172/JCI200111775

53. Obregon MJ. Thyroid hormone and adipocyte differentiation. *Thyroid* (2008) 18 (2):185–95. doi: 10.1089/thy.2007.0254

54. Bano A, Chaker L, Plompen EPC, Hofman A, Dehghan A, Franco OH. Thyroid function and the risk of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: The Rotterdam study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 101(8):3204–11. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-1300

55. Chung GE, Kim D, Kim W, Yim JY, Park MJ, Kim YJ. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease across the spectrum of hypothyroidism. J Hepatol (2012) 57(1):150–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.02.027

56. Vatner DF, Weismann D, Beddow SA, Kumashiro N, Erion DM, Liao XH. Thyroid hormone receptor- β agonists prevent hepatic steatosis in fat-fed rats but impair insulin sensitivity *via* discrete pathways. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 305(1):E89–100. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00573.2012

57. Ritter MJ, Amano I, Hollenberg AN. Thyroid hormone signaling and the liver. Hepatology (2020) 72(2):742-52. doi: 10.1002/hep.31296

58. Scherer T, Wolf P, Winhofer Y, Duan H, Einwallner E, Gessl A. Levothyroxine replacement in hypothyroid humans reduces myocardial lipid load and improves cardiac function. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99(11):E2341–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2112

59. Beiglböck H, Wolf P, Pfleger L, Caliskan B, Fellinger P, Zettinig G. Effects of thyroid function on phosphodiester concentrations in skeletal muscle and liver: An *In vivo* NMRS study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 105(12):e4866–74. doi: 10.1210/clinem/ dgaa663

60. Sinha RA, Singh BK, Yen PM. Direct effects of thyroid hormones on hepatic lipid metabolism. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2018) 14(5):259-69. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2018.10

61. Hyyti OM, Ning XH, Buroker NE, Ge M, Portman MA. Thyroid hormone controls myocardial substrate metabolism through nuclear receptor-mediated and rapid posttranscriptional mechanisms. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 290(2):E372–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00288.2005

62. Ong JM, Simsolo RB, Saghizadeh M, Pauer A, Kern PA. Expression of lipoprotein lipase in rat muscle: regulation by feeding and hypothyroidism. *J Lipid Res* (1994) 35 (9):1542–51. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2275(20)41152-6

63. Meienberg F, Yee M, Johnston D, Cox J, Robinson S, Bell JD. Liver fat in adults with GH deficiency: comparison to matched controls and the effect of GH replacement. *Clin Endocrinol* (2016) 85(1):76–84. doi: 10.1111/cen.13042

64. Kopchick JJ, Berryman DE, Puri V, Lee KY, Jorgensen JOL. The effects of growth hormone on adipose tissue: old observations, new mechanisms. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2020) 16(3):135–46. doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0280-9

65. Kineman RD, del Rio-Moreno M, Sarmento-Cabral A. 40 YEARS of IGF1: Understanding the tissue-specific roles of IGF1/IGF1R in regulating metabolism using the Cre/loxP system. J Mol Endocrinol (2018) 61(1):T187–98. doi: 10.1530/JME-18-0076

66. Bredella MA, Gerweck AV, Lin E, Landa MG, Torriani M, Schoenfeld DA. Effects of GH on body composition and cardiovascular risk markers in young men with abdominal obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98(9):3864–72. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2063

67. Lewitt MS. The role of the growth Hormone/Insulin-like growth factor system in visceral adiposity. *Biochem Insights* (2017) 10:117862641770399. doi: 10.1177/1178626417703995

68. Blüher S, Kratzsch J, Kiess W. Insulin-like growth factor I, growth hormone and insulin in white adipose tissue. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2005) 19(4):577–87. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2005.07.011

69. Melmed S, Bronstein MD, Chanson P, Klibanski A, Casanueva FF, Wass JAH. A consensus statement on acromegaly therapeutic outcomes. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2018) 14 (9):552–61. doi: 10.1038/s41574-018-0058-5

70. Freda PU, Shen W, Heymsfield SB, Reyes-Vidal CM, Geer EB, Bruce JN. Lower visceral and subcutaneous but higher intermuscular adipose tissue depots in patients with growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor I excess due to acromegaly. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93(6):2334–43. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2780

71. Wolf P, Salenave S, Durand E, Young J, Kamenicky P, Chanson P. Treatment of acromegaly has substantial effects on body composition: a long-term follow-up study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2021) 186(2):173–81. doi: 10.1530/EJE-21-0900

72. Reyes-Vidal CM, Mojahed H, Shen W, Jin Z, Arias-Mendoza F, Fernandez JC. Adipose tissue redistribution and ectopic lipid deposition in active acromegaly and effects of surgical treatment. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100(8):2946–55. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2015-1917

73. Vila G, Jørgensen JOL, Luger A, Stalla GK. Insulin resistance in patients with acromegaly. Front Endocrinol (2019) 10:509. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00509

74. Fellinger P, Wolf P, Pfleger L, Krumpolec P, Krssak M, Klavins K. Increased ATP synthesis might counteract hepatic lipid accumulation in acromegaly. *JCI Insight* (2020) 5 (5):e134638. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.134638

75. Cordoba-Chacon J, Majumdar N, List EO, Diaz-Ruiz A, Frank SJ, Manzano A. Growth hormone inhibits hepatic *de novo* lipogenesis in adult mice. *Diabetes* (2015) 64 (9):3093-103. doi: 10.2337/db15-0370

76. Cordoba-Chacon J, Sarmento-Cabral A, Del Rio-Moreno M, Diaz-Ruiz A, Subbaiah PV, Kineman RD. Adult-onset hepatocyte GH resistance promotes NASH in Male mice, without severe systemic metabolic dysfunction. *Endocrinology* (2019) 159 (11):3761–74. doi: 10.1210/en.2018-00669

77. Christ ER, Cummings MH, Jackson N, Stolinski M, Lumb PJ, Wierzbicki AS. Effects of growth hormone (GH) replacement therapy on low-density lipoprotein apolipoprotein B100 kinetics in adult patients with GH deficiency: A stable isotope study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89(4):1801–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031474

78. Krag MB, Gormsen LC, Guo Z, Christiansen JS, Jensen MD, Nielsen S. Growth hormone-induced insulin resistance is associated with increased intramyocellular triglyceride content but unaltered VLDL-triglyceride kinetics. *Am J Physiology-Endocrinol Metab* (2007) 292(3):E920–7. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00374.2006

79. Elam MB, Wilcox HG, Solomon SS, Heimberg M. *In vivo* growth hormone treatment stimulates secretion of very low density lipoprotein by the isolated perfused rat liver. *Endocrinology* (1992) 131(6):2717–22. doi: 10.1210/endo.131.6.1446613

80. Villanueva-Ortega E, Méndez-García LA, Garibay-Nieto GN, Laresgoiti-Servitje E, Medina-Bravo P, Olivos-García A. Growth hormone ameliorates high glucose-induced steatosis on in vitro cultured human HepG2 hepatocytes by inhibiting *de novo* lipogenesis *via* ChREBP and FAS suppression. *Growth Hormone IGF Res* (2020) 53–54:101332. doi: 10.016/j.ghir.2020.101332

81. Fabbrini E, Mohammed BS, Magkos F, Korenblat KM, Patterson BW, Klein S. Alterations in adipose tissue and hepatic lipid kinetics in obese men and women with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 134(2):424–31. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.11.038

82. Metz M, Beghini M, Wolf P, Pfleger L, Hackl M, Bastian M. Leptin increases hepatic triglyceride export via a vagal mechanism in humans. *Cell Metab* (2022) 34(11) P1719-1731.E5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2022.09.020

83. Freda PU. The acromegaly lipodystrophy. Front Endocrinol (2022) 13:933039. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.933039

84. Molitch ME, Clemmons DR, Malozowski S, Merriam GR, Vance ML. Evaluation and treatment of adult growth hormone deficiency: An endocrine society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2011) 96(6):1587–609. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0179

85. Sato T, Katabami T, Furukawa K, Narimatsu H, Hashimoto T, Nakajima Y. Intracellular lipid content of liver and skeletal muscle in patients with adult growth hormone deficiency without diabetes mellitus. *Obes Res Clin Pract* (2012) 6(4):e321–9. doi: 10.1016/j.orcp.2011.09.001

86. Yuen KCJ, Roberts CT, Frystyk J, Rooney WD, Pollaro JR, Klopfenstein BJ. Shortterm, low-dose GH therapy improves insulin sensitivity without modifying cortisol metabolism and ectopic fat accumulation in adults with GH deficiency. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99(10):E1862–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1532

87. Nørrelund H, Djurhuus C, Jørgensen JOL, Nielsen S, Nair KS, Schmitz O. Effects of GH on urea, glucose and lipid metabolism, and insulin sensitivity during fasting in GHdeficient patients. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2003) 285(4):E737–743. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00092.2003

88. Gavin KM, Bessesen DH. Sex differences in adipose tissue function. *Endocrinol Metab Clinics North America* (2020) 49(2):215-28. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2020.02.008

89. Schiffer L, Kempegowda P, Arlt W, O'Reilly MW. MECHANISMS IN ENDOCRINOLOGY: The sexually dimorphic role of androgens in human metabolic disease. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2017) 177(3):R125–43. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-0124

90. O'Reilly MW, House PJ, Tomlinson. JW. Understanding androgen action in adipose tissue. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2014) 143:277–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2014.04.008

91. Bjune JI, Strømland PP, Jersin RÅ, Mellgren G, Dankel SN. Metabolic and epigenetic regulation by estrogen in adipocytes. *Front Endocrinol* (2022) 13:828780. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.828780

92. Smith MR, Finkelstein JS, McGovern FJ, Zietman AL, Fallon MA, Schoenfeld DA. Changes in body composition during androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2002) 87(2):599–603. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.2.8299

93. Hazlehurst JM, Tomlinson JW. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in common endocrine disorders. Eur J Endocrinol (2013) 169(2):27–37. doi: 10.1530/EJE-13-0296

94. Dhindsa S, Ghanim H, Batra M, Kuhadiya ND, Abuaysheh S, Sandhu S. Insulin resistance and inflammation in hypogonadotropic hypogonadism and their reduction after testosterone replacement in men with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* (2016) 39 (1):82–91. doi: 10.2337/dc15-1518

95. Høst C, Gormsen LC, Hougaard DM, Christiansen JS, Pedersen SB, Gravholt CH. Acute and short-term chronic testosterone fluctuation effects on glucose homeostasis, insulin sensitivity, and adiponectin: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99(6):E1088–96. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2807

96. Høst C, Gormsen LC, Christensen B, Jessen N, Hougaard DM, Christiansen JS. Independent effects of testosterone on lipid oxidation and VLDL-TG production. *Diabetes* (2013) 62(5):1409–16. doi: 10.2337/db12-0440

97. Strawford A, Barbieri T, Neese R, Van Loan M, Christiansen M, Hoh R. Effects of nandrolone decanoate therapy in borderline hypogonadal men with HIV-associated weight loss. *J Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes Hum Retrovirol* (1999) 20(2):137–46. doi: 10.1097/00042560-199902010-00005

98. Magnussen LV, Andersen PE, Diaz A, Ostojic J, Højlund K, Hougaard DM. MR spectroscopy of hepatic fat and adiponectin and leptin levels during testosterone therapy in type 2 diabetes: a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2017) 177(2):157–68. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-0071

99. Sattler F, He J, Chukwuneke J, Kim H, Stewart Y, Colletti P. Testosterone supplementation improves carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in some older men with abdominal obesity. *J gerontol geriatric Res* (2014) 3(3):1000159. doi: 10.4172/2167-7182.1000159

100. Rabiee A, Dwyer AA, Caronia LM, Hayes FJ, Yialamas MA, Andersen DK. Impact of acute biochemical castration on insulin sensitivity in healthy adult men. *Endocrine Res* (2010) 35(2):71-84. doi: 10.3109/07435801003705601

101. Finkelstein JS, Lee H, Burnett-Bowie SAM, Pallais JC, Yu EW, Borges LF. Gonadal steroids and body composition, strength, and sexual function in men. *New Engl J Med* (2013) 369(11):1011–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1206168

102. Chao J, Rubinow KB, Kratz M, Amory JK, Matsumoto AM, Page ST. Short-term estrogen withdrawal increases adiposity in healthy men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2016) 101(10):3724–31. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-1482

103. Lonardo A, Nascimbeni F, Ballestri S, Fairweather DL, Win S, Than TA. Sex differences in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: State of the art and identification of research gaps. *Hepatology* (2019) 70(4):1457–69. doi: 10.1002/hep.30626

104. Tramunt B, Smati S, Grandgeorge N, Lenfant F, Arnal JF, Montagner A. Sex differences in metabolic regulation and diabetes susceptibility. *Diabetologia* (2020) 63 (3):453-61. doi: 10.1007/s00125-019-05040-3

105. Pedersen SB, Kristensen K, Hermann PA, Katzenellenbogen JA, Richelsen B. Estrogen controls lipolysis by up-regulating alpha2A-adrenergic receptors directly in human adipose tissue through the estrogen receptor alpha. implications for the female fat distribution. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 89(4):1869–78. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031327

106. Moro C, Galgani JE, Luu L, Pasarica M, Mairal A, Bajpeyi S. Influence of gender, obesity, and muscle lipase activity on intramyocellular lipids in sedentary individuals. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94(9):3440–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-0053

107. Hamrick MW, McGee-Lawrence ME, Frechette DM. Fatty infiltration of skeletal muscle: Mechanisms and comparisons with bone marrow adiposity. *Front Endocrinol* (2016) 7:2016. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2016.00069/abstract

108. Hazlehurst JM, Tomlinson JW. Mechanisms in endocrinology: Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in common endocrine disorders. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2013) 169(2):R27–37. doi: 10.1530/EJE-13-0296

109. Saphner T, Triest-Robertson S, Li H, Holzman P. The association of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and tamoxifen in patients with breast cancer. *Cancer* (2009) 115(14):3189–95. doi: 10.1002/cncr.24374

110. Zhu L, Brown WC, Cai Q, Krust A, Chambon P, McGuinness OP. Estrogen treatment after ovariectomy protects against fatty liver and may improve pathway-selective insulin resistance. *Diabetes* (2013) 62(2):424–34. doi: 10.2337/db11-1718

111. Della Torre S. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease as a canonical example of metabolic inflammatory-based liver disease showing a sex-specific prevalence: Relevance of estrogen signaling. *Front Endocrinol* (2020) 11:572490. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2020.572490

112. Pramfalk C, Pavlides M, Banerjee R, McNeil CA, Neubauer S, Karpe F. Sexspecific differences in hepatic fat oxidation and synthesis may explain the higher propensity for NAFLD in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(12):4425–33. doi: 10.1210/j.c2015-2649

113. Nikkanen J, Leong YA, Krause WC, Dermadi D, Maschek JA, Van Ry T. An evolutionary trade-off between host immunity and metabolism drives fatty liver in male mice. *Science* (2022) 378(6617):290–5. doi: 10.1126/science.abn9886

114. Greenman Y, Tordjman K, Stern N. Increased body weight associated with prolactin secreting pituitary adenomas: weight loss with normalization of prolactin levels: Prolactin and increased body weight. *Clin Endocrinol* (1998) 48(5):547–53. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.1998.00403.x

115. Santos-Silva CM, Barbosa FRP, Lima GAB, Warszawski L, Fontes R, Domingues RC. BMI and metabolic profile in patients with prolactinoma before and after treatment with dopamine agonists. *Obesity* (2011) 19(4):800–5. doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.150

116. Cincotta AH, Meier AH. Bromocriptine (Ergoset) reduces body weight and improves glucose tolerance in obese subjects. *Diabetes Care* (1996) 19(6):667-70. doi: 10.2337/diacare.19.6.667

117. Ciresi A, Amato MC, Guarnotta V, Lo Castro F, Giordano C. Higher doses of cabergoline further improve metabolic parameters in patients with prolactinoma regardless of the degree of reduction in prolactin levels. *Clin Endocrinol* (2013) 79 (6):845–52. doi: 10.1111/cen.12204

118. Shivaprasad C, Kalra S. Bromocriptine in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Indian J Endocrinol Metab (2011) 15(Suppl 1):S17-24. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.83058

119. Doknic M, Pekic S, Zarkovic M, Medic-Stojanoska M, Dieguez C, Casanueva F. Dopaminergic tone and obesity: an insight from prolactinomas treated with bromocriptine. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2002) 147(1):77–84. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1470077

120. Takaki Y, Mizuochi T, Nishioka J, Eda K, Yatsuga S, Yamashita Y. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with prolactin-secreting pituitary adenoma in an adolescent: A case report. *Medicine* (2018) 97(42):e12879. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000012879

121. Zhang Y, Liu H. Cross-sectional association between prolactin levels and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a retrospective analysis of patients from a single hospital in China. *BMJ Open* (2022) 12(10):e062252. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-062252

122. Zhang P, Ge Z, Wang H, Feng W, Sun X, Chu X. Prolactin improves hepatic steatosis via CD36 pathway. J Hepatol (2018) 68(6):1247–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.01.035

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Monica Livia Gheorghiu, Carol Davila University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Romania

REVIEWED BY Felicia Alexandra Hanzu, Hospital Clinic of Barcelona, Spain Mihaela Vlad, Victor Babes University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Romania

*CORRESPONDENCE Przemysław Witek p.witek@wum.edu.pl

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Pituitary Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 25 February 2023 ACCEPTED 03 April 2023 PUBLISHED 17 April 2023

CITATION

Mehlich A, Bolanowski M, Mehlich D and Witek P (2023) Medical treatment of Cushing's disease with concurrent diabetes mellitus. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1174119. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1174119

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Mehlich, Bolanowski, Mehlich and Witek. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Medical treatment of Cushing's disease with concurrent diabetes mellitus

Anna Mehlich¹, Marek Bolanowski², Dawid Mehlich^{3,4,5} and Przemysław Witek^{1*}

¹Department of Internal Medicine, Endocrinology and Diabetes, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland, ²Chair and Department of Endocrinology, Diabetes, and Isotope Treatment, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland, ³Laboratory of Molecular OncoSignalling, International Institute of Molecular Mechanisms and Machines (IMol) Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland, ⁴Doctoral School of Medical University of Warsaw, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland, ⁵Laboratory of Experimental Medicine, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

Cushing's disease (CD) is a severe endocrine disorder characterized by chronic hypercortisolaemia secondary to an overproduction of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) by a pituitary adenoma. Cortisol excess impairs normal glucose homeostasis through many pathophysiological mechanisms. The varying degrees of glucose intolerance, including impaired fasting glucose, impaired glucose tolerance, and Diabetes Mellitus (DM) are commonly observed in patients with CD and contribute to significant morbidity and mortality. Although definitive surgical treatment of ACTH-secreting tumors remains the most effective therapy to control both cortisol levels and glucose metabolism, nearly one-third of patients present with persistent or recurrent disease and require additional treatments. In recent years, several medical therapies demonstrated prominent clinical efficacy in the management of patients with CD for whom surgery was non-curative or for those who are ineligible to undergo surgical treatment. Cortisol-lowering medications may have different effects on glucose metabolism, partially independent of their role in normalizing hypercortisolaemia. The expanding therapeutic landscape offers new opportunities for the tailored therapy of patients with CD who present with glucose intolerance or DM, however, additional clinical studies are needed to determine the optimal management strategies. In this article, we discuss the pathophysiology of impaired glucose metabolism caused by cortisol excess and review the clinical efficacy of medical therapies of CD, with particular emphasis on their effects on glucose homeostasis.

KEYWORDS

Cushing's disease, diabetes mellitus, insulin resistance, medical therapies, metabolic comorbidities, glucose metabolism

Introduction

Cushing's syndrome (CS) is a severe endocrine disorder caused by chronic exposure to excess glucocorticoids (GCs), which can be from exogenous or endogenous origin. Endogenous CS is further classified as adrenocorticotropin (ACTH)-dependent Cushing's syndrome (80% of all cases) and ACTH-independent (1). Cushing's disease (CD), which results from an uncontrolled adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH) secretion from a pituitary tumor, is the most common form of ACTH-dependent CS. The prevalence of CD is estimated to be nearly 40 cases per million, and the incidence of CD ranges from 1.2 to 2.4 per million per year, although these figures might be underestimated due to undiagnosed patients who experience mild or variable disease course (2–5).

The untreated CD is associated with excessive mortality and morbidity as well as decreased quality of life (6, 7). The clinical picture of CD consists of weight gain, central obesity with facial fat redistribution, skin changes, depression, cognitive impairment, susceptibility to infections, menstrual irregularities in women, and decreased libido in men (8, 9). Patients with CD commonly develop multiple systemic and metabolic complications, including insulin resistance, prediabetes, diabetes mellitus (DM), dyslipidemia, hypertension, and hypercoagulability. The prevalence of DM in patients with CD ranges from 20 to 50%, while 10-30% of patients have impaired glucose tolerance. Collectively, glucose metabolism abnormalities are observed in approximately 70% of patients with CD and represent one of the most common complications of the disease (3-8, 10-13). Diagnosis of prediabetes and diabetes in patients with CS is the same as in the general population and is based on measurements of fasting plasma glucose, HbA1c, and plasma glucose values under an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) (14). However, it should be noted that the most important metabolic effects of GCs excess occur during the post-prandial period, and a substantial proportion of patients with CS may present with normal fasting glucose (15). Thus, the OGTT is considered a gold standard in diagnosing glucose metabolism abnormalities in this population. An approach based on OGTT can also be applied to evaluate pancreatic beta cells dysfunction in patients with chronic hypercortisolaemia (16).

Cortisol excess plays a major role in the pathogenesis of impaired glucose tolerance, and the severity of hypercortisolaemia generally correlates with glucose metabolism derangements. Moreover, genetic and environmental factors significantly contribute to the impairment of glucose tolerance and account for the interindividual susceptibility to disturbed glucose homeostasis induced by the cortisol excess (13, 17, 18). Definitive surgical treatment of ACTH-secreting tumors is the first-line therapy for patients with CD, including those with concurrent DM (19). Nevertheless, medical therapies have gained a significant role in the treatment of CD patients for whom surgical treatment of pituitary tumors was unsuccessful or for those that are ineligible to undergo surgery (19, 20). In this article, we review the pathophysiology of glucose metabolism abnormalities caused by hypercortisolaemia and discuss the clinical effectiveness of medical treatments in the management of CD patients with DM.

Pathophysiology of glucocorticoidinduced insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus in patients with Cushing's disease

In humans, glucocorticoid hormones are represented primarily by cortisol produced in the adrenal glands. In rodents, corticosterone is the main adrenal cortex hormone, and thus it is commonly used in experimental studies to investigate GCs functions in animal models. Additionally, several synthetic GCs are frequently used in preclinical studies, including prednisone, methylprednisolone, and dexamethasone (21).

The release of ACTH and endogenous GCs is under the control of circadian rhythm and stress. In humans under physiological conditions, blood GCs levels peak in the early morning, decline throughout the daytime, and nadir around midnight (22). Glucocorticoid hormones play a major role in the physiological regulation of energy homeostasis. In the postprandial period, GCs counteract the anabolic effects of insulin and provide the main substrates for oxidative metabolism, including glucose, amino acids, and fatty acids, through the stimulation of gluconeogenesis, lipolysis, and proteolysis as well as inhibition of glycogen synthesis.

In patients with CS, chronic exposure to cortisol leads to insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, derangements of lipid metabolism, and altered body composition. In addition to GCs excess, the impairment of circadian GCs secretion also contributes to metabolic abnormalities (23). Chronic and uncontrolled hypercortisolaemia profoundly affects the physiological functions of key metabolic organs, including the liver, muscles, adipose tissue, and pancreas (17, 24) (Figure 1).

In the liver, GCs regulate glucose metabolism both directly through the activation of gluconeogenesis and indirectly through the stimulation of the hepatic insulin resistance (17). Glucocorticoids promote the transcription of genes encoding key enzymes in the gluconeogenic pathway, including Phosphoenolpyruvate Carboxykinase-1 (PEPCK) and Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD), to increase glucose production in the liver (25-27). At the same time, GCs attenuate the signal transduction downstream of insulin receptor (IR) and decrease insulin sensitivity in hepatocytes. Mechanistically, GCs activate the transcription of several genes whose products inhibit the PI3K/Akt/ mTOR signaling pathway, a major downstream effector of the IR cascade (28-30). Furthermore, GCs facilitate the activation of Adenosine monophosphate-dependent kinase (AMPK), which in turn switches on the catabolic pathways, including fatty acids oxidation. Thus, GCs excess leads to hyperglycemia and may contribute to progressive liver steatosis in patients with hypercortisolaemia (31).

Skeletal muscles are major sites for insulin-stimulated glucose uptake, utilization, and storage in the form of glycogen. They also form a reservoir of amino acids, which can be used as substrates for glucose production in the process of gluconeogenesis. Because of their key roles in regulating glucose metabolism, skeletal muscles are also considered the primary driver of whole-body insulin resistance in patients with hypercortisolaemia (32). In skeletal muscles, GCs negatively regulate the signaling cascades downstream of IR, mainly through PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway (29, 33, 34). These actions result in reduced membrane translocation of Glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT-



4), and consequently inhibition of the insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (35). Furthermore, low activity of Akt kinase stimulates Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3), which acts as a major negative regulator of the Glycogen synthase (34). Thus, GCs decrease glycogen synthesis in skeletal muscle cells. They also appear to have a permissive role in the catecholamine-dependent glycogenolysis (36).

The adipose tissue controls glucose homeostasis through the processes of lipogenesis (*de novo* synthesis of fatty acids from glucose), lipolysis, and secretion of endocrine factors that affect insulin sensitivity in many tissues. GCs seem to play a pivotal role in regulating the metabolism, differentiation, and distribution of adipose tissue. Long-term hypercortisolaemia leads to visceral accumulation of fat tissue and obesity, commonly observed in patients with CD (37). In mature adipocytes, GCs stimulate lipolysis by increasing the expression of lipases and induce insulin resistance by inhibiting signaling pathways downstream of IR. Consequently, GCs excess leads to the downregulation of glucose transporters and decreased glucose uptake by adipocytes, as well as increased release of free fatty acids (35, 38). Moreover, GCs may stimulate the secretion of adipokines that contribute to the remodeling of adipose tissue and further augment the insulin resistance (39, 40).

Glucocorticoids also directly affect the function of pancreatic beta cells and insulin secretion, however, the exact mechanisms underlying this phenomenon remain poorly understood. *In vitro*, GCs were found to decrease the viability of beta cells, downregulate Glucose transporter

type 2 (GLUT-2) expression, and impair insulin biosynthesis and release (41–44). Intriguingly, several studies in animal models showed beta cells hyperplasia and transient hyperinsulinemia in response to GCs treatment, which could represent an adaptive response to maintain euglycemia (45, 46). In humans, both impaired insulin secretion and hyperinsulinemia were reported in various clinical studies that evaluated pancreatic response to acute or shortterm treatment with GCs (47–54). The contradictory results between the studies likely reflect the significant differences in study design, type and duration of the treatment, route of GCs agent administration, and different accompanying clinical procedures. Nonetheless, chronic exposure to GCs appears to induce beta cell dysfunction due to the inhibition of insulin secretion and induction of apoptosis, and these effects presumably contribute to the development of glucose metabolism abnormalities in patients with CS (13, 15, 47).

In addition to the mechanisms described above, several other organs and tissues are likely involved in the pathogenesis of glucocorticoid-induced insulin resistance, including bone, gut, and brain (27). The studies in the animal models showed that GCsinduced metabolic syndrome-like phenotype with central obesity and insulin resistance persists for a long time after hypercortisolaemia remission (55). These results correspond to clinical data from patients with CS, which demonstrated increased cardiometabolic risk along with persistent abdominal fat accumulation and insulin resistance even after the remission of the disease (56). The mechanisms underlying long-lasting metabolic derangements after disease remission in humans are poorly understood and likely involve a complex interplay between hormonal deficiencies and persistent harm induced by GCs in the target tissues.

Medical therapies in the treatment of Cushing's disease and concurrent diabetes mellitus

The major therapeutic goal in patients with CD is to decrease endogenous cortisol levels. Surgical removal of pituitary adenoma is considered the first-line therapeutic option for patients with CD. Following surgery, remission of hypercortisolism is observed in 70-90% of patients, and the risk of disease recurrence ranges from 10-20%. Nevertheless, long-term failure of the surgical procedure is observed in one-third of patients, who require additional treatments (12, 57, 58). Thus, second-line therapies, such as radiotherapy, bilateral adrenalectomy, and medical therapy, should be considered in patients who relapsed after initial surgery or were reluctant or ineligible to undergo the surgical procedure (19). In the past decades, medical therapy has emerged as a particularly attractive adjunctive treatment strategy in patients with CD, mainly due to successful drug development efforts, as well as a growing body of clinical evidence indicating the efficacy and safety of old and new medications (20). Currently, three major drug categories are used in CD treatment, including 1) pituitary-directed drugs represented by pasireotide and cabergoline; 2) adrenal-directed drugs, represented by ketoconazole, levoketoconazole, metyrapone, mitotane, and osilodrostat; 3) Glucocorticoid Receptor (GR)-directed drugs, mainly represented by mifepristone and investigational drug relacorilant (Figure 2).

Adrenal-directed and GR-directed agents are also used in patients with ACTH-independent CS caused by an adrenal

adenoma, adrenal hyperplasia or cortisol-producing adrenal carcinoma. In these patients, medical therapies are predominantly used to treat acute complications of CS and control hypercortisolism in advanced or recurrent disease (59).

This expanding therapeutic landscape allows for a patienttailored approach in the treatment of CS and related comorbidities. Post-surgical normalization of hypercortisolaemia is generally associated with improved glucose metabolism, although insulin resistance and increased cardiovascular risk may persist in patients even after successful surgery (60, 61). Cortisol-lowering therapies along with antidiabetic medications can be used as effective adjunctive strategies in CD patients with glucose metabolism derangements who cannot undergo surgery or for whom surgical treatment was ineffective (19, 20). Medical treatments have various specific effects on glucose metabolism that are partially independent of their role in the normalization of hypercortisolaemia. These effects should be taken into consideration when making therapeutic decisions to provide adequate and patient-tailored treatment. Below, we summarize the clinical studies that investigated the effects of various cortisol-lowering therapies on glucose homeostasis.

Pasireotide

Pasireotide is a new-generation somatostatin analog that binds four of the five known somatostatin receptors (SSTRs 1-3 and SSTR5) and demonstrates a significantly higher binding affinity for SSTR5 compared to octreotide. By stimulating SSTR5 and SSTR2, pasireotide activates downstream inhibitory signaling pathways, thereby suppressing hormone secretion, proliferation, and survival of pituitary gland cells (62). The efficacy of pasireotide in the treatment of CD was demonstrated in two multicenter phase III studies, and subsequently, it was approved by the Food & Drug Administration (FDA) as a first agent for patients with CD who are



ineligible for surgical treatment or for whom surgery has failed (63, 64).

SSTR2 and SSTR5 receptors targeted by pasireotide are expressed by insulin-producing beta cells of the pancreas, while glucagon-secretin alpha cells express predominantly SSTR2 (62). Consequently, treatment with pasireotide has been associated with significant inhibition of insulin and incretins secretion, along with only a modest suppression of glucagon levels, which commonly leads to pasireotide-induced hyperglycemia (63-67). Indeed, phase II and III clinical trials demonstrated that treatment with shortacting pasireotide administered subcutaneously twice daily was associated with hyperglycemia and DM in 35-40% and 18-21% of patients, respectively. Hyperglycemia-related adverse events were observed in 73% of patients, and new antidiabetic medication was initiated in 45% of study participants. Notably, 41% of patients who had not been on any antidiabetic treatment required their first antidiabetic medication following treatment with pasireotide (64, 65). In the following phase III trial, once-monthly long-acting pasireotide demonstrated a similar safety profile. Hyperglycemia, DM, and hyperglycemia-related adverse effects were noted in 49%, 19%, and 72% of patients, respectively. Treatment with a new antidiabetic drug was started in approximately 50% of study participants (63).

Real-world evidence and clinical trial extension studies have demonstrated that glucose metabolism alterations tend to occur primarily within the first weeks of therapy with pasireotide and stabilize over time (68–71). The risk of developing pasireotideinduced hyperglycemia is the highest in patients with high glucagon levels, HbA1c > 34.5 mmol/L (5.3%), and glucose peak > 9 mmol/L after pasireotide administration (72). However, careful monitoring for glucose metabolism abnormalities is required for all patients undergoing therapy. The detailed considerations regarding the medical management of pasireotide-induced hyperglycemia in patients with CD are discussed later in this review.

Cabergoline

Cabergoline is a dopamine D2 receptor agonist that has been commonly used in the treatment of prolactinomas (73). The expression of dopamine receptors was found in adrenocorticotrophic cells and ACTH-secreting pituitary adenomas, suggesting the potential efficacy of cabergoline in the therapy of CD (74, 75). The clinical efficacy of cabergoline was reported in case reports as well as several clinical studies that demonstrated normalization of urinary free cortisol (UFC) in 25-40% of CD patients (76–80). However, the recent prospective trial that involved 20 patients with CD failed to show gradual and dosedependent correction of cortisol levels in CD patients treated with cabergoline (81). Although currently the clinical utility of cabergoline in the management of hypercortisolaemia remains debatable, the improvements in glucose metabolism associated with dopamine agonist therapy were frequently reported in patients with CD.

In a prospective open-label study, testing cabergoline at a dose of 1 mg/week, adjusted up to a maximal dose of 7 mg/week, showed a significant reduction of fasting serum glucose and insulin levels in CD patients responding to therapy (79). Furthermore, a

retrospective multi-center study that analyzed cabergoline at a dose range of 0.5-6 mg/week as a first-line therapy or in persistent CD demonstrated improvement of glycemic control in 40% of responders (82). Notably, the improvement of glucose homeostasis was also observed in patients with persistent mean urinary free cortisol (mUFC) levels, which agrees with the previously reported impact of dopamine agonists on glucose metabolism that is independent of their cortisol-lowering effects (79). The direct mechanisms by which dopamine agonists improve glycemic control remain unclear, and apart from cortisol-lowering effects, they may involve the combined actions of dopamine agonists on the central nervous system, insulin secretion, and glucose uptake in the insulin-sensitive tissues (83).

Ketoconazole and levoketoconazole

Ketoconazole is an azole antifungal drug that reduces adrenal steroid production by inhibiting various enzymes involved in steroidogenesis. It has been approved for the treatment of Cushing's disease by the European Medicine Agency and is used off-label for this purpose in the USA (84). Although ketoconazole was shown to rapidly induce normalization of cortisol levels in CD patients, it can lead to hepatotoxicity that requires frequent monitoring in patients undergoing therapy (85). Furthermore, the clinical use of ketoconazole was limited by the long-standing lack of prospective studies evaluating its efficacy. Nevertheless, previously published retrospective studies suggested that ketoconazole might be effective in lowering HbA1c and fasting glucose in CD patients (86-88). In a large analysis, Castinetti et al. evaluated data on 200 CD patients treated with ketoconazole, from whom nearly 32% had DM at baseline. Notably, the authors observed improved glycemic control in more than half of diabetic patients (87). Another study examining 62 CD patients treated preoperatively with either ketoconazole, metyrapone, or their combination reported lowering of HbA1c levels in those patients whose cortisol levels were entirely or partially controlled by steroidogenesis inhibitors (88). These data suggest that ketoconazole can be considered for both short- and long-term therapy in patients with persistent CD and DM.

Levoketoconazole is the 2S, 4R enantiomer of ketoconazole. It inhibits adrenal steroid production more potently compared to ketoconazole and might also suppress ACTH secretion and proliferation of pituitary adenoma cells (89). Levoketoconazole was recently evaluated in two phase III prospective clinical trials in patients with endogenous CD (90, 91). Both studies reported sustained improvements in mUFC along with an acceptable safety and tolerability profile, which prompted the FDA approval of levoketoconazole for patients with CS ineligible for surgical treatment or for whom surgery has not been curative. In phase III, multicenter, open-label single-arm trial (SONICS), levoketoconazole was evaluated in three phases: dose titration (2-21 weeks to achieve effective and tolerable dose), maintenance phase (6 months of treatment at the therapeutic dose), and extended evaluation (6 months of continued treatment). The results of the first two phases showed that 81% of patients who advanced to the

maintenance phase had mUFC normalization by end of dose titration, and at the end of the maintenance phase 31% of 94 patients enrolled in the study were responders. Importantly, levoketoconazole treatment led to significant improvements in biomarkers of CS comorbidities and glucose metabolism at the end of the maintenance phase, including fasting glucose concentration, HbA1c concentration, total and LDL cholesterol, and body weight (90). The efficacy of levoketoconazole was further analyzed post-hoc in patients with DM or without DM who entered the maintenance phase. In both groups, levoketoconazole treatment led to sustained normalization of mUFC and glycemic control, and the latter effect was most pronounced in patients with DM. The authors reported that at the end of the maintenance phase, HbA1c decreased from 6.9% at baseline to 6.2% and from 5.5% to 5.3% in patients with and without DM, respectively. Mean fasting blood glucose decreased from 6.85 mmol/L (123.4 mg/dL) to 5.82 mmol/L (104.9 mg/dL) in patients with DM and from 5.11 mmol/L (92.1 mg/dL) to 4.66 mmol/L (84 mg/dL) in patients without DM (92). In another phase III study (LOGICS), levoketoconazole was tested in patients with CD via an open-label titration maintenance phase, followed by a double-blinded randomized withdrawal phase and a restoration phase. The results from the interim analysis at the end of the randomized withdrawal phase demonstrated significantly better mUFC response and reduction of total and LDL cholesterol levels in patients with continuous levoketoconazole treatment. However, no significant differences in glycemic control markers between treatment groups were observed in this study (91). Thus, additional prospective trials and long-term analyses of the effects of levoketoconazole therapy on glucose homeostasis in CD patients are warranted.

Both ketoconazole and levoketoconazole are substrates and potent inhibitors of the cytochrome P450 (CYP3A4) enzyme, which is a major drug-metabolizing isozyme in the human liver. Therefore, drug-drug interactions should be considered when treatment with these agents is initiated. Medications that are major CYP3A4 substrates should be avoided in patients undergoing ketoconazole and levoketoconazole therapy (93).

Metyrapone

Metyrapone reduces adrenal cortisol production by inhibiting the 11-beta-hydroxylase (CYP11B1), an enzyme that is responsible for the final step in the cortisol synthesis (94). Over the past decades, metyrapone has been extensively used as off-label therapy in the management of CD patients. Based on the evidence derived from observational and retrospective studies that demonstrated the clinical efficacy and safety of metyrapone, it was granted official approval by the European Medicines Agency for treating CS in 2014 (95). More recently, the prospective studies of metyrapone in patients with Cushing's syndrome, including CD, were initiated to further determine its clinical utility and safety profile (96–98).

In an ongoing open-label, single-arm phase III/IV study (PROMPT), the efficacy of metyrapone is investigated in adults who were newly diagnosed with endogenous Cushing's syndrome and had three baseline 24 hours urine free cortisol (UFC) values at least 50% above ULN (96). The starting dose of metyrapone is based on the severity of hypercortisolism at baseline and further titrated based on cortisol levels in urine and serum over 12 weeks (dose-titration period). After 12 weeks, patients whose mUFC do not exceed 2-fold the ULN continue to receive treatment for another 24 weeks (extension period). Early findings from this study, presented at the Annual Meeting of the Endocrine Society, indicated that mUFC normalization was achieved by 47% of patients and an additional 33% of patients had \geq 50% decrease in mUFC from baseline. Circulating cholesterol, HbA1c and fasting glucose, and insulin improved with a median decrease of 12%, 3%, 5%, and 9%, respectively (96).

In a recent prospective, observational longitudinal study, Ceccato et al. analyzed 31 patients with CS treated with metyrapone for ≥ 1 month as primary treatment or after surgical failure. With a median dose of 1000 mg metyrapone for 9 months, UFC and late-night salivary cortisol (LNSC) decreased quickly after the first month of treatment (-67% and -57% from baseline), and sustained UFC normalization was observed up to 12 and 24 months (70% and 30% of patients had normalized UFC and LNSC at the last visit, respectively). Noteworthy, 7 out of 11 patients who presented with impaired fasting glucose or diabetes reduced the dose or the number of anti-diabetic drugs (97). In another study, the combination of mitotane, metyrapone, and ketoconazole initiated concomitantly led to rapid normalization of hypercortisolaemia along with the reduction of plasma fasting glucose and Hb1Ac levels in patients with severe CS (98). Retrospective analyses further confirm the utility of metyrapone in the rapid management of CS and cortisol-related comorbidities. Jeffcoate et al. and Verhelst et al. reported improvement of biomarkers of glucose metabolism in up to 80% of patients presenting with CS and glucose intolerance or DM (99, 100). However, the effects of metyrapone treatment on glucose metabolism were not analyzed in the largest retrospective study of 195 with Cushing's syndrome, including 115 patients with CD (101).

Collectively, the current data suggest that metyrapone can be used to promptly normalize hypercortisolaemia and improve cortisol-related metabolic comorbidities in CD patients. Therefore, it may offer a useful treatment modality, either as a preoperative therapy or in the long-term management of patients with CD.

Mitotane

Mitotane is an adrenolytic and adrenostatic agent currently used in the treatment of adrenocortical carcinoma and occasionally employed in the management of severe CS (102, 103). Several studies published in the last century reported the high efficacy of mitotane in the management of CS with an average remission rate ranging from 70 - 100%, albeit the observed response rates might have been partially attributable to the low reliability of the hormone assays available at that time (104–107). A retrospective analysis of 76 patients who were treated with mitotane between 1993 and 2009 demonstrated remission in 72% of cases, however, intolerance leading to treatment discontinuation was observed in nearly 30% of patients. Patients who achieved remission had significantly improved metabolic outcomes, including decreased levels of fasting and postprandial serum glucose (108). Although mitotane may provide effective control of hypercortisolaemia and cortisolrelated comorbidities in patients not responding to other therapies, its clinical use is limited because of its poor safety profile. Moreover, there are no randomized clinical trials that evaluated the efficacy of mitotane in patients with CD.

Osilodrostat

Osilodrostat is a potent inhibitor of 11-β-hydroxylase (CYP11B1) and aldosterone synthase (CYP11B2), which are the enzymes that catalyze the final steps of cortisol and aldosterone synthesis in adrenal glands (109). In recent years, several clinical studies demonstrated the efficacy of osilodrostat in the treatment of CD, which led to its FDA approval for patients who are not surgical candidates or who have persistent/recurrent disease after surgery (110-113). A multicenter phase III study (LINC 3) included a 24week open-label, single-arm treatment with osilodrostat, followed by the randomized withdrawal phase for 8 weeks and open-label treatment with osilodrostat until week 48. The results of this trial demonstrated that at the end of the withdrawal phase, more patients maintained mUFC below the upper limit of normal (ULN) with osilodrostat compared to placebo. Moreover, the reduction of mUFC was accompanied by significant improvement in metabolic and cardiovascular-related parameters, including BMI, fasting plasma glucose, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and total and LDL cholesterol. At week 48, the analysis of all patients enrolled in the study indicated that mean fasting plasma glucose decreased from 99.2 mg/dL at baseline to 87.2 mg/dL, while HbA1c decreased from 6.0% to 5.6% (110). The clinical efficacy and safety of osilodrostat were further confirmed in another phase III study that comprised of an initial 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled (osilodrostat: placebo, 2:1) period followed by a 36-week, open-label treatment period (LINC 4). In this trial, significantly more patients treated with osilodrostat than placebo achieved mUFC at 12 weeks (77% vs 8%), and the response was maintained at 36-week when 81% of all patients showed mUFC normalization. At week 12, major metabolic and cardiovascularrelated parameters also showed improvement in osilodrostat, but not in the placebo group. Notably, in patients who were classified as diabetic at baseline, mean fasting plasma glucose decreased from 110.7 mg/dL at baseline to 101.8 mg/dL at week 12 and 98.2 mg/dL at week 48; mean HbA1c decreased from 6.7% at baseline to 6.3% at week 12 and 6.3% at week 48. In patients who were not classified as diabetic at baseline, fasting plasma glucose and HbA1c levels remained within the normal range and were stable throughout the treatment (113). These observations agreed with the previously published data from the phase II trial that also showed improvement in fasting glucose and HbA1c levels during osilodrostat treatment in patients with a history of DM (111).

Overall, osilodrostat is an effective medical therapy for patients with CD and has a significant potential to alleviate the burden of CD-related comorbidities, including insulin resistance and DM (114, 115).

Mifepristone

Mifepristone is a high-affinity antagonist of the glucocorticoid receptor that affects both peripheral and central actions of cortisol, such as its negative feedback on the CRH/ACTH secretion (116, 117). Accumulating evidence suggests that mifepristone improves insulin sensitivity through its effects on many tissues and organs involved in the regulation of glucose homeostasis, although the underlying mechanisms are not fully understood (116). Recent clinical studies demonstrated the effectiveness of mifepristone in the management of clinical and metabolic features related to hypercortisolaemia. Consequently, it was approved by FDA for the treatment of CS with a specific indication for patients who have glucose intolerance or DM and for whom surgical treatment was not effective (118).

In 2012, Fleiseriu et al. reported the results from the largest prospective multicenter trial of mifepristone in the treatment of Cushing's syndrome (SEISMIC). In this study, 50 patients with endogenous Cushing's syndrome (including 43 CD patients) associated with DM/glucose intolerance (CS-DM, n=29) or hypertension (CS-HT, n=21) were recruited. Patients were treated with mifepristone at a dose of 300 mg-1200 mg/week for 24 weeks. In the CS-DM group, the area under the curve for glucose on 2h oral glucose test decreased by at least 25% in 60% of patients from baseline to end of therapy. Fasting plasma glucose and HbA1c decreased from 149.0 ± 74.7 mg/dL to 104.7 ± 37.5 mg/d and from $7.43 \pm 1.52\%$ to 6.29 \pm 0.99%, respectively. Antidiabetic medications were reduced in 7 out of 15 patients and insulin daily dose was reduced by at least half in 5 out of 12 patients. Noteworthy, overall clinical improvement was seen in 87% of patients, and mifepristone therapy was associated with a significant reduction of body weight, waist circumference, and body fat, as well as increased insulin sensitivity (118-120). In a long-term extension and follow-up analysis of the SEISMIC study, clinically meaningful weight loss persisted for two additional years in patients who remained on the mifepristone therapy (121).

The European, multicenter, retrospective study on 20 patients with CS (4 patients with CD, 15 patients with malignant disease due to adrenocortical carcinoma or ectopic ACTH secretion) treated with mifepristone at doses of 600-1200 mg/day reported improvement of clinical features in 75% of cases. Normalization of glucose control was observed in 4 out of 7 patients, which further suggests that mifepristone may effectively improve glycemic control in patients with hypercortisolaemia (122).

Taken together, mifepristone appears to be an effective and welltolerated therapeutic option for patients with CD and diabetes mellitus or impaired glucose tolerance. Nevertheless, the clinical use of mifepristone requires close monitoring of severe adverse effects, including hypokalemia. Due to its abortifacient properties mifepristone must be used with caution in women of childbearing age.

Relacorilant

Relacorilant is an investigational selective glucocorticoid receptor (GR) modulator. Contrary to mifepristone, relacorilant lacks the affinity for the progesterone receptor. Thus, relacorilant limits cortisol activity without undesirable side effects related to progesterone receptor antagonisms, such as abortive properties and irregular vaginal bleeding (118, 123). In 2021, Pivonello et al. reported the efficacy and safety of relacorilant in a single-arm, open-label, phase 2 study which enrolled 35 patients with a diagnosis of endogenous CS and concurrent uncontrolled hypertension and/or impaired glucose tolerance or DM (124). In this study, relacorilant was administered at low dose (100-200 mg/d) for 12 weeks or high-dose (250-400 mg/d) for 16 weeks. Among patients with hyperglycemia, clinically meaningful hyperglycemia response (defined *ad-hoc* as $\geq 0.5\%$ decrease in HbA1c, normalization or \geq 50mg/dl decrease in 2h plasma glucose on OGTT or decrease in daily insulin or sulfonylurea dose by 25% and 50%, respectively) was observed in 2 of the 13 patients in the low-dose group and 6 of the 12 patients in the high-dose group. Common adverse effects included back pain, headache, peripheral edema, nausea, pain in the extremities, dizziness, and diarrhea. No clinically significant hypokalemia was observed.

Currently, two randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study phase III clinical trials are conducted to further evaluate the efficacy and safety of relacorilant in patients with CS (GRACE, NCT03697109 and GRADIENT, NCT04308590).

Antidiabetic treatment in patients with Cushing's disease

Antidiabetic treatment plays an essential role in the management of patients with hypercortisolaemia and concurrent DM. Antidiabetic medications are often combined with cortisollowering agents to achieve glycemic control in patients with persistent or recurrent disease after surgical treatment. Nevertheless, the clinical evidence regarding the optimal antidiabetic treatment in patients with CD is scarce, and the current recommendations are largely based on expert opinions and algorithms used for type 2 DM.

Metformin in combination with cortisol-lowering agents is considered first-line therapy in the chronic management of CD patients with persistent hypercortisolaemia and hyperglycemia (15). Metformin reduces circulating glucose levels by lowering hepatic glucose production and improving peripheral insulin sensitivity, and therefore it may effectively control symptoms of hyperglycemia and reduce long-term HbA1c levels in CD patients. Metformin is also considered a first-line treatment in patients with pasireotide-induced hyperglycemia (68, 125, 126). Treatment with metformin is generally safe and well tolerated, however, it may cause undesired gastrointestinal effects, which can be potentiated by concomitant use of cortisol-lowering medications, such as pasireotide and osilodrostat (62, 115).

Incretin-based therapies with Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors can

be considered second-line treatments, and they are usually combined with metformin in patients who need treatment intensification (80). GLP-1 agonists reduce hyperglycemia by enhancing insulin secretion and inhibiting the production of glucagon, and they delay gastric emptying and reduce appetite (127). The positive effects associated with GLP-1 agonists therapy include weight loss and blood pressure reduction (128). DPP-4 inhibitors block the degradation of GLP-1 and GIP, thereby increasing their endogenous levels. This in turn leads to increased insulin secretion and reduced postprandial and fasting hyperglycemia (127, 129). DPP-4 inhibitors do not have significant cardiovascular benefits and are weight-neutral (130). Because the incretin-based treatments are generally well-tolerated and reduce postprandial glycemia, they provide useful therapeutic options in the management of patients with CD and concurrent DM (131).

Sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors were demonstrated to reduce cardiovascular risk and may have positive effects in patients with heart failure and impaired renal function (132). Nevertheless, SGLT-2 inhibitors increase the risk of genitourinary infection, and therefore they should be used with caution in patients with CD who may be prone to serious infection and systemic dissemination (133). Sulfonylureas and glinides can be recommended for short-term periods to manage postprandial glycemia, although these agents increase the risk of hypoglycemia and are rarely used independently in the long-term management (134). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR γ) agonists improve insulin sensitivity in the liver and skeletal muscles, however, they often cause weight gain and edema, and therefore are generally not recommended in patients with CD (135).

Insulin therapy may be required when glycemic control cannot be achieved with other agents. In these cases, the combination of metformin with long-acting basal insulin analog is usually initiated as a first option, and the addition of prandial insulin should be considered in patients who present with poor glycemic control and/ or high post-prandial glucose levels. In patients with severe disease who demand prompt management of hyperglycemia, a combination of insulin treatment in the form of an infusion, prandial insulin, or basal-bolus regimens combined with cortisollowering therapies may be needed to rapidly achieve glycemic control (15).

Currently, the development of the optimal antidiabetic strategies for patients with CD is limited by the lack of clinical studies evaluating the efficacy of different therapeutic options in that population. Given the growing role of medical therapies in the management of patients with CD, there is also an unmet need to identify the most effective and safe combinations of antidiabetic agents and cortisol-lowering medications.

Management of hyperglycemia induced by pasireotide treatment

All patients treated with pasireotide should be carefully monitored for the development of impaired glucose tolerance and

diabetes mellitus (62, 68). Although the optimal treatment for managing pasireotide-induced hyperglycemia is not wellestablished, metformin is usually considered a first-line therapy. If adequate glycemic control is not achieved with metformin alone, combination treatment with incretin-based therapies can be initiated. DPP-4 inhibitors and GLP-1 analogs may be effective in the management of pasireotide-induced hyperglycemia, as pasireotide impairs both pancreatic insulin secretion and incretin response. The staged treatment intensification with DPP-4 inhibitor with a subsequent switch to a GLP-1 receptor agonist was suggested by expert recommendations (136). GLP-1 analogs may provide additional advantages compared to DPP-4 inhibitors in the management of pasireotide-induced hyperglycemia as they demonstrated the potential to reduce body weight and have a superior HbA1c lowering effect. Furthermore, inhibition of GLP-1 degradation by DPP-4 inhibitors may not effectively restore GLP-1 levels when its secretion has been already impaired by pasireotide (137). Nevertheless, further studies are needed to determine the optimal order and regimen of incretin-based therapies in the management of pasireotide-induced hyperglycemia. If hyperglycemia induced by pasireotide treatment remains uncontrolled by the combinations of metformin and incretinbased therapies, the initiation of insulin therapy is required to achieve and maintain glycemic control (138).

Conclusions

Impairment of glucose metabolism is one of the most common complications encountered in patients with CD. Further research aiming to elucidate the pathogenesis of glucose intolerance and DM in patients with hypercortisolaemia is warranted and may provide novel therapeutic opportunities. With the exception of pasireotide, new medical therapies were demonstrated to improve glucose intolerance and glycemic control. The ongoing and future clinical

References

1. Lacroix A, Feelders RA, Stratakis CA, Nieman LK. Cushing's syndrome. *Lancet Lond Engl* (2015) 386(9996):913–27. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61375-1

2. Lindholm J, Juul S, Jørgensen JOL, Astrup J, Bjerre P, Feldt-Rasmussen U, et al. Incidence and late prognosis of cushing's syndrome: a population-based Study1. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2001) 86(1):117–23. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.1.7093

3. Etxabe J, Vazquez JA. Morbidity and mortality in cushing's disease: an epidemiological approach. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (1994) 40(4):479-84. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1994.tb02486.x

 Sharma ST, Nieman LK, Feelders RA. Cushing's syndrome: epidemiology and developments in disease management. *Clin Epidemiol.* (2015) 7:281–93. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S44336

5. Bolland MJ, Holdaway IM, Berkeley JE, Lim S, Dransfield WJ, Conaglen JV, et al. Mortality and morbidity in cushing's syndrome in new Zealand. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2011) 75(4):436–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04124.x

 Dekkers OM, Horváth-Puhó E, Jørgensen JOL, Cannegieter SC, Ehrenstein V, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. Multisystem morbidity and mortality in cushing's syndrome: a cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(6):2277–84. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3582

7. Ntali G, Asimakopoulou A, Siamatras T, Komninos J, Vassiliadi D, Tzanela M, et al. Mortality in cushing's syndrome: systematic analysis of a large series with prolonged follow-up. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2013) 169(5):715–23. doi: 10.1530/EJE-13-0569

8. Pivonello R, Isidori AM, Martino MCD, Newell-Price J, Biller BMK, Colao A. Complications of cushing's syndrome: state of the art. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2016) 4(7):611–29. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)00086-3

studies should aim to identify the optimal combinations of antidiabetic medications and cortisol-lowering therapies for the tailored treatment of CD patients with concurrent DM. There is also a need to facilitate the selection of patients who may benefit from specific combination regimens.

Author contributions

AM conceptualization, literature analysis, writing and editing of the manuscript. MB literature analysis, editing of the manuscript. DM literature analysis, writing and editing of the manuscript. PW conceptualization, literature analysis, writing and editing of the manuscript, supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

PW and MB received lecture fees and travel grants form Novartis, IPSEN, Recordati Rare Diseases and Strongbridge Biopharma.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be constructed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Witek P, Zieliński G, Szamotulska K, Witek J, Zgliczyński W. Complications of cushing's disease - prospective evaluation and clinical characteristics. do they affect the efficacy of surgical treatment? *Endokrynol Pol* (2012) 63(4):277–85.

10. Valassi E, Santos A, Yaneva M, Tóth M, Strasburger CJ, Chanson P, et al. The European registry on cushing's syndrome: 2-year experience. baseline demographic and clinical characteristics. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2011) 165(3):383–92. doi: 10.1530/EJE-11-0272

11. Giordano R, Picu A, Marinazzo E, D'Angelo V, Berardelli R, Karamouzis I, et al. Metabolic and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with cushing's syndrome of different aetiologies during active disease and 1 year after remission. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2011) 75(3):354–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04055.x

12. Lambert JK, Goldberg L, Fayngold S, Kostadinov J, Post KD, Geer EB. Predictors of mortality and long-term outcomes in treated cushing's disease: a study of 346 patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(3):1022–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-2893

13. Giordano C, Guarnotta V, Pivonello R, Amato MC, Simeoli C, Ciresi A, et al. Is diabetes in cushing's syndrome only a consequence of hypercortisolism? *Eur J Endocrinol* (2014) 170(2):311-9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-13-0754

14. Mazziotti G, Formenti AM, Frara S, Maffezzoni F, Doga M, Giustina A. Diabetes in cushing disease. Curr Diabetes Rep (2017) 17(5):32. doi: 10.1007/s11892-017-0860-9

15. Scaroni C, Zilio M, Foti M, Boscaro M. Glucose metabolism abnormalities in cushing syndrome: from molecular basis to clinical management. *Endocr Rev* (2017) 38 (3):189–219. doi: 10.1210/er.2016-1105

16. Gong Z, Qin Y, Wang Y, Liu X, Jiang L, Cui D, et al. β -cell function and insulin sensitivity contributions on incident diabetes in patients with endogenous cushing's syndrome. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2022) 190:109994. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2022.109994

17. Pivonello R, Leo MD, Vitale P, Cozzolino A, Simeoli C, Martino MCD, et al. Pathophysiology of diabetes mellitus in cushing's syndrome. *Neuroendocrinology* (2010) 92(Suppl. 1):77–81. doi: 10.1159/000314319

18. van Raalte DH, Ouwens DM, Diamant M. Novel insights into glucocorticoidmediated diabetogenic effects: towards expansion of therapeutic options? *Eur J Clin Invest.* (2009) 39(2):81–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.2008.02067.x

19. Fleseriu M, Auchus R, Bancos I, Ben-Shlomo A, Bertherat J, Biermasz NR, et al. Consensus on diagnosis and management of cushing's disease: a guideline update. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2021) 9(12):847–75. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(21)00235-7

20. Pivonello R, Ferrigno R, De Martino MC, Simeoli C, Di Paola N, Pivonello C, et al. Medical treatment of cushing's disease: an overview of the current and recent clinical trials. *Front Endocrinol* (2020) 11:648. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00648

21. Wood CL, Soucek O, Wong SC, Zaman F, Farquharson C, Savendahl L, et al. Animal models to explore the effects of glucocorticoids on skeletal growth and structure. *J Endocrinol* (2018) 236(1):R69–91. doi: 10.1530/JOE-17-0361

22. Oster H, Challet E, Ott V, Arvat E, de Kloet ER, Dijk DJ, et al. The functional and clinical significance of the 24-hour rhythm of circulating glucocorticoids. *Endocr* Rev (2016) 38(1):3–45. doi: 10.1210/er.2015-1080

23. Henley DE, Lightman SL. Cardio-metabolic consequences of glucocorticoid replacement: relevance of ultradian signalling. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2014) 80(5):621–8. doi: 10.1111/cen.12422

24. Barbot M, Ceccato F, Scaroni C. Diabetes mellitus secondary to cushing's disease. Front Endocrinol (2018) 9:284. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00284

25. Vander Kooi BT, Onuma H, Oeser JK, Svitek CA, Allen SR, Vander Kooi CW, et al. The glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit gene promoter contains both positive and negative glucocorticoid response elements. *Mol Endocrinol Baltim Md.* (2005) 19 (12):3001–22. doi: 10.1210/me.2004-0497

26. Scott DK, Strömstedt PE, Wang JC, Granner DK. Further characterization of the glucocorticoid response unit in the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene. the role of the glucocorticoid receptor-binding sites. *Mol Endocrinol Baltim Md.* (1998) 12 (4):482–91. doi: 10.1210/mend.12.4.0090

27. Beaupere C, Liboz A, Fève B, Blondeau B, Guillemain G. Molecular mechanisms of glucocorticoid-induced insulin resistance. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(2):E623. doi: 10.3390/ijms22020623

28. Almon RR, Dubois DC, Jin JY, Jusko WJ. Temporal profiling of the transcriptional basis for the development of corticosteroid-induced insulin resistance in rat muscle. *J Endocrinol* (2005) 184(1):219–32. doi: 10.1677/joe.1.05953

29. Saad MJ, Folli F, Kahn JA, Kahn CR. Modulation of insulin receptor, insulin receptor substrate-1, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in liver and muscle of dexamethasone-treated rats. *J Clin Invest.* (1993) 92(4):2065–72. doi: 10.1172/ JCI116803

30. Sacta MA, Chinenov Y, Rogatsky I. Glucocorticoid signaling: an update from a genomic perspective. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2016) 78:155–80. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021115-105323

31. Christ-Crain M, Kola B, Lolli F, Fekete C, Seboek D, Wittmann G, et al. AMPactivated protein kinase mediates glucocorticoid-induced metabolic changes: a novel mechanism in cushing's syndrome. *FASEB J Off Publ Fed Am Soc Exp Biol* (2008) 22 (6):1672–83. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-094144

32. Merz KE, Thurmond DC. Role of skeletal muscle in insulin resistance and glucose uptake. *Compr Physiol* (2020) 10(3):785–809. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c190029

33. Sandri M, Sandri C, Gilbert A, Skurk C, Calabria E, Picard A, et al. Foxo transcription factors induce the atrophy-related ubiquitin ligase atrogin-1 and cause skeletal muscle atrophy. *Cell* (2004) 117(3):399–412. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(04) 00400-3

34. Burén J, Lai YC, Lundgren M, Eriksson JW, Jensen J. Insulin action and signalling in fat and muscle from dexamethasone-treated rats. *Arch Biochem Biophys* (2008) 474(1):91–101. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2008.02.034

35. Weinstein SP, Wilson CM, Pritsker A, Cushman SW. Dexamethasone inhibits insulin-stimulated recruitment of GLUT4 to the cell surface in rat skeletal muscle. *Metabolism* (1998) 47(1):3–6. doi: 10.1016/S0026-0495(98)90184-6

36. Green GA, Chenoweth M, Dunn A. Adrenal glucocorticoid permissive regulation of muscle glycogenolysis: action on protein phosphatase(s) and its inhibitor(s). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (1980) 77(10):5711–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.77.10.5711

37. Geer EB, Islam J, Buettner C. Mechanisms of glucocorticoid-induced insulin resistance. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am* (2014) 43(1):75–102. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2013.10.005

38. Ayala-Sumuano JT, Velez-delValle C, Beltrán-Langarica A, Marsch-Moreno M, Hernandez-Mosqueira C, Kuri-Harcuch W. Glucocorticoid paradoxically recruits adipose progenitors and impairs lipid homeostasis and glucose transport in mature adipocytes. *Sci Rep* (2013) 3(1):2573. doi: 10.1038/srep02573

39. Lee MJ, Fried SK. The glucocorticoid receptor, not the mineralocorticoid receptor, plays the dominant role in adipogenesis and adipokine production in human adipocytes. *Int J Obes* (2014) 38(9):1228–33. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.6

40. Dunmore SJ, Brown JEP. The role of adipokines in β -cell failure of type 2 diabetes. J Endocrinol (2013) 216(1):T37–45. doi: 10.1530/JOE-12-0278

41. Ranta F, Avram D, Berchtold S, Düfer M, Drews G, Lang F, et al. Dexamethasone induces cell death in insulin-secreting cells, an effect reversed by exendin-4. *Diabetes* (2006) 55(5):1380–90. doi: 10.2337/db05-1220

42. Lambillotte C, Gilon P, Henquin JC. Direct glucocorticoid inhibition of insulin secretion. an *in vitro* study of dexamethasone effects in mouse islets. *J Clin Invest.* (1997) 99(3):414–23. doi: 10.1172/JCI119175

43. Guo B, Zhang W, Xu S, Lou J, Wang S, Men X. GSK-3 β mediates dexamethasone-induced pancreatic β cell apoptosis. *Life Sci* (2016) 144:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2015.11.017

44. Gremlich S, Roduit R, Thorens B. Dexamethasone induces posttranslational degradation of GLUT2 and inhibition of insulin secretion in isolated pancreatic β cells: COMPARISON WITH THE EFFECTS OF FATTY ACIDS *. *J Biol Chem* (1997) 272 (6):3216–22. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.6.3216

45. Rafacho A, Abrantes JLF, Ribeiro DL, Paula FM, Pinto ME, Boschero AC, et al. Morphofunctional alterations in endocrine pancreas of short- and long-term dexamethasone-treated rats. *Horm Metab Res* (2011) 43(04):275–81. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1269896

46. Rafacho A, Cestari TM, Taboga SR, Boschero AC, Bosqueiro JR. High doses of dexamethasone induce increased β -cell proliferation in pancreatic rat islets. *Am J Physiol-Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 296(4):E681–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.90931.2008

47. van Raalte DH, Nofrate V, Bunck MC, van Iersel T, Elassaiss Schaap J, Nässander UK, et al. Acute and 2-week exposure to prednisolone impair different aspects of β -cell function in healthy men. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2010) 162(4):729–35. doi: 10.1530/EJE-09-1034

48. Matsumoto K, Yamasaki H, Akazawa S, Sakamaki H, Ishibashi M, Abiru N, et al. High-dose but not low-dose dexamethasone impairs glucose tolerance by inducing compensatory failure of pancreatic beta-cells in normal men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1996) 81(7):2621–6. doi: 10.1210/jcem.81.7.8675587

49. Plat L, Byrne MM, Sturis J, Polonsky KS, Mockel J, Féry F, et al. Effects of morning cortisol elevation on insulin secretion and glucose regulation in humans. *Am J Physiol* (1996) 270(1 Pt 1):E36–42. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.1996.270.1.E36

50. Beard JC, Halter JB, Best JD, Pfeifer MA, Porte D. Dexamethasone-induced insulin resistance enhances b cell responsiveness to glucose level in normal men. *Am J Physiol* (1984) 247(5 Pt 1):E592–596. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.1984.247.5.E592

51. Larsson H, Ahrén B. Insulin resistant subjects lack islet adaptation to short-term dexamethasone-induced reduction in insulin sensitivity. *Diabetologia* (1999) 42 (8):936–43. doi: 10.1007/s001250051251

52. Grill V, Pigon J, Hartling SG, Binder C, Efendic S. Effects of dexamethasone on glucose-induced insulin and proinsulin release in low and high insulin responders. *Metabolism* (1990) 39(3):251–8. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(90)90043-C

53. Kalhan SC, Adam PA. Inhibitory effect of prednisone on insulin secretion in man: model for duplication of blood glucose concentration. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1975) 41(3):600–10. doi: 10.1210/jcem-41-3-600

54. Hollingdal M, Juhl CB, Dall R, Sturis J, Veldhuis JD, Schmitz O, et al. Glucocorticoid induced insulin resistance impairs basal but not glucose entrained high-frequency insulin pulsatility in humans. *Diabetologia* (2002) 45(1):49–55. doi: 10.1007/s125-002-8244-y

55. García-Eguren G, Giró O, Romero M del M, Grasa M, Hanzu FA. Chronic hypercortisolism causes more persistent visceral adiposity than HFD-induced obesity. *J Endocrinol* (2019) 242(2):65–77. doi: 10.1530/JOE-19-0168

56. Braun LT, Vogel F, Reincke M. Long-term morbidity and mortality in patients with cushing's syndrome. *J Neuroendocrinol.* (2022) 34(8):e13113. doi: 10.1111/jne.13113

57. Bochicchio D, Losa M, Buchfelder M. Factors influencing the immediate and late outcome of cushing's disease treated by transsphenoidal surgery: a retrospective study by the European cushing's disease survey group. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1995) 80(11):3114–20. doi: 10.1210/jcem.80.11.7593411

 Hofmann BM, Hlavac M, Martinez R, Buchfelder M, Müller OA, Fahlbusch R. Long-term results after microsurgery for cushing disease: experience with 426 primary operations over 35 years. J Neurosurg (2008) 108(1):9–18. doi: 10.3171/JNS/2008/108/ 01/0009

59. van der Pas R, de Herder WW, Hofland LJ, Feelders RA. New developments in the medical treatment of cushing's syndrome. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2012) 19(6):R205–23. doi: 10.1530/ERC-12-0191

60. Colao A, Pivonello R, Spiezia S, Faggiano A, Ferone D, Filippella M, et al. Persistence of increased cardiovascular risk in patients with cushing's disease after five years of successful cure. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1999) 84(8):2664–72. doi: 10.1210/ jcem.84.8.5896

61. Webb SM, Mo D, Lamberts SWJ, Melmed S, Cavagnini F, Pecori Giraldi F, et al. Metabolic, cardiovascular, and cerebrovascular outcomes in growth hormone-deficient subjects with previous cushing's disease or non-functioning pituitary adenoma. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 95(2):630–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-0806

62. Bolanowski M, Kałużny M, Witek P, Jawiarczyk-Przybyłowska A. Pasireotide-a novel somatostatin receptor ligand after 20 years of use. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2022) 23(3):601–20. doi: 10.1007/s11154-022-09710-3

63. Lacroix A, Gu F, Gallardo W, Pivonello R, Yu Y, Witek P, et al. Efficacy and safety of once-monthly pasireotide in cushing's disease: a 12 month clinical trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2018) 6(1):17–26. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30326-1

64. Colao A, Petersenn S, Newell-Price J, Findling JW, Gu F, Maldonado M, et al. A 12-month phase 3 study of pasireotide in cushing's disease. *N Engl J Med* (2012) 366 (10):914–24. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1105743

65. Boscaro M, Ludlam WH, Atkinson B, Glusman JE, Petersenn S, Reincke M, et al. Treatment of pituitary-dependent cushing's disease with the multireceptor ligand somatostatin analog pasireotide (SOM230): a multicenter, phase II trial. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94(1):115–22. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1008

66. Henry RR, Ciaraldi TP, Armstrong D, Burke P, Ligueros-Saylan M, Mudaliar S. Hyperglycemia associated with pasireotide: results from a mechanistic study in healthy volunteers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(8):3446–53. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1771

67. Petersenn S, Unger N, Hu K, Weisshaar B, Zhang Y, Bouillaud E, et al. Pasireotide (SOM230), a novel multireceptor-targeted somatostatin analogue, is well tolerated when administered as a continuous 7-day subcutaneous infusion in healthy Male volunteers. *J Clin Pharmacol* (2012) 52(7):1017–27. doi: 10.1177/0091270011408727

68. Samson SL, Gu F, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Zhang S, Yu Y, Witek P, et al. Managing pasireotide-associated hyperglycemia: a randomized, open-label, phase IV study. *Pituitary* (2021) 24(6):887-903. doi: 10.1007/s11102-021-01161-4

69. Pivonello R, Arnaldi G, Scaroni C, Giordano C, Cannavò S, Iacuaniello D, et al. The medical treatment with pasireotide in cushing's disease: an Italian multicentre experience based on "real-world evidence". *Endocrine* (2019) 64(3):657–72. doi: 10.1007/s12020-018-1818-7

70. Pivonello R, Petersenn S, Newell-Price J, Findling JW, Gu F, Maldonado M, et al. Pasireotide treatment significantly improves clinical signs and symptoms in patients with cushing's disease: results from a phase III study. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2014) 81 (3):408–17. doi: 10.1111/cen.12431

71. Petersenn S, Salgado LR, Schopohl J, Portocarrero-Ortiz L, Arnaldi G, Lacroix A, et al. Long-term treatment of cushing's disease with pasireotide: 5-year results from an open-label extension study of a phase III trial. *Endocrine* (2017) 57(1):156–65. doi: 10.1007/s12020-017-1316-3

72. Barbot M, Regazzo D, Mondin A, Zilio M, Lizzul L, Zaninotto M, et al. Is pasireotide-induced diabetes mellitus predictable? a pilot study on the effect of a single dose of pasireotide on glucose homeostasis. *Pituitary* (2020) 23(5):534–42. doi: 10.1007/s11102-020-01055-x

73. Lin S, Zhang A, Zhang X, Wu ZB. Treatment of pituitary and other tumours with cabergoline: new mechanisms and potential broader applications. *Neuroendocrinology* (2020) 110(6):477-88. doi: 10.1159/000504000

74. Pivonello R, Ferone D, de Herder WW, Kros JM, De Caro MLDB, Arvigo M, et al. Dopamine receptor expression and function in corticotroph pituitary tumors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2004) 89(5):2452–62. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030837

75. Pivonello R, Waaijers M, Kros JM, Pivonello C, de Angelis C, Cozzolino A, et al. Dopamine D2 receptor expression in the corticotroph cells of the human normal pituitary gland. *Endocrine* (2017) 57(2):314–25. doi: 10.1007/s12020-016-1107-2

76. Godbout A, Manavela M, Danilowicz K, Beauregard H, Bruno OD, Lacroix A. Cabergoline monotherapy in the long-term treatment of cushing's disease. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2010) 163(5):709–16. doi: 10.1530/EJE-10-0382

77. Lila AR, Gopal RA, Acharya SV, George J, Sarathi V, Bandgar T, et al. Efficacy of cabergoline in uncured (persistent or recurrent) cushing disease after pituitary surgical treatment with or without radiotherapy. *Endocr Pract Off J Am Coll Endocrinol Am Assoc Clin Endocrinol* (2010) 16(6):968–76. doi: 10.4158/EP10031.OR

78. Vilar L, Naves LA, Azevedo MF, Arruda MJ, Arahata CM, Moura E Silva L, et al. Effectiveness of cabergoline in monotherapy and combined with ketoconazole in the management of cushing's disease. *Pituitary* (2010) 13(2):123–9. doi: 10.1007/s11102-009-0209-8

79. Pivonello R, De Martino MC, Cappabianca P, De Leo M, Faggiano A, Lombardi G, et al. The medical treatment of cushing's disease: effectiveness of chronic treatment with the dopamine agonist cabergoline in patients unsuccessfully treated by surgery. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94(1):223–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1533

80. Barbot M, Albiger N, Ceccato F, Zilio M, Frigo AC, Denaro L, et al. Combination therapy for cushing's disease: effectiveness of two schedules of treatment: should we start with cabergoline or ketoconazole? *Pituitary* (2014) 17(2):109–17. doi: 10.1007/s11102-013-0475-3

81. Burman P, Edén-Engström B, Ekman B, Karlsson FA, Schwarcz E, Wahlberg J. Limited value of cabergoline in cushing's disease: a prospective study of a 6-week treatment in 20 patients. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2016) 174(1):17–24. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0807

82. Ferriere A, Cortet C, Chanson P, Delemer B, Caron P, Chabre O, et al. Cabergoline for cushing's disease: a large retrospective multicenter study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2017) 176(3):305–14. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0662

83. Andersen IB, Andreassen M, Krogh J. The effect of dopamine agonists on metabolic variables in adults with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review with meta analysis and trial sequential analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2021) 23(1):58–67. doi: 10.1111/dom.14183

84. Shirley M. Ketoconazole in cushing's syndrome: a profile of its use. *Drugs Ther Perspect* (2021) 37(2):55–64. doi: 10.1007/s40267-020-00799-7

85. Young J, Bertherat J, Vantyghem MC, Chabre O, Senoussi S, Chadarevian R, et al. Hepatic safety of ketoconazole in cushing's syndrome: results of a compassionate use programme in France. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2018) 178(5):447–58. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-0886

86. Castinetti F, Morange I, Jaquet P, Conte-Devolx B, Brue T. Ketoconazole revisited: a preoperative or postoperative treatment in cushing's disease. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2008) 158(1):91–9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-07-0514

87. Castinetti F, Guignat L, Giraud P, Muller M, Kamenicky P, Drui D, et al. Ketoconazole in cushing's disease: is it worth a try? *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99 (5):1623–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-3628

88. Valassi E, Crespo I, Gich I, Rodríguez J, Webb SM. A reappraisal of the medical therapy with steroidogenesis inhibitors in cushing's syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2012) 77(5):735–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2012.04424.x

89. Creemers SG, Feelders RA, de Jong FH, Franssen GJH, de Rijke YB, van Koetsveld PM, et al. Levoketoconazole, the 2S,4R enantiomer of ketoconazole, a new steroidogenesis inhibitor for cushing's syndrome treatment. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 106(4):e1618–30. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa989

90. Fleseriu M, Pivonello R, Elenkova A, Salvatori R, Auchus RJ, Feelders RA, et al. Efficacy and safety of levoketoconazole in the treatment of endogenous cushing's syndrome (SONICS): a phase 3, multicentre, open-label, single-arm trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2019) 7(11):855–65. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(19)30313-4

91. Zacharieva S, Pivonello R, Elenkova A, Toth M, Shimon I, Stigliano A, et al. Safety and efficacy of levoketoconazole in the treatment of endogenous cushing's syndrome (LOGICS): results from a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized withdrawal study. *J Endocr Soc* (2021) 5(Supplement_1):A526. doi: 10.1210/jendso/ bvab048.1072

92. Pivonello R, Elenkova A, Fleseriu M, Feelders RA, Witek P, Greenman Y, et al. Levoketoconazole in the treatment of patients with cushing's syndrome and diabetes mellitus: results from the SONICS phase 3 study. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12:595894. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.595894

93. Fleseriu M, Auchus RJ, Greenman Y, Zacharieva S, Geer EB, Salvatori R, et al. Levoketoconazole treatment in endogenous cushing's syndrome: extended evaluation of clinical, biochemical, and radiologic outcomes. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2022) 187(6):859–71. doi: 10.1530/EJE-22-0506

94. Rigel DF, Fu F, Beil M, Hu CW, Liang G, Jeng AY. Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic characterization of the aldosterone synthase inhibitor FAD286 in two rodent models of hyperaldosteronism: comparison with the 11beta-hydroxylase inhibitor metyrapone. J Pharmacol Exp Ther (2010) 334(1):232–43. doi: 10.1124/jpet.110.167148

95. Al-Salama ZT. Metyrapone in cushing's syndrome: a profile of its use. Drugs Ther Perspect (2021) 37(9):393-406. doi: 10.1007/s40267-021-00853-y

96. Nieman LK, Boscaro M, Scaroni CM, Deutschbein T, Mezosi E, Driessens N, et al. Metyrapone treatment in endogenous cushing's syndrome: results at week 12 from PROMPT, a prospective international multicenter, open-label, phase III/IV study. *J Endocr Soc* (2021) 5(Supplement_1):A515. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvab048.1053

97. Ceccato F, Zilio M, Barbot M, Albiger N, Antonelli G, Plebani M, et al. Metyrapone treatment in cushing's syndrome: a real-life study. *Endocrine* (2018) 62 (3):701–11. doi: 10.1007/s12020-018-1675-4

98. Kamenický P, Droumaguet C, Salenave S, Blanchard A, Jublanc C, Gautier JF, et al. Mitotane, metyrapone, and ketoconazole combination therapy as an alternative to rescue adrenalectomy for severe ACTH-dependent cushing's syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96(9):2796–804. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-0536

99. Jeffcoate WJ, Rees LH, Tomlin S, Jones AE, Edwards CR, Besser GM. Metyrapone in long-term management of cushing's disease. *Br Med J* (1977) 2 (6081):215–7. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.6081.215

100. Verhelst JA, Trainer PJ, Howlett TA, Perry L, Rees LH, Grossman AB, et al. Short and long-term responses to metyrapone in the medical management of 91 patients with cushing's syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (1991) 35(2):169–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1991.tb03517.x

101. Daniel E, Aylwin S, Mustafa O, Ball S, Munir A, Boelaert K, et al. Effectiveness of metyrapone in treating cushing's syndrome: a retrospective multicenter study in 195 patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100(11):4146–54. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-2616

102. Paragliola RM, Torino F, Papi G, Locantore P, Pontecorvi A, Corsello SM. Role of mitotane in adrenocortical carcinoma – review and state of the art. *Eur Endocrinol* (2018) 14(2):62–6. doi: 10.17925/EE.2018.14.2.62

103. Terzolo M, Angeli A, Fassnacht M, Daffara F, Tauchmanova L, Conton PA, et al. Adjuvant mitotane treatment for adrenocortical carcinoma. *N Engl J Med* (2007) 356(23):2372–80. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa063360

104. Schteingart DE, Tsao HS, Taylor CI, McKenzie A, Victoria R, Therrien BA. Sustained remission of cushing's disease with mitotane and pituitary irradiation. *Ann Intern Med* (1980) 92(5):613–9. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-92-5-613

105. Luton JP, Mahoudeau JA, Bouchard P, Thieblot P, Hautecouverture M, Simon D, et al. Treatment of cushing's disease by O,p'DDD. survey of 62 cases. *N Engl J Med* (1979) 300(9):459–64. doi: 10.1056/NEJM197903013000903

106. Pivonello R, De Leo M, Cozzolino A, Colao A. The treatment of cushing's disease. *Endocr Rev* (2015) 36(4):385–486. doi: 10.1210/er.2013-1048

107. Orth DN, Liddle GW. Results of treatment in 108 patients with cushing's syndrome. N Engl J Med (1971) 285(5):243–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM197107292850501

108. Baudry C, Coste J, Bou Khalil R, Silvera S, Guignat L, Guibourdenche J, et al. Efficiency and tolerance of mitotane in cushing's disease in 76 patients from a single center. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2012) 167(4):473–81. doi: 10.1530/EJE-12-0358

109. Creemers SG, Feelders RA, de Jong FH, Franssen GJH, de Rijke YB, van Koetsveld PM, et al. Osilodrostat is a potential novel steroidogenesis inhibitor for the treatment of cushing syndrome: an *In vitro* study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2019) 104 (8):3437–49. doi: 10.1210/jc.2019-00217

110. Pivonello R, Fleseriu M, Newell-Price J, Bertagna X, Findling J, Shimatsu A, et al. Efficacy and safety of osilodrostat in patients with cushing's disease (LINC 3): a multicentre phase III study with a double-blind, randomised withdrawal phase. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2020) 8(9):748–61. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30240-0

111. Fleseriu M, Pivonello R, Young J, Hamrahian AH, Molitch ME, Shimizu C, et al. Osilodrostat, a potent oral 11 β -hydroxylase inhibitor: 22-week, prospective, phase II study in cushing's disease. *Pituitary* (2016) 19(2):138–48. doi: 10.1007/s11102-015-0692-z

112. Bertagna X, Pivonello R, Fleseriu M, Zhang Y, Robinson P, Taylor A, et al. LCI699, a potent 11 β -hydroxylase inhibitor, normalizes urinary cortisol in patients with cushing's disease: results from a multicenter, proof-of-concept study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99(4):1375–83. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2117

113. Gadelha M, Bex M, Feelders RA, Heaney AP, Auchus RJ, Gilis-Januszewska A, et al. Randomized trial of osilodrostat for the treatment of cushing disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2022) 107(7):e2882–95. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgac178

114. Simões Corrêa Galendi J, Correa Neto ANS, Demetres M, Boguszewski CL, Nogueira V dos SN. Effectiveness of medical treatment of cushing's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12:732240. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.732240

115. Witek P, Mehlich A, Stasiewicz A, Jawiarczyk-Przybyłowska A, Bolanowski M. Osilodrostat - an emerging drug for the medical management of cushing's disease. *Endokrynol Pol* (2022) 73(2):371–4. doi: 10.5603/EP.a2022.0009

116. Díaz-Castro F, Monsalves-Álvarez M, Rojo LE, del Campo A, Troncoso R. Mifepristone for treatment of metabolic syndrome: beyond cushing's syndrome. *Front Pharmacol* (2020) 11:429. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00429

117. Jung-Testas I, Baulieu EE. Inhibition of glucocorticosteroid action in cultured l-929 mouse fibroblasts by RU 486, a new anti-glucocorticosteroid of high affinity for the glucocorticosteroid receptor. *Exp Cell Res* (1983) 147(1):177–82. doi: 10.1016/0014-4827(83)90282-3

118. Fleseriu M, Biller BMK, Findling JW, Molitch ME, Schteingart DE, Gross C, et al. Mifepristone, a glucocorticoid receptor antagonist, produces clinical and metabolic benefits in patients with cushing's syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 97(6):2039–49. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-3350

119. Katznelson L, Loriaux DL, Feldman D, Braunstein GD, Schteingart DE, Gross C. Global clinical response in cushing's syndrome patients treated with mifepristone. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2014) 80(4):562–9. doi: 10.1111/cen.12332

120. Wallia A, Colleran K, Purnell JQ, Gross C, Molitch ME. Improvement in insulin sensitivity during mifepristone treatment of cushing syndrome: early and late effects. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36(9):e147–148. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0246

121. Fein HG, Vaughan TB, Kushner H, Cram D, Nguyen D. Sustained weight loss in patients treated with mifepristone for cushing's syndrome: a follow-up analysis of the SEISMIC study and long-term extension. *BMC Endocr Disord* (2015) 15:63. doi: 10.1186/s12902-015-0059-5

122. Castinetti F, Fassnacht M, Johanssen S, Terzolo M, Bouchard P, Chanson P, et al. Merits and pitfalls of mifepristone in cushing's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2009) 160(6):1003–10. doi: 10.1530/EJE-09-0098

123. Hunt HJ, Belanoff JK, Walters I, Gourdet B, Thomas J, Barton N, et al. Identification of the clinical candidate (R)-(1-(4-Fluorophenyl)-6-((1-methyl-1H-

pyrazol-4-yl)sulfonyl)-4,4a,5,6,7,8-hexahydro-1H-pyrazolo[3,4-g]isoquinolin-4a-yl) (4-(trifluoromethyl)pyridin-2-yl)methanone (CORT125134): a selective glucocorticoid receptor (GR) antagonist. *J Med Chem* (2017) 60(8):3405–21. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b00162

124. Pivonello R, Bancos I, Feelders RA, Kargi AY, Kerr JM, Gordon MB, et al. Relacorilant, a selective glucocorticoid receptor modulator, induces clinical improvements in patients with cushing syndrome: results from a prospective, open-label phase 2 study. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12:662865. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.662865

125. Breitschaft A, Hu K, Hermosillo Reséndiz K, Darstein C, Golor G. Management of hyperglycemia associated with pasireotide (SOM230): healthy volunteer study. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2014) 103(3):458-65. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2013.12.011

126. Reznik Y, Bertherat J, Borson-Chazot F, Brue T, Chanson P, Cortet-Rudelli C, et al. Management of hyperglycaemia in cushing's disease: experts' proposals on the use of pasireotide. *Diabetes Metab* (2013) 39(1):34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2012.10.005

127. Drucker DJ, Nauck MA. The incretin system: glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists and dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes. *Lancet Lond Engl* (2006) 368(9548):1696–705. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69705-5

128. Robinson LE, Holt TA, Rees K, Randeva HS, O'Hare JP. Effects of exenatide and liraglutide on heart rate, blood pressure and body weight: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* (2013) 3(1):e001986. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001986

129. Yanai H, Masui Y, Yoshikawa R, Kunimatsu J, Kaneko H. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor for steroid-induced diabetes. *World J Diabetes*. (2010) 1(3):99-100. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v1.i3.99

130. Rosenstock J, Rendell MS, Gross JL, Fleck PR, Wilson CA, Mekki Q. Alogliptin added to insulin therapy in patients with type 2 diabetes reduces HbA(1C) without causing weight gain or increased hypoglycaemia. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2009) 11 (12):1145–52. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2009.01124.x

131. Ritzel RA, Kleine N, Holst JJ, Willms B, Schmiegel W, Nauck MA. Preserved GLP-1 effects in a diabetic patient with cushing's disease. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes Off J Ger Soc Endocrinol Ger Diabetes Assoc* (2007) 115(2):146–50. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-955096

132. Wilding J, Fernando K, Milne N, Evans M, Ali A, Bain S, et al. SGLT2 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes management: key evidence and implications for clinical practice. *Diabetes Ther* (2018) 9(5):1757–73. doi: 10.1007/s13300-018-0471-8

133. Li D, Wang T, Shen S, Fang Z, Dong Y, Tang H. Urinary tract and genital infections in patients with type 2 diabetes treated with sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2017) 19(3):348–55. doi: 10.1111/dom.12825

134. Phung OJ, Scholle JM, Talwar M, Coleman CI. Effect of noninsulin antidiabetic drugs added to metformin therapy on glycemic control, weight gain, and hypoglycemia in type 2 diabetes. *JAMA* (2010) 303(14):1410–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.405

135. Loke YK, Singh S, Furberg CD. Long-term use of thiazolidinediones and fractures in type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *CMAJ Can Med Assoc J J Assoc Medicale Can* (2009) 180(1):32–9. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.080486

136. Colao A, De Block C, Gaztambide MS, Kumar S, Seufert J, Casanueva FF. Managing hyperglycemia in patients with cushing's disease treated with pasireotide: medical expert recommendations. *Pituitary* (2014) 17(2):180–6. doi: 10.1007/s11102-013-0483-3

137. Luger A. Hyperglycemia in pasireotide-treated patients with acromegaly and its treatment. *Endocrine* (2016) 54(1):1–2. doi: 10.1007/s12020-016-1029-z

138. Silverstein JM. Hyperglycemia induced by pasireotide in patients with cushing's disease or acromegaly. *Pituitary* (2016) 19(5):536-43. doi: 10.1007/s11102-016-0734-1
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Przemysław Witek, Warsaw Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY Salvatore Cannavo, University of Messina, Italy Bojana Popovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

*CORRESPONDENCE Maria Stelmachowska-Banaś Maria Stelmachowska@cmkp.edu.pl

[†]These authors contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 30 January 2023 ACCEPTED 20 April 2023 PUBLISHED 08 May 2023

CITATION

Popielarz-Grygalewicz A, Stelmachowska-Banaś M, Raczkiewicz D, Czajka-Oraniec I, Zieliński G, Kochman W, Dąbrowski M and Zgliczyński W (2023) Effects of acromegaly treatment on left ventricular systolic function assessed by speckle tracking echocardiography in relation to sex differences: results from a prospective single center study. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1154615. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1154615

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Popielarz-Grygalewicz, Stelmachowska-Banaś, Raczkiewicz, Czajka-Oraniec, Zieliński, Kochman, Dąbrowski and Zgliczyński. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effects of acromegaly treatment on left ventricular systolic function assessed by speckle tracking echocardiography in relation to sex differences: results from a prospective single center study

Agata Popielarz-Grygalewicz^{1†}, Maria Stelmachowska-Banaś^{2*†}, Dorota Raczkiewicz³, Izabella Czajka-Oraniec², Grzegorz Zieliński⁴, Wacław Kochman¹, Marek Dąbrowski⁵ and Wojciech Zgliczyński²

¹Department of Cardiology, The Centre of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warsaw, Poland, ²Department of Endocrinology, The Centre of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warsaw, Poland, ³Department of Medical Statistics, School of Public Health, The Centre of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warsaw, Poland, ⁴Department of Neurosurgery, Military Institute of Medicine, Warsaw, Poland, ⁵Department of Cardiology, Bielanski Hospital, Warsaw, Poland

Background: Despite the preserved LVEF, patients with acromegaly are characterized by subclinical systolic dysfunction i.e., abnormal global longitudinal strain (GLS) assessed by speckle tracking echocardiography (STE). The effect of acromegaly treatment on LV systolic function assessed by STE, has not been evaluated so far.

Patients and methods: Thirty-two naïve acromegalic patients without detectable heart disease were enrolled in a prospective, single-center study. 2D-Echocardiography and STE were performed at diagnosis, 3&6 months on preoperative somatostatin receptor ligand (SRL) treatment and 3 months after transsphenoidal surgery (TSS).

Results: Treatment with SRL resulted in reduction in median (IQR) GH&IGF-1 levels after 3 months, from 9.1(3.2-21.9) to 1.8(0.9-5.2) ng/mL (p<0.001) and from 3.2(2.3-4.3) to 1.5(1.1-2.5) xULN (p<0.001), respectively. Biochemical control on SRL was achieved in 25.8% of patients after 6 months and complete surgical remission was achieved in 41.7% of patients. TSS resulted in decrease in median (IQR) IGF-1 compared to IGF-1 levels on SRL treatment: from 1.5(1.2-2.5) to 1.3(1.0-1.6) xULN (p=0.003). Females had lower IGF-1 levels at baseline, on SRL and after TSS compared to males. The median end diastolic and end systolic left ventricle volumes were normal. Almost half of the patients (46.9%) had increased LVMi, however the median value of LVMi was normal in both sex groups: $99g/m^2$ in males and $94g/m^2$ in females. Most patients (78.1%) had

increased LAVi and the median value was 41.8mL/m^2 . At baseline 50% of patients, mostly men (62.5% vs. 37.5%) had GLS values higher than -20%. There was a positive correlation between baseline GLS and BMI r=0.446 (p=0.011) and BSA r=0.411 (p=0.019). The median GLS significantly improved after 3 months of SRL treatment compared to baseline: -20.4% vs. -20.0% (p=0.045). The median GLS was lower in patients with surgical remission compared to patients with elevated GH&IGF-1 levels: -22.5% vs. -19.8% (p=0.029). There was a positive correlation between GLS and IGF-1 levels after TSS r=0.570 (p=0.007).

Conclusion: The greatest beneficial effect of acromegaly treatment on LV systolic function is visible already after 3 months of preoperative SRL treatment, especially in women. Patients with surgical remission have better GLS compared to patients with persistent acromegaly.

KEYWORDS

acromegaly, global longitudinal strain (GLS), speckle tracking echocardiography (STE), somatostatin receptor ligands (SRL), transsphenoidal pituitary surgery

Introduction

Acromegaly is a systemic disease that affects multiple organs including the cardiovascular system (1). Recent data show that mortality rate among patients with well-controlled acromegaly is similar to that of the normal aging population (1) and there is a shift from cardiovascular disease to cancer as the leading cause of mortality (2, 3). Although cardiovascular morbidity has improved significantly in recent years, cardiovascular disease is still an important cause of mortality among patients with acromegaly. There are studies showing an increased cardiovascular mortality among acromegaly patients compared to the general population, particularly in females (2, 4). It remains unclear how much those changes in morbidity and mortality are influenced by improved methods of treatment of acromegaly and its comorbidities or overall improved cardiac care and more strict cardiovascular risk management (5).

Acromegaly can cause a typical cardiomyopathy characterized by mainly left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) that is associated with mildly impaired diastolic function, which can progress to systolic dysfunction (6). However, most echocardiographic studies have shown that systolic function in acromegaly measured by ejection fraction (EF) is preserved, and that symptomatic heart failure is an uncommon and late complication (5, 7, 8). Therefore, identifying patients with acromegaly who have increased cardiovascular risk is the main challenge in avoiding this late phase of acromegalic cardiomyopathy. Two-dimensional speckletracking echocardiography (2D-STE) is a modern technique that allows the evaluation of longitudinal, radial, and circumferential deformation and offers a more sensitive assessment of myocardial contractility, especially in patients with preserved EF (9). The global longitudinal strain (GLS) is a well validated, reproducible tool for the measurement of global left ventricular (LV) systolic function and provides relevant evidence on the diagnostic and prognostic implications (10, 11). Reduction in GLS predicts worse cardiovascular outcomes (12, 13) and evaluation of such reduction has been applied to the early detection of heart valve diseases, myocardial ischemia, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, and cardiotoxicity during cancer therapy (14) as well as in the preclinical detection of cardiac involvement in the systemic, metabolic and endocrine diseases (13, 15-17). To date, there have been only a few studies evaluating LV function using STE in patients with active acromegaly and preserved EF (8, 18-20). However, the results have been inconsistent and only some studies showed LV subclinical systolic dysfunction (18, 21), while in other studies GLS did not differ between patients with acromegaly and the control groups (19, 20). The discrepancies in these results may be due to inhomogeneous groups of patients with acromegaly and previous treatment of acromegaly in these patients. A beneficial effect of acromegaly treatment on subclinical LV dysfunction cannot be ruled out, even in patients who fail to achieve full biochemical control of the disease. However, the effect of acromegaly treatment on LV systolic function assessed by STE, has not been evaluated so far. Thus the aim of our study was to investigate the effect of acromegaly treatment on LV function measured by STE in naïve patients, considering potential sex differences.

Patients and methods

Study design and patients

This was a prospective, single-center study. The study group consisted of 35 consecutive newly diagnosed acromegaly patients admitted to the Department of Endocrinology at the Center of Postgraduate Medical Education in Warsaw, Poland, from January 2018 to July 2020. Only adult patients (age \geq 18 years) were enrolled to this study. Acromegaly was diagnosed based on typical clinical features associated with elevated serum IGF-1 levels for age and sex and lack of GH suppression below 0.4 ng/mL during a 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), and positive pituitary magnetic resonance (MRI) findings.

After the diagnosis of acromegaly, each patient received a preoperative treatment with the first-generation somatostatin receptor ligand (SRL) (lanreotide autogel 120 mg every 4 weeks s.c.) while waiting for transsphenoidal pituitary surgery (TSS). Biochemical response to the medical therapy was assessed after a 6-month treatment period for 31 patients. Good response to first-generation SRLs was defined as fasting GH \leq 1 ng/mL and IGF-1 \leq the upper limit of normal (ULN) for age and sex on treatment with a maximum dose of SRL.

Surgical remission was defined as IGF-1 concentration below the ULN for sex and age-matched groups and suppression of GH on OGTT below 0.4 ng/mL assessed 3 months after TSS. Out of 32 enrolled patients 24 underwent the TSS (75%) during the study after preoperative treatment with SRL.

All patients were operated on by one neurosurgeon experienced in pituitary surgeries from the Department of Neurosurgery, Military Institute of Medicine in Warsaw, Poland.

Each patient underwent echocardiography at the time of diagnosis of acromegaly, 3 and 6 months after the initiation of treatment with SRL and 3 months after TSS. Patients with a known coronary artery disease, with a history of myocardial infarction or myocarditis, with impairment of LV systolic function (EF < 54% in women and < 52% in men), and moderate to severe valvular disease were not included in this study.

From the initial number of 35 patients with newly diagnosed acromegaly enrolled to this study, 32 patients were included to the final analysis. Three patients were excluded: 1 with a history of myocardial infarction, 1 with multivessel coronary artery disease and concomitant ventricular tachycardias and 1 with heart failure and reduced EF. Additionally, 28 out of 32 enrolled patients underwent carotid Doppler ultrasonography at the diagnosis of acromegaly.

The project received the approval of the Bioethics Committee of the Center of Postgraduate Medical Education in Warsaw, Poland.

Clinical and biochemical parameters

The presumed duration of acromegaly was assessed by comparing old photographs and conducting interviews. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated using the formula weight (kg) divided by height squared (m²), body surface area (BSA) was calculated according to the DuBois formula, and systolic and diastolic blood pressures were measured in millimeters of mercury (mmHg). Arterial hypertension was defined as a systolic blood pressure of \geq 140 mmHg and/or diastolic blood pressure of \geq 90 mmHg or the treatment of previously diagnosed hypertension. Plasma glucose, glycosylated hemoglobin A1c, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and triglycerides were measured in the morning after a 12-hour fasting period. Low density lipoprotein cholesterol was calculated by the Friedewald formula. Diabetes or prediabetes were diagnosed according to the recent criteria (22). Gonadal function in females was assessed on the basis of menstrual status and FSH/LH and estradiol levels.

Blood samples taken for GH and IGF-1 were analyzed with chemiluminescence immunoassay using the LIAISON[®] XL analyzer (DiaSorin, Italy). The GH assay has a sensitivity of 0.05 ng/mL, an intra-assay coefficient of variation (CV) of 1.93% for a GH concentration of 1.18 ng/mL and inter-assay CV of. 3.77% for a GH concentration of 1.11 ng/mL. The intra-assay CV is 4.59% for an IGF-1 concentration of 189.3 ng/mL and inter-assay CV is 4.3% for an IGF-1 concentration of 202.6 ng/mL.

Standard echocardiography

Each patient with confirmed acromegaly was referred to the Echocardiography Laboratory of the Department of Cardiology at the Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warsaw.

Standard two-dimensional transthoracic echocardiographic study and Speckle Tracking Echocardiography were performed at four time points as detailed above.

All studies were performed by the same experienced investigator. Echocardiography exam was done using Vivid 9 device (Horten, Norway). A sector transducer with a frequency of 3.2 MHz was used. The images were stored digitally for later offline analysis using dedicated software (EchoPac PC, workstation version 113, GE Medical Systems). LV and left atrial (LA) volumes were calculated using the apical four- and two-chamber views. LV volumes were normalized by body surface area (BSA) and the value of left ventricular end diastolic volume (LVEDVi) $\leq 61 \text{mL/m}^2$ for women and $\leq 74 \text{mL/m}^2$ for men, were accepted as normal. The cut-off points for indexed left ventricular end-systolic volume (LVESVi) were as follows: $\leq 24 \text{ mL/m}^2$ for women, $\leq 31 \text{mL/m}^2$ for men.

Left atrium volume (LAV) was also indexed to BSA, and the value of LAVi $\leq 34 mL/m^2$ was considered normal for both men and women.

LV EF was calculated using the biplane Simpson formula and value \geq 52% for men, and \geq 54% for women were considered normal. The LV mass (LVM) was calculated using the linear method and was indexed in accordance with BSA to obtain the left ventricular mass index (LVMi) value. This parameter was calculated by using Penncube method according to Devereux's formula: LVMi (g/m2) = (1.04 × (IVST + LVID + PWT)3 – (LVID)3 – 13.6)/BSA (Devereux et al., 1986). LVMi \leq 95 g/m2 in women and \leq 115 g/m2 in men were accepted as cut-off points for normal.

These echocardiographic parameters were measured in accordance with Recommendations for Cardiac Chamber Quantification by Echocardiography in Adults: An Update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging (23).

LV diastolic function was measured using pulse Doppler from the apical 4-chamber view (assessing mitral inflow velocities as E wave and A wave) and using tissue Doppler imaging (assessing mitral annulus septal and lateral velocities as E'med and E'lat). To calculate the ratio E/e' the average value of the septal and lateral mitral annulus velocities was used.

E'lat was not measured in 5 patients, and in this group E' med was used to calculate the E/E' ratio. E'med value above and equal to 7 and E'lat above and equal to 10 were considered normal.

E/E' ratio of less than 10 was considered the cut-off for normal. The value of the E/A ratio in the range of 0.8 to 2 is considered normal, and values below 0.8 and above 2 were interpreted in the context of other parameters, including age.

These pulse and tissue Doppler parameters were evaluated and interpreted in accordance with Recommendations for the Evaluation of Left Ventricular Diastolic Function by Echocardiography: An Update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging (24).

Speckle tracking echocardiography

The images for GLS measurement were stored for later offline analysis using dedicated software (EchoPac PC, workstation version 113, GE Medical Systems). We used the automated function imaging (AFI) application to evaluate GLS.

The analysis involved ECG-gated digital images in four-, three-, and two-chamber apical views, and a high temporal resolution of 50–60 frames per second was obtained to assure acoustic-marker tracking. The LV walls were divided into six segments in each apical view, and strain values were assessed for each LV segment. Only the images with appropriate tracking in all the myocardial segments were used in the analysis. GLS was the average of the values that were obtained for three apical views. GLS is a negative percentage number and indicates fiber shortening. In accordance with the guidelines, a value of GLS of -20% or lower (i.e. more negative) was taken as normal in our study (23).

Carotid doppler ultrasonography

Carotid Doppler ultrasound was performed using Vivid 9 device (Horten, Norway). A linear transducer with a frequency of 9.5 MHz was used (GE 11L). The measurements of the carotid intima media thickness (CIMT) were obtained 5-10 mm from the bifurcation around the posterior wall. To optimize the image zoom was used. Color Doppler and pulse Doppler ultrasonography have also been used. CIMT values ≤ 0.9 mm were considered normal, and CIMT values ≥ 1.5 mm were considered as atherosclerosis plaque. Intermediate values (1.0-1.4mm) in our study were classified as abnormal. This interpretation is in accordance with:

1. Recommendations for the Assessment of Carotid Arterial Plaque by Ultrasound for the Characterization of Atherosclerosis and Evaluation of Cardiovascular Risk: From the American Society of Echocardiography (25).

2. Standards of ultrasound examinations of the Polish Ultrasound Society - update. Examination of the intracranial sections of the carotid and vertebral arteries (26).

Statistical methods

The data were statistically analyzed using STATISTICA 13 software.

Median and interquartile range (IQR) (25% - 75%) were estimated for numerical variables, while counts (n) and percentages (%) of the occurrence of items for categorical variables.

Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare numerical variables between two categories of categorical characteristics. Kruskal-Wallis H test was used to compare numerical variables between three categories of categorical characteristics. Fisher exact test was used to compare categorical variables between categories of categorical characteristics. Wilcoxon signed ranks test was used to compare numerical variables between baseline and after 3 and 6 months of SRL treatment, and 3 months after TSS. Scatter plots and Pearson's correlation coefficient were used to correlate numerical variables between each other. The missing data were omitted in all the analyses. The significance level was assumed at 0.05.

Results

Clinical and biochemical characteristics of the study group

The median age of 32 enrolled patients with newly diagnosed acromegaly was 52.5 (IQR 42-60) years and there were 16 (50%) males. The median duration of symptoms until the diagnosis of acromegaly was 10 (IQR 5-10) years. Seventeen patients (53.13%) had hypertension at acromegaly diagnosis and the majority (82.3%) of them were treated either with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEI) or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB). Only 18.75% of the patients had normal glucose tolerance, 21.88% had diabetes and 59.38% - prediabetes. Dyslipidemia was present in 37.5% of acromegalic patients and 25% had carotid artery atherosclerosis diagnosed by Doppler ultrasonography. None of the patients with confirmed atherosclerosis had significant stenoses above 50% of the vessel lumen. Seven females (46.7%) were considered to be eugonadal because they had regular menstrual cycles and/or conceived spontaneously and had normal FSH/LH and estradiol concentrations at diagnosis while 9 females (56.3%) were considered hypogonadal either due to menopause or due to gonadotroph deficiency.

There were no statistically significant differences in the occurrence of comorbidities and the duration of symptoms to diagnosis between women and men. Men had statistically significant higher BMI and BSA compared to women: 29.0 (IQR 27.4-30.5) vs. 26.0 (21.8-27.7) kg/m², p=0.006 and 2.2 (2.1-2.3) vs. 1.8 (1.7-1.8) m², p<0.001.

The median baseline GH concentration was 9.1 (IQR 3.2-21.9) ng/mL, nadir GH on OGTT was 4.9 (IQR 1.9-21.1) ng/mL and IGF-1 concentration was 3.2 (IQR 2.3-4.3) x ULN for sex and age. Men had significantly higher biochemical activity of acromegaly compared to women measured by IGF-1 concentration: 3.9 (IQR

3.0-4.7) x ULN vs. 2.8 (IQR 2.1-3.3) x ULN, p=0.027. The detailed baseline clinical and biochemical characteristics of the studied group are presented in Table 1.

Hormonal parameters during acromegaly treatment

After preoperative SRL treatment the median fasting GH concentration decreased significantly after 3 months since the initiation of SRL from 9.1 (IQR 3.2-21.9) ng/mL to 1.8 (IQR 0.9-5.2) ng/mL, p<0.001. Longer treatment with SRL did not result in further significant decrease in GH concentration (p=0.836). However, a significant further decrease in GH concentration was reached after TSS: from 1.2 (IQR 0.8-2.1) ng/mL after 6 months SRL treatment to 0.9 (IQR 0.3-2.4) ng/mL after TSS, p=0.016 (Figure 1A). The median GH nadir on OGTT decreased from 4.9 (IQR 1.9-21.1) ng/mL at baseline to 0.5 (IQR 0.2-1.2) ng/mL after TSS, p<0.001.

The baseline median IGF-1 concentration was 3.2 (IQR 2.3-4.3) x ULN and significantly decreased 3 months after SRL initiation to 1.5 (IQR 1.1-2.5) x ULN, p<0.001. Longer treatment with SRL did not lead to further decrease in IGF-1 concentration (p=0.620). Biochemical control after 6 months of SRL treatment was achieved in 8 out of 31 patients (25.81%). A significant decrease in IGF-1 levels compared to IGF-1 levels on SRL treatment was observed 3 months after TSS: from 1.5 (IQR 1.2-2.5) x ULN after 3 months SRL treatment to 1.3 (IQR 1.0-1.6) x ULN after TSS, p=0.003 (Figures 1B, C).

Complete surgical remission after TSS was achieved in 10 out of 24 operated patients (41.67%). Females had significantly lower IGF-1 levels not only before treatment but also after 6 months of SRL and 3 months after TSS compared to males (Figure 2).

The detailed characteristics of biochemical parameters during treatment for each patient is presented in Supplementary Figures 1A-C.

Standard echocardiographic evaluation

The majority of patients had normal end diastolic and end systolic LV volumes. Only 9.38% of patients had increased end diastolic volume and 12.5% had increased end systolic volume. The median values of these parameters were within normal limits: LVEDVi 56.4mL/m² in males and 44.5mL/m² in females, LVESVi 23.4mL/m² in males, and 16.7mL/m² in females.

46.88% of patients (8 females and 7 males) had abnormal LVMi, however the median values of LVMi remained normal in both sex groups: $99g/m^2$ in males and $94g/m^2$ in females.

Most patients (78.13%; 14 females and 11 males) had abnormal LAVi and the median was 41.8mL/m². Interestingly, in the group of women this value was higher compared to men (43mL/m² vs. 38.5mL/m²), but the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.3). More than 50% of the patients had abnormal diastolic function assessed by TDI; the median E'med was 6 cm/s and E'lat was 9 cm/s, these values were mildly lower than normal, and the median E/E' ratio was 10 and it remained within the ULN. Most patients (68.75%) had normal mitral inflow as assessed by pulse

 TABLE 1
 Clinical and hormonal characteristics of acromegalic patients (N=32), at baseline.

Variable	Total (N=32)	Men (N=16)	Women (N=16)	р
Age at diagnosis (years), median (IQR)	53 (42-60)	53 (41-58)	51 (42-61)	0.748
BMI (kg/m ²), median (IQR)	27.9 (25.8-29.8)	29.0 (27.4-30.5)	26.0 (21.8-27.7)	0.006
Disease duration (years), median (IQR)	10 (5-10)	10 (5-13)	5 (3-10)	0.117
BSA (m ²), median (IQR)	2.0 (1.8-2.2)	2.2 (2.1-2.3)	1.8 (1.7-1.8)	<0.001
Hypertension, n (%), yes	17 (53.13)	10 (62.50)	7 (43.75)	0.479
Diabetes status, n (%), diabetes	7 (21.88)	2 (12.50)	5 (31.25)	0.492
prediabetes	19 (59.38)	11 (68.75)	8 (50.00)	
no diabetes	6 (18.75)	3 (18.75)	3 (18.75)	
Dyslipidemia, n (%), yes	12 (37.50)	7 (43.75)	5 (31.25)	0.716
Carotid arteries, n (%), atherosclerosis *	7 (25.00)	3 (23.08)	4 (26.67)	0.999
normal	18 (64.29)	9 (69.23)	9 (60.00)	
abnormal	3 (10.71)	1 (7.69)	2 (13.33)	
Fasting GH (ng/mL), median (IQR)	9.1 (3.2-21.9)	11.6 (3.3-27.1)	6.4 (2.5-20.8)	0.665
Nadir GH during 75g OGTT (ng/mL), median (IQR)	4.9 (1.9-21.1)	6.8 (2.4-32.1)	4.7 (1.8-13.4)	0.621
IGF-1 (ng/mL), median (IQR)	755 (558-942)	803 (643-1051)	732 (508-842)	0.181
IGF-1 (x ULN), median (IQR)	3.2 (2.3-4.3)	3.9 (3.0-4.7)	2.8 (2.1-3.3)	0.027

*no data for 4 patients (3 men and 1 woman), IQR, interquartile range; BMI, body mass index; BSA, body surface area; ULN, upper limit of normal; p for U – Mann-Whitney test to compare numerical variables between genders, or for Fisher exact test to compare categorical variables between genders. The bold values are statistically significant.



treatment and 3 months after TSS. (b) Changes of IGF-1 at baseline, after 3 and 6 months of SRL treatment and 3 months after TSS. (C) Changes of IGF-1xULN at baseline, after 3 and 6 months of SRL treatment and 3 months after TSS.

Doppler; the median E/A ratio was 0.9 and it was normal. All patients included in the study had normal EF, the median EF was 64% (62% in males and 66% in females). The baseline echocardiography parameters are presented in Table 2.

Left ventricular myocardial strain assessed by STE

At baseline 50% of newly diagnosed patients with acromegaly had abnormal GLS, i.e., higher than -20%. The majority of patients with abnormal GLS constituted men (62.5% vs. 37.5%). GLS significantly improved after 3 months of SRL treatment comparing to baseline: -20.4% vs. -20.0%, respectively, p=0.045. There was no further change in GLS after 6 months of SRL therapy and no significant change after TSS. The number of patients with abnormal GLS decreased at the end of the study to 43%. The change in GLS during acromegaly treatment is presented in Figure 3 and in Supplementary Figure 2. The median baseline GLS was lower in females compared to males: -20.2% vs. -18.6%, however the difference did not reach the statistical significance (p=0.06). Women had significantly lower GLS than men after 3 and 6 months of SRL treatment (Figure 4). There was no statistically significant difference in GLS between women with hypogonadism and women with normal gonadal function either at baseline (p=0.24) or during treatment with SRL (3 and 6 months, respectively: p=0.18, p=0.25) and 3 months after TSS (p=0.92).

Correlations between GLS and clinical and hormonal characteristics

We found a significant positive correlation of baseline GLS with BMI (r=0.446, p=0.011) and BSA (r=0.411, p=0.019). It means that the higher the patient's BMI and BSA was, the worse their GLS was, on average. We did not find any statistical correlation of baseline GLS with age, disease duration, arterial hypertension, diabetes status or disease activity at baseline (p>0.05) (Table 3).

There was also a strong positive correlation between GLS and IGF-1 levels after TSS (r=0.570, p=0.007) (Table 3). It means that the higher the patient's IGF-1was, the worse their GLS was, on average. The median GLS was significantly lower in patients who achieved remission after TSS compared to those who did not normalize GH and IGF-1 levels: -22.5% vs -19.8%, respectively, p=0.029 (Figure 5).

Correlations between GLS and baseline echocardiography parameters

We found a significant negative correlation between baseline GLS and LAVi: r= -0.354, p=0.047 (Figure 6A) and a negative correlation between GLS and E/A: r= -0.381, p=0.031 (Figure 6B). It means that the higher the patient's LAVi and E/A were, the more negative their GLS was, which means better, on average. We did not find any significant correlations between GLS and other echocardiographic parameters, including LVMi, at baseline (Table 4).

Discussion

Our study confirmed the beneficial impact of acromegaly treatment on LV systolic function assessed by STE. The median baseline GLS in the study group was normal and amounted to -20%. However, it is worth emphasizing that 50% of the subjects had an abnormal value of this parameter which indicated subclinical LV systolic dysfunction. In our recent study, retrospectively evaluating a cohort of 43 previously untreated acromegaly patients with normal EF, the median GLS value was significantly worse compared to the control group (-16.6% vs. -20.7%; p < 0.01) and that was consistent with subclinical systolic dysfunction (21). The better GLS values observed in the current prospective study could be probably attributed to the fact that the mean LVMi was normal



in both male and female groups: 99g/m² and 94g/m², respectively, though almost 47% of patients had LVH. In the studies available in the literature, where abnormal GLS in acromegaly patients was found, the LVMi values were definitely higher than in our group of patients (18, 21).

Another reasons that could explain the normal median GLS result and normal median LVMi were possibly the good hypertension control and the cardioprotective effect of novel antihypertensive drugs which has been proven in many studies (27–29). In our study, in the group of 17 patients diagnosed with hypertension, 14 (82.3%) were treated with ACEI/ARB-the drugs that have the potential to reverse LVH. Interestingly, in our study women had significantly better GLS values not only baseline but also during acromegaly treatment compared to men. This fact may be partly explained by the lower BMI and BSA values in women compared to men: 26 kg/m² vs. 29 kg/m², p<0.001 and 1.8 m² vs. 2.2 m², p<0.001, respectively and a strong positive correlation between these parameters and GLS.

Women with acromegaly, like women in the general population, have better GLS compared to men (30). Similar observations had researchers evaluating the heart of athletes by STE. Female athletes have also been found to have better GLS than male athletes suggesting that further research is needed in STE and gender differences (31).

These results are surprising especially when we realize that women with acromegaly, but also with other cardiovascular diseases have a worse prognosis and shorter life expectancy (7). A Korean nationwide study based on 718 acromegaly patients confirmed a significantly increased mortality risk in females (HR=1.75) but not in males (4). It is not fully known whether gender affects acromegaly, but it has been proven that some diseases show sexual dimorphism. The gonadal steroids modulate the GH axis, androgens enhance the effects of GH, and in contrast, estrogens exert an opposite effect by inhibiting the production of IGF-1 from the liver (32–34). Lenders et al. wrote about a different biochemical profile in women and men with acromegaly (35). This profile in women consists of relatively higher GH levels, which causes insulin resistance, and lower IGF-1 levels, which mediates anabolism. These differences can cause higher prevalence of hypertension and diabetes in women, and what is very important, they can be the cause of longer delay in diagnosis in women (35, 36). The lower IGF-1 levels in females with acromegaly may be also the reason for better GLS values. In our study females had significantly lower IGF-1 levels compared to males not only baseline but also during treatment.

In the light of the previous data on healthy subjects and our results, it may be necessary to redefine and differentiate the cut-off points for women and men for the GLS parameter, similarly to the different normal ranges used for other echocardiographic parameters.

Pierre et al. wrote that it was necessary, because a woman's heart differed not only in size but above all, it had a different microstructural architecture (37).

The female heart has a larger EF and beats at a faster rate but generates a smaller cardiac output. It has a lower blood pressure but produces universally larger contractile strains (37).

The sex differences in cardiac form and function are complex, important, and obvious, and can't be ignored. When we use similar diagnostic criteria for female and male hearts, cardiac diseases in women can be overlooked, diagnosed later and with more severe symptoms than in men. This should be applied also to females with acromegaly to improve their increased cardiovascular mortality compared to males.

To the best of our knowledge this is the first prospective study to evaluate the effect of acromegaly treatment on GLS value, not only the effect of SRL treatment but also the effect of TSS. Silva et al. and Bogazzi et al. in prospective studies evaluated patients with acromegaly before and after 12 months of octreotide and 6 months of lanreotide treatment TABLE 2 Echocardiography parameters in acromegalic patients (N=32), at baseline.

Variable	Total (N=32)	Men (N=16)	Women (N=16)	р
Cardiac chamber size				
LVEDV (mL), median (IQR)	105 (81-124)	119 (99-141)	83 (72-109)	0.001
above normal, n (%)	8 (25.00)	3 (18.75)	5 (31.25)	0.685
LVEDV/BSA (mL/m ²), median (IQR)	50.7 (43.2-63.4)	56.4 (47.3-66.7)	44.5 (42.4-57.4)	0.118
above normal, n (%)	3 (9.38)	0 (0.00)	3 (18.75)	0.226
LVESV (mL), median (IQR)	39 (29-53)	50 (38-56)	30 (26-41)	0.003
above normal, n (%)	6 (18.75)	3 (18.75)	3 (18.75)	0.999
LVESV/BSA (mL/m ²), median (IQR)	20.0 (15.8-24.1)	23.4 (18.2-24.4)	16.7 (14.8-22.7)	0.052
above normal, n (%)	4 (12.50)	1 (6.25)	3 (18.75)	0.600
LAVi (mL/m ²), median (IQR)	41.8 (36.6-52.5)	38.5 (31.5-51.4)	43.0 (37.9-53.0)	0.300
above normal, n (%)	25 (78.13)	11 (68.75)	14 (87.50)	0.394
LV mass				
LVMi (g/m ²), median (IQR)	96 (85-115)	99 (87-123)	94 (83-111)	0.207
above normal, n (%)	15 (46.88)	7 (43.75)	8 (50.00)	0.999
Diastolic function				
E'med. (cm/s), median (IQR)	6 (5-9)	6 (5-9)	7 (5-9)	0.789
below normal, n (%)	17 (53.13)	9 (56.25)	8 (50.00)	0.999
E'lat * (cm/s), median (IQR)	9 (7-11)	10 (7-11)	8 (7-10)	0.340
below normal, n (%)	14 (51.85)	6 (42.86)	8 (61.54)	0.449
E/E', median (IQR)	10 (8-12)	8 (7-12)	10 (9-12)	0.392
above normal, n (%)	16 (50.00)	6 (37.50)	10 (62.50)	0.144
E/A, median (IQR)	0.9 (0.7-1.2)	0.9 (0.7-1.0)	0.9 (0.7-1.3)	0.361
abnormal, n (%)	10 (31.25)	5 (31.25)	5 (31.25)	0.999
Systolic function				
EF (%), median (IQR)	64 (61-67)	62 (58-65)	66 (63-68)	0.005
abnormal, n (%)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0 (0.00)	0.999
GLS (%), median (IQR)	-20.0 (-21.418.4)	-18.5 (-20.915.9)	-20.2 (-21.5 19.4)	0.062
abnormal, n (%)	16 (50.00)	10 (62.50)	6 (37.50)	0.289

*no data for 5 patients (2 men and 3 women), IQR, interquartile range; p for U – Mann-Whitney test to compare numerical variables between genders, or p for Fisher exact test to compare categorical variables between genders. The bold values are statistically significant.

(38, 39). However, the results of SRL treatment on the heart were conflicting.

In the above-mentioned studies, echocardiography and cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMRI) were used to assess changes in the patients' heart. Silva et al. in a group of 40 patients (30 were reevaluated after 12 months) did not find any clinically relevant differences in cardiac variables after 12 months of acromegaly treatment. Interestingly, only 5% of patients had LV hypertrophy features in CMRI versus 31% in echocardiography (38). In turn, Bogazzi et al. in a smaller group of 14 acromegaly patients, found a significant reduction in LVMi in the CMRI after 6 months of SRL treatment, which was even more evident when the disease was biochemically controlled (39). Colao et al. assessed the early effect of

octreotide LAR treatment on echocardiography parameters in 15 patients and among them 10 patients had previously undergone TSS. In this study more serious abnormalities in the heart of patients were observed baseline: advanced LVH and systolic dysfunction assessed by reduced EF. In the Colao et al. study a significant reduction in LVMi was obtained in all patients, with a resolution of LVH in 6 out of 11 patients. In 5 acromegalics (33%) who had reduced EF at baseline, normalization of EF was achieved in the course of treatment. Additionally, in the patients who achieved disease control - in 9 out of 15, an improvement of exercise duration and capacity was observed (40).

Hypersecretion of GH appears to have a direct effect on the heart and is associated with a specific cardiomyopathy that results





in structural and functional abnormalities due to interstitial fibrosis and edema. It is well known that GH affects water balance, and that GH excess increases myocardial water content. Gouya et al. showed that increased myocardial T2 relaxation time in CMRI which indicates myocardial edema can be normalized soon after effective treatment (10 days for seven patients) and is significantly correlated with successful reduction of GH and IGF-1 levels (41). We showed in our study that after 3 months of SRL treatment there was a significant improvement in GLS values. During this period, there was also the greatest reduction in IGF-1 levels. Therefore, the initiation of medical treatment should not be delayed, especially if the patient must wait for TSS. We also showed that complete transsphenoidal adenomectomy should always be aimed at - in this group of patients, GLS values were significantly lower than in nonradically operated patients. We also noticed a significant correlation between IGF-1 levels and GLS values.

The beneficial effect of acromegaly treatment could explain the discrepancies in GLS in recent studies, where STE was performed in patients who previously underwent TSS and were treated with SRL. Volschan et al. and Gadelha et al. did not find a significant differences in GLS between acromegaly patients and control groups. However, 62.2% of the patients enrolled to the Volschan et al. study were during acromegaly treatment, and 80% of the patients in Gadelha et al. study had a history of TSS and 72% were using medical therapy (19, 20). In recent studies a very similar picture of the "acromegalic heart" is presented with normal EF, varying degrees of LVH, usually mildly expressed diastolic dysfunction, and significantly enlarged LA (8, 18, 19, 21).

TABLE 3 Correlations of GLS (%) with characteristics and hormonal parameters in acromegalic patients.

Variable	Test	Baseline SRL 3 months		SRL 6 months		After TSS			
		test	р	test	р	test	р	test	р
Age (years)	r	0.185	0.311		n/a		n/a		n/a
Sex (males vs females)	U		0.062		0.001		0.003		0.062
BMI (kg/m ²)	r	0.446	0.011		n/a		n/a		n/a
Disease duration (years)	r	0.210	0.248		n/a		n/a		n/a
BSA (m ²)	r	0.411	0.019		n/a		n/a		n/a
Arterial hypertension (yes vs no)	U		0.281		0.129		0.068		0.944
Diabetes status (diabetes, no, prediabetes)	Н		0.612		0.847		0.363		0.796
Dyslipidemia (yes vs no)	U		0.459		0.924		0.815		0.823
Carotid arteries (atherosclerosis vs normal)	U		0.276		0.181		0.796		0.874
Fasting GH (ng/mL)	r	0.051	0.782	-0.035	0.859	0.290	0.294	0.015	0.948
Nadir GH during 75g OGTT (ng/mL)	r	-0.041	0.826		*		*	0.009	0.971
IGF-1 (ng/mL)	r	0.002	0.993	0.056	0.777	0.423	0.117	0.568	0.007
IGF-1 (x ULN)	r	0.066	0.721	0.151	0.444	0.446	0.096	0.570	0.007

n/a - not applied for time-dependent variables, * - not measured, SRL, somatostatin receptor ligand; TSS, transsphenoidal surgery,

r – Pearson correlation coefficient, U – Mann-Whitney test, H – Kruskal-Wallis test. The bold values are statistically significant.



Almost 80% of our patients had an enlarged LA with mild diastolic dysfunction (in about 50% of patients) and with LVH occurring in less than 50% of patients, however the mean LVMi was normal in both male and female groups. It is difficult to explain such changes only by an increase in the afterload. Some similarities can be found with an athlete's heart in which atrial remodeling is a physiological adaptation to volume overload allowing for greater volume delivery and increased cardiac output (42).

In patients with acromegaly, volume overload may result from the action of GH leading to water and sodium retention (36). When we look for similarities between the "acromegalic heart" and the athlete's heart, it is important to remember that hypertrophy of the LV in athletes occurs just through the activation of the IGF-1 pathway, unlike in pathological hypertrophy where the angiotensin 1 pathway is activated (43).

The LA has been incorrectly perceived as a simple transport chamber for many years.

Currently, its hemodynamic function is known in three integrated phases:1. reservoir 2. conduit and 3. booster-pump. Similarly to the LV, the Frank-Starling mechanism works in the LA. The increase in blood volume stretches the myocardial fibers, causing the cardiac muscle to contract more forcefully with increase in its mechanical performance (44).

In our study, we showed a negative correlation between LAVi and GLS. It may indicate that the dynamic and interactive relationship between LA and LV in the heart of an acromegaly patient is similar to that of an athlete's heart. Nevertheless, atrial fiber shortening, and contractility begin to fail with progressive dilation of LA. It means the threshold fiber length has been reached and further enlargement will only result in a decline of atrial function (44). Regardless of the mechanisms by which LA enlargement occurs, it results in an increased risk of arrhythmias, including atrial fibrillation, stroke, mitral regurgitation and heart failure.

Therefore, people with the so-called healthy heart and enlarged LA, like athletes, should be periodically examined using the STE method to evaluate both the LV and the LA (45) and they should have Holter ECG periodically performed (46). It is known from many studies that abnormal GLS in patients with preserved EF is associated with an increased risk of cardiac hospitalization and cardiovascular mortality (12). However, it is still an open question whether abnormal GLS in acromegalic patients with normal EF





Variable	r	р			
Cardiac chamber size					
LVEDV (mL)	0.231	0.204			
LVEDV/BSA (mL/m ²)	0.054	0.768			
LVESV (mL)	0.305	0.089			
LVESV/BSA (mL/m ²)	0.163	0.373			
LAVi (mL/m ²)	-0.354	0.047			
LV mass					
LVMi (g/m ²)	0.192	0.292			
Diastolic function					
E'med. (cm/s)	-0.265	0.142			
E'lat (cm/s)	0.138	0.493			
E/E'	-0.010	0.978			
E/A	-0.381	0.031			
Systolic function					
EF (%)	-0.538	0.001			

r - Pearson correlation coefficient. The bold values are statistically significant.

changes the prognosis of these patients, assuming that they are properly treated for the underlying disease and comorbidities. We are aware that a short follow up duration is a limitation of our study.

We expect all our patients to improve or at least maintain their results in the further follow up, and we are particularly interested in the group of patients with abnormal GLS values, whether they will maintain a normal EF after 5 years of follow-up.

Conclusions

To our knowledge, this is the first prospective study using GLS as a marker to assess the impact of a comprehensive medical and surgical treatment on LV function in patients with acromegaly, taking into account sex differences. Half of the newly diagnosed patients with acromegaly presented subclinical LV systolic dysfunction assessed by STE. However, the beneficial effect of acromegaly treatment on the LV systolic function was noticeable already after 3 months of SRL therapy, especially in females who had better GLS values compared to males during medical treatment. Surgical remission should always be aimed at, because surgical remission leads to better systolic function assessed by STE in acromegaly patients.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Bioethics Committee at The Centre of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warsaw, Poland. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

AP-G and MS-B designed the study, enrolled the patients, analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. MS-B and IC-O were involved in managing the patients. AP-G performed all 2D-Echocardiography and STE studies. GZ performed pituitary surgeries. IC-O, WZ, MD, and WK critically revised the manuscript. DR performed the statistical analysis. All authors approved the final version. All authors contributed to the article.

Conflict of interest

MS-B, IC-O, and WZ received lecture honoraria from Ipsen.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Giustina A, Barkan A, Beckers A, Biermasz N, Biller BMK, Boguszewski C, et al. A consensus on the diagnosis and treatment of acromegaly comorbidities: an update. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 105(4):dgz096. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgz096

2. Ritvonen E, Löyttyniemi E, Jaatinen P, Ebeling T, Moilanen L, Nuutila P, et al. Mortality in acromegaly: a 20-year follow-up study. *Endocr Relat Cancer* (2016) 23 (6):469-80. doi: 10.1530/ERC-16-0106

3. Maione L, Brue T, Beckers A, Delemer B, Petrossians P, Borson-Chazot F, et al. Changes in the management and comorbidities of acromegaly over three decades: the French acromegaly registry. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2017) 176(5):645–55. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-1064

 Park KH, Lee EJ, Seo GH, Ku CR. Risk for acromegaly-related comorbidities by sex in Korean acromegaly. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 105(4):dgz317. doi: 10.1210/ clinem/dgz317

5. Gadelha MR, Kasuki L, Lim DST, Fleseriu M. Systemic complications of acromegaly and the impact of the current treatment landscape: an update. *Endocr Rev* (2019) 40(1):268–332. doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00115

 Bihan H, Espinosa C, Valdes-Socin H, Salenave S, Young J, Levasseur S, et al. Long-term outcome of patients with acromegaly and congestive heart failure. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2004) 89(11):5308–13. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-0821

7. Mosca S, Paolillo S, Colao A, Bossone E, Cittadini A, Iudice FL, et al. Cardiovascular involvement in patients affected by acromegaly: an appraisal. *Int J Cardiol* (2013) 167(5):1712–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.11.109

8. Popielarz-Grygalewicz A, Gasior JS, Konwicka A, Grygalewicz P, Stelmachowska-Banaś M, Zgliczyński W, et al. Heart in acromegaly: the echocardiographic characteristics of patients diagnosed with acromegaly in various stages of the disease. *Int J Endocrinol* (2018) 2018:6935054. doi: 10.1155/2018/6935054

9. Tops LF, Delgado V, Marsan NA, Bax JJ. Myocardial strain to detect subtle left ventricular systolic dysfunction. *Eur J Heart Fail* (2017) 19(3):307–13. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.694

10. Stampehl MR, Mann DL, Nguyen JS, Cota F, Colmenares C, Dokainish H. Speckle strain echocardiography predicts outcome in patients with heart failure with both depressed and preserved left ventricular ejection fraction. *Echocardiography* (2015) 32(1):71–8. doi: 10.1111/echo.12613

11. Smiseth OA, Torp H, Opdahl A, Haugaa KH, Urheim S. Myocardial strain imaging: how useful is it in clinical decision making? *Eur Heart J* (2016) 37(15):1196–207. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv529

12. Verdonschot JAJ, Henkens M, Wang P, Schummers G, Raafs AG, Krapels IPC, et al. A global longitudinal strain cut-off value to predict adverse outcomes in individuals with a normal ejection fraction. *ESC Heart Fail* (2021) 8(5):4343–5. doi: 10.1002/ehf2.13465

13. Kalam K, Otahal P, Marwick TH. Prognostic implications of global LV dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis of global longitudinal strain and ejection fraction. *Heart* (2014) 100(21):1673–80. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2014-305538

14. Thavendiranathan P, Poulin F, Lim KD, Plana JC, Woo A, Marwick TH. Use of myocardial strain imaging by echocardiography for the early detection of cardiotoxicity in patients during and after cancer chemotherapy: a systematic review. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2014) 63(25 Pt A):2751–68. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.01.073

15. Uziębło-Życzkowska B, Krzesinński P, Witek P, Zielinński G, Jurek A, Gielerak G, et al. Cushing's disease: subclinical left ventricular systolic and diastolic dysfunction revealed by speckle tracking echocardiography and tissue Doppler imaging. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2017) 8:222. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00222

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo.2023.1154615/ full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

(A). Individual changes of GH at baseline, after 3 and 6 months of SRL treatment, 3 months after TSS. (B). Individual changes of IGF-1 at baseline, after 3 and 6 months of SRL treatment, 3 months after TSS. (C). Individual changes of IGF-1xULN at baseline, after 3 and 6 months of SRL treatment and 3 months after TSS.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

Individual changes of GLS at baseline, after 3 and 6 months of SRL treatment and 3 months after TSS.

16. Mihaila S, Mincu RI, Rimbas RC, Dulgheru RE, Dobrescu R, Magda SL, et al. Growth hormone deficiency in adults impacts left ventricular mechanics: a twodimensional speckle-tracking study. *Can J Cardiol* (2015) 31(6):752–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.cjca.2015.01.008

17. Yang QM, Fang JX, Chen XY, Lv H, Kang CS. The systolic and diastolic cardiac function of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: an evaluation of left ventricular strain and torsion using conventional and speckle tracking echocardiography. *Front Physiol* (2021) 12:726719. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.726719

18. Uziębło-Życzkowska B, Jurek A, Witek P, Zieliński G, Gielerak G, Krzesiński P. Left heart dysfunction in acromegaly revealed by novel echocardiographic methods. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2020) 11:418. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00418

19. Gadelha P, Santos ECL, Castillo J, Vilar L. Subclinical ventricular dysfunction in long-term acromegaly assessed by speckle-tracking echocardiography. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:812964. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.812964

20. Volschan ICM, Kasuki L, Silva CMS, Alcantara ML, Saraiva RM, Xavier SS, et al. Two-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography demonstrates no effect of active acromegaly on left ventricular strain. *Pituitary* (2017) 20(3):349–57. doi: 10.1007/s11102-017-0795-9

21. Popielarz-Grygalewicz A, Stelmachowska-Banaś M, Gąsior JS, Grygalewicz P, Czubalska M, Zgliczyński W, et al. Subclinical left ventricular systolic dysfunction in patients with naive acromegaly - assessment with two-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiography: retrospective study. *Endokrynol Pol* (2020) 71(3):227–34. doi: 10.5603/EP.a2020.0021

22. American Diabetes Association Professional Practice Committee. 2. classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes-2022. *Diabetes Care* (2022) 45(Suppl 1):S17–38. doi: 10.2337/dc22-S002

23. Lang RM, Badano LP, Mor-Avi V, Afilalo J, Armstrong A, Ernande L, et al. Recommendations for cardiac chamber quantification by echocardiography in adults: an update from the American society of echocardiography and the European association of cardiovascular imaging. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr* (2015) 28(1):1–39.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2014.10.003

24. Nagueh SF, Smiseth OA, Appleton CP, Byrd BF3rd, Dokainish H, Edvardsen T, et al. Recommendations for the evaluation of left ventricular diastolic function by echocardiography: an update from the American society of echocardiography and the European association of cardiovascular imaging. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr* (2016) 29 (4):277–314. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2016.01.011

25. Johri AM, Nambi V, Naqvi TZ, Feinstein SB, Kim ESH, Park MM, et al. Recommendations for the assessment of carotid arterial plaque by ultrasound for the characterization of atherosclerosis and evaluation of cardiovascular risk: from the American society of echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr (2020) 33(8):917–33. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2020.04.021

26. Elwertowski M, Małek G. Standards of the polish ultrasound society - update. examination of extracranial carotid and vertebral arteries. *J Ultrason* (2014) 14 (57):179–91. doi: 10.15557/JoU.2014.0018

27. Mizuguchi Y, Oishi Y, Miyoshi H, Iuchi A, Nagase N, Oki T. Beneficial effects of telmisartan on left ventricular structure and function in patients with hypertension determined by two-dimensional strain imaging. *J Hypertens* (2009) 27(9):1892–9. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e32832d8785

28. Thomas JDJ, Dattani A, Zemrak F, Burchell T, Akker SA, Kaplan FJL, et al. Renin-angiotensin system blockade improves cardiac indices in acromegaly patients. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2017) 125(6):365–7. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-123710 29. Chen JS, Pei Y, Li CE, Li YN, Wang QY, Yu J. Comparative efficacy of different types of antihypertensive drugs in reversing left ventricular hypertrophy as determined with echocardiography in hypertensive patients: a network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich)* (2020) 22(12):2175–83. doi: 10.1111/jch.14047

30. Li G, Zhang Z, Gao Y, Zhu C, Zhou S, Cao L, et al. Age- and sex-specific reference values of biventricular strain and strain rate derived from a large cohort of healthy Chinese adults: a cardiovascular magnetic resonance feature tracking study. *J Cardiovasc Magn Reson* (2022) 24(1):63. doi: 10.1186/s12968-022-00881-1

31. Forsythe L, George K, Oxborough D. Speckle tracking echocardiography for the assessment of the athlete's heart: is it ready for daily practice? *Curr Treat Options Cardiovasc Med* (2018) 20(10):83. doi: 10.1007/s11936-018-0677-0

32. Meinhardt UJ, Ho KK. Modulation of growth hormone action by sex steroids. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2006) 65(4):413–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2006.02676.x

33. Weissberger AJ, Ho KK. Activation of the somatotropic axis by testosterone in adult males: evidence for the role of aromatization. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1993) 76 (6):1407–12. doi: 10.1210/jcem.76.6.8501143

34. Ho KY, Evans WS, Blizzard RM, Veldhuis JD, Merriam GR, Samojlik E, et al. Effects of sex and age on the 24-hour profile of growth hormone secretion in man: importance of endogenous estradiol concentrations. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1987) 64 (1):51–8. doi: 10.1210/jcem-64-1-51

35. Lenders NF, McCormack AI, Ho KKY. MANAGEMENT OF ENDOCRINE DISEASE: does gender matter in the management of acromegaly? *Eur J Endocrinol* (2020) 182(5):R67–R82. doi: 10.1530/EJE-19-1023

36. Yang H, Tan H, Huang H, Li J. Advances in research on the cardiovascular complications of acromegaly. *Front Oncol* (2021) 11:640999. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2021.640999

37. St Pierre SR, Peirlinck M, Kuhl E. Sex matters: a comprehensive comparison of female and Male hearts. *Front Physiol* (2022) 13:831179. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2022.831179

38. dos Santos Silva CM, Gottlieb I, Volschan I, Kasuki L, Warszawski L, Balarini Lima GA, et al. Low frequency of cardiomyopathy using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in an acromegaly contemporary cohort. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100 (12):4447–55. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-2675

39. Bogazzi F, Lombardi M, Strata E, Aquaro G, Lombardi M, Urbani C, et al. Effects of somatostatin analogues on acromegalic cardiomyopathy: results from a prospective study using cardiac magnetic resonance. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2010) 33(2):103–8. doi: 10.1007/BF03346562

40. Colao A, Marzullo P, Ferone D, Spinelli L, Cuocolo A, Bonaduce D, et al. Cardiovascular effects of depot long-acting somatostatin analog sandostatin LAR in acromegaly. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2000) 85(9):3132–40. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.9.6782

41. Gouya H, Vignaux O, Le Roux P, Chanson P, Bertherat J, Bertagna X, et al. Rapidly reversible myocardial edema in patients with acromegaly: assessment with ultrafast T2 mapping in a single-breath-hold MRI sequence. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* (2008) 190(6):1576-82. doi: 10.2214/AJR.07.2031

42. Lasocka Z, Lewicka-Potocka Z, Faran A, Daniłowicz-Szymanowicz L, Nowak R, Kaufmann D, et al. Exercise-induced atrial remodeling in female amateur marathon runners assessed by three-dimensional and speckle tracking echocardiography. *Front Physiol* (2022) 13:863217. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.863217

43. Carbone A, D'Andrea A, Riegler L, Scarafile R, Pezzullo E, Martone F, et al. Cardiac damage in athlete's heart: when the "supernormal" heart fails! *World J Cardiol* (2017) 9(6):470–80. doi: 10.4330/wjc.v9.i6.470

44. Mehrzad R, Rajab M, Spodick DH. The three integrated phases of left atrial macrophysiology and their interactions. *Int J Mol Sci* (2014) 15(9):15146–60. doi: 10.3390/ijms150915146

45. Cheema B, Kinno M, Gu D, Ryan J, Mitter S, Rigolin V, et al. Left atrial size and strain in elite athletes: a cross-sectional study at the NBA draft combine. *Echocardiography* (2020) 37(7):1030–6. doi: 10.1111/echo.14680

46. Hong S, Kim KS, Han K, Park CY. Acromegaly and cardiovascular outcomes: a cohort study. *Eur Heart J* (2022) 43(15):1491–9. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab822

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Przemysław Witek, Warsaw Medical University, Poland

REVIEWED BY

Maria Stelmachowska-Banaś, Medical Centre for Postgraduate Education, Poland Agnieszka Jurek, Military Institute of Medicine (Poland), Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE Hai Li Ithai8@mail.sysu.edu.cn Yanbing Li Ityb@mail.sysu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 18 July 2023 ACCEPTED 05 October 2023 PUBLISHED 20 October 2023

CITATION

Huang R, Jin J, Zhang P, Yan K, Zhang H, Chen X, He W, Guan H, Liao Z, Xiao H, Li Y and Li H (2023) Use of speckle tracking echocardiography in evaluating cardiac dysfunction in patients with acromegaly: an update. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1260842. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1260842

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Huang, Jin, Zhang, Yan, Zhang, Chen, He, Guan, Liao, Xiao, Li and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Use of speckle tracking echocardiography in evaluating cardiac dysfunction in patients with acromegaly: an update

Rong Huang^{1†}, Jiewen Jin^{1†}, Pengyuan Zhang^{1†}, Kemin Yan¹, Hanrong Zhang¹, Xin Chen¹, Wei He², Hongyu Guan¹, Zhihong Liao¹, Haipeng Xiao¹, Yanbing Li^{1*} and Hai Li^{1*}

¹Department of Endocrinology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China, ²Department of Medical Ultrasonics, The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China

In recent years, cardiovascular disease has garnered increasing attention as the second leading cause of death in individuals with acromegaly, following malignancy. Identifying cardiac dysfunction early in acromegaly patients for timely intervention has become a focal point of clinical research. Speckle tracking echocardiography, a well-established ultrasound technique, surpasses conventional Doppler ultrasound in its sensitivity to assess both local and global cardiac mechanics. It can accurately detect subclinical and clinical myocardial dysfunction, including myocardial ischemia, ventricular hypertrophy, and valvular changes. Over the past five years, the use of speckle tracking echocardiography in acromegaly patients has emerged as a novel approach. Throughout the cardiac cycle, speckle tracking echocardiography offers a sensitive evaluation of the global and regional myocardial condition by quantifying the motion of myocardial fibres in distinct segments. It achieves this independently of variations in ultrasound angle and distance, effectively simulating the deformation of individual ventricles across different spatial planes. This approach provides a more accurate description of changes in cardiac strain parameters. Importantly, even in the subclinical stage when ejection fraction remains normal, the strain parameters assessed by speckle tracking echocardiography hold a good predictive value for the risk of cardiovascular death and hospitalization in acromegaly patients with concomitant cardiovascular disease. This information aids in determining the optimal timing for interventional therapy, offering important insights for cardiac risk stratification and prognosis. In the present study, we comprehensively reviewed the research progress of speckle tracking echocardiography in evaluating of cardiac dysfunction in acromegaly patients, to pave the way for early diagnosis of acromegaly cardiomyopathy.

KEYWORDS

acromegaly, cardiac dysfunction, speckle tracking echocardiography, myocardial strain, diagnosis

1 Introduction

Acromegaly is a chronic neuroendocrine disorder primarily attributed to pituitary neuroendocrine tumors (PitNETs) secreting growth hormone (GH), thereby prompting excessive production of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1). It is characterized by facial roughness and enlarged extremities due to excessive soft tissue growth and also associated with bone and joint lesions and related metabolic syndrome (1-3). The incidence of acromegaly exhibits variability, ranging between 83 and 133 cases per million individuals, according to recent research (4-10). Long-term exposure to elevated GH and IGF-1 concentrations results in higher mortality rates primarily attributed to cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, and pulmonary dysfunction, leading to a 30% notable reduction in life expectancy (2, 11). Over the past decade, cardiovascular complications have become one of the leading causes of mortality in acromegaly patients. Although the prevalence of cardiovascular disease in acromegaly patients has decreased from 44% to 23% in recent years, it still stands as a significant cause of death in this population, second only to malignant tumors (12).

These cardiovascular complications include acromegalic cardiomyopathy, hypertension, arrhythmias, and valvular disease (13). Acromegalic cardiomyopathy is characterized by left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) and diastolic dysfunction, with a prevalence ranging from 11% to 78% (mean 41.9%) (14). The prevalence rates for hypertension, arrhythmias, and valvular disease stand at 11.9%-54.7% (mean 33.6%), 89%, and 75%, respectively, with arrhythmias and valvular disease often remaining asymptomatic (13, 15). Patients with acromegaly suffering from cardiovascular disease exhibit a twofold increase in mortality compared to those without such complications (16). GH can enhance the sensitivity and content of myofilament calcium, L-type calcium channels, and collagen deposition, thereby regulating the growth and metabolism of cardiomyocytes. In contrast, IGF-1 can reduce cardiomyocyte apoptosis, preventing the loss of these cells and contributing to the maintenance of cardiac function. However, when the heart is exposed to high concentrations of GH and IGF-1, it undergoes morphological and functional adaptive changes, primarily attributable to two mechanisms: 1) the direct toxic effects of excessive GH and IGF-1 on the heart; 2) the induction of arterial hypertension and disruption of glucose and lipid metabolism. Myocardial damage in acromegaly progresses through distinct stages: 1) asymptomatic left ventricular hypertrophy and increased systolic function in the early stage, 2) obvious LVH, diastolic dysfunction and decreased systolic function in the middle stage, 3) in the end stage, it develops into dilated cardiomyopathy, which can ultimately result in heart failure. Importantly, myocardial damage in the early stage is potentially reversible (17, 18). Therefore, the early evaluation and diagnosis of cardiovascular disease in acromegaly remain a major clinical concern.

Echocardiography presents a readily accessible technique for evaluating both structural and functional cardiac abnormalities (19). However, due to individual heterogeneity, traditional twodimensional echocardiography indices of myocardial systolicdiastolic function exhibit low sensitivity, leading to a high rate of missed diagnosis for subclinical myocardial function impariments (20). Consequently, there is a pressing need for a non-invasive diagnostic tool characterized by speed, repeatability, and high resolution to enhance clinical diagnosis and treatment.

Speckle tracking echocardiography (STE) emerges as a relatively recent ultrasound technique that allows quantitative analysis of both regional and overall myocardial motion and deformation. Importantly, it overcomes the well-documented limitations of Doppler ultrasound, including angle dependence, susceptibility to noise interference, and interobserver variability (21, 22). Currently, STE finds prominent clinical applications in: 1) evaluating subclinical myocardial dysfunction, such as cardiomyopathy resulting from various causes, viral myocarditis, and heart failure with preserved ejection fraction, etc. 2) distinguishing between types of cardiac wall hypertrophy, such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and myocardial amyloidosis, (3) diagnosing ischemic heart diseases, such as coronary heart disease, 4) evaluating cardiac function in cancer patients, including monitoring cardiotoxicity induced by chemotherapeutic agents (23). This ultrasound technique has proven invaluable in the clinical diagnosis and prognostic stratification of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, pericardial diseases, and aortic regurgitation (24-26). For example, STE enables the prediction of the optimal timing to initiate antihypertensive therapy in patients with class I hypertension (AH) and determines the most suitable time for intervention in patients with asymptomatic severe heart valve disease. Notably, data indicates improvements in global longitudinal strain (GLS) following 24 weeks of hypertension medication, even if AH has not returned to normal levels. In patients with atrial fibrillation, peak left atrial longitudinal strain (PALS) emerges as an independent predictor of recurrence following conversion to sinus rhythm, exhibiting an 85% sensitivity and 99% specificity. When evaluating diastolic function in heart failure patients, PALS demonstrates superior feasibility compared to atrial volumes, resulting in a 75% reduction in the diagnosis of diastolic function of uncertain clinical significance and significantly improving clinical diagnostic accuracy (27). In the field of PitNETs, STE has been successively used in Cushing's disease (28), thyrotropin-secreting tumors (29, 30), and acromegaly, with the latter being the most extensively studied. STE has emerged as a crucial tool in evaluating cardiac function among acromegaly patients. Its application in acromegaly represents a novel clinical practice, offering a new avenue and reference for the diagnosis and treatment of acromegaly. Therefore, in the present study, we comprehensively review cardiac dysfunction detected through speckle tracking technology in patients with acromegaly. Additionally, we summarize the ultrasound characteristics indicative of subclinical myocardial functional injuries. These findings may open up new perspectives to guide future clinical management.

2 Speckle tracking ultrasound technology

Speckle tracking ultrasound technology and traditional two- or three-dimensional digital echocardiography images, employ image processing algorithms to identify small and stable myocardial footprints or spots generated by the interaction between ultrasound waves and myocardial tissue in the selected region of interest. Tracking the distance between frames and spots or their spatial-temporal displacement (regional strain velocity vector) in each cardiac cycle, provides valuable information on focal, phased, and global myocardial strain (23). The conventional method for measuring Lagrangian strain was originally developed using tissue Doppler (31). However, its precision and usefulness are limited due to its angular dependence and sensitivity to noise. STE effectively addresses these limitations and can accurately distinguish between normal myocardial segmental displacements and those occurring passively due to myocardial hypertrophy or the restriction of adjacent myocardial tissue (23). Two-dimensional STE (2D-STE) assesses global circumferential strain (GCS) and global radial strain (GRS) through a combination of three short-axis views and three apical views to measure GLS. In contrast, three-dimensional STE (3D-STE) requires only one apical image acquisition to automatically measure GCS, GRS, and GLS. While 2D-STE involves acquiring multiple 2D images over multiple cardiac cycles, making it more time-consuming, it offers higher temporal and spatial resolution compared to the single full-volume acquisition of 3D-STE (32). These strain indicators in STE represent the ratio of the maximum contraction change in myocardial length in all directions to its initial size. During systole, when the myocardium contracts, the length decreases, resulting in strain parameters typically expressed as negative values. Lower negative values indicate better ventricular systolic function.

3 2D-STE

2D-STE is an innovative ultrasound technique that combines speckle tracking with two-dimensional ultrasound to assess longitudinal strain (LS), radial strain (RS), and circumferential strain(CS) associated with myocardial contractility that can occur at the myocardial level. This is in contrast to the left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), which is commonly used clinically to evaluate left ventricular systolic function but is less sensitive to subtle ultrastructural changes (21, 33-35). Myocardial strain refers to the percentage change in myocardial length relative to its initial myocardial length in a non-stress state, enabling the direct visualization of myocardial changes such as elongation, shortening, thickening, or thinning (36). GLS is considered the most valuable parameter for clinical diagnosis and prognosis (35, 37, 38). It is frequently used in clinical practice for assessing myocardial function, stratification of disease prognosis, and defining drug threshold (39). Moreover, 2D-STE is free from defects like noise interference, angle dependence, or heterogeneity among different operators, making it highly valuable in clinical applications (40).

3.1 Left ventricular (LV) strain imaging

The use of 2D STE in patients with acromegaly is on the rise, with a primary focus on GLS as a key parameter for assessing changes in ventricular anatomical volume changes and kinematic alterations. Left ventricular function has always been a focal point of clinical research, thus warranting early exploration. Volschan ICM et al. were among the first to apply STE to assess cardiac function in acromegaly patients (40). Nevertheless, they observed no difference in GLS between acromegaly patients and healthy controls, matched for sex, age, AH, and diabetes mellitus(DM). This finding contradicted previous results obtained using Doppler ultrasound strain imaging (41-44). Subsequently, Popielarz-Grygalewicz et al. used 2D STE to assess GLS in patients with naive acromegaly who exhibited normal LVEF (45). Interestingly, this study revealed that the acromegaly group exhibited significantly worse GLS values when compared to the control group (-16.6% vs. -20.7%, p < 0.01). Concurrently, the study by Uziębło-Życzkowska et al. arrived at similar results as Popielarz-Grygalewicz et al. (-18.1% vs. -19.4%, p = 0.023) (46). Conversely, Gadelha P et al. obtained results similar to those of Volschan ICM et al. in their latest study (19). We hypothesize that the disparity in results may be attributed to differing inclusion criteria. Volschan ICM et al. and Gadelha P et al. included subjects who had already undergone surgery or recived somatostatin analogs(SSA) treatment, while Popielarz-Grygalewicz et al. focused on patients who had not received any treatment. As a result, Popielarz-Grygalewicz A. et al. further investigated GLS differences before and after acromegaly treatment. They found that GLS significantly improved in the group receiving appropriate treatment(using SSA for 3 months) compared to the untreated group (-20.4% vs. -20.0%, p = 0.045). However, there was no significant change in GLS after SSA treatment lasting more than 6 months. Additionally, they discovered a positive correlation between baseline GLS with BMI (r=0.446, p=0.011) as well as BSA (r=0.411, p=0.019), explaining the better GLS values in female patients, possibly related to lower BMI and BSA values in women (47).

3.2 Left atrial (LA) strain imaging

Only a limited number of studies have employed 2D STE to assess LA function in acromegaly patients. Uziębło-Życzkowska et al. used 2D STE to evaluate changes in LA and LV function parameters among acromegaly patients, and their findings indicated that GLS was significantly worse in these patients (46). This observation was related to the stage of the disease and the GH levels of the patients. Similarly, Koca et al. used 2D STE to assess the functional parameters of LA and LV in individuals with active, long-term acromegaly. Their research revealed a significant deterioration in the GLS of both LA and LV (48), aligning with the results of Uziębło-Życzkowska et al. Furthermore, Koca et al. were the first to identify a strong positive correlation between the extent of GLS-LA reduction in and IGF-1 levels. However, the relationship between IGF-1 and GLS-LV remained controversial (19, 40, 48).

The LA serves multiple roles within the cardiac system, including acting as a cardiac reservoir, catheter, and booster pump (49). It also plays a pivotal predictive role in major cardiovascular and cerebrovascular adverse events (MACE), such

as heart failure, arrhythmias, and stroke (50-52). Given its importance in maintaining normal cardiac function, LA strain parameters can be classified into distinct categories based on their role during different phases of the cardiac cycle. These categories include left atrial reservoir strain (LASr), left atrial conduit strain (LASc), and left atrial contractile strain (LASct), with LASr receiving particular attention in clinical research. During ventricular systole, LA deformation depends on atrial blood filling and the traction exerted by the mitral annulus due to LV contraction. Consequently, LASr can serve as an indicator of LA myocardial fibrosis and LV functional characteristics, facilitating assessments of LV dysfunction classification and the risk of recurring MACE (e.g., atrial fibrillation, heart failure, etc.) (53, 54). Nevertheless, it is worth noting that LASr's clinical information pertaining to the diastolic phase may be limited, and further clinical studies are warranted to explore the predictive potential of LASc and LASct to address this limitation. Routine LA monitoring and evaluation in clinical diagnosis and treatment could help identify subclinical risk events promptly. Table 1 summarizes the application of 2D STE with acromegaly patients.

4 3D-STE

Compared to 2D STE, the analysis of cardiac functional parameters using 3D STE offers several advantages. It is faster, demands less technical expertise, reduces interobserver variability, and enhances reproducibility (55). Furthermore, 3D STE enables the calculation of area strain (AS) by measuring wall strain in the circumferential direction (56). Despite some inherent drawbacks, such as lower temporal and spatial resolution and a tendency to underestimate rotation and distortion, the benefits of 3D STE in measuring cardiac strain parameters outweigh these limitations. Simultaneously, there is also a "stitching noise" observed between

TABLE 1 Application of 2D STE in patients with acromegaly.

individual subvolumes (57, 58). However, it is essential to note that the advantages of employing 3D STE for measuring cardiac strain parameters significantly outweigh these disadvantages. Over the years, there has been an increasing trend toward the adoption of 3D STE for the assessment of cardiac dysfunction in patients with acromegaly.

4.1 Left ventricular (LV) strain imaging

In 2018, Kormányos et al. conducted pioneering research using 3D STE to investigate LV rotation patterns and mechanical changes in acromegaly patients. Their findings revealed significant alterations in LV basal, apical, and ventricular rotation parameters among patients with acromegaly (59). Notably, only torsion time displayed a significant difference between the active and inactive acromegaly subgroups. Parameters associated with LV rotational mechanics offer valuable insights into cardiac injury beyond what can be gleaned from LVEF. They provide a means to predict myocardial recovery clinically and offer indicators of parasympathetic autonomic function (60). Nevertheless, studies on myocardial rotational mechanics in acromegaly remain limited. While 3D STE can simultaneously measure cardiac volume, strain, and rotation parameters, no research has yet employed 3D STE to comprehensively assess all relevant cardiac parameters in acromegaly patients, offering a complete assessment of cardiac injury and prognosis.

Kormányos et al. used 3D STE to evaluate cardiac radial strain (RS), longitudinal strain (LS), circumferential strain (CS), and three-dimensional comprehensive strain (3DS) in active acromegaly patients (61). Their findings indicated that GRS was significantly improved in patients with active acromegaly compared to controls, suggesting increased myocardial strain and contractility. Only CS displayed statistically significant differences

Year	First author	First author Patients Disease state		Cardiac	Strai	n Parame	ters
rear	First autrior	included	Disease state	region	Improved	Worse	Normal
2017	Volschan ICM (40).	37	Naive : Persistent non-remission: Remission (14:16:7)	LV	_	_	GLS
2020	Uziębło-Życzkowska B (<mark>46</mark>).	30	NA	LA, LV	_	GLS	_
2020	Popielarz-Grygalewicz A (45).	43	Naive	LV	_	GLS	_
2022	Gadelha P (19).	25	Remission : Naive (20:5)	LV	_	GRS	GLS, GCS, LVT
2022	Коса Н (48).	50	Recurrence : Persistent non-remission(45:5)	LA, LV	_	GLS	_
2023	Popielarz-Grygalewicz A (47).	35	Naive	LV	_	_	GLS

LV, left ventricular; LA, left atrial; GLS, global longitudinal strain; GCS, global circumferential strain; GRS, global radial strain; LVT, left ventricular twist; NA, not available. The symbol "—" means "NA, not available". between the active and inactive acromegaly subgroups, consistent with subsequent observations by Gadelha P et al. (19) Furthermore, Gadelha P's team identified a reduction in GRS in patients with inactive acromegaly, although it remained within the normal range (35%-39%) (62). Interestingly, in previous studies on LV rotation and torsional mechanics conducted by Kormányos' team, both LV rotation parameters exhibited some degree of reduction, suggesting myocardial injury, regardless of acromegaly activity (59). This appears to contradict the observed increase in GRS. However, it is reasonable to speculate whether there may exist a self-regulatory threshold within the LV, whereby myocardial rotational parameters decrease while GRS improves compensatorily to ensure normal cardiac function. When the disease is effectively controlled, GRS returns to normal range, indicating reversibility and highlighting the role of disease control in mitigating myocardial damage. GRS is inherently more variable than GLS, with small changes in specific regions capable of yielding significant GRS results (62, 63). Consequently, when assessing myocardial GRS changes, a comprehensive analysis of both segmental and global changes should be considered.

To date, no comprehensive study has explored the factors influencing LV deformation using 3D STE. Nemes A et al. attempted to use 3D STE to assess the effect of DM on LV rotation and deformation parameters in acromegaly patients (64). Their study found that, whether with or without diabetes, LV tip torsion parameters exhibited a certain degree of reduction in acromegaly patients. However, an improvement in GRS was observed only in the acromegaly group without diabetes, with GRS levels in the acromegaly group with diabetes resembling those in the control group. As discussed earlier, better GRS may manifest as a compensatory response to cardiac damage, which may be offset by the onset of DM. Previous studies have suggested that DM can accelerate aortic sclerosis in patients with acromegaly (65). Consequently, it is reasonable to speculate that DM may exacerbate myocardial deformation in acromegaly patients and expedite the progression of myocardial injury. Further clinical investigations are warranted to determine whether hypertension and dyslipidemia yield similar outcomes in acromegaly patients.

4.2 Left atrial (LA) strain imaging

The LA functions as an auxiliary pump for the ventricle, undergoing physiological remodeling to support the ventricle's ejection function during increased load. However, the magnitude of atrial enlargement is limited, and once pathological remodeling, such as fibrosis or atrial fibrillation occurs, reversal becomes unlikely. Thus, timely recognition and intervention for left atrial injury are of paramount importance (66). Kormányos et al. applied 3D STE to evaluate the volume and functional parameters of the LA in acromegaly patients (61). Their investigation revealed that volume parameters (maximum end-systolic volume, pre-systolic atrial volume, and end-diastolic minimum volume) and strain parameters (RS and 3DS) were significantly more favorable in acromegaly patients compared to healthy controls. However, GCS experienced a moderate deterioration. Particularly, the improvement in GRS was more pronounced in the subgroup with active acromegaly, mirroring findings observed in the left ventricle. Kormányos et al. suggested that this LA remodeling might represent a compensatory mechanism in response to diastolic filling impairment in acromegaly patients. LV remodeling typically progresses through stages, with early manifestations of myocardial hypertrophy and increased myocardial contractility. This is followed by the development of end-diastolic underfilling, culminating in decreased LVEF, irreversible ventricular remodeling, and congestive heart failure at the end stage (67).

Popielarz-Grygalewicz A et al. indicated that nearly 80% of acromegaly patients exhibit increased LAVi, whereas LVH is observed in less than 50% of patients. This suggests that adaptive LA remodeling takes precedence over LV remodeling in the cardiac progression of acromegaly patients. Furthermore, the study identified a negative correlation between LAVi and GLS, highlighting that the LA, functioning as a cardiac reservoir, catheter, and booster pump, shares a Frank-Starling regulatory mechanism similar to the LV. The LA and LV work in dynamic cooperation (47). Consequently, periodic STE assessments of the LV and LA can track the progression of cardiac damage in acromegaly patients.

4.3 Right atrial (RA) strain imaging

Limited research has investigated the functional parameters of RA in patients with acromegaly. Historically, the role of the RA has been characterized as 'the first to live and the last to die, underscoring its pivotal role in maintaining normal blood supply to the heart. Using 3D STE for a quantitative assessment of RA function can greatly enhance our understanding of its function and remodeling (68). Kormányos et al. used 3D STE to assess the RA in acromegaly patients (69). Their findings revealed a significant increase in volume parameters (maximum end-systolic volume, pre-systolic atrial volume, end-diastolic minimum volume) and an improvement in strain parameters (RS and 3DS). Conversely, GCS and GLS exhibited some degree of deterioration, which is consistent with the results of left atrial evaluations. Moreover, this study revealed that myocardial remodeling can be reversed upon the control of IGF-1, as observed in LA. However, further experimentation is warranted to explore whether the evolution of the RA parallels that of the LA.

4.4 Mitral annulus (MA) imaging

The prevalence of heart valve disease in acromegaly patients approaches 75% (13), with most cases involving asymptomatic valvular changes. The mitral valve is predominantly affected, followed by the aortic valve, typically manifesting as mitral regurgitation (15). Cardiac valve injury and myocardial hypertrophy follow distinct disease progression mechanisms, and to some extent, myocardial hypertrophy can be improved with intervention. Conversely, valvular injury represents an irreversible process, with the risk of valvular disease increasing by 19% annually as the disease advances (70). Therefore, early identification of acromegaly is very critical. Conventional two-dimensional Doppler ultrasound often underestimates the diameter of the MA, whereas experimentally evidence underscores the superior accuracy of three-dimensional ultrasound compared to the two-dimensional ultrasound, accurately reflecting the real shape of the valvular annulus (71-73). Nemes A et al. endeavored to evaluate the MA of acromegaly patients using 3D STE and observed a significant increase in its diameter, area, and perimeter compared to the control group (74). Nonetheless, the functional parameters of the MA exhibited no significant changes, which explains why acromegaly patients often show asymptomatic valve injuries. The activity of both LA and LV can influence MA contraction (75). We postulate that MA dilatation in acromegaly patients may mirror the compensatory mechanism observed in GRS (19, 61, 76). Mitral annulus dilatation could potentially serve as a regulatory mechanism against cardiac injury caused by persistently elevated concentrations of GH and IGF-1. Nonetheless, there is a dearth of research elucidating the mechanism behind mitral annular injury, warranting further exploration. Table 2 summarizes the application of 3D STE in acromegaly patients.

5 Perspectives on the use of STE in assessing the effects of acromegaly treatment

The primary treatments for acromegaly include surgery, drugs, and radiotherapy. Timely surgery serves as the cornerstone of early treatment, while drugs and radiotherapy are commonly employed as second-and third-line options when clinical remission is not achieved following surgical treatment.

TABLE 2 Application of 3D STE in patients with acromegaly.

However, even after reaching the clinical remission target for GH, additional treatment for complications remains necessary (3). In general, prompt treatment can partially reverse early myocardial damage. Presently, the primary objective in managing acromegaly is to maintain GH and IGF-1 secretion at normal levels, thereby decelerating disease progression and reducing mortality (14). Previous studies have demonstrated the significant advantages of SSA in acromegaly patients, particularly in terms of cardiac electrophysiology. They lead to reductions in heart rate, ventricular extrasystoles, and QT interval dispersion, thus reducing the incidence of arrhythmias (77). Additionally, SSA treatment can mitigate LVH, and restore normal systolic and diastolic functions (18). CMRI(cardiac magnetic resonance imaging) has been employed to assess changes in LV function and structure before and after drug treatment in acromegaly. Results have shown significant improvements in LVEF, LVH, left ventricular end-systolic volume, and end-diastolic volume (78-80), warranting further exploration in future research. It is worth discussing whether other atria and ventricles in acromegaly undergo similar structural and functional changes and whether more sensitive indicators can predict heart injury. Speckle tracking ultrasound, especially 3D-STE, can provide insights into myocardial torsional, GRS, GCS, and GLS. This allows for the early detection of myocardial functional impairment before a decrease in LVEF evident. Furthermore, it can distinguish between pathological myocardial abnormalities and physiologically adaptive changes based on characteristic strain patterns. It can also detect the reduction in pathological diastolic function caused by myocardial hypertrophy before the decrease in LVEF, facilitating timely intervention to reverse myocardial injury. While the cardiac strain parameters of acromegaly patients tend to improve to some extent after treatment, a more extended follow-up study is needed to ascertain the predictive value of STE in cardiac function recovery.

Year	First	Patients	Disease state Cardiac			Strain Param	neters
rear	author	included	Disease state	region	Improved	Worse	Normal
2017	Kormányos Á (59).	20	Persistentnon-remission:Remission (12:8)	LV	_	LVBR, LVT, LVAR	_
2018	Kormányos Á (61).	19	Persistentnon-remission:Remission (11:8)	LA	GRS, 3DS	GLS	GCS, GAS
2020	Kormányos Á (69).	22	Persistentnon-remission:Remission (10:12)	RA	3DS	_	GLS, GRS, GCS, GAS
2020	Kormányos Á (76).	25	Persistentnon-remission:Remission (14:11)	LV	GRS	_	GLS, GAS, GCS, 3DS
2021	Nemes A (74).	24	Persistentnon-remission:Remission (12:12)	MA	_	_	_
2021	Nemes A (64).	24	Persistentnon-remission:Remission (15:9)	LV	GRS	LVAR, LVT	GCS, GLS, GAS, 3DS, LVBR

LV, left ventricular; LA, left atrial; RA, right atrial; MA, Mitral annulus; GLS, global longitudinal strain; GCS, global circumferential strain; GRS, global radial strain; GAS, global area strain; LVT, left ventricular twist; LVBR, left ventricular basal rotation; LVAR, left ventricular apical rotation; 3DS, three-dimensional comprehensive strain. The symbol "—" means "NA. not available".

6 Conclusion

The STE can identify the changes of early atrioventricular motion pattern changes and evaluate myocardial strain parameters, offering valuable evidence of subclinical myocardial injury. This information is crucial for the clinical management and prognosis of cardiac dysfunction in acromegaly patients. However, since STE is a relatively recent technique, current research on its application to explore myocardial strain parameters in acromegaly patients is insufficient and long-term studies evaluating the predictive value of strain parameters are lacking. Further research is required to determine the accuracy of strain parameters in predicting the prognosis and survival outcomes of acromegaly patients. Nonetheless, we can affirm that the speckle tracking technique holds significant potential application prospects in acromegaly and cardiac dysfunction, representing a breakthrough in diagnosis. In clinical practice, the selection of imaging techniques depends on the indications and information requirements for a given case. Often, a combination of one or more imaging modalities is employed to achieve an accurate disease diagnosis. Commonly used cardiac imaging techniques for evaluating myocardial performance include echocardiography, CMRI, ventriculography, myocardial radionuclide imaging, and CT(Computed Tomography) (Table 3). While these techniques generally exhibit good correlation, each possesses distinct advantages and limitations (20, 59, 81-87), which can contribute to

TABLE 3 Different imaging techniques for assessing myocardial fu	inction.
--	----------

	Advantages	Limitations
Conventional echocardiography (20, 81)	 Most used, clinical first choice Convenient and quick Safe and cheap 	Apical fluoroscopy shortening Highly dependent on geometric assumptions The sensitivity of myocardial systolic- diastolic function indicators is low, resulting in a high rate of missed diagnosis of subclinical myocardial dysfunction
STE (59, 82, 83)	 Non-invasive and radiation-free High speed, high accuracy and good repeatability Incremental value independent of EF Not restricted by geometry Without apical fluoroscopy shortening Global and regional ventricular function can be evaluated. 	 Poor temporal and spatial resolution High requirements for image quality Tends to underestimate the degree of rotation and distortion of LV, and there may be "splicing noise" Limited by poor endocardial depiction, resulting in underestimation of strain parameters.

TABLE 3 Continued

	Advantages	Limitations
		• With inter-observer heterogeneity
CMRI (84, 85)	 Radiation-free High temporal and spatial resolution, high accuracy and repeatability High signal-to-background ratio, easy to determine the intimal boundary; Three-dimensional tomography can be obtained in any plane direction, which is not affected by the patient's body shape. Comprehensive evaluation of cardiac anatomy and function The gold standard to determine myocardial function 	 Expensive and requires highly skilled operators Time-consuming Not suitable for pacemaker/defibrillator patients/claustrophobic patients Movement during image acquisition can cause artifacts
RVG (85)	 High repeatability and Low operator dependence Independent of geometric assumptions Accurate determination of EF, facilitating cardiac evaluation in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy, multiple wall motion abnormalities, and altered left ventricular geometry 	 With radiation exposure Unable to assess localized systolic thickening Unable to get anatomical information incidentally Low sensitivity to ventricular hypertrophy
X-ray ventriculography (86)	 High speed and high accuracy High signal-background noise ratio, good boundary resolution Real-time performance 	 Expensive Invasive and x-ray exposure; Single-plane imaging, depending on geometric assumptions Risk of premature ventricular contractions;
CT (87)	 Non-invasive high signal-to-background ratio, easy to determine the intimal boundary Simultaneous analysis and study of the relationship between coronary artery disease and cardiac function 	 X-ray exposure Poor temporal resolution Require injection of contrast agent, causing kidney damage Limited by arrhythmias
CCTA (86)	 Non-invasive High temporal and spatial resolution Left ventricular ejection fraction and wall motion can be accurately evaluated, and the accuracy is better than that of ventriculography and ultrasound. 	 Iodide contrast agent and radiation exposure Artifacts and poor image quality will occur in the case of fast heart rate.

CMRI, cardiac magnetic resonance imaging; STE, speckle tracking echocardiography; RVG, radionuclide ventriculography; CCTA, cardiac Computed Tomographic Angiography;CT, Computed Tomography.

larger standard deviations in myocardial function indices. Consequently, clinical diagnosis and treatment necessitate reasonable selection and the exploitation of complementary advantages. In the future, it is anticipated that STE will be used alongside other cardiac imaging techniques for the clinical diagnosis and prognosis of acromegaly patients.

7 Limitation

This paper is a summary based on our own understanding of the literature and although we have tried to be as objective as possible in our analysis, we still cannot exclude a strong subjectivity. Also, this paper is only a summary of the application of STE in the acromegaly population, and the scope of discussion is narrow, so the results should not be interpolated to the general population, pending further expansion of the study population for comparative analysis. As STE has only begun to show its clinical application in the last decade, the number of relevant papers included in this article is limited, and more relevant studies are expected in the future to further explore the diagnostic value of STE in cardiac dysfunction in the acromegaly population.

Author contributions

HL: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. RH: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Writing – original draft. JJ: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Writing – original draft. PZ: Data curation, Formal Analysis, Writing – original draft. KY: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. HZ: Investigation, Writing – review & editing. XC: Methodology, Writing – review & editing. WH: Methodology, Software, Writing – review & editing. HG: Methodology, Writing

References

1. Colao A, Grasso LFS, Giustina A, Melmed S, Chanson P, Pereira AM, et al. Acromegaly. Nature reviews. *Dis Primers* (2019) 5(1):20. doi: 10.1038/s41572-019-0071-6

2. Melmed S. Acromegaly pathogenesis and treatment. J Clin Invest (2009) 119 (11):3189–202. doi: 10.1172/JCI39375

3. Ershadinia N, Tritos NA. Diagnosis and treatment of acromegaly: an update. Mayo Clin Proc (2022) 97(2):333-46. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2021.11.007

4. Fernandez A, Karavitaki N, Wass JAH. Prevalence of pituitary adenomas: a community-based, cross-sectional study in Banbury (Oxfordshire, UK). *Clin Endocrinol* (2010) 72(3):377–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2009.03667.x

5. Daly AF, Rixhon M, Adam C, Dempegioti A, Tichomirowa MA, Beckers A. High prevalence of pituitary adenomas: a cross-sectional study in the province of Liege, Belgium. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 91(12):4769–75. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1668

6. Hoskuldsdottir GT, Fjalldal SB, Sigurjonsdottir HA. The incidence and prevalence of acromegaly, a nationwide study from 1955 through 2013. *Pituitary* (2015) 18 (6):803-7. doi: 10.1007/s11102-015-0655-4

 Raappana A, Koivukangas J, Ebeling T, Pirilä T. Incidence of pituitary adenomas in Northern Finland in 1992-2007. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2010) 95(9):4268–75. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-0537

8. Caputo M, Ucciero A, Mele C, De Marchi L, Magnani C, Cena T, et al. Use of administrative health databases to estimate incidence and prevalence of acromegaly in

review & editing. ZL: Supervision, Writing – review & editing.
 HX: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. YL: Supervision,
 Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was supported by the National Key R&D Program of China (2018YFC1314100), National Natural Science Foundation of China Youth Science Foundation (82201551); Guangdong Basic and Applied Basic Research Foundation (2019A1515010275, 2020A1515010049); The funders were not involved in study design, the collection and analysis of data, writing of the manuscript and the decision to submit the article for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Piedmont Region, Italy. J Endocrinological Invest (2019) 42(4):397–402. doi: 10.1007/s40618-018-0928-7

9. Matsubayashi K, Kawakami K. Prevalence, incidence, comorbidities, and treatment patterns among Japanese patients with acromegaly: a descriptive study using a nationwide claims database. *Endocrine J* (2020) 67(10):9997–1006. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ20-0129

10. Dal J, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Andersen M, Kristensen LØ, Laurberg P, Pedersen L, et al. Acromegaly incidence, prevalence, complications and long-term prognosis: a nationwide cohort study. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2016) 175(3):181–90. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0117

11. Kamenický P, Maione L, Chanson P. Cardiovascular complications of acromegaly. *Annales D'endocrinologie* (2021) 82(3-4):206-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ando.2020.03.010

12. Ritvonen E, Löyttyniemi E, Jaatinen P, Ebeling T, Moilanen L, Nuutila P, et al. Mortality in acromegaly: a 20-year follow-up study. *Endocrine-Related Cancer* (2016) 23(6):469–80. doi: 10.1530/ERC-16-0106

13. Sagova I, Kantarova D, Mokan M, Dragula M, Vanuga P. Cardiovascular complications in acromegaly. *Cor Et Vasa* (2022) 64(1):46–52. doi: 10.33678/cor.2021.105

14. Gadelha MR, Kasuki L, Lim DST, Fleseriu M. Systemic complications of acromegaly and the impact of the current treatment landscape: an update. *Endocrine Rev* (2019) 40(1):268–332. doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00115

15. Yang H, Tan H, Huang H, Li J. Advances in research on the cardiovascular complications of acromegaly. *Front In Oncol* (2021) 11:640999. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2021.640999

16. Esposito D, Olsson DS, Franzén S, Miftaraj M, Nåtman J, Gudbjörnsdottir S, et al. Effect of diabetes on morbidity and mortality in patients with acromegaly. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2022) 107(9):2483–92. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgac400

17. Matta MP, Caron P. Acromegalic cardiomyopathy: a review of the literature. *Pituitary* (2003) 6(4):203-7. doi: 10.1023/B:PITU.0000023427.31609.a2

18. Colao A, Grasso LFS, Di Somma C, Pivonello R. Acromegaly and heart failure. *Heart Failure Clinics* (2019) 15(3):399–408. doi: 10.1016/j.hfc.2019.03.001

19. Gadelha P, Santos ECL, Castillo J, Vilar L. Subclinical ventricular dysfunction in long-term acromegaly assessed by speckle-tracking echocardiography. *Front In Endocrinol* (2022) 13:812964. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.812964

20. Mandoli GE, Borrelli C, Cameli M, Mondillo S, Ghiadoni L, Taddei C, et al. Speckle tracking echocardiography in heart failure development and progression in patients with apneas. *Heart Fail Rev* (2022) 27(5):1869–81. doi: 10.1007/s10741-021-10197-4

21. Geyer H, Caracciolo G, Abe H, Wilansky S, Carerj S, Gentile F, et al. Assessment of myocardial mechanics using speckle tracking echocardiography: fundamentals and clinical applications. *J Am Soc Echocardiogr* (2010) 23(4):351–69. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2010.02.015

22. Edvardsen T, Gerber BL, Garot J, Bluemke DA, Lima JAC, Smiseth OA. Quantitative assessment of intrinsic regional myocardial deformation by Doppler strain rate echocardiography in humans: validation against three-dimensional tagged magnetic resonance imaging. *Circulation* (2002) 106(1):50–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000019907.77526.75

23. Collier P, Phelan D, Klein A. A test in context: myocardial strain measured by speckle-tracking echocardiography. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2017) 69(8):1043–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.12.012

24. Inciardi RM, Galderisi M, Nistri S, Santoro C, Cicoira M, Rossi A. Echocardiographic advances in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: Three-dimensional and strain imaging echocardiography. *Echocardiography* (2018) 35(5):716–26. doi: 10.1111/echo.13878

25. Olsen NT, Sogaard P, Larsson HBW, Goetze JP, Jons C, Mogelvang R, et al. Speckle-tracking echocardiography for predicting outcome in chronic aortic regurgitation during conservative management and after surgery. *JACC. Cardiovasc Imaging* (2011) 4(3):223–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2010.11.016

26. Veress G, Feng D, Oh JK. Echocardiography in pericardial diseases: new developments. *Heart Failure Rev* (2013) 18(3):267–75. doi: 10.1007/s10741-012-9325-z

27. Mandoli GE, Cameli M, Pastore MC, Benfari G, Malagoli A, D'Andrea A, et al. Speckle tracking echocardiography in early disease stages: a therapy modifier? *J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown Md.)* (2023) 24(Suppl 1):e55–66. doi: 10.2459/ JCM.000000000001422

28. Uzie Bło-Życzkowska B, Krzesinński P, Witek P, Zielinński G, Jurek A, Gielerak G, et al. Cushing's disease: subclinical left ventricular systolic and diastolic dysfunction revealed by speckle tracking echocardiography and tissue doppler imaging. *Front In Endocrinol* (2017) 8:222. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00222

29. Zhou M, Tan J, Liu J, Yin L-X, Wang S-J, Xie L, et al. Changes in left ventricular function and contractile homogeneity in young adults with newly diagnosed hyperthyroidism due to Graves' disease. *J Clin Ultrasound JCU* (2020) 48(4):216–21. doi: 10.1002/jcu.22802

30. Duzen IV, Tabur S, Ozturk S, Savcilioglu MD, Alıc E, Yetisen M, et al. Assessment of subclinical left ventricular dysfunction with speckle-tracking echocardiography in hyperthyroid and euthyroid Graves' disease and its correlation with serum TIMP-1. Acta Cardiologica (2021) 76(2):177–84. doi: 10.1080/00015385.2019.1708598

31. Urheim S, Edvardsen T, Torp H, Angelsen B, Smiseth OA. Myocardial strain by Doppler echocardiography. Validation of a new method to quantify regional myocardial function. *Circulation* (2000) 102(10):1158-64. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.10.1158

32. Altman M, Bergerot C, Aussoleil A, Davidsen ES, Sibellas F, Ovize M, et al. Assessment of left ventricular systolic function by deformation imaging derived from speckle tracking: a comparison between 2D and 3D echo modalities. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* (2014) 15(3):316–23. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jet103

33. Henkel DM, Malouf JF, Connolly HM, Michelena HI, Sarano ME, Schaff HV, et al. Asymptomatic left ventricular systolic dysfunction in patients with severe aortic stenosis: characteristics and outcomes. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2012) 60(22):2325–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.08.988

34. Schou M, Torp-Pedersen C, Gustafsson F, Abdulla J, Kober L. Wall motion index, estimated glomerular filtration rate and mortality risk in patients with heart failure or myocardial infarction: a pooled analysis of 18,010 patients. *Eur J Heart Failure* (2008) 10(7):682–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejheart.2008.04.006

35. Tops LF, Delgado V, Marsan NA, Bax JJ. Myocardial strain to detect subtle left ventricular systolic dysfunction. *Eur J Heart Failure* (2017) 19(3):307–13. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.694

36. Lang RM, Badano LP, Mor-Avi V, Afilalo J, Armstrong A, Ernande L, et al. Recommendations for cardiac chamber quantification by echocardiography in adults: an update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European

Association of Cardiovascular Imaging. J Am Soc Echocardiography Off Publ Am Soc Echocardiography (2015) 28(1):1–39. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2014.10.003

37. Gunasekaran P, Panaich S, Briasoulis A, Cardozo S, Afonso L. Incremental value of two dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography in the functional assessment and characterization of subclinical left ventricular dysfunction. *Curr Cardiol Rev* (2017) 13(1):32–40. doi: 10.2174/1573403x12666160712095938

38. Stampehl MR, Mann DL, Nguyen JS, Cota F, Colmenares C, Dokainish H. Speckle strain echocardiography predicts outcome in patients with heart failure with both depressed and preserved left ventricular ejection fraction. *Echocardiography (Mount Kisco N.Y.)* (2015) 32(1):71–8. doi: 10.1111/echo.12613

39. Potter E, Marwick TH. Assessment of left ventricular function by echocardiography: the case for routinely adding global longitudinal strain to ejection fraction. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging* (2018) 11(2 Pt 1):260–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2017.11.017

40. Volschan ICM, Kasuki L, Silva CMS, Alcantara ML, Saraiva RM, Xavier SS, et al. Two-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography demonstrates no effect of active acromegaly on left ventricular strain. *Pituitary* (2017) 20(3):349–57. doi: 10.1007/ s11102-017-0795-9

41. Jurcut R, Găloiu S, Florian A, Vlădaia A, Ioniță OR, Amzulescu MS, et al. Quantifying subtle changes in cardiovascular mechanics in acromegaly: a Doppler myocardial imaging study. *J Endocrinological Invest* (2014) 37(11):1081–90. doi: 10.1007/s40618-014-0147-9

42. Mercuro G, Zoncu S, Colonna P, Cherchi P, Mariotti S, Pigliaru F, et al. Cardiac dysfunction in acromegaly: evidence by pulsed wave tissue Doppler imaging. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2000) 143(3):363–9. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1430363

43. Galderisi M, Vitale G, Bianco A, Pivonello R, Lombardi G, Divitiis Od, et al. Pulsed tissue Doppler identifies subclinical myocardial biventricular dysfunction in active acromegaly. *Clin Endocrinol* (2006) 64(4):390–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2006.02475.x

44. Bogazzi F, Di Bello V, Palagi C, Donne MGD, Di Cori A, Gavioli S, et al. Improvement of intrinsic myocardial contractility and cardiac fibrosis degree in acromegalic patients treated with somatostatin analogues: a prospective study. *Clin Endocrinol* (2005) 62(5):590–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2005.02265.x

45. Popielarz-Grygalewicz A, Stelmachowska-Banaś M, Gasior JS, Grygalewicz P, Czubalska M, Zgliczyński W, et al. Subclinical left ventricular systolic dysfunction in patients with naive acromegaly - assessment with two-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiography: retrospective study. *Endokrynologia Polska* (2020) 71(3):227–34. doi: 10.5603/EP.a2020.0021

46. Uziębło-Życzkowska B, Jurek A, Witek P, Zieliński G, Gielerak G, Krzesiński P. Left heart dysfunction in acromegaly revealed by novel echocardiographic methods. *Front In Endocrinol* (2020) 11:418. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00418

47. Popielarz-Grygalewicz A, Stelmachowska-Banaś M, Raczkiewicz D, Czajka-Oraniec I, Zieliński G, Kochman W, et al. Effects of acromegaly treatment on left ventricular systolic function assessed by speckle tracking echocardiography in relation to sex differences: results from a prospective single center study. *Front In Endocrinol* (2023) 14:1154615. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1154615

48. Koca H, Koc M, Sumbul HE, Icen YK, Gulumsek E, Koca F, et al. Subclinical left atrial and ventricular dysfunction in acromegaly patients: A speckle tracking echocardiography study. *Arquivos Brasileiros Cardiologia* (2022) 118(3):634–45. doi: 10.36660/abc.20201174

49. Blume GG, McLeod CJ, Barnes ME, Seward JB, Pellikka PA, Bastiansen PM, et al. Left atrial function: physiology, assessment, and clinical implications. *Eur J Echocardiography J Working Group On Echocardiography Eur Soc Cardiol* (2011) 12 (6):421–30. doi: 10.1093/ejechocard/jeq175

50. Yasuda R, Murata M, Roberts R, Tokuda H, Minakata Y, Suzuki K, et al. Left atrial strain is a powerful predictor of atrial fibrillation recurrence after catheter ablation: study of a heterogeneous population with sinus rhythm or atrial fibrillation. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* (2015) 16(9):1008–14. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jev028

51. Petre I, Onciul S, Iancovici S, Zamfir D, Stoian M, Scărlătescu A, et al. Left atrial strain for predicting atrial fibrillation onset in hypertensive patients. *High Blood Pressure Cardiovasc Prev Off J Ital Soc Hypertension* (2019) 26(4):331–7. doi: 10.1007/s40292-019-00326-4

52. Pessoa-Amorim G, Mancio J, Vouga L, Ribeiro J, Gama V, Bettencourt N, et al. Impaired left atrial strain as a predictor of new-onset atrial fibrillation after aortic valve replacement independently of left atrial size. *Rev Espanola Cardiologia (English ed.)* (2018) 71(6):466–76. doi: 10.1016/j.recesp.2017.09.020

53. Yuda S. Current clinical applications of speckle tracking echocardiography for assessment of left atrial function. *J Echocardiography* (2021) 19(3):129–40. doi: 10.1007/s12574-021-00519-8

54. Mohseni-Badalabadi R, Mirjalili T, Jalali A, Davarpasand T, Hosseinsabet A. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the normal reference value of the longitudinal left atrial strain by three dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography. *Sci Rep* (2022) 12(1):4395. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-08379-7

55. Andrade J, Cortez LD, Campos O, Arruda AL, Pinheiro J, Vulcanis L, et al. Left ventricular twist: comparison between two- and three-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiography in healthy volunteers. *Eur J Echocardiography J Working Group On Echocardiography Eur Soc Cardiol* (2011) 12(1):76–9. doi: 10.1093/ejechocard/jeq111

56. Mochizuki A, Yuda S, Oi Y, Kawamukai M, Nishida J, Kouzu H, et al. Assessment of left atrial deformation and synchrony by three-dimensional speckle-

tracking echocardiography: comparative studies in healthy subjects and patients with atrial fibrillation. J Am Soc Echocardiography Off Publ Am Soc Echocardiography (2013) 26(2):165–74. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2012.10.003

57. Ashraf M, Myronenko A, Nguyen T, Inage A, Smith W, Lowe RI, et al. Defining left ventricular apex-to-base twist mechanics computed from high-resolution 3D echocardiography: validation against sonomicrometry. *JACC. Cardiovasc Imaging* (2010) 3(3):227–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2009.09.027

58. Seo Y, Ishizu T, Aonuma K. Current status of 3-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography: a review from our experiences. *J Cardiovasc Ultrasound* (2014) 22 (2):49–57. doi: 10.4250/jcu.2014.22.2.49

59. Kormanyos A, Domsik P, Kalapos A, Orosz A, Lengyel C, Valkusz Z, et al. Left ventricular twist is impaired in acromegaly: Insights from the three-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiographic MAGYAR-Path Study. *J Clin Ultrasound* (2018) 46(2):122–8. doi: 10.1002/jcu.22529

60. Nemes A, Kalapos A, Domsik P, Orosz A, Lengyel C. Correlations between left ventricular rotational mechanics and parasympathetic autonomic function-results from the three-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiographic MAGYAR-Healthy Study. *Quantitative Imaging In Med Surg* (2021) 11(4):1613–8. doi: 10.21037/qims-20-544

61. Kormányos Á, Domsik P, Kalapos A, Valkusz Z, Lengyel C, Forster T, et al. Three-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography-derived left atrial deformation analysis in acromegaly (Results from the MAGYAR-Path Study). *Echocardiography (Mount Kisco N.Y.)* (2018) 35(7):975–84. doi: 10.1111/echo.13860

62. Yingchoncharoen T, Agarwal S, Popović ZB, Marwick TH. Normal ranges of left ventricular strain: a meta-analysis. J Am Soc Echocardiography Off Publ Am Soc Echocardiography (2013) 26(2):185–91. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2012.10.008

63. Oxborough D, George K, Birch KM. Intraobserver reliability of two-dimensional ultrasound derived strain imaging in the assessment of the left ventricle, right ventricle, and left atrium of healthy human hearts. *Echocardiography (Mount Kisco N.Y.)* (2012) 29(7):793–802. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8175.2012.01698.x

64. Nemes A, Kormányos Á, Domsik P, Kalapos A, Gyenes N, Lengyel C, et al. Diabetes mellitus deteriorates left ventricular deformation in acromegaly-analysis from the three-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiographic MAGYAR-Path study. *Quantitative Imaging In Med Surg* (2021) 11(1):410–4. doi: 10.21037/qims-20-159

65. Nemes A, Gavallér H, Csajbók E, Lengyel C, Forster T, Csanády M. Does diabetes mellitus facilitate aortic stiffening in acromegaly? *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2007) 78(3):e7–8. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2007.05.001

66. Chen YC, Voskoboinik A, Gerche AL, Marwick TH, McMullen JR. Prevention of pathological atrial remodeling and atrial fibrillation: JACC state-of-the-art review. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2021) 77(22):2846–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.04.012

67. Powlson AS, Gurnell M. Cardiovascular disease and sleep-disordered breathing in acromegaly. *Neuroendocrinology* (2016) 103(1):75–85. doi: 10.1159/000438903

68. Alenezi F, Rajagopal S. The right atrium, more than a storehouse. Int J Cardiol (2021) 331:329–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2021.01.069

69. Kormányos Á, Kalapos A, Domsik P, Gyenes N, Ambrus N, Valkusz Z, et al. The right atrium in acromegaly-a three-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiographic analysis from the MAGYAR-Path Study. *Quantitative Imaging In Med Surg* (2020) 10 (3):646–56. doi: 10.21037/qims.2020.02.05

70. Concepción-Zavaleta M, Muñoz-Moreno J, Quispe-Flores M, Rafael-Robles L, Lobato-Jeri C, Ramos-Yataco A, et al. [Cardiovascular complications associated with acromegaly. A state-of-the-art]. *Archivos Cardiologia Mexico* (2022) 92(4):513–21. doi: 10.24875/ACM.21000339

71. Anwar AM, Soliman OII, ten Cate FJ, Nemes A, McGhie JS, Krenning BJ, et al. True mitral annulus diameter is underestimated by two-dimensional echocardiography as evidenced by real-time three-dimensional echocardiography and magnetic resonance imaging. *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging* (2007) 23(5):541–7. doi: 10.1007/s10554-006-9181-9

72. Anwar AM, Soliman OII, Nemes A, Germans T, Krenning BJ, Geleijnse ML, et al. Assessment of mitral annulus size and function by real-time 3-dimensional

echocardiography in cardiomyopathy: comparison with magnetic resonance imaging. J Am Soc Echocardiography Off Publ Am Soc Echocardiography (2007) 20(8):941–8. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2007.01.026

73. Nemes A, Anwar AM, Caliskan K, Soliman OII, van Dalen BM, Geleijnse ML, et al. Non-compaction cardiomyopathy is associated with mitral annulus enlargement and functional impairment: a real-time three-dimensional echocardiographic study. *J Heart Valve Dis* (2008) 17(1):31–5.

74. Nemes A, Kormányos Á, Domsik P, Kalapos A, Lengyel C, Ambrus N, et al. Mitral annulus is dilated with preserved function in acromegaly regardless of its activity: Insights from the three-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiographic MAGYAR-Path Study. *Rev Portuguesa Cardiologia* (2021) 40(4):253–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.repc.2020.07.018

75. Silbiger JJ, Bazaz R. The anatomic substrate of mitral annular contraction. Int J Cardiol (2020) 306:158-61. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2019.11.129

76. Kormányos Á, Domsik P, Kalapos A, Gyenes N, Valkusz Z, Lengyel C, et al. Active acromegaly is associated with enhanced left ventricular contractility: Results from the three-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiographic MAGYAR-Path Study. *Rev Portuguesa Cardiologia* (2020) 39(4):189–96. doi: 10.1016/j.repc.2019.08.010

77. Parolin M, Dassie F, Vettor R, Steeds RP, Maffei P. Electrophysiological features in acromegaly: re-thinking the arrhythmic risk? *J Endocrinological Invest* (2021) 44 (2):209–21. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01343-0

78. dos Santos Silva CM, Gottlieb I, Volschan I, Kasuki L, Warszawski L, Balarini Lima GA, et al. Low frequency of cardiomyopathy using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in an acromegaly contemporary cohort. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100 (12):4447–55. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-2675

79. Bogazzi F, Lombardi M, Strata E, Aquaro G, Lombardi M, Urbani C, et al. Effects of somatostatin analogues on acromegalic cardiomyopathy: results from a prospective study using cardiac magnetic resonance. *J Endocrinological Invest* (2010) 33(2):103–8. doi: 10.1007/BF03346562

80. Andreassen M, Faber J, Kjær A, Petersen CL, Kristensen L.Ø. Cardiac effects of 3 months treatment of acromegaly evaluated by magnetic resonance imaging and B-type natriuretic peptides. *Pituitary* (2010) 13(4):329–36. doi: 10.1007/s11102-010-0240-9

81. DeMaria AN, Bommer W, Joye JA, Mason DT. Cross-sectional echocardiography: physical principles, anatomic planes, limitations and pitfalls. *Am J Cardiol* (1980) 46(7):1097–108. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(80)90279-9

82. Li Y, Zhang L, Gao Y, Wan X, Xiao Q, Zhang Y, et al. Comprehensive assessment of right ventricular function by three-dimensional speckle-tracking echocardiography: comparisons with cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. *J Am Soc Echocardiography Off Publ Am Soc Echocardiography* (2021) 34(5):472–82. doi: 10.1016/j.echo.2020.12.013

83. Voigt J-U, Cvijic M. 2- and 3-dimensional myocardial strain in cardiac health and disease. *JACC. Cardiovasc Imaging* (2019) 12(9):1849-63. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2019.01.044

84. Armstrong AC, Gidding S, Gjesdal O, Wu C, Bluemke DA, Lima JAC. LV mass assessed by echocardiography and CMR, cardiovascular outcomes, and medical practice. *JACC. Cardiovasc Imaging* (2012) 5(8):837-48. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2012.06.003

85. Konstam MA, Kramer DG, Patel AR, Maron MS, Udelson JE. Left ventricular remodeling in heart failure: current concepts in clinical significance and assessment. *JACC. Cardiovasc Imaging* (2011) 4(1):98–108. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmg.2010.10.008

86. Gigliotti OS, Babb JD, Dieter RS, Feldman DN, Islam AM, Marmagkiolis K, et al. Optimal use of left ventriculography at the time of cardiac catheterization: a consensus statement from the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions. *Catheterization Cardiovasc Interventions Off J Soc For Cardiac Angiography Interventions* (2015) 85(2):181–91. doi: 10.1002/ccd.25642

87. Sanz J, Conroy J, Narula J. Imaging of the right ventricle. *Cardiol Clinics* (2012) 30(2):189–203. doi: 10.1016/j.ccl.2012.03.001

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Chiara Simeoli, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

REVIEWED BY Sabrina Chiloiro, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy Mihaela Vlad, Victor Babes University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Romania

*CORRESPONDENCE Susan L. Samson Samson.Susan@mayo.edu

[†]PRESENT ADDRESS Alberto M. Pedroncelli, Camurus AB, Lund, Sweden

RECEIVED 30 June 2023 ACCEPTED 12 February 2024 PUBLISHED 21 March 2024

CITATION

Feldt-Rasmussen U, Bolanowski M, Zhang S-L, Yu Y, Witek P, Kalra P, Kietsiriroje N, Piacentini A, Pedroncelli AM and Samson SL (2024) Predictive factors and the management of hyperglycemia in patients with acromegaly and Cushing's disease receiving pasireotide treatment: *post hoc* analyses from the SOM230B2219 study. *Front. Endocrinol.* 15:1250822. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2024.1250822

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Feldt-Rasmussen, Bolanowski, Zhang, Yu, Witek, Kalra, Kietsiriroje, Piacentini, Pedroncelli and Samson. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Predictive factors and the management of hyperglycemia in patients with acromegaly and Cushing's disease receiving pasireotide treatment: *post hoc* analyses from the SOM230B2219 study

Ulla Feldt-Rasmussen^{1,2}, Marek Bolanowski³, Shao-Ling Zhang⁴, Yerong Yu⁵, Przemysław Witek⁶, Pramila Kalra⁷, Noppadol Kietsiriroje⁸, Andrea Piacentini⁹, Alberto M. Pedroncelli^{10†} and Susan L. Samson^{11*}

¹Department of Medical Endocrinology and Metabolism, Copenhagen University Hospital Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark, ²Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, Copenhagen University, Copenhagen, Denmark, ³Department of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Isotope Therapy, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland, ⁴Sun Yat-Sen Memorial Hospital, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China, ⁵West China Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China, ⁶Department of Internal Medicine, Endocrinology and Diabetes, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland, ⁷Department of Endocrinology, MS Ramaiah Medical College and Hospitals, Bengaluru, India, ⁸Endocrinology and Metabolism Unit, Internal Medicine Department, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University, Songkhla, Thailand, ⁹Recordati SpA, Milan, Italy, ¹⁰Recordati AG, Basel, Switzerland, ¹¹Departments of Medicine and Neurologic Surgery, Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL, United States

Introduction: Pasireotide, a somatostatin receptor ligand, is approved for treating acromegaly and Cushing's disease (CD). Hyperglycemia during treatment can occur because of the drug's mechanism of action, although treatment discontinuation is rarely required. The prospective, randomized, Phase IV SOM230B2219 (NCT02060383) trial was designed to assess optimal management of pasireotide-associated hyperglycemia. Here, we investigated predictive factors for requiring antihyperglycemic medication during pasireotide treatment.

Methods: Participants with acromegaly or CD initiated long-acting pasireotide 40 mg/28 days intramuscularly (acromegaly) or pasireotide 600 µg subcutaneously twice daily during pre-randomization (≤16 weeks). Those who did not need antihyperglycemic medication, were managed with metformin, or received insulin from baseline entered an observational arm ending at 16 weeks. Those who required additional/alternative antihyperglycemic medication to metformin were randomized to incretin-based therapy or insulin for an additional 16 weeks. Logistic-regression analyses evaluated quantitative and qualitative factors for requiring antihyperglycemic medication during pre-randomization.

Results: Of 190 participants with acromegaly and 59 with CD, 88 and 15, respectively, did not need antihyperglycemic medication; most were aged <40 years (acromegaly 62.5%, CD 86.7%), with baseline glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) <6.5% (<48 mmol/mol; acromegaly 98.9%, CD 100%) and fasting plasma glucose (FPG) <100 mg/dL (<5.6 mmol/L; acromegaly 76.1%, CD 100%). By logistic regression, increasing baseline HbA_{1c} (odds ratio [OR] 3.6; *P*=0.0162) and FPG (OR 1.0; *P*=0.0472) and history of diabetes/pre-diabetes (OR 3.0; *P*=0.0221) predicted receipt of antihyperglycemic medication in acromegaly participants; increasing baseline HbA_{1c} (OR 12.6; *P*=0.0276) was also predictive in CD participants. Investigator-reported hyperglycemia-related adverse events were recorded in 47.9% and 54.2% of acromegaly and CD participants, respectively, mainly those with diabetes/pre-diabetes.

Conclusion: Increasing age, HbA_{1c}, and FPG and pre-diabetes/diabetes were associated with increased likelihood of requiring antihyperglycemic medication during pasireotide treatment. These risk factors may be used to identify those who need more vigilant monitoring to optimize outcomes during pasireotide treatment.

KEYWORDS

hyperglycemia, glucose intolerance, diabetes mellitus, pasireotide, acromegaly, Cushing's disease, pituitary adenoma

Introduction

Acromegaly and Cushing's disease are rare, often debilitating endocrine conditions that, if left untreated, are associated with considerable comorbidities and increased mortality (1, 2). Both conditions are most commonly caused by a benign pituitary adenoma that secretes growth hormone (GH) in cases of acromegaly and adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) in cases of Cushing's disease (3). Increased GH (and, consequently, insulin-like growth factor 1 [IGF-1]) or increased ACTH (leading to elevated cortisol) are associated with multiple underlying conditions, including impaired glucose tolerance and diabetes (4-7). Pasireotide, a second-generation somatostatin receptor ligand, is an effective long-term, pituitary-targeted medical treatment approved for patients with acromegaly (for whom surgery is not an option or has not been curative and who are inadequately controlled on treatment with another somatostatin analogue) (8-10) or Cushing's disease (for whom pituitary surgery is not an option or has failed) (10-12). Pasireotide works by targeting four of the five somatostatin receptor (SSTR) subtypes, predominantly SSTR5 and SSTR2, all of which can be expressed by pituitary tumors (13). However, SSTR5 and SSTR2 also play important roles in blood glucose regulation; pancreatic beta cells, which secrete insulin, predominantly express SSTR5, and pancreatic alpha cells, which secrete glucagon, predominantly express SSTR2 (14). As shown in healthy volunteers, as well as in those with active acromegaly, pasireotide suppresses insulin secretion, with smaller reductions in glucagon

secretion, resulting in elevated blood glucose; this is, at least in part, mediated by dampening of the incretin response (glucagon-like peptide 1 [GLP-1] and gastric inhibitory polypeptide [GIP]) (15, 16). Development or worsening of existing hyperglycemia is therefore an expected side effect of treatment with pasireotide, although it is not experienced by all patients (17). Addition of metformin, alone or in combination with other oral antihyperglycemic medications, was shown to control glucose elevations in most patients with acromegaly (17). Incretin-based therapies (eg dipeptidyl peptidase 4 [DPP-4] inhibitors [eg vildagliptin] and GLP-1 receptor agonists [eg liraglutide]) have also been shown to be an effective treatment option in managing pasireotide-associated hyperglycemia (18, 19). As such, with appropriate management, treatment-emergent hyperglycemic events rarely lead to treatment discontinuation (19), allowing the clinical benefit of pasireotide treatment to be achieved (8, 9, 11, 12) and sustained for many years (20).

The Phase IV B2219 trial was the first prospective study specifically designed to assess the efficacy of incretin-based therapy versus insulin in the management of pasireotideassociated hyperglycemia that is not fully controlled despite treatment with metformin or other non-incretin-based oral antidiabetic drugs (OADs) in participants with acromegaly or Cushing's disease (21). A large proportion (41%) of participants in the B2219 study did not require any antihyperglycemic medication during treatment with pasireotide (21). An additional 18% were managed solely with metformin/other oral non-incretinbased medications, and 8% received insulin from baseline (with or without additional metformin during the study). Overall, 33% received antihyperglycemic medication in addition to metformin to manage hyperglycemia (21). This *post hoc* analysis examines patient characteristics that might predict those more or less likely to require initiation of or additional antihyperglycemic medications during pasireotide treatment. Furthermore, we also sought to investigate how insulin requirements may change throughout treatment with pasireotide. Together, we hope that these analyses will advance our knowledge of the proactive management of pasireotide-associated hyperglycemia.

Materials and methods

Participants

Outcomes from the B2219 trial (ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT02060383) have been published previously (21). Briefly, the trial enrolled adult participants with confirmed acromegaly or Cushing's disease compliant with the country label to receive pasireotide. If participants were receiving pasireotide at screening, they had to be experiencing signs/symptoms of hyperglycemia to be enrolled. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, with an independent ethics committee/institutional review board at each site approving the study protocol. All participants provided written informed consent before participation.

Study design

The B2219 trial design has been previously described in detail (21); the four study phases are summarized in Table 1. Briefly, this was a multicenter, randomized, open-label, Phase IV study conducted at 43 sites comprising a core phase (≤16-week pre-randomization period followed by 16-week randomized treatment period) and an optional extension phase. Upon entering the pre-randomization period, all patients initiated intramuscular long-acting pasireotide 40 mg once/28 days (acromegaly) or subcutaneous pasireotide 600 µg twice daily (bid; Cushing's disease). Titration of pasireotide dose was determined by the site investigator based on the biochemical response using local laboratory monitoring of IGF-1 or urinary free cortisol. Medication for hyperglycemia was initiated if self-monitored blood glucose (SMBG) levels were \geq 126 mg/dL on three consecutive days. Participants who did not require antihyperglycemic medication, who were successfully managed with metformin alone, or who were receiving insulin from study baseline entered a non-randomized observational arm. Participants who developed hyperglycemia not manageable with metformin (SMBG ≥126 mg/dL on three consecutive days) were randomized to incretin-based therapy or insulin, administered in accordance with local prescribing information.

Assessments and statistical analyses

Glycated hemoglobin (Hb A_{1c}) and fasting plasma glucose (FPG) were measured at a central laboratory. Hb A_{1c} was recorded at

TABLE 1 Summary of the B2219 study design.

Period	Overview
1. Screening	• Washout period for participants receiving pasireotide at screening (or other medications, including antihyperglycemic medications)
 Core pre- randomization (≤16 weeks) 	 All participants initiated long-acting release pasireotide 40 mg intramuscularly once every 28 days (acromegaly) or pasireotide 600 µg subcutaneously twice daily (Cushing's disease) Pasireotide dose was adjusted based on biochemical response and tolerability Metformin treatment could be initiated in participants with increased SMBG (≥126 mg/dL [≥7.0 mmol/L] on three consecutive days)
3. Core randomized treatment (~16 weeks)	• Participants with SMBG ≥126 mg/dL (≥7.0 mmol/L) on three consecutive days despite optimized treatment with metformin or other permitted OAD (or a contraindication to metformin) were randomized 1:1 to incretin-based therapy (sitagliptin [DPP-4 inhibitor] followed by liraglutide [GLP-1 receptor agonist] and insulin rescue therapy, if needed) or insulin
4. Optional extension	Non-randomized participants could continue receiving pasireotide and antihyperglycemic therapy at the investigator's discretion

screening, at baseline, once a month throughout the core study (including before starting rescue therapy), and every 8 weeks during the extension. FPG was monitored every 2 weeks during the core study. During the core phase, participants also self-monitored plasma glucose daily with a glucometer, reviewed by the investigator at each visit. During the extension, FPG was monitored every 4 weeks. All data analyses were performed separately for participants with acromegaly and those with Cushing's disease. Participants were evaluated according to whether they received therapy for hyperglycemia during pasireotide treatment in the core pre-randomization period (mostly metformin, alone or in addition to insulin received from baseline). A logistic-regression analysis of predictive factors was conducted. A backward method for selecting the predictors was applied, with a threshold of $P \le 0.2$ for remaining in the reduced (final) model. The criterion of -2 log likelihood was also applied to identify the reduced model that best fits the data. In the full model, age, body mass index (BMI), baseline HbA1c, baseline FPG, years with disease, baseline GH, and baseline IGF-1 (x upper limit of normal) were assessed as quantitative independent variables (evaluated by the model in terms of per unit increase). History of diabetes (pre-diabetes and diabetes vs normal glucose tolerance) and previous treatments received for acromegaly/Cushing's disease (yes vs no) were assessed as qualitative independent variables. P values were derived from the type III analysis of effects and are shown for the overall effect of each predictor.

Hyperglycemia was defined as SMBG ≥126 mg/dL (≥7.0 mmol/L) on three consecutive days. All blood samples for assessment of FPG and HbA_{1c} at each visit were taken after an overnight fast and before administration of pasireotide. Diabetes was defined as participants taking antidiabetic medication, prior history of diabetes, or HbA_{1c} ≥6.5% (≥48 mmol/mol) and/or FPG ≥126 mg/dL (≥7.0 mmol/L) at two separate visits. Pre-diabetes was defined as participants with FPG ≥100 mg/dL (≥5.6 mmol/L) and/or HbA_{1c} 5.7–<6.5% (39–<48 mmol/L)

mol). Normal glucose tolerance was defined as participants not qualifying as having diabetes or pre-diabetes, with FPG <100 mg/dL (<5.6 mmol/L) and HbA_{1c} <5.7% (<39 mmol/mol).

Hyperglycemia-related adverse events (AEs) were continually assessed and defined using Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities v21.0 and graded according to Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) v4.03; relationship to study drug was assessed by the investigator.

Results

Participant demographics and disease history

In total, 190 participants were enrolled with acromegaly and 59 were enrolled with Cushing's disease; 102/190 (53.7%) and 44/59 (74.6%) received antihyperglycemic medication during the prerandomization period, respectively (Figure 1). Four participants with acromegaly received pasireotide prior to starting the study (for 2.4, 5.6, 10.2, and 70.8 months, respectively), as well as one participant with Cushing's disease (for 24.2 months); all underwent the prerequisite washout of pasireotide prior to starting the pre-randomization period (≥ 3 months [long acting] or 1 week [twice-daily formulation]).

Participants (with acromegaly or Cushing's disease) who received antihyperglycemic medication were generally older (mean age >40 years) and had higher baseline FPG and HbA_{1c} levels, and the majority were diagnosed with diabetes or prediabetes prior to starting the study (Tables 2, 3).

Pasireotide dosing

Average median pasireotide dose (min-max) during the prerandomization period (up to week 16) was 40 mg/28 days (20-60 mg/28 days) and 1200 µg bid (600-1200 µg bid) in participants with acromegaly and Cushing's disease, respectively.

Median (min-max) duration of exposure to long-acting pasireotide in participants with acromegaly was 3.7 (0.9-8.0) months, and that to subcutaneous pasireotide was 3.7 (0.0-6.8) months, in the core phase of the study (including the prerandomization and randomized periods).

Predictive factors for requiring antihyperglycemic medication during initiation of pasireotide treatment

Predictive factors associated with the requirement for antihyperglycemic medication after initiation of pasireotide during the pre-randomization period of the study (≤16 weeks) were identified using logistic regression. In participants with acromegaly, increasing baseline HbA1c and FPG, as well as history of diabetes/prediabetes, were identified as predictive factors (Figure 2A). In participants with Cushing's disease, increasing baseline HbA1c was also identified as a predictive factor, alongside receipt of previous treatment for Cushing's disease (Figure 2B).

Changes in glycemic variables by baseline diabetes status

During the pre-randomization period (≤16 weeks), mean HbA1c and FPG levels increased after initiation of pasireotide in participants who received antihyperglycemic medication in both participants with acromegaly (Figure 3A) and participants with Cushing's disease (Figure 3B). The trend for increasing HbA_{1c} and FPG levels was more notable in participants with diabetes or prediabetes at baseline than in those with normal glucose tolerance.

During the ≤16-week pre-randomization period, participants who did not receive antihyperglycemic medication largely remained



test procedure results, laboratory values, past medical history or concomitant medications

TABLE 2 Baseline demographics and characteristics in participants with acromegaly.

	Received antihyperglycemic medication n=102*	No antihyperglycemic medication needed n=88*	All participants n=190*
Mean age, years (SD)	46.1 (12.9)	38.5 (10.8)	42.5 (12.5)
Min-max	21-79	22-66	21–79
Female:male, n (%)	54:48 (52.9:47.1)	35:53 (39.8:60.2)	89:101 (46.8:53.2)
Race, n (%)			
Asian	50 (49.0)	45 (51.1)	95 (50.0)
Caucasian	44 (43.1)	31 (35.2)	75 (39.5)
Other (including black and native American)	8 (7.8)	12 (13.6)	20 (10.5)
Mean BMI, kg/m ² (SD)	29.1 (5.1); n=101	28.3 (5.5); n=86	28.8 (5.3); n=187
Min-max	19.8–44.6	19.0-47.2	19.0-47.2
Mean time to first pasireotide dose in the study since diagnosis, months (SD)	66.8 (71.5)	56.2 (58.1)	61.9 (65.7)
Min-max	1.0-387.0	0.0-322.0	0.0-387.0
Previous treatment for acromegaly, n (%)	97 (95.1)	87 (98.8)	184 (96.8)
Previous surgery, n (%)	81 (79.4)	82 (93.2)	163 (85.8)
Previous medication, n (%)	74 (72.5)	69 (78.4)	143 (75.3)
Previous pituitary irradiation, n (%)	25 (24.5)	29 (33.0)	54 (28.4)
Mean time since last irradiation, months (SD)	57.4 (77.2)	38.3 (47.7)	47.2 (63.2)
Min-max	4.0-352.0	3.0-248.0	3.0-352.0
Mean baseline HbA $_{1c}$, % [mmol/mol] (SD)	6.24 [45] (1.1); n=102	5.43 [36] (0.3); n=87	5.87 [41] (0.9); n=189
Min-max	4.6-10.6 [27-92]	4.5-6.0 [26-42]	4.5-10.6 [26-92]
Baseline HbA _{1c} category, n (%)			
<5.7% (<39 mmol/mol)	27 (26.5)	63 (71.6)	90 (47.4)
5.7-<6.5% (39-<48 mmol/mol)	49 (48.0)	24 (27.3)	73 (38.4)
6.5-<8% (48-<64 mmol/mol)	18 (17.6)	0	18 (9.5)
≥8% (≥64 mmol/mol)	8 (7.8)	0	8 (4.2)
Mean baseline FPG, mg/dL [mmol/L] (SD)	113.9 [6.3] (34.6); n=101	93.4 [5.2] (8.3); n=88	104.4 [5.8] (27.8); n=189
Min-max	60.0-295.4 [3.3-16.4]	70.3–120.7 [3.9–6.7]	60.0-295.4 [3.3-16.4]
Baseline FPG category, n (%)			
<100 mg/dL (<5.6 mmol/L)	36 (35.3)	67 (76.1)	103 (54.2)
100-<126 mg/dL (5.6-<7.0 mmol/L)	43 (42.2)	21 (23.9)	64 (33.7)
≥126 mg/dL (≥7.0 mmol/L)	22 (21.6)	0	22 (11.6)
Baseline glycemic status, n (%)			
Diabetes	57 (55.9)	0	57 (30.0)
Pre-diabetes	33 (32.4)	34 (38.6)	67 (35.3)
Normal glucose tolerance	12 (11.8)	54 (61.4)	66 (34.7)

*Unless otherwise specified. SD, standard deviation. The gray shading is to separate blocks of data so that it is easier to read.

TABLE 3 Baseline demographics and characteristics in participants with Cushing's disease.

	Received antihyperglycemic medication n=44*	No antihyperglycemic medication needed n=15*	All participants n=59*
Cushing's disease status, n (%)			
De novo	5 (11.4)	4 (26.7)	9 (15.3)
Persistent/recurrent	39 (88.6)	11 (73.3)	50 (84.7)
Mean age, years (SD)	44.5 (14.5)	33.9 (12.8)	41.8 (14.7)
Min-max	18-72	21-70	18–72
Female:male, n (%)	36:8 (81.8:18.2)	12:3 (80.0:20.0)	48:11 (81.4:18.6)
Race, n (%)			
Asian	10 (22.7)	4 (26.7)	14 (23.7)
Caucasian	27 (61.4)	9 (60.0)	36 (61.0)
Other (including black and native American)	7 (15.9)	2 (13.3)	9 (15.3)
Mean BMI, kg/m ² (SD)	32.8 (8.9); n=43	32.0 (6.7); n=15	32.6 (8.3); n=58
Min-max	19.6–60.1	20.6-42.2	19.6-60.1
Mean time to first pasireotide dose in the study since diagnosis, months (SD)	67.8 (70.4)	36.2 (38.0)	59.8 (64.9)
Min-max	1.0-332.0	1.0-147.0	1.0-332.0
Previous treatment for Cushing's disease, n (%)	37 (84.1)	10 (66.7)	47 (79.7)
Previous surgery, n (%)	40 (90.9)	11 (73.3)	51 (86.4)
Previous medication, n (%)	28 (63.6)	10 (66.7)	38 (64.4)
Previous pituitary irradiation, n (%)	13 (29.5)	4 (26.7)	17 (28.8)
Mean time since last irradiation, months (SD)	60.4 (50.6)	15.3 (11.4)	49.8 (48.3)
Min-max	8.0-161.0	4.0-29.0	4.0-161.0
Mean baseline HbA ₁₀ % [mmol/mol] (SD)	6.4 [46] (0.8); n=43	5.5 [37] (0.4); n=15	6.2 [44] (0.8); n=58
Min-max	5.0-8.2 [31-66]	4.4-6.0 [25-42]	4.4-8.2 [25-66]
Baseline HbA _{1c} category, n (%)			
<5.7% (<39 mmol/mol)	8 (18.2)	10 (66.7)	18 (30.5)
5.7-<6.5% (39-<48 mmol/mol)	18 (40.9)	5 (33.3)	23 (39.0)
6.5-<8% (48-<64 mmol/mol)	16 (36.4)	0	16 (27.1)
≥8% (≥64 mmol/mol)	1 (2.3)	0	1 (1.7)
Mean baseline FPG, mg/dL [mmol/L] (SD)	111.2 [6.2] (32.5)	85.5 [4.7] (6.9)	104.7 [5.8] (30.4)
Min-max	79.3–262.0 [4.4–14.5]	70.3–97.3 [3.9–5.4]	70.3-262.0 [3.9-14.5]
Baseline FPG category, n (%)			
<100 mg/dL (<5.6 mmol/L)	21 (47.7)	15 (100.0)	36 (61.0)
100-<126 mg/dL (5.6-<7.0 mmol/L)	14 (31.8)	0	14 (23.7)
≥126 mg/dL (≥7.0 mmol/L)	9 (20.5)	0	9 (15.3)
Baseline glycemic status, n (%)			
Diabetes	30 (68.2)	0	30 (50.8)
Pre-diabetes	9 (20.5)	5 (33.3)	14 (23.7)
Normal glucose tolerance	5 (11.4)	10 (66.7)	15 (25.4)

*Unless otherwise specified. The gray shading is to separate blocks of data so that it is easier to read.

with low/normal HbA_{1c} and FPG levels in both those with acromegaly (Figure 4A) and those with Cushing's disease (Figure 4B). Of participants who received antihyperglycemic medication, a larger proportion had higher HbA_{1c} and FPG levels at baseline than those who did not require antihyperglycemic medication (Figure 4). There was also evidence for a larger proportion of participants experiencing worsening HbA_{1c} and FPG (ie moved from a lower to a higher category during the \leq 16-week pre-randomization period).

Insulin use over time

In the participants randomized to receive insulin (n=43), mean (min-max) insulin dose increased from 9.0 (2.0–20.0) IU/day at randomization to 18.7 (4.0–50.0) IU/day at the end of the study; mean change from baseline was +9.7 (-4.0 to 38.0) IU/day. In participants with acromegaly (n=30), mean (min-max) insulin dose increased from 8.3 (2.0–20.0) to 16.7 (4.0–50.0) IU/day; mean change from baseline was +8.4 (-4.0 to 38.0) IU/day. In participants with Cushing's disease (n=13), mean (min-max) insulin dose increased from 10.8 (8.0–15.0) to 23.4 (10.0–48.0) IU/day; mean change from baseline was +12.6 (0–38.0) IU/day. Median (min-max) duration of exposure to insulin in all participants randomized to insulin was 3.7 (1.4–4.3) months (21).

Safety profile

During the pre-randomization period, grade 3/4 hyperglycemiarelated AEs (including preferred terms: hyperglycemia, diabetes mellitus, impaired fasting glucose, increased blood glucose, increased HbA_{1c} , type 2 diabetes mellitus, inadequate control of diabetes mellitus, and glycosuria) were infrequent and mostly occurred in participants with diabetes at baseline (Tables 4, 5). In general, hyperglycemia AEs judged by the investigator to be related to treatment were reported irrespective of diabetes status at baseline.

During the first 16 weeks of the study (pre-randomization period), few participants required pasireotide dose reductions or interruptions because of hyperglycemia-related AEs: seven (3.7%) with acromegaly and six (10.2%) with Cushing's disease. Of these 13 participants, 12 had diabetes or pre-diabetes at baseline. Two participants permanently discontinued because of hyperglycemia-related AEs (one documented as hyperglycemia and one as increased HbA_{1c}), both with acromegaly and both with diabetes at baseline. Concomitant antihyperglycemic medication was required in 50 (26.3%) participants with acromegaly and 18 (30.5%) with Cushing's disease; of these 68 participants, 52 had diabetes or pre-diabetes at baseline.

Discussion

B2219 was the first trial to evaluate prospectively the management of pasireotide-associated hyperglycemia in a large number of patients with acromegaly or Cushing's disease (21). Glucose metabolism disorders are common in patients with these endocrine disorders, with a high prevalence of complications such as impaired glucose tolerance and diabetes (4–7). As shown in other pivotal Phase III studies of pasireotide in patients with acromegaly or Cushing's disease (9, 11), the majority of patients entering the B2219 study had diabetes or pre-diabetes (65.3% with acromegaly





HbA1c and 126 mg/dL (7.0 mmol/L) for FPG. NGT, normal glucose tolerance.

and 74.6% with Cushing's disease). As hyperglycemia is a known side effect of treatment with pasireotide, patients can be appropriately monitored and managed (10). Previous data also highlight that if hyperglycemia does occur, it is most likely during the first 3 months of treatment with pasireotide (9, 22) and is reversible upon pasireotide discontinuation (17). However, it remains that some patients are more or less likely to require antihyperglycemic medications; therefore, understanding predictive patient characteristics is of interest.

In the present study, not all participants required antihyperglycemic medication. In total, 53.7% of participants with acromegaly and 74.6% of participants with Cushing's disease received antihyperglycemic medication during the pre-randomization phase, mostly metformin,

either alone or in addition to insulin received from baseline. Of these participants, approximately half (if eligible) were then randomized to receive additional/alternative antihyperglycemic medication in the form of incretin-based therapy or insulin. The participants who received antihyperglycemic medication in the 16 weeks following initiation of pasireotide were generally older (mean age >40 years), had higher baseline HbA1c (>6.5% [>48 mmol/mol]) and FPG levels (>100 mg/dL [>5.6 mmol/L]), and were diagnosed with diabetes or pre-diabetes. The logistic-regression analysis also identified increasing baseline HbA1c and FPG, as well as a history of diabetes/pre-diabetes, as risk factors for requiring antihyperglycemic medication in participants with acromegaly; notably, elevated baseline HbA1c and a history of diabetes/pre-diabetes were associated with a threefold increase in risk. In participants with



FIGURE 4

Shift from baseline to last post-baseline HbA_{1c} and FPG during the 16week pre-randomization period in participants with (A) acromegaly and (B) Cushing's disease.

Cushing's disease, increasing HbA_{1c} was also identified as a risk factor along with receipt of previous treatment, although the majority of participants with Cushing's disease had received prior treatments (80%). Both mean HbA_{1c} and FPG levels increased steadily during the first 8–12 weeks of the study in participants who received antihyperglycemic medication, notably those with diabetes/prediabetes. *Post hoc* and exploratory analyses from other clinical trials of pasireotide in patients with acromegaly (C2305 and C2402 [PAOLA])

TABLE 4 Incidence and severity of hyperglycemia-related AEs in participants with acromegaly receiving pasireotide, according to diabetes status.

	Diabetes (n=57)	Pre-diabetes (n=67)	Normal glucose tolerance (n=66)	All acromegaly participants (n=190)
At least one hyperglycemia-related AE, n (%)	22 (38.6)	37 (55.2)	32 (48.5)	91 (47.9)
Grade 3–4, n (%)	12 (21.1)	1 (1.5)	1 (1.5)	14 (7.4)
Treatment-related hyperglycemia- related AE, n (%)	19 (33.3)	33 (49.3)	32 (48.5)	84 (44.2)

	Diabetes (n=30)	Pre-diabetes (n=14)	Normal glucose tolerance (n=15)	All Cushing's disease participants (n=59)
At least one hyperglycemia- related AE, n (%)	15 (50.0)	11 (78.6)	6 (40.0)	32 (54.2)
Grade 3–4, n (%)	7 (23.3)	0	0	7 (11.9)
Treatment-related hyperglycemia AE, n (%)	9 (30.0)	10 (71.4)	6 (40.0)	25 (42.4)

TABLE 5 Incidence and severity of hyperglycemia-related AEs in participants with Cushing's disease receiving pasireotide, according to diabetes status.

have also suggested that hyperglycemia during pasireotide treatment was less frequent in patients with lower age (<40 years, C2402; <30 years, C2305) and normal glucose tolerance (17, 23). As such, pre-treatment glucose status may be a particularly useful predictor of the development of pasireotide-associated hyperglycemia. History of hypertension or dyslipidemia at baseline has also been identified as a predictive factor (17); however, data were not available in the present study.

Interestingly, in the participants randomized to receive insulin in addition to or instead of metformin in the present study, dose requirements increased considerably in a relatively short period of time.

Hyperglycemia-related AEs were more frequently reported in participants with diabetes or pre-diabetes at baseline, and serious AEs related to hyperglycemia were infrequent. Our results highlight and support previous findings that hyperglycemia-related AEs rarely require treatment interruption or discontinuation (19), emphasizing that when hyperglycemia does occur, it is manageable. Several treatment guidelines and expert recommendations also exist on the management of hyperglycemia, which, although focused on patients with Cushing's disease, can be extrapolated to those with acromegaly (24, 25). Together with the findings from the B2219 study and the results presented herein, patients can be appropriately managed on an individual basis to ensure continued treatment with pasireotide, which can provide prolonged maintenance of biochemical control and improve clinical symptoms (20). For most patients who develop hyperglycemia, initiation of medical therapy with metformin alone is sufficient, followed by staged treatment with incretin-based therapies and insulin, as required, to achieve and maintain glycemic control (21, 24). Furthermore, hyperglycemia may also be managed with dietary modification, exercise and education (24). As clinical experience with pasireotide is increasing, including long-term follow-up studies and real-world experience (26-28), management of hyperglycemia is also improving.

There is increasing evidence that a personalized medical treatment approach based on patient-specific clinical and tumor characteristics can improve outcomes in patients with acromegaly (29–31). As well as identifying which patients are more likely to respond to different medical therapies, our findings contribute to optimizing patient management during medical treatment, which will be useful in clinical practice to tailor therapeutic approaches.

We acknowledge the limitations of these *post hoc* analyses as they are descriptive in nature. Findings in participants with Cushing's

disease may be limited by the relatively small number of participants in this group compared with those with acromegaly. Levels of GH/IGF-1 and urinary free cortisol were measured but were used only to guide therapeutic decisions locally; they were not recorded as part of the study design, so no comment can be made on the impact of disease control on the need for antihyperglycemic medication. Furthermore, these analyses did not consider the occurrence/recurrence of hyperglycemia that may arise with long-term pasireotide treatment; to this end, further investigation is still warranted.

Conclusion

Individual patient characteristics are useful indicators of whether patients are more or less likely to develop hyperglycemia during treatment with pasireotide. Notably, increased age, HbA_{1c} and FPG levels, as well as a previous diagnosis of diabetes or prediabetes, should be considered as potential predictive factors. These factors may be used to identify patients who require more vigilant, proactive monitoring and early intervention to ensure continued treatment with pasireotide and optimal outcomes.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by an independent ethics committee/institutional review board at each site. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

All academic investigators enrolled patients in the study. Data were collected by investigators using the funder's data management systems and analyzed by the funder's statistical team. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The authors declare that this study received funding from Novartis Pharma AG. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article, or the decision to submit it for publication. As of July 12, 2019, pasireotide is an asset of Recordati. Financial support for medical editorial assistance was provided by Recordati.

Acknowledgments

We thank all investigators, nurses, study coordinators and patients who participated in the trial. We also thank Rebecca Helson, PhD, of Mudskipper Business Ltd, for medical editorial assistance with this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

UF-R reports travel grants and speaker honoraria from Ipsen, Recordati, and Novo Nordisk and advisory board fees from

References

1. Fleseriu M, Langlois F, Lim DST, Varlamov EV, Melmed S. Acromegaly: pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2022) 10:804–26. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(22)00244-3

2. Lacroix A, Feelders RA, Stratakis CA, Nieman LK. Cushing's syndrome. *Lancet*. (2015) 386:913–27. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61375-1

3. Sanno N, Teramoto A, Osamura RY, Horvath E, Kovacs K, Lloyd RV, et al. Pathology of pituitary tumors. *Neurosurg Clin N Am.* (2003) 14:25–39. doi: 10.1016/S1042-3680(02)00035-9.

4. Colao A, Ferone D, Marzullo P, Lombardi G. Systemic complications of acromegaly: epidemiology, pathogenesis, and management. *Endocr Rev.* (2004) 25:102–52. doi: 10.1210/er.2002-0022

5. Scaroni C, Zilio M, Foti M, Boscaro M. Glucose metabolism abnormalities in cushing syndrome: from molecular basis to clinical management. *Endocr Rev.* (2017) 38:189–219. doi: 10.1210/er.2016-1105

6. Urbani C, Sardella C, Calevro A, Rossi G, Scattina I, Lombardi M, et al. Effects of medical therapies for acromegaly on glucose metabolism. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2013) 169:99–108. doi: 10.1530/EJE-13-0032

7. Ferrau F, Korbonits M. Metabolic comorbidities in cushing's syndrome. Eur J Endocrinol. (2015) 173:M133–57. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0354

8. Colao A, Bronstein MD, Freda P, Gu F, Shen CC, Gadelha M, et al. Pasireotide versus octreotide in acromegaly: a head-to-head superiority study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2014) 99:791–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2480

9. Gadelha MR, Bronstein MD, Brue T, Coculescu M, Fleseriu M, Guitelman M, et al. Pasireotide versus continued treatment with octreotide or lanreotide in patients with inadequately controlled acromegaly (PAOLA): a randomised, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2014) 2:875–84. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70169-X

10. Recordati Rare Diseases. Signifor[®] Summary of product characteristics. (2022). Available online at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/signifor-epar-product-information_en.pdf.

11. Colao A, Petersenn S, Newell-Price J, Findling JW, Gu F, Maldonado M, et al. A 12-month phase 3 study of pasireotide in cushing's disease. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 366:914–24. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1105743

12. Lacroix A, Gu F, Gallardo W, Pivonello R, Yu Y, Witek P, et al. Efficacy and safety of once-monthly pasireotide in cushing's disease: a 12 month clinical trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2018) 6:17–26. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30326-1

13. Bruns C, Lewis I, Briner U, Meno-Tetang G, Weckbecker G. SOM230: a novel somatostatin peptidomimetic with broad somatotropin release inhibiting factor (SRIF)

Novartis, Recordati, Novo Nordisk, and Xeris Pharmaceuticals Strongbridge. UF-R's research salary was sponsored by a grant from Kirsten and Freddy Johansen's Fund. MB reports receiving travel grants and speaker fees from Amryt, Recordati, Pfizer, Novartis, Ipsen, IBSA, Teva, and Berlin Chemie. PW reports receiving travel grants and speaker fees from Novartis, Ipsen, Recordati, Novo Nordisk, Xeris Pharmaceuticals (Strongbridge), and Lilly. PK reports participation in advisory board meetings by Novo Nordisk, Novartis, and Eli Lilly. AP is an employee of Recordati. AMP was an employee of Recordati when the analyses were conducted. SS has provided consultancy for Novartis and Chiasma.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be constructed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

receptor binding and a unique antisecretory profile. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2002) 146:707–16. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1460707.

14. Kumar U, Sasi R, Suresh S, Patel A, Thangaraju M, Metrakos P, et al. Subtypeselective expression of the five somatostatin receptors (HSSTR1-5) in human pancreatic islet cells: a quantitative double-label immunohistochemical analysis. *Diabetes.* (1999) 48:77–85. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.48.1.77

15. Henry RR, Ciaraldi TP, Armstrong D, Burke P, Ligueros-Saylan M, Mudaliar S. Hyperglycemia associated with pasireotide: results from a mechanistic study in healthy volunteers. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 98:3446–53. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1771

16. Jorgensen NT, Erichsen TM, Jorgensen MB, Idorn T, Feldt-Rasmussen B, Holst JJ, et al. Glucose metabolism, gut-brain hormones, and acromegaly treatment: an explorative single centre descriptive analysis. *Pituitary*. (2023) 26:152–63. doi: 10.1007/s11102-022-01297-x

17. Gadelha MR, Gu F, Bronstein MD, Brue TC, Fleseriu M, Shimon I, et al. Risk factors and management of pasireotide-associated hyperglycemia in acromegaly. *Endocr Connect.* (2020) 9:1178–90. doi: 10.1530/EC-20-0361

18. Breitschaft A, Hu K, Hermosillo Resendiz K, Darstein C, Golor G. Management of hyperglycemia associated with pasireotide (SOM230): healthy volunteer study. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2014) 103:458–65. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2013.12.011

19. Silverstein JM. Hyperglycemia induced by pasireotide in patients with Cushing's disease or acromegaly. *Pituitary*. (2016) 19:536–43. doi: 10.1007/s11102-016-0734-1

20. Colao A, Bronstein MD, Brue T, De Marinis L, Fleseriu M, Guitelman M, et al. Pasireotide for acromegaly: long-term outcomes from an extension to the phase III PAOLA study. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2020) 182:583. doi: 10.1530/EJE-19-0762

21. Samson SL, Gu F, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Zhang S, Yu Y, Witek P, et al. Managing pasireotide-associated hyperglycemia: a randomized, open-label, phase IV study. *Pituitary*. (2021) 24:887–903. doi: 10.1007/s11102-021-01161-4

22. Schopohl J, Gu F, Rubens R, Van Gaal L, Bertherat J, Ligueros-Saylan M, et al. Pasireotide can induce sustained decreases in urinary cortisol and provide clinical benefit in patients with Cushing's disease: results from an open-ended, open-label extension trial. *Pituitary*. (2015) 18:604–12. doi: 10.1007/s11102-014-0618-1

23. Schmid HA, Brue T, Colao A, Gadelha MR, Shimon I, Kapur K, et al. Effect of pasireotide on glucose- and growth hormone-related biomarkers in patients with inadequately controlled acromegaly. *Endocrine*. (2016) 53:210–9. doi: 10.1007/s12020-016-0895-8

24. Colao A, De Block C, Gaztambide MS, Kumar S, Seufert J, Casanueva FF. Managing hyperglycemia in patients with Cushing's disease treated with pasireotide: medical expert recommendations. *Pituitary*. (2014) 17:180–6. doi: 10.1007/s11102-013-0483-3

25. Reznik Y, Bertherat J, Borson-Chazot F, Brue T, Chanson P, Cortet-Rudelli C, et al. Management of hyperglycaemia in Cushing's disease: experts' proposals on the use of pasireotide. *Diabetes Metab.* (2013) 39:34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2012.10.005

26. Akirov A, Gorshtein A, Dotan I, Khazen NS, Pauker Y, Gershinsky M, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of long-acting pasireotide in acromegaly. *Endocrine*. (2021) 74:396–403. doi: 10.1007/s12020-021-02782-2

27. Manetti L, Deutschbein T, Schopohl J, Yuen KCJ, Roughton M, Kriemler-Krahn U, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of subcutaneous pasireotide in patients with Cushing's disease: interim results from a long-term real-world evidence study. *Pituitary.* (2019) 22:542–51. doi: 10.1007/s11102-019-00984-6

28. Simeoli C, Ferrigno R, De Martino MC, Iacuaniello D, Papa F, Angellotti D, et al. The treatment with pasireotide in Cushing's disease: effect of long-term treatment on clinical picture and metabolic profile and management of adverse events in the experience of a single center. J Endocrinol Invest. (2020) 43:57–73. doi: 10.1007/ s40618-019-01077-8

29. Wildemberg LE, da Silva Camacho AH, Miranda RL, Elias PCL, de Castro Musolino NR, Nazato D, et al. Machine learning-based prediction model for treatment of acromegaly with first-generation somatostatin receptor ligands. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2021) 106:2047–56. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab125

30. Puig-Domingo M, Bernabeu I, Pico A, Biagetti B, Gil J, Alvarez-Escola C, et al. Pasireotide in the personalized treatment of acromegaly. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. (2021) 12:648411. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.648411

31. Chiloiro S, Bianchi A, Giampietro A, Pontecorvi A, Raverot G, Marinis L. Second line treatment of acromegaly: pasireotide or pegvisomant? *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2022) 36:101684. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2022.101684

Frontiers in Endocrinology

Explores the endocrine system to find new therapies for key health issues

The second most-cited endocrinology and metabolism journal, which advances our understanding of the endocrine system. It uncovers new therapies for prevalent health issues such as obesity, diabetes, reproduction, and aging.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



